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I 

The Oath 

The Army is always calling people together for a con¬ 
ference; there are many jokes about this, but since many 
of them are unprintable, it is best to forget them, The meet¬ 
ing that began that day had nothing amusing about it. We 
were in a bad situation and we came to it not at all certain 
that the new word would mean less fighting than that 
which had already taken place. 

“you’ve done a little bit so far. Now I’ve got the big job 
for you.” He said the words slowly, with the characteristic 
tightening of his eyes behind the G.I. steel-rimmed spec¬ 
tacles he wore. He walked closer to the map, and looked 
at the mountain ranges, the rivers, of North Burma. I 
looked at the red arrows which indicated the enemy. It 
was a miserable day. There was nothing but rain; the sound 
of it on the roof, or what passed for a roof, was steady 
and hard. He was the General, and what he said was 
more than an order, more than a law. It was conviction. 
His communication was the sound of history, and you had 
to accept that if you were to understand Joseph W. Stilwell, 

He put a cigarette in his holder, lighted it and pulled 
noisily, the match burning close to its end before he blew 
it out. The sweater he wore was khaki-colored with a 
turned-up collar, and on his desk was the faded campaign 
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hat with the sweaty brim, the five-pointed stars that were 
neither polished nor new, three stars that said he was a lieu¬ 
tenant general with all the weight that that implied. He 
bent and adjusted the laces of his canvas leggings, his fin¬ 
gers alert and muscular, the leggings old. He held himself 
like a piece of leather that cannot crack, that survives 
time and shows the burn of experience. 

From the time we had word that he wanted this talk, I 
knew that what he would ask would be more than we an¬ 
ticipated, and that this meeting would alter the position 
of Detachment 101. Maps go together with meetings of 
this sort and I had brought them along, sensing that new 
plans were going to cross the maps, and that if we had 
sweated before, we had best prepare for still more. 

Two other men were present besides the General and my¬ 
self. They were the General’s son, Colonel Joseph Stilwell, 
Jr., who was the Intelligence Officer for the Northern Com¬ 
bat Area Command (NCAC); and Major Chartrand, the 
Detachment 101 Intelligence Officer. 

The meeting place was a command post that stood in a 
native village in the upper part of the Hukawng Valley. It 
was cramped for space and looked like a hovel. The struc¬ 
ture had been built originally by natives, and now it was 
protected from rain by the canvas roofing and sides that 
brought into the space the mildew smell of canvas sub¬ 
jected to torrential rains too long. There was a high wind 
outside, and whenever it blew open the flap of the tent, 
it brought a chill. 

The General dipped briefly into the aspects and facts 
of the Burma campaign, reminiscing, in his laconic way, 
about the long road that he had made out of Burma, when, 
as he put it, “The Japs beat the hell out of us,” in the 
spring of 1942. The retreat had followed the course of all 
retreats: extremes of cowardice; the bravery of men who 
stood and fought rear-guard actions; the hope that the 
next rise ahead would bring sleep—only to get there and 
find the Japanese. 

Any time Stilwell had a chance to counterattack, he did, 
knowing all the time it was in a losing game. He had to 
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quit Burma, and what remnants were left after he reached 
safety in India were reorganized and formed into two so- 
called divisions (in fact little more than battalions) com¬ 
prised largely of Chinese who had been sent to Burma to 
help fight off the expected Japanese invasion. 

In his Indian camp, at a place called Ramgarh, Stilwell 
set about a task that meant starting from zero. He was 
glad to have that chance, because he was the kind of man 
who had moved often from zero to altitudes of success. 
Around him he gathered some highly qualified American 
officers and noncommissioned officers and they began, with 
mounting spirits, to reform an Allied Force that would re¬ 
turn to Burma; they aimed at remaking the Chinese in¬ 
fantry into an American-style fighting unit, and the train¬ 
ing instructions were based entirely on those which 

governed similar American units. 
Their direction was back to Burma, and by the fall of 

1943, the Chinese had broken away from Ramgarh and 
moved to Ledo. They were still in India, but the miles be¬ 
tween Burma and India had shortened and the smell of 
Burma was nearly upon them. Hot and tired, as they 
camped in Ledo, the chafing of those hours of training, the 
sweat and shame of defeat, weighed less upon them; they 
knew they were almost ready for the first strike back. To 
them and to the commanders of the two Chinese units— 
one, the 38th Division commanded by General Sun Li Jen, 
a graduate of Virginia Military Institute; the other, the 
22nd Division, commanded by Hakka-born General Liao— 
there was only one belief, and this they told General Stil¬ 
well. They could meet the Japanese and they could win. 

The General ordered an advance into North Burma. 
Through the Naga Hills, the first natural barrier on the 

border of Burma, they marched, and showed, upon those 
few occasions when they met light Japanese infantry scout¬ 
ing detachments, that they were cool under fire, and ab¬ 
solutely desirous of sweeping away token resistance to move 
on toward the true target, the Japanese Army. The mood 
of fight was still with them as they came down through 
the Naga Hills and reached the Hukawng Valley and the 
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Chindwin River. And here came the first test for the Chi¬ 
nese. 

They faced an excellent Japanese division—the 18th— 
and the vigor of this unit had been shown in the jungle 
blitzkrieg which had won Malaya for the Japanese; the 
18th had led the advance. The best of Britain’s and 
Australia’s infantry and artillery, prepared to make any 
kind of sacrifice to hold ground, had fallen before the 
smooth working actions and plans of the 18th Japanese 
Division. In short, the 18th was a formidable adversary. 

The outlook when the first Chinese advance parties came 
into engagement with the Japanese in the winter of 1943- 
1944 was both severe and harrowing. The 18th was solidly 
dug in. They had shown uncommon aptitude in utilizing the 
natural terrain as their front line of resistance—and what 
it was like can best be described as a wall of steel, though 
in fact, it was bamboo. Since to most of us bamboo sug¬ 
gests something light and fragile, dedicated to the easy 
way of fishing, it should be explained that this was a 
variety of bamboo known as bullaca; it is from four to 
eight inches in diameter, and is capable of withstanding 
light artillery fire. The Japanese had perfected this bam¬ 
boo into a concrete-strong barricade. Clumps of the bam¬ 
boo grew ten to fifteen feet in diameter; the enemy had 
burrowed underground, as if building a tunnel, until they 
reached the center of the clump. Then, coming up to the 
center, they had chopped away enough so that they were 
absolutely surrounded by the natural obstacle, protected 
against light and heavy rifle fire. 

It stopped the Chinese; the barrier took them by sur¬ 
prise. The Chinese advance was held up. 

The solution came to General Sun and the 38th Division. 
After trying easier alternatives, the Chinese decided they 
would have to go smack into the bamboo fortifications; 
they would have to dig out the Japanese in the fiercest of 
hand-to-hand combat. 

Everybody on the Allied side was in a state of suspense. 
The battle would tell whether or not the Chinese could en¬ 
gage the Japanese successfully, would tell whether there 

was a chance that the Allies could fight their way back 
into Burma and keep moving until realization of the 
dream we all wanted; the surrender of the Japanese Army 
in Burma, the return of Burma to the free world, the 
raising again of the British, Chinese and American flags 
that had been torn down in the hellish retreat of 1942. 
And that day of our 1944 meeting, General Stilwell thought 
about it again, about that critical time a few months be¬ 
fore when, after the Chinese had engaged the Japanese, it 
had seemed almost over—and in favor of the enemy. The 
Chinese had moved in attack formations, had almost pene¬ 
trated the Japanese defenses, had almost reached the belly 
of the fortifications, when a counterattack smashed through 
against their oncoming tide, forced a fight on ground that 
favored the Japanese. The initial attack on the part of the 

Chinese was made with one thousand men; there were five 
hundred Japanese opposing them. Seeing their first dead in 
large numbers, and hearing the banzais of the 18th in full- 
scale, the Chinese were almost routed in panic. They 
retreated. Immediately, sensing the situation, General Stil- 
wefl picked up the challenge, and suggested to General Sun 
that a regiment of Chinese should go into the fight, hit¬ 
ting the Japanese left flank. This fresh unit swung into 
action and drove back the onrushing Japanese, reclaiming 
at the same time the weary Chinese who had already been 
in battle—the battle of Yupbang Ga as it was later to be 
called by historians. When the fighting was done, the Japa¬ 
nese had been clubbed into withdrawing. And for General 
Stilwell, it proved that he had not asked too much; the 
Chinese could fight, they could kill, and be killed, and 
they could force the enemy out of his chosen ground. For 
the first day since 1942, the Allies in Burma had not been 
worn down by the enemy. They had won a battle. 

The necessity of returning to Burma was strategic, and 
underlay all our plans for victory in Asia. Before the Japa¬ 
nese invasion of Burma, our supplies had been sent over¬ 
land from Rangoon across the old Burma Road to China. 
The Japanese had captured this road, and we bad been 
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forced to rely exclusively on airlift over the “Hump.” 
Our new plan demanded a land supply route from India 
into China across Northern Burma; supplies sent by such 
a route could keep the Chinese armies fighting in their 
homeland. The new Chinese advance into Burma from the 
west made it at last possible to start putting this plan into 

execution. 
American engineers, under the command of Colonel Ar- 

rowsmith and later General Pick, had begun building a road 
from Ledo across the Naga Hills toward the upper reaches 
of the Hukawng Valley. It was a road-building situation 
involving the most complicated engineering and extreme 
hazards; the uncharted road track led through land that 
had not known anything more than the most tenuous of 
spoors. Everywhere the topography was a complicated 
enemy of cliffs, of enormous peaks and hushed forest, of 
jigsawing rivers and extremes of heat and cold. It was a 
special kind of road, and its builders were threatened not 
only by landslides, but by nearly every kind of harmful in¬ 
sect and beast. There were endless threats to the health 
and well-being of human bodies. Fits of depression and ill¬ 
ness were an undercurrent of daily life and yet the mood 
of the engineer battalions was not as mutinous as might 
be expected. They made progress in conditions that at any 
time, other than war, would have been intolerable. 

In many of the companies, the soldiers were almost all 
Negro, and their high morale was emphasized by the sound 
of their voices, singing with a sense of pride as the hypo¬ 
thetical road slowly became a reality. Anyone who watched 
them during those days would feel their excitement, their 
assurance grow as the road took on the shape of a truck 
route. They were within hearing distance of the battle 
ahead, and frequently the Japanese infiltrating through the 
Chinese lines balanced themselves on the high tree branches 
and sniped at the backs of the sweating men. Even this 
was not too much. It might put off work for a few hours 
as our troops flushed out the sniper. When the road crews 
saw the sniper dead, they turned again with determination 
to the work. By the time the battle at Yupbang Ga had 
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been won, the engineers were only miles away, continuing 
their work through the shooting, knowing that the world 
of the battle was theirs as much as anyone else’s. Their 
progress was also a victory. The Ledo Road had been 
born, the road that would make it possible to travel over¬ 
land to China. The road was three lanes wide, gravel, a 
road for which the miles ahead had still to be won, a road 
which would virtually be drenched in blood before it had 
made its way through a country still dominated in large 
part by a powerful enemy army. 

Our advance into Burma had not been extraordinary; yet 
there was one certainty about it. Infantry were advancing, 
and directly behind them we were building a road. This 
was no scouting mission, no moment of flashing strength 
in the enemy’s teeth and then quickly withdrawing. What 
the road meant was that we were coming to stay and to 
move on, until at last we had reached the China border. 

This was warfare of the most serious kind because in it 
we had dismissed the notion that we could be defeated for 
a second time. If there was anything odd about our ad¬ 
vance it was that we were staking all we had on a limited 
number of men. 

That first victory at Yupbang Ga had given us an of- 
fmsive spirit and we were determined to exploit it by con¬ 
tinuing to advance, by re-engaging the Japanese Army. 

The 38th Chinese Division pushed deeper into the 
Hukawng Valley with quickness and spontaneity, with or¬ 
ders to contact the enemy. They also made a feint to the 
south. With the adroitness of a chess player gambling a 
knight for a queen, General Stilwell sent a regiment of 
General Liao’s 22nd Division on a flanking movement to 
Taro. Their journey was made difficult because they trav¬ 
eled across country, through remote jungle, where there 
were no villages. They were supplied by airdrop. They were 
in luck crossing the Chindwin River undetected, and, when 
finally they came upon the enemy, they had accomplished 
complete surprise. At once they attacked and destroyed the 
enemy force of five hundred men at Taro. 

General Stilwell, when he received reports of this success, 
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became sure of what he could do. He could envision his 
two Chinese divisions driving further south, assured of com¬ 
bat strength through their victories. Because he was aware 
of the competitive character of the Chinese soldiers, he 
could prepare a plan which they readily accepted. The two 
divisions would now go to war together and yet remain 
in intramural competition with one another. Within thirty 
days they had advanced another fifty miles into the 

Hukawng Valley. 
By now, General Stilwell had strong attachments to both 

units; they were advancing across enemy-held territory; 
they were submitting the Japanese to a little of what our 
forces had tasted in the retreat. He also had a growing 
regard for his Chinese commanders. He felt that each in 
his fashion was in no way second to the other; Sun had 
perhaps a more instinctive feeling for brilliance of maneu¬ 
ver, while Liao had strength in his personal leadership dur¬ 
ing actual combat. Such as their talents were, and they 
were considerable, what made them genuinely excellent in 
their command was that one was always trying to outdo 
the other, without jeopardizing their final mission—to 

cause the Japanese to lose the battles. 
The Chinese had been given the characteristics by many 

of laziness, of quitting, or of being hard to handle; 
“slopees” they called them. General Stilwell had not ac¬ 

cepted any of these notions. 
“The two engagements so far,” said General Stilwell, 

“show what can be done with these Chinese outfits if they 
are properly fed, armed and trained. All you have to do is 
give them a little combat experience and they are as good 
as any combat units you will find anywhere, including our 
American forces. They are accustomed to deprivation and 
can get along on a few handfuls of rice, peanuts and fish. 
In this sense they can make out with far less than Ameri¬ 
can troops. Except for ammunition. They are a little jittery 
and they shoot at the crack of a twig; but this too is 
being reduced as they get confidence in themselves.” 

Then he examined the map again, and his finger traced 
across the vast areas held by the Japanese. A shadow was 
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on his face for a moment, then his eyes twinkled as he 
looked at me and repeated: 

“The big job now, Ray, is for you and 101.” 
But before we went into that, he wanted us to tell him 

where our men were, what we were up to; and on that 
day, he was especially curious about how much success 
we had had as guerrillas. 

_ “You know,” he said, “every time I look at those Jap 
lines, I realize you’ve got your people behind them,” and 
then, laughing, “I’m not quite sure .. 

“Not quite sure?” I said. 

“Oh, I’ve got confidence in you and your boys all right.” 
He smiled to himself. “There’s Myitkyina,” he said, point¬ 
ing to the city. His hand made a quick arc over the moun¬ 
tains north of that big and important target of Myitkyina. 
|rWe,ve got people up there. We could be a lot worse off 
if they weren’t up there, Ray. Now, tell me what they’re 
up to.” 

I stood facing him, seeing the map, realizing that our 
numbers of people were few. We were guerrillas. 

Happily, we were over the first stages of creating a guer¬ 
rilla unit, and it had gone pretty well considering all 
things. Guerrillas are irregulars; they operate not from 
their own innate strength, but by striking at the enemy’s 
weakness. The guerrilla’s first job is to remain anonymous, 
to live among the enemy in order to discover his weakness. 

When the guerrilla learns the weakness, he irritates it. 
He does not overwhelm it, rather he dodges in and out, in 
a way that permits him to remain anonymous. A guerrilla 
fighter is ruthless, has no respect for battle courtesies. He 
agitates the enemy. 

Guerrillas are subordinate to conventional forces. Where 
conventional forces stake victory or defeat on a plan for 
battle, guerrillas do not have a legacy of battle conven¬ 
tions. And because of this, guerrilla movements, disposi¬ 
tions, and actions do not follow any book. The usual 
problems of supply, the logistics of troop movement, the 
recruiting and training of guerrillas are spontaneous acts 
which, ideally, can swell into unorthodox offensive action, 
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viden. momentary, but deadly; as quickly as it appears, 
k can burrow back into a pocket of anonymity. 

As a guerrilla becomes more self-sufficient and develops 
coBcdence in his ability to conduct effective operations 
safely behind enemy lines, he begins to double, then treble 
kes force and its scope of operations. His activities, in or- 
oer to remain guerrilla in nature, must always adhere to 
the principle that he can never commit himself to action 
Mil all the odds favor him. The guerrilla is not con¬ 
cerned with immediate victory. He believes in a slow ac- 
qgnulation of surprises that irritate the enemy. To accom¬ 
plish this desired end requires infinite patience. The stuff 
ant of which a guerrilla will build his own strength, be¬ 
sides patience, is the equal necessity of wiliness, of in¬ 
risibility when he travels, and of a courage which is not 
disturbed by a long period of time behind enemy lines. 

I went to the map, put my finger on Myitkyina, then 
rarved it straight north, some fifty miles above that city, 

into mountain ranges of over seven thousand feet, fol¬ 
lowing the line of the Irrawaddy River to within its 
headwaters, to the area of what we called the Triangle. 

There I pointed to a place where a party of men were 
encamped secretly. They had not yet been detected by 
the enemy, and their code name was forward. So far, they 
had succeeded in recruiting seven hundred natives as guer¬ 
rilla fighters, and were just now sending out some indi¬ 
viduals on espionage operations. The commander was an 
American naval officer named Jim Luce. His civilian back¬ 
ground was medicine; posted with him was an American 
Eeutenant named Gerry Larsen. They and their men 
brought a steady flow of information to the Allies about 
Japanese strength and movements in Northern Burma—it 
was as if an invisible camp were functioning in the enemy’s 
back yard. Luce and Larsen had been up there for a year 
with plenty to their credit, including the capture of three 
Japanese prisoners, alive, who had been brought out of 
the enemy-occupied area to India for interrogation, and 
the rescue of several American aircrews shot down flying 
over the Hump; and, unvaryingly, forward was a refuge 
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for the wounded and lost of the long-range penetration 
columns led into Burma by General Orde Wingate of the 
British Army, forward’s greatest problem was food. They 
had managed to cache a small supply against a day when 
they might be cut off from receiving airdrops; but the in¬ 
creasing numbers of downed aircrews, and exhausted Brit¬ 
ish infantrymen staying with them, awaiting evacuation, 

were diminishing supplies. 
Jim Luce had succeeded an Army major named Chris 

Wilkinson who had been pulled out and sent to develop 
guerrillas in enemy-held parts of China. Luce’s practical 
experience in medicine was an invaluable asset for a guer¬ 

rilla leader. 
This was the kind of luck that kept us going; Luce’s 

personal presence, his doctor’s background, carried great 
prestige in courting the natives and getting them to join 
our side. He was popular because he helped sick families, 
and because he knew how to improvise for jungle surgery 

under primitive conditions. 
The general sat down now, lighting another cigarette. 

And I saw how small was the command post of our meet¬ 
ing, one cot, one table, one roof, four men and many maps. 

Again, his eyes on the map, he said, “Oscar? what about 

Oscar?” 
“Oscar reported by radio as usual last evening at five,” 

I said. 
“Where is he now?” asked the General. 
The map had the answer. My finger bypassed Myitkyina 

and swept south, past mountainous Bhamo, far south, in 
the direction of Mandalay, a city of cymbals and pagodas, 
a city occupied by Japanese and unattainable for now, a 

city for the future. 
My finger stopped there, insanely near Mandalay; there 

wasn’t a man in early 1944 who didn’t dream of Mandalay, 
who didn’t wish for Mandalay. And mad as it was, I 
showed the General a contour line atop a hill overlooking 

Mandalay. 
I have seen many reactions of surprise and the General’s 

set a special and private standard. 

“There?” he said. “He is there—the damned fool?” 
“A month ago, sir,” I said. “He went in with apparently 

no effort, and he is in good health. His intelligence re¬ 
ports make American-British planning safer. We pulled 
him out a short time ago when it got a bit hot.” 

“I suppose he’s at Firpo’s now,” said the General, “en¬ 
joying Calcutta and all the rest.” 

“No, he is not at Firpo’s; he is not in Calcutta. He’s 
on the border.” 

“Border?” 

“The China-Burma border, sir.” My finger moved north 
on the map, showing where. 

“You don’t give a man much of a rest, Ray.” 
“Oscar rests better, General, in his opinion and mine, 

when he is given complications that he thinks he can man¬ 
age.” 

“The man is crazy or brave?” 

“Brave, General; he is shrewd, able and he is a bit dif¬ 
ferent.” 

The General frowned in understanding; but Oscar’s ex¬ 
ploits were not about to stop him. 

He briskly asked about the rest of our secret operations. 
I turned to a point not too far away from Oscar’s on 

the Burma-China border, and noted that here too a Brit¬ 
ish officer was in command. His name was George Drown. 
He had been a captain in the Kachin Levies, one of the 
traditional native units officered by Englishmen, whose his¬ 
tory stretched back to the earliest days of the British raj. 
Although he was as isolated as a man could be from the 
amenities of anything approaching civilized life, Captain 
Brown’s habits in the field had an unrelieved fastidious¬ 
ness. With a degree of ritual and precision, he had trained 
a native to act as his valet, twice a day laying out those 
things he needed for shaving and making himself pre¬ 
sentable. Without a word being said, the valet knew when 
to hand over the razor, the towel, the toothbrush in a 
properly silent manner. In view of Captain Drown’s isola¬ 
tion, I sympathized with his living in a manner that made 
him comfortable. 
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Tn matters of espionage, his agents had gone to 
places thirty and forty miles away from their hideout, 
returning with information that was radioed. to India. 
The information had been received with gratitude. 

Moving the General’s attention on, away from the 
China-Burma border to Myitkyina again, I now found 
myself describing an operation coded as pat. This 
unit was led by two Anglo-Burmese who held second 
lieutenants’ commissions in the Burma Army. Unlike 
many Burmese during the retreat of 1942, these two 
men had marched out and then volunteered to go back 
into Burma. One was named Patrick Quinn, and the 
other, Dennis Francis. They were young, in their early 
twenties, and they wanted to fight. They were now 
located near Myitkyina—and their proximity, only 
twenty miles from the bulk of the Japanese Army s 
major base in North Burma, enabled them, as opportu¬ 
nities arose, to attack the enemy truck and rail con¬ 
voys. They had a small band of about fifty guerrillas 
and some fine sabotage and espionage agents. . 

Besides Luce, the other American commander m the 
field at that time was an Army lieutenant named Vin¬ 
cent Curl. His was the largest camp, located west of 
Myitkyina, in a range of steep, fortress-like mountains; 
when the operation was in its planning stage, someone 
had used the word “knothead” in conversation, and in 
the ensuing laughter, without further ado, we chose 
knothead for the Curl operation’s code name. 

Because many varieties of mission were to be asked 
of Curl, he had two American sergeants with him; Jack 
Pamplin, a cryptographer, and Fima Haimson, the radio 
operator. This close partnership, a team in fact, of an 
American officer and enlisted men working together was 
to become a fundamental part of our operation. An¬ 
tagonisms between officers and enlisted men were rare; 

almost nonexistent. # 
There were also two Chinese—Skittles and Hefty 

under Curl’s command. They had been chosen because 
they both knew Burma as the country of their birth; 
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through many future trials we were to find that their 
experience and intuition were a great source of wisdom. 
Skittles, in particular, had been involved before the war 
in mining engineering, and had traveled over a great 
part of Burma’s remote geography, precisely the kind 
of terrain that befits guerrilla and espionage operations. 
Further, Skittles provided knothead with an expert 
linguist; he spoke fluent English, Burmese, Chinese, 
Hindi, Urdu, Siamese, Kachin and a half dozen ob¬ 
scure dialects of the numerous hill tribes scattered 
throughout Burma. 

We had risked quite a bit in sending knothead and 
all the talents it represented so deep behind the Jap¬ 
anese lines; but it was the only way to launch our op¬ 
eration, and after six months in the field, they were in 
a zone secure by guerrilla standards, and had quickly 
made contact with an influential Kachin headman named 
Zhing Htaw Naw. 

Even before knothead made contact with him, Zhing 
Htaw Naw, because of his antipathy to Japanese oc¬ 
cupation, had fled to the mountains inaccessible to the 
enemy and had waged a spontaneous, if modest, guer¬ 
rilla campaign. When knothead and Zhing made con¬ 
tact, the Japanese already had a price on the Kachin’s 
head. It goes without saying that from Zhing’s point 
of view, meeting knothead was the fulfillment of a 
dream. The Kachin and his band were without am¬ 
munition and physically weakened, but their spirit was 
resolute. They asked for ammunition for their guns— 
weapons so antiquated that they would have seemed at 
home in a museum. 

As for Lieutenant Curl, he immediately requested a 
drop of modern arms, ammunition, food and medicines. 
^Vhen the drop came, Zhing and his followers needed 
only the briefest of instructions in handling the carbines 
and tommy guns. 

Precisely because these Kachins were pleased that they 
had modern weapons and spread the word to other 
Kachins, knothead was besieged with recruits. Curl 
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now wanted more arms, but we bad insufficient drop 

planes. 
“Hell,” the General interrupted, “y°u an^ your pi¬ 

rates stop worrying about drop-plane support.” 
“Are you saying the matter is settled, General?” 
He said it was, and he asked me to continue. 
I then described tramp, the code name for the third 

of the British-commanded field units. At the moment, 
tramp was providing the advancing Chinese divisions 
with the kind of intelligence that assists the movement 
of any large body of troops about to engage in full- 
scale "battle. Tramp was commanded by Red Maddox, 
an English major. He had only a handful of natives 
with him. We expected no deliberate guerrilla opera¬ 
tions from tramp at this time. Later, we would expand, 
but tramp's function was the classic one of seeing and 
hearing as much of the enemy as humanly possible with¬ 

out making itself known. 
The plan for each of our operations was to get men 

placed where their safety was not threatened, where 
they could keep a knowing eye on the enemy’s move¬ 
ments, and where, once they had established themselves 
with the native people, they could strike the enemy 
from behind, cutting his lines of communication, hitting 
him where he thought he was invulnerable. Surprise 

was essential. 
Firepower counted heavily, too, because our men trav¬ 

eled in small units, and therefore when they came upon 
the enemy a decisive factor was how many they could 
massacre from ambush. The more they killed and the 
goal was all—the surer the guerrilla’s quick and uncon¬ 
tested escape. Superior firepower means half the battle 
for a guerrilla, and this we had given our men. And 
Japanese equipment and firepower in North Burma was 

a decade behind the times. 
“The outcome of what I plan,” said S til well, de¬ 

pends a great deal on your men’s actions. 
The General repeated the names of all the people 

in the field, needing no prompting from me. He repeated 
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their exact locations, and what they were doing and 
planning. Our operation was as clear to him as it was 
to me, and the men were as real. I found that not only 
had he listened, but he had absorbed it all. 

General Stilwell sat back quietly and thought for a 
minute. Then he said, “This may come as a shock to 
you and I am sure it will surprise a lot of people, 
but I fully intend to be in Myitkyina by this summer 
and that means before the monsoon rains set in.” 

He was correct; to talk about Myitkyina as ours in 
a matter of months fell on my ears with an explosive 
shock. Myitkyina was over two hundred miles away 
and in between lay the actualities of trackless, heat- 
ridden jungle as well as the excellent, battle-confident 
Japanese 18th Division. The monsoon rains could be an¬ 
other cause for agony. Normally, they begin during 
the first half of June, and it would be of strategic im¬ 
portance to. capture Myitkyina by then. At that rate, 
General Stilwell was saying that we would sit in 
Myitkyina in only three to four months. 

“That’s fine, General,” I said. “Do you think the 
two Chinese divisions can do it? It is true, they’ve done 
all right against the Japanese so far, but can they take 
on the whole 18th?” I was beginning to guess, at this 
point, what he had meant by the big job. 

He elaborated upon his plan by stating there were 
certain things which must be taken into account. First, 
he had received approval from the War Department to 
use the 5307th Composite Group (later known as Mer¬ 
rill’s Marauders) in Northern Burma as the lead Amer¬ 
ican attacking force. Essential to obtaining Myitkyina 
were the Chinese 22nd and 38th Divisions. In the gen¬ 
eral’s plan, they were to attack straight through the 
Hukawng Valley; but at the same time, Merrill’s Ma¬ 
rauders were to operate as a flanking force, especially in 
making end runs around the Japanese right, or northern, 
flank. 

Secondly, Stilwell had the 30th Chinese Division in 
reserve. They were still training at Ramgarh in India, 
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but would be ready to join the battle plan in a matter 
of weeks. He also expected, if necessary, to receive re¬ 
inforcements from Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek. 

Thirdly, General Stilwell’s plan took into account the 
diversionary effect of the British plan to employ Win¬ 
gate’s Raiders south of Myitkyina. Wingate’s forces, a 
mixture of English, Burmese and Indian troops, were to 
strike the Japanese road and rail communication and 
supply depots, and make every effort to engage Jap¬ 
anese forces generally along a line running east and 
west through Katha. This diversion would hopefully 
draw enemy strength away from the true target - 
Myitkyina—and simultaneously, almost eliminate the 
possibility of the Allied forces being outflanked. 

Fourthly, the Kachin Levies, under the command of 
British Brigadier Bowerman, had recently come under 
Stilwell’s direct command, and he envisioned them as 
pinning down the Japanese forces in the area of Sump- 

rabum, north of Myitkyina. 
Thus, the plan to liberate Myitkyina involved the 

arms and men of many nations: frontal attack by the 
Chinese; flanking movement by the American Maraud¬ 
ers: diversion by the British column to the south, and a 
holding effort by the native Kachins. Stilwell expected 
to achieve surprise with such an effort. It was to be the 
first offensive large-scale plan by the Allies against Jap¬ 
anese-occupied southeast Asia. Since General Slim s 
British 14th Army was still defensively engaged on the 
Imphal front, Stilwell’s stakes were high; he vowed he 
would fight into the monsoon if necessary to break the 

Japanese control of North Burma. 
The unwritten law for fighting in Burma stated that 

the monsoons were a time for both sides to establish 
their positions and stop fighting. Stilwell’s idea was to 
destroy the myth forever. He planned to supply troops 
by airdrop. He would not let the rains stop the attack. 
And the enemy, with no airdrop potential, would get 
into grim trouble trying to keep his motor convoys o 
supplies rolling over waterlogged roads and trails. 
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“This attack,” said General Stilwell, “is going to be 
touch-and-go. We will have to utilize every resource at 
our command. I am convinced that your Kachins can 
help and I want them on our side. I am going to need 
intelligence, lots of it. 

“Here, now, is the big job for you,” he said, and 
he did not underrate its importance. “I want you to ex¬ 
pand your guerrilla force to a strength of about three 
thousand as quickly as you can. The bulk of the guer¬ 
rilla forces should be located around about Myitkyina 
so that when the combined forces of Chinese and Amer¬ 
ican troops get ready to put on their final push, you 
will be prepared to give them maximum assistance. The 
other thing I want is intelligence. No matter how difficult, 
expand your espionage activities; I want to see agents 
well south of Myitkyina and Mogaung and even further 
south if you would like; but, above all, make certain 
we can depend upon their information. Now that is about 
it. Can you do it? I am not going to try to tell you 
how to do it, that is your job.” 

“Yes, we can do it, but we need some things to get it 
moving on the time schedule you desire. Specifically, 
we need some qualified personnel, arms and ammuni¬ 
tion, a priority for aircraft for parachute drops of 
personnel, supplies, and equipment—and, finally, we 
need priority to get some of the backlog of critical’peo- 
ple and equipment particularly signal equipment—we 
have sitting in the United States, waiting to get here.” 

He saw this in a favorable light, cursing the red-tape 
stupidity that held up vital men and supplies from reach¬ 
ing the China-Burma-India (CBI) Theater. But if we 
needed officers now he could provide them. 

I replied that we could get along for the time being 
with an increase of about six qualified officers. 

de said,“Okay, I’ll tell you what, you will have eight 
omcers waiting for you tomorrow night in Ledo.” With 
iat he scribbled a message to the Commanding Officer 

oi the Replacement Depot at New Malir, outside Ka- 
dc b thirty-iive-hundred miles away, telling him to 
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“send eight rough, tough and ready lieutenants for pier- 
riUa operation to report to the adjutant general m 

Ledo tomorrow night.” ;rntnpdiatp' 
He then cleared a no-nonsense order for “mediate 

delivery of four hundred carbines and twenty-five 60mm 

mortars, and sufficient ammunition for our tr0°Pf_ ^ 
this done, we got down to the matter of drop airplanes. 

T nointed out the difficulties of the weather and Jap 
Zeros anJ6 that we would need more than the two planes 

we were using for the job he wanted done. 

:‘S;nat?lea'et ^airplanes,” I relied, “on a con- 

taXreSwaesn"noa quiMingbI saw him weigh in a matter 

of minutes our requirements against the neelofotbe 
Allied forces in Northern Burma. It was not just Bur 
dtier He hid to think of the Hump aircraft, flymg 
^s and ammunition to the Nationalist Army m China 

and easoiine to General Chennault s 14th Air horce. 
But the powerful reason for his battle plan was to 
™ tXT land route to China. We bad to wm 
to?Burma if they were going to win battles in 

^trmffiatod thtmeetingl'saying, “If you fellows; 
eaf do job that I expect for the Myitkyina campaign, 
fuff aromatically plan on increasing £size of 

today. Some day you y and smilin&; 

rtfdCur form of unconventional warfare. 
“fewwoS things can happen,” he said, “than to lose 

. vIX bf use we didn’t trust the fighting qualities 

Of these people, these Kachins. ^"“hlnceT’‘ 
anxious to take on the jap. is . . 

I 
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The Beginning 

With the orders from General Stilwell fresh in my 
mind, I left and went back to the headquarters of what 
we were officially called, OSS (Office of Strategic Serv¬ 

er ^K ^etachment 101 • Naturally, I was excited that 
Aluea forces were about to put on their first compr©- 
hensive drive into Burma; and I could not help feeling 
pride in the role our unit would play. 

One can easily imagine resistance movements in West¬ 
ern Europe or the Mediterranean, but southeast Asia 
was not an area of interest, in traditional terms, to the 
United States. So our being there at all, and cer¬ 
tainly m the capacity of guerrillas, was without prec¬ 
edent. The decision had been carefully made. It was 
not chance that brought about 101; rather the result of 
a shrewd decision made by Generals Stilwell and Wil¬ 
liam (“Wild Bni”) Donovan. 

It grew out of discussions in early 1942, wherein they 
analyzed some of the reasons for our defeat in the first 
Burma campaign. Foremost, they reckoned, among 

®se reasons was the factor of Japanese fifth-column 
c unties, ambushes behind our lines, jungle night at¬ 

tacks, demolition work and the all-inclusive roles of the 
guern a. the influence of surprise, the gradual sense o£ 

35 
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uncertainty, the half-formed thought that all is not,/-* 
”fe that arises from unpredictable efforts to stop nor¬ 

mal military life—or just to keep it back a step 

tWSuch a unit bad never been organized within Amer¬ 
ican history. There was nobody trained, qualified o , 
or that matter, anybody who knew much about carry- 

ing on irregular war. Finally, Stilwell from his military 
tours of duty in Hawaii recalled a man named C^Eifler, 
who had been the Deputy Collector of Customs m 

H Eflerwas a reserve officer, had lived for years***** 
the Chinese and Japanese ,n Hawaii and the Far East 
and had spent considerable time with the Border Patrol 

al?n checMng'<die'whereabouts of Carl Eifler, General 
Donovantund that be had been called to active duty 

and was a captain commmidmg ." 

r/C S formality8 for Genera, 

Donovan; and the next thing Eifler knew, in March 1942 
he was ordered to Washington to report to General 

,<•- r'Viipf rnnrdinator of Information (COL), 
Office of strategic Serv- 

iCcir?was quite an imposing individual He ^about 

hundred Td fifty pounds "ne was “ sttongI as a young 

HetlsTnTtumllof'the11^ and in the days before | 
kavffig Hawaii for Washington, Carl did a little re- | 

Crf"?;,ow officer in the 35 th Infantry was Captain 
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rifle company for irregular warfare, John was more than 
willing to try his hand at it. Carl also enlisted Vincent 
Curl, his first sergeant in the 35th Infantry; a medical 
officer named Captain Archie Chun Ming who was also 
President of the Hawaiian Chapter of the Reserve Of¬ 
ficer Association; and Robert Aitken, a captain in the 
Intelligence Section of the Hawaiian Department. By 
the time Carl left Hawaii he had recruited a party of 
men, each, in his curious way, adaptable to the secret 
operations ahead. 

When Carl arrived in Washington, General Donovan 
issued to him a rather vague and yet singularly un¬ 
precedented set of instructions. He told him that his 
organization would be the first American unit ever as¬ 
sembled and trained to conduct a wide variety of clan¬ 
destine operations—espionage, sabotage, guerrilla war¬ 
fare, propaganda, escape and evasion and so on. Fur¬ 
thermore, Carl was to be ready to fight a kind of war¬ 
fare that knew no rules. His organization might even¬ 
tually expand, but initially it should remain small, if 
not obscure, about forty men at the most. General 
Donovan said the area of operation might be anywhere 
in the Far East, in jungle country, in ports, in rice 
fields, in mountains, even in cities as far apart as Ran¬ 
goon and Djakarta, Kunming and Bangkok. So uncer¬ 
tain was the situation in the Pacific and the Far East that 
this was about all that could be told to him, this, and 
that he was to carry out insurrectionary tasks ranging 
from assassination to bridge-blowing. 

On 14 April 1942, Detachment 101 of the Office of 
the Coordinator of Information was officially activated. 
Why was it numbered 101? A subtle kind of bravado. 
Though this was the first United States unit of its kind, 
a number less than 100 might not have the proper 
weight of age and experience; 101 seemed the very 
model of a unit that had been around for a long time. 

After his discussion with General Donovan, Carl, a 
man of practical bent, realized that men of ingenuity 
and extraordinary enthusiasms were what, he wanted. 
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Since he had no idea, no certain knowledge where in the 
Far East they would begin, ingenuity, to a remarkable 
degree, must be shown in picking his recruits. He com¬ 
piled a guide list of the basic talents he needed. He 
decided that before 101 could engage in successful guer¬ 
rilla warfare, he would need men who knew military 
science and tactics, engineering,. explosives,, radio and 
other communications, basic medicine, precision machin¬ 
ery, and photography; and men who possessed a lan¬ 

guage aptitude. 
In the 12th Infantry, the “President’s Own,” at Fort 

Myer, Virginia, Carl located three young captains, Dev¬ 
lin, Little and Wilkinson, who were willing and eager for 
an overseas assignment shrouded in secrecy. In a bar 
one night, Carl struck up a conversation with an officer 
who just happened to be an engineer—after several 
hours and several drinks Carl had recruited himself an 
engineer officer. And so it went. By the time the unit 
was organized he had recruited four infantry officers, two 
engineers, three radio technicians, a watchmaker, a 
court stenographer, a Korean patriot and an American 
who had been the advisor to Chiang Hsueh-liang, a 
powerful Chinese war lord of the mid-twenties known 
as “The Young Marshal.” The initial 101 was a small 
unit of only twenty-one persons (twelve officers and 
nine NCO’s), but a very well-balanced party that could 
qualify for whatever schemes were dreamed up for it 

My own admission to this band came about through 
the inspiration of Captain Coughlin who had joined Carl 
in Hawaii. I had known him as early as 1937, when 1 
first came on active duty from the University of Cal¬ 

ifornia in Los Angeles. 
In the early months of 1942, just after Pearl Harbor, 

I was attending a wartime, abbreviated version of the 
Infantry Officers Advance Course at Fort Benning, Geor¬ 
gia. My family and I were living about twenty-five miles 
from the post in a rustic lodge which for them was 
far from comfortable and in winter months, an igloo. 
Early one Sunday morning on a cool March day, a 
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neighboring farmer, looking bedraggled and damp from 
his half-mile walk in the rain, informed me that Fort 
Benning with an urgent message was calling on the 
telephone. 

I thanked the farmer for his courtesy; when I got to 
the telephone, I learned that the message originated in 
Washington. It was: “Are you interested in a combat 
assignment in the southwest Pacific?” Signed, “Captain 
John G. Coughlin.” 

Suddenly I knew the answer was yes. The times I 
had spent with John left no doubt in my mind that 
whatever was involved would be all right, and possibly, 
a big show. 

By the time the course was completed and I had re¬ 
turned to my home station at Fort Leonard Wood, Mis¬ 
souri, a set of orders was there directing me to report 
immediately to the Coordinator of Information, Wash¬ 
ington, D.C. That afternoon I received a telephone call 
from Colonel Garland Williams of COI who told me 
where I was to report. It was fortunate he called be¬ 
cause, in those days, so little was known about the COI 
that one might roam around Washington for days and 
never find it. 

Upon arriving in Washington I checked with Captain 
Coughlin. He then took me in to meet my new com¬ 
mander, Captain Carl Eifler. To say I was in for a rude 
shock would be the understatement of a lifetime. After 
an exchange of salutes, he offered his hand. I could see 
it was strong and the way he grabbed my hand was 
proof. He proceeded to crack every joint, smiling all 
the time. Back of what he was doing was a message. 
Danger? The next thing, as if it were entirely habitual, 
he took a stiletto-type dagger and drove it a good two 
or three inches into the top of his desk. He looked 
pleased. I was confused. I had never had anything like 
this happen before and all I could think was, “What’s 
next?” 

It turned out to be a briefing and I have never had 
one more effective, before or since. He used a standard 
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wall map and his strong hand moved along like a tank, 
covered nearly all of China and half of Siberia. By 
way of explaining what we were going to. do in the 
Far East he took me on a few verbal reconnaissance mis¬ 
sions and ambuscades. We rode with the pirates on the 
Yangtze River, on Mongolian ponies with the war lords 
across the sands- of the Gobi Desert, operated with 
the Dacoits or robbers in the Mekong Valley. The im¬ 
pression was of parachutes, hit-and-run fire fights, re¬ 
sistance movements, sabotage, of missions crisscrosse 
with danger. My role then, I thought, was shortly to 
become something T had never expected. I wondered why 
John had lured me into this. He looked at.me pleasantly. 

Following this, we went on a short tnp through t e 
office. I met Colonel Strong of the Marines and.Colonel 
Garland Williams, the Army officer who had given me 

directions over the telephone and who was about to leave 

for parachute training at Fort Benning; and finally 
met General Donovan’s deputy, Colonel Goodfellow, a 

reserve officer called to active duty from the Brooklyn 

Eagle■ and his secretary, Miss Dockery, who had been 
with him for years on the newspaper. These were all 
knowledgeable people, and it seemed totally natural to 

find them studying books on the terrain features ot 
Japanese-occupied southeast Asia. Then we went m to 

see General Donovan. I reminded myself that he en- 

ioved one of the truly fabulous fighting reputations. To 

see him was to be lifted to the pride of “The Fighting 
Sixty-ninth.’’ His ribbons commanded my attention: 

aside from General MacArthur, he was the only soldier 

who wore our nation’s top three awards—the Medal of 
Honor, the Distinguished Service Cross and the Dis¬ 

tinguished Service Medal. The maps on the walls were 
marked Secret. He made us comfortable by pointing out 

his concern over the Japs pressing India and China and 
how good guerrillas would be invaluable in slowing up 
the enemy’s progress, in following up every opportunity 

for information that could eventually mean the defeat 
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of the Japanese. Later, I took John aside and told him 
how good it was to be part of 101. 

In another few days, one part of our unit, consisting 
of Captain Eifler, Captain Coughlin and the bulk of the 
officers, went to a British paramilitary indoctrination 
course in Canada. The other half, of which I was a part, 
became the first class at the newly established COI 
School known as B Camp. It was situated in a beautiful 
location in the Catoctin Mountains of Maryland, a short 
seventy miles from Washington. It was later taken over 
for President Roosevelt’s use as a mountain retreat and 
renamed Camp David by President Eisenhower. 

The instruction at B Camp lasted for two weeks; it 
was abnormal to get more than six hours’ sleep a day. 
Our course of training involved skills such as would 
be useful for our future—methods of agent operations, 
secret writing, resisting an interrogator, searches for 
downed aircrews, cryptography, experimenting with a 
variety of high explosives, learning the difference be¬ 
tween blowing a stone or steel bridge. We learned how to 
use primitive but effective detonators. Sabotage became 
less of a mystery. Overseeing our course was a precise 
man named George White who had been a narcotics 
agent with the Treasury Department. He was short in 
stature, about as wide as he was high and looked less 
like an expert saboteur than a harmless grocer. 

At our disposal was the whole range of explosives of 
the day: dynamite, TNT, composition C, and a full 
line of modern fuses, caps and delaying devices. We 
were constantly studying and discussing British com¬ 
mando raids on France, Norway and North Africa. A 
young engineer captain, Charles Parkin, assisted by three 
lieutenants, Karwaski, Lazarsky and Gleason (nick¬ 
named the Three Skis), were responsible for this phase 
°f our instruction. Though they had no firsthand ex¬ 
perience with guerrilla warfare, they were perfectly will- 
lng to absorb information from every possible source— 
and pass it on to us. 

f*-he instructor in unarmed combat, on the other hand, 
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bore many visible scars, showing that he was not want- 
in" in gutter-fight experience. His name was. Fairbairn, 
and he was a major in His Majesty’s Service. Before 
the war, he had been chief of police in Shanghai. He was 
an old hand at killing. He had a distaste for anything 
that smacked of manners in fighting. He knew all of 
the dirty tricks and he worked continuously to erase 
any of our sportsmanlike notions or ideas. To him, there 
were no rules in staying alive. He taught us to enter a 
fight with one idea: to kill an opponent quickly and 
efficiently. He had designed a scalpel-thin, sharp stiletto 
which would leave hardly any marks or blood, and he 
could use it with the unerring skill of a surgeon at work. 
He was equally as effective in his unorthodox method 
of shooting a pistol at close quarters. He would in¬ 
variably say, when putting the finishing touches to a 
would-be victim, “Don’t let him lead you up the gar¬ 

den path.” . , . 
In the final days of our training we were assigned.in 

teams of two the job of destroying a nearby city s in¬ 
dustrial plants. We were to move out disguised as Army 
privates. All possible information on the assigned target 
was to be obtained, sketches prepared, and plans made 
to sabotage it. My partner was Nicol Smith, an author 
who had lived in the Far East, and our target was an 
aircraft factory in Hagerstown, Maryland. Curiously, we 
had been supplied with uniforms that were a comic 
facsimile of those worn during the First World War. 
They were tattered, dirty and wrinkled, and the general 

appearance we cut, walking up Main Street in Hagers¬ 
town, was pointedly absurd. Yet we could not have^ been 
better off. No military policemen bothered to challenge 

our appearance. . 
The first move we made was to obtain a copy of cue 

plant directory, and as luck would have it, Nicol was 
acquainted with one of the executives. After checking 
into a hotel, Nicol phoned his acquaintance and asked 
if he could come out and see him; also that he had a 
close friend with him who had recently been drafted 
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into the Army. Having been cordially invited to come 
out as soon as possible, it was a simple matter to rent 
a suit of clothes for Nicol and to get my uniform 
pressed so that I didn’t look so much like a character 
out or a Charlie Chaplin film. Our host turned out to 
be most hospitable, and invited us to tour the plant 
Obviously this was a solution to our challenge of dis¬ 
covering how to blow up his plant without being de¬ 
tected. fa 

The tour turned out better than we had expected. To 
all our questions as to how his factory might be slowed 
down or damaged, our host provided answers. He showed 
us plans, how their alarm system worked, where the 
guards were located. In a matter of a few hours we 
were presented with all the data we could possibly need 
for a first-class job of reducing the factory to ruin. 
None of this was guessed at by our host. Had he 
known that our purpose was sabotage he would have 
acted other than hospitably. But one thing was true 
about our method—-an enemy saboteur might cultivate 
the same kind of friendship for the same ends we had 
m mind. Naturally, our sabotage plan was not put to a 
ICuU 

It may appear that the procedures used by Nicol 
and myself in gaining entry to the plant were not exactly 
according to the rules and, to a degree, that may be 
true. However, if an enemy agent were to attempt to 
case or reconnoiter a plant such as this, he would be 
extremely fortunate to get himself established within 

„ ree ™onl;hs and lfc wou,d Probably take him a year to 
assemble the necessary data. Since we had only a day 

Jna, f^w hours t0 do the j°b, it was quite obvious that 
e had to cut all kinds of corners and take advantage 

cauvht "fti situatl'on tbat Presented itself. If we were 
caught the worst that could happen to us would be to 
pend a few hours m the local jail until OSS bailed us 

ann'JrV1! -he -CaSe °f an enemy a8ent, if he were 
pprehended in time of war, it would probably result 
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The schooling was completed and the unit reassembled 
in Washington toward the end of April, 1942. Shortly 
thereafter the group received instructions to leave for 
the Far East in the latter part of May. This posed sev¬ 
eral major problems. Our knowledge of the Orient was 
extremely limited; only two members of the group had 
ever been there. We were slightly better off for our 
training at B Camp, but that training brought up a Jot 
of questions. How much of each type of explosive 
should we take with us? What kind of switches or delay 
fuses should be taken to set off these explosives? What 
kind of and how many weapons should be obtained? 
We speculated as to the shape and location of a base 
camp. We didn’t know how big it should be, what kind of 
transportation we should have, how we would store our 
supplies. Who was to provide the answers? There was 
no other outfit quite like ours and we had only six 
weeks before departure. Not a single item. of supply or 
equipment had been procured for the unit. 

Since there were to be about twenty-five Americans 
in the initial group, twenty-five became our magic num¬ 
ber. We procured twenty-five of everything, sleeping 
bags, jungle gear, mosquito nets, individual sets of equip¬ 
ment and weapons. The specialists drew up lists for 
their particular areas. Captain Huston and his com¬ 
munications group prepared a detailed request for radio 
parts and other signal equipment; Captain Chun Ming 
did likewise for medical supplies; Sergeant Moree for 
photographic supplies and equipment; Lieutenant Till- 

quist and Sergeant Hemming for demolitions. 
The next problem was to locate, purchase and order 

the supplies and have them delivered to the port of 
embarkation, Charleston, South Carolina, not later than 
20 May. This meant two weeks to find the equipment. 

Captains Little, Devlin, and I had at least had some 
experience in supply matters so we tried to find the 
means for getting the job done. However much we did, 
without Colonel C. P. Townsley of the Army General 
Staff backing us up, it would have been the old story 
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of soldiers without supplies. And our requests were not 
easy to fill. Jeeps, for instance, in those days were 
scarce and m great demand, yet the order of fifteen of 
them, along with five one-and-one-half-ton trucks was 
delivered to us from Detroit on less than two weeks 
notice. 

The procurement of supplies from civilian sources was 
much more difficult. Most of the purchasing was done 
from supply catalogs by way of telephone and telegraph 
to some of the larger suppliers of outdoor equipment, 
ofiice equipment and radio parts. In order to insure that 
these items would reach port by the sailing date, it was 
necessary that a large percentage of it be shipped air 
freight. It was expensive; however, our second shipment 
of supplies would not reach us in the China-Burma- 
India (CBI) Theater until approximately ten months 
after we reached our destination. Without the supplies 
we could take with us, Detachment 101 would remain 
a myth, an expedition that should have stayed home 
so it was vitally important, no matter what the cost, that 
the supplies sail with us. 

Meanwhile, during this hectic race for supplies, we 
purchased books to build up our library on the Far 
East, and we talked to anyone we could find who knew 
the geography and the people of the Orient. A number 
of people gave us a chance to talk about the Far East. 
Ex-rubber planters from Malaya were one group; wives 
and relatives of prisoners-of-war still held by the Japa¬ 
nese, another. We saw Dr. Christianson, a professor of 
history from the University of California who had spent 
years m Burma and had written several books on the 
country. He provided much enlightenment on Burma, and 
later his book became required reading for everyone in 
the unit. 

Carl Eifler, recently promoted to major, left some days 
anead of us, taking with him Master Sergeant Curl. 
Wnen we saw them go, we felt the reality of Asia com¬ 
ing closer,, and our training, which had taken us almost 
0 he point of exhaustion, turned now in our minds 
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as something permanent, something that we would never 

forget. 
There was no place for sentiment when our own or¬ 

ders came through. John Coughlin, also recently pro¬ 
moted to major, was designated to head the remainder 
of the group, first to Charleston, South Carolina, the 
port of embarkation, and thence to India. A few of the 
group imbibed a bit too much, but more were comforted 
by the presence of their families, and one of the young 
lads got himself married. We went down to Charleston 
by train, taking along Sergeant Pamplin on a stretcher 
recovering from an emergency appendectomy. Every 
mile was kept alive with conversation and the strength 

we felt from each other. 
All our cajoling and telephoning to obtain the sup¬ 

plies seemed useless when we reached the port. Nothing 
had been loaded aboard ship; and it was obvious from 
the blank looks we received that no one knew anything 
at all about Detachment 101. This was our first crisis 
after the race for the supplies. I believe today, think¬ 
ing back on it, that the people responsible for the port 
were bound up in so many labors to get the obvious 
onto ships that when they came across the 101 materials, 
the fact that they had no idea about us, no knowledge 
of where we were going and what we intended to do, 
gave them a good excuse to put our supplies aside. For¬ 
tunately, they made one intelligent decision. They had 
stacked our boxes together under a single roof, and as 
we came upon the pile, it seemed a monument to frustra¬ 

tion. 
But we could not pause to enjoy and curse the irony; 

now began perhaps our most pressing job, more impor¬ 
tant than the training itself. Our boxes were in a compli¬ 
cated mess—and we had to pull everything open so that 
we could learn exactly what was coming with us. 
None of us had ever worked like that; with the depar¬ 
ture time so close, everyone in the group hauled crates 
around with the pace of stevedores. A harmony devel¬ 

oped right there and then. 
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At all events, we had almost finished the job when 
there were only five hours remaining until sailing time; 
and then a new hurdle. Not a single jeep or truck of 
ours had been loaded when, with a harassment we did 
not deserve, a new pitfall was laid in our path. We 
were told that the jeeps and trucks could not be taken 
aboard. No reason was given except that there wasn’t 
time. All normal arguments failed, and only threats and 
exhortations of a kind that suited the students of Major 
Fairbairn’s ruthless techniques broke through the bar¬ 
rier. .We were told that we could load no jeeps; then, 
five jeeps; in the end, we managed three more than our 
quota, the last one still unlashed when our ship cleared 
the dock. Everyone in our unit in appearance and look 
and voice was, it seemed, a hundred years older. 

We crawled into our bunks, and we knew how tired 
we were much later when we remembered the events of 
four days and nights of loading and checked our posi¬ 
tion to find that we had slept for twenty-six hours. 
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III 

The Waiting Game 

It was the Fourth of July, 1942, and we celebrated 

our arrival in the CBI Theater by having a bottle of 

beer in the newly opened American Officers’ Club. There 

was only a handful of Americans in Karachi at that 

time and we were the only ones in the club. 
Our journey to Karachi had been highly interesting, 

but uneventful. When our ships’ convoy reached Free¬ 

town, West Africa, we had disembarked, leaving behind 

Sergeant Haimson to guard our supplies for the re¬ 

mainder of the trip to India. The rest of the party had 

flown across Africa and the Near East along the route 

established for the army by Pan American. 
When a person is in the military service, he meets 

people, makes friends and associations that last for a 

lifetime. No matter where you go you continually meet 

old friends, and it simplifies getting the job done. This 
happened to us throughout the war, as it did at Karachi 

where the commander of the port of embarkation turned 
out to be John Coughlin’s West Point classmate, Colo¬ 

nel Paul Yount. He arranged everything; the receipt of 

our supplies when the ship arrived, the rail move¬ 
ment of the unit to New Delhi and a procedure for 
notifying us to have our supplies unloaded and moved 

to base camp, wherever it might be. 

48 

We were forced by the flooding Indus River to re¬ 
main almost as if isolated in the airport terminal build¬ 
ings; and what we heard over the radio and from people 
who had somehow gotten through to the airport seemed 
tumultuous. The river had broken its banks, and eye¬ 
witness accounts described it as unsuppressable, flood¬ 
ing hundreds of miles of the Sind Desert, and in many 
places threatening to engulf the railroad embankments, 
normally a bridge against any flood threat. 

Even so, this delay was fascinating because it gave us 
a closer look at the Moslems, the quiet of morning 
broken by the call to prayer, the streams of people to 
the mosques, the minarets like scythes against the sky 
—and again, as the sun went down, the chorale of voices 
saying their prayers. After dark, we kept our interest 
alive by going out to where the camel caravans passed, 
something endless out of the Arabian Nights, the men 
in their gowns, the camels swaying against the solitude 
of night, and the lead camel showing the way with a 
lantern tied around its neck. The caravans, some with 

scores upon scores of camels, traveled at night because 

during the day the sun was furnace-hot and intolerable. 
There were other experiences, with a murmur of Kipling 

to them. Ever near us were British soldiers, and among 
their stories they included tales of the Hurs, a trouble¬ 

some obtrusive sect of tough bandits, who haunted the 
trade routes of northeast India. Camel caravans, pas¬ 

senger trains, motor convoys presented no problem to 

the Hurs. They were bold and they were not far re¬ 
moved from Jesse James. In one way or another, their 

henchmen got aboard a train, halted it at a strategic 
place, and when the main band came aboard, it was 
easy to rob, pillage, loot and rape. For Europeans they 

had no sympathy. Not much was said concerning Hur 
treatment of women, but typical of how they looked 
upon ruining a man was their practice of cutting off the 

male organs. It was a foreboding and true picture as 
we learned from verifying newspaper accounts. Need- 
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less to say, when it was dry enough to make our train 
trip across the Sind we picked our places aboard the car 
with an eye to its defense. We were armed as if for an 
attack at any moment. 

But the rail journey was safe and peaceful. When we 
came upon the w’alled city of Hyderabad with its court¬ 
yards and arches, with the smells and noise of traders, 
the stretch and range of empty desert seemed suddenly 
picturesque, and through the train windows the orna¬ 
mented glows of the passing city were a gladdening 
sight. We managed the unlikely food, simple Indian fare 
of pieces of chicken, more bone and skin than flesh, and 
began to feel the trip as a movement closer to the final 
stop where the enemy waited. Tenaciously chewing on 
the chicken bones, we ignored the sandy taste of the 
food, and listened to the engine throb, watched the stars 
twinkle ceaselessly, and talked of Burma eastward. 

We arrived at Lahore, and its markets, which made 
us think of those at home. We purchased scarves of 
Kashmir wool, sandalwood fans and bookends, ivory 
elephants. Nearly all of us walked through the city, and 
in its color, its embroidery of turbans on almost every 
passing head, we tasted some of the flavors of one world 
quickly vanishing in favor of another. For here we saw 
the potential conflict between the Moslems and the Hin¬ 
dus and the first fires of nationalism. 

When we at last reached New Delhi, no one in the 
group could conceal his satisfaction. For this was, in one 
sense of the word, the end of the journey. In New 
Delhi we hoped to begin the work to prove our belief in 
guerrilla warfare. We would start to get things done. 
But as it turned out, New Delhi was to provide frustra¬ 
tion. The Headquarters Office of the CBI Theater, like 
many Headquarters, was understaffed. The American 
staff at New Delhi was small, only fifteen officers, and 
vastly overworked. In our group alone there were nearly 
that many officers again, and naturally CBI Headquar¬ 
ters turned its attention to absorbing us into their midst. 
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At every opportunity they tried to exercise means, overt 
and subtle, to propose that we give up this idea of 
guerrilla warfare and espionage and become a part of 
their more traditional way for winning the war. They 
had absolutely no appreciation of the potential of re¬ 
sistance forces, espionage, sabotage and other clandestine 
operations. Their thinking was along conventional mili¬ 
tary lines, and anything to the contrary was sacrilegious. 
Diplomacy and tact of the subtlest kind were required 
to say “no” without giving offense. Clearly they could 
use our manpower, and it was equally as clear that if 
we became one of them, 101 would cease to be. So as 
soon as we could, we established our claims. 

From the first we made contact with British Intel¬ 
ligence. They treated us in a manner that inspired con¬ 
fidence in ourselves, making available to us maps and 

reports from their own agents in Burma. There was no 

report or file they considered too secret for our eyes. In 

a way, it made our mouths water to learn that it was 

possible to parachute one’s agents behind the Japanese 
lines and establish communications. Formal and correct 

though they were, there was an imaginative and witty 
side to the British Intelligence people. They did not 

propose that they had a prior claim on Burma, but in¬ 
deed welcomed a new effort in the profession of irregular 

warfare. It was their view that the more of us involved 
in it, the merrier would be the espionage accounts to 

be filed away in the top-secret files. 

Property, even life, in the India of August, 1942, was 
threatened by the powerful forces of a surging national¬ 

ism and by the Japanese preparing to invade India. The 
combination was potent, and reached the bewildering, 

bloodthirsty proportions of mob action in the cities. 
What made it worse was that Gandhi’s followers were 
the chief participants. They were whipped into mob 

frenzy by Chandra Bose, whose will was for violence. 
The ulterior purpose of the riots was to create confusion, 
to plunge India into rebellion to coincide with a Japa- 
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nese landing on the east coast of India in the area of 

Madras. 
The British discovered the Japanese invasion convoy 

and, risking all, they achieved surprise and devastatingly 
bombarded the convoy by air and sea until its threat 
was destroyed. All the same, the Indian nationalists felt 
sufficiently strong to try their plan. They created pres¬ 
sure which, for a short and dangerous time, almost got 
beyond control. In New Delhi alone on the first day 
the casualties rose into the thousands. 

Mobs appeared everywhere, tore down telephone lines, 
ripped up railway lines, destroyed vehicles, created fires, 
threw their humanity into desperate acts of ruthless sack¬ 
ing. There were pitched battles in the streets with all 
sorts of primitive weapons, largely rocks and clubs. But 
rocks, in the hands of a whole community meaning to 
kill, were lethally competent in the ensuing massacres. 
For three days, a mixture of death and fire swept India 
like a withering plague; gradually the police, backed 
up by military units, established a shifting semblance 

of law and order. 
We Americans had kept out of the chaos, ready to 

defend ourselves if attacked; but the sweep of the riots 
did not carry to our compounds. When we went out 
into the streets after it was over, we were met by days 

of funeral atmosphere. 
Thousands had died—no one knew quite how many, 

but the visible evidence was enough to suggest countless 
numbers. The streets had a lonely, harassed, dis¬ 
mantled air. Close at hand lay the dead. Figures among 
the bodies removed them to the ghats, stripping what¬ 
ever belongings could be of use to the living. For days 
upon days, the air was a cloud of smoke from the fires 
hurriedly consuming bodies. The British had done well 
to destroy the Japanese convoy, for the rioters needed 
an invading army to ensure success. In our own thoughts, 
British rule in India seemed rather nervous, balanced 
on a very fine edge. 

Understanding the British rule in India was deeply im- 
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portant but difficult. It was not easy to give it thought. 
The British were our friends and we were fighting to¬ 
gether. Yet the nature of imperialism was around us. 
Poverty and starvation, too, the sort that has no foot¬ 
ing anywhere in America. On first impression, the dark¬ 
ness, the unlimited poverty of millions of Indians ap¬ 
peared an unfortunate aspect of the British presence. 
India was another jewel in Britain’s crown, and yet 
here human decency was wanting. The impression in 
those first days after reaching India was that British 
power had a bad side that we had never known. We 
felt that they had misused the people of India. Not 
then, but later, as we got to know India, we realized 
that this was not a sophisticated, nor sufficiently per¬ 
ceptive way, to see the British. 

We began to see roads, railroads, communication sys¬ 
tems, dams, and industrial capacity. We noticed schools, 
hospitals and public buildings. We saw huge factories, 
harbors and transportation centers. These were a British 
way of life in India for Indians. The results were cer¬ 
tainly of economic benefit to British business, but the 
gains toward an India in line with the twentieth cen¬ 
tury were also apparent. 

There were a few “haves” of the maharajah and 
marwari (merchant) class and they had much, but there 
were many “have nots” and they had pitifully little. 
The “haves” took all they could from the “have nots” in 
the form of cheap labor, land rentals and similar forms 
of exploitation. One may have been somewhat critical 
of the manner in which the British landlords treated 
their laborers, but it was not comparable to the manner 
in which the Indian landholders and planters treated 
their own people. For their part the British tried to give 
their laborers and their families decent homes. In addi¬ 
tion, each family was given a plot of land on which to 
grow rice and vegetables. Even though their salaries may 
have amounted to only four to six annas (ten to twelve 
cents) a day, it more than provided the necessities of 
food, clothing and shelter. A considerable portion of 
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what could have been drained off as profit was, in fact, 
returned to the land in the form of benefits to the 
laborers. This was not true of the Indian landholders I 
observed. They returned to their laborers only what they 
absolutely had to. Most of their laborers lived in filthy 
hovels and were dirty and disease-ridden. 

The average life expectancy of the Indian was twenty- 
seven years. This appalled the British and they tried to 
improve the situation by a variety of means. One of the 
experiments which they tried was quite interesting. They 
recognized that a large percentage of the deaths oc¬ 
curred at birth, so they instigated an extensive campaign 
for the development of midwives. This was so successful 
that at the end of the second year the population, which 
had been increasing at the rate of two million per year, 
was now growing by leaps and bounds to almost six 
million a year. At this rate, India, which was already 
seriously short of food, would have been faced with 
widespread famine. As a result the midwifery campaign 

had to be discarded. 
The next month or so in New Delhi was terribly bor¬ 

ing to the entire group, for our only interest was to. get 
started in operations. We were able to do a few things 
to earn our keep. After the scare from the uprisings, 
CBI Headquarters became concerned about losing the 
supplies stored in United States installations through 
sabotage by dissident elements or the Japs. Consequently, 
they asked us to prepare plans for their demolition or 
destruction. There were not many American installa¬ 
tions, and it required only three or four days to com¬ 
plete the job. Lieutenant Dave Tillquist, with his ex¬ 
tensive knowledge of engineering, did the majority of 
the work. He knew precisely where the charge of ex¬ 
plosive should be placed; how much would be needed 
for a particular size and type of building; and how to 

train the demolition teams. 
Carl was busy developing contacts with the Indian 

Army and the Burmese Army. He made a trip to Simla, 
in Kashmir, to establish liaison with Sir Reginald Dor- 
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man Smith, the governor of Burma, from whom he ob¬ 
tained much reliable data concerning the military situa¬ 
tion in Burma. He also assembled information concern¬ 
ing refugees from Burma who were in relocation camps 
in eastern India. 

Each day we were in the CBI Headquarters it be¬ 
came increasingly clear Burma would become our 
principal area of operation. It followed that if we were 
to work in Burma, we would need all types of people 
to operate under cover. 

Time was on our hands and we knew if we were to 
get into operations, the sooner we got started the better. 
It requires a considerable time to recruit, train and in¬ 
filtrate agents into operational areas. The older officers 
in CBI kept advising, “Be patient, be patient, General 
Stilwell should be back in a day or so.” 

Finally, General Stilwell returned from China, and, as 
soon as he had settled Headquarters business with his 
staff, he met with all of the officers and men of 101. He 
said he was anxious to have us get behind the Japanese 
lines. Information was scarce, and he believed anything 
we could reveal about the enemy would influence forth¬ 
coming operations. What he wanted was a group eager 
to knock to pieces the myth that a white man could 
not survive in the jungle. He thought that we should 
consider ourselves pioneers in blazing a way back to 
Burma. Whatever doubts had obscured our destination 
were now gone, with the result that our depression van¬ 
ished instantaneously. We had heard the General say 
it: he had selected Burma as our target. And what until 
now had been speculation became an order. We readied 
ourselves for the task, the impotence of waiting forgot¬ 
ten, the sense of mission restored, and the General’s 
calm our blessing. 

The written order he gave us to confirm his discus¬ 
sion was typically Stilwell. It said to do these things: 

(a) Establish a base camp in northeast India and from 
there be prepared to (b) conduct operations to deny 
the Japanese the use of the Myitkyina airport and the 
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loads and railroad leading into it from the south, and 
(fe) closely coordinate operations with the British au¬ 
thorities (XIV Corps) to insure that there would be no 
mutual interference and that effective liaison be es¬ 
tablished. 

IV 

Burma Setting—1942 
i 

• , I ■ 

We were not unprepared for Burma. The months of 
reading, of interviews, now reaped an agreeable if modest 
reward. We had one slight advantage in approaching 
the main target. Everyone knew at least something about 
Burma. It was the strategic center of the battle. In the 
landscape of southeast Asia, you could move from 
Burma into China, into India, into Thailand or into 
Malaya. Burma had been the goal of the Japanese in 
consolidating their offensive movement through south¬ 
east Asia. Burma was the Allied goal for carrying the 
fight to the Japanese; and in the meantime, Burma was 
a key to preventing further Japanese advances. 

Geographically, Burma had numerous variations: 
mountains of disheartening remoteness and height, phos¬ 
phorescent swamps, unnerving jungle with darkened lairs 
of powerful animal life, endless coastline, flowering gar¬ 
dens, rivers of unusual terror and wonder, fertile golden 
plains and limitless rice fields. 

It is a country never seriously threatened by famine, 
Its natural resources abound with opportunities for 
riches in oil and rubies, gold and tin, teak and copper. 
Within its frontiers, touching China to the north, India 
to the west and Siam to the east, there is an atmosphere 
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at once melancholy and happy, where death can be vio¬ 
lent one moment, peaceful in another. Six hundred miles 
wide and twelve hundred miles long, north and south, in 
square miles it is larger than France, almost equal to 
Texas. The lower extension of Burma, known as the 
Tenasserim, extends for over four hundred miles down 
along the Malay Peninsula. 

Upper Burma has a fearsome rib cage of mountains, 
the shape of a horseshoe, the open end facing the Bay 
of Bengal. To the west, along the border between India 
and Burma, are the Naga Hills; to the east lies the 
formidable Karenni Range bordering on Siam; and to 
the north are the Himalayas which rise beyond, 20,000 
feet high. The drainage from Burma’s mountains, bol¬ 
stered by spring thaws in the Tibetan Himalayas and 
augmented by monsoon rains, slash across the land as 
huge, fast-flowing rivers which empty into the Bay of 
Bengal. Because of its physiography, Burma is known 
as a “valley state.” 

The main rivers are the Irrawaddy, the Salween, the 
Chindwin and the Sittang. When they are in spate from 
monsoon rains, power equipment is needed to cross them. 
Other rivers such as the Namtu and Shweli, up to five 
hundred feet wide, form a natural defense line. During 
the dry season, the Irrawaddy is clear, almost trans¬ 
parent, but with the arrival of the monsoon it rages, 
taking its toll on lands and villages standing in its way. 

There are two large lakes in Burma. To the north in 
the area of Mogaung is Lake Indawgyi, and south of 
Mandalay in the Lower Shan States is located Inle Lake. 
Both of these lakes are approximately five miles wide 
and twenty miles long and are noted for their beauty. 

The climate of Burma is generally tropical. However, 
because of its length north and south, the climate is 
considerably varied. During the period of the southwest 
monsoon, from June through mid-October, all of the low¬ 
land areas are hot and humid. The rainfall in these areas 
exceeds three hundred inches in Southern Burma and 
recedes to something less than two hundred inches in 

the area north of Mandalay. During the dry season be¬ 
tween the rains, the climate in the northern part of 
the country becomes increasingly cooler. In January in 
Myitkyina the days may be warm, 75° to 80° F., but 
with the setting of the sun and the loss of radiation a 
chill sets in. The temperature drops 20° or more in an 
hour, and the night becomes cool, then cold, often only 
a few degrees above freezing. 

To the east and south of Mandalay the land slopes 
upward into a huge plateau encompassing the Northern 
and Southern Shan States. Here the average annual rain¬ 
fall is less than thirty inches and the weather is generally 
mild throughout the year. 

Originally, nearly all of Burma was covered by tropical 
rain forests and grasses. The trees of the forest are hard¬ 
wood and difficult to extract. Most of them are so heavy 
that they cannot be floated down rivers- to sawmills until 
after prolonged, continuous drying. The practice is to lash 
huge sections of bamboo to the logs as buoys. The 
grasses are coarse, ten to fifteen feet in height, with edges 
so sharp they are capable of cutting into flesh with the 
ease of a razor. The climate in the Shan Plateau creates 
some unexpected vegetation. Here the light rainfall and 
mild climate produce low-order conifers and deciduous 
trees quite similar to those found in American highlands. 
Since the arrival of the early migrants, large portions of 
the more readily accessible areas of Burma have been 
cut away and developed into farmland, principally for 
the cultivation of rice. Despite the encroachments of 
man, today 75 to 85 per cent of the country is still 
primitive forest. 

Throughout lower Burma and up to the twenty-second 
parallel, between Myitkyina and Bhamo, there is efficient 
and extensive extraction of teakwood. Elephants are a 
necessity: regardless of jungle or weather conditions, 
they drag and stack logs with the power and accuracy 
of modern mechanical equipment. The elephants entail 
expense, costing $3,000 each, and sometimes as much as 
$8,000. 
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The jungle foliage is dense and overhead it forms a 
natural canopy that keeps out sunlight; days are spent 
in semi-darkness with the whirring sound of mosquitos 
constant, night or day. The faint, gloomy light prevents 
the growth of low-order plants and, consequently, the 
jungle floor, always in shade, is strangely tidy. Where 
the lacework of growth between sun and earth is fragile, 
and the sun’s rays flow through, the flora are profuse, a 
constellation of trees, grasses, thorns and vines. Move¬ 
ment through such areas is difficult, a sweating toil that 
leaves men staggering. These areas naturally suggested 
themselves for our work; the jungle depths provided the 
means for our protection and survival. Among the roots, 
in the unimaginable thickets, in these naturally veiled 
sanctuaries, there was refuge and there was food: fruits, 
leaves, sprouts, bamboo shoots and, throughout the sur¬ 
roundings, pheasant, pigeons, peacocks, deer and pigs 

could be seen and heard. 

A guerrilla’s way of life is to live off the land—and it 
would be inappropriate for him not to know the people 
of the land. Burma’s population is on the order of eight¬ 

een million, made up of several ethnic groups and further 
subdivided into local groups often speaking a separate 
dialect. Of the ethnic groups the Burmese are by far pre¬ 
dominant. They represent more than ten million, or over 
half the total population. For the most part, they occupy 
the desirable, arable lowlands and dominate all of the 
political and economic activity of the country. The re¬ 
maining groups are principally hill tribes who occupy the 
mountain highlands surrounding the Irrawaddy water¬ 
shed. The major groups include the Karens (2 million), 
Shans (2.5 million), Palaung (.3 million), Kachins (.4 
million) and the Chins (.4 million). There are numerous 
lesser groups, so that throughout Burma there are ap¬ 

proximately 250 separate dialects. 
The early history of Burma is uncertain. Scholars ap¬ 

pear to agree that the first migration into Burma took 
place about 500 a.d. These people migrated from Mon- 
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golia, through China, and eventually settled in Central 
and Southern Burma. These first arrivals are now referred 
to as the Burmese. Successive migrations from Mongolia 
took place for the next eight hundred to one thousand 
years. The movement of these latter groups into the 
rich lowlands was prevented by the then warlike and 
powerful Burmese. As a result, all the groups to arrive 
at a later date were confined to the hills, where they 
remain to this day. 

Some of the Burmese dynasties were very powerful. In 
the eleventh century King Anawratha put down all re¬ 
sistance and unified the country. He built Pagan, the city 

of a thousand pagodas. Later Pagan fell to the Mongolian 
hordes of Kublai Khan but the Mongols maintained no 
sovereignty over the country. In the sixteenth century 
Bayinnaung became the ruler of Burma. He eliminated 
all resistance within Burma and then engaged in a series 
of wars with Siam. He twice sacked Ayuthia, the Sia¬ 
mese capital, and started the Burmo-Siamese Wars which 
continued for a hundred years or more after his death. 
Burma declined until 1750 when Alaungpaya seized con¬ 
trol of Northern Burma and began a series of cam¬ 
paigns which, within five years, culminated in the re¬ 
unification of Burma. His dynasty ruled the country 
until the British conquest and the eventual exile of King 
Thiebaw and Queen Supayalet in 1885. 

In the latter part of the eighteenth century Britain 
and France had ministers at the court of the Burmese 
king. As the vast natural resources of Burma became 
known, both France and England developed designs 
on the country. Beginning in 1824 with the first.Anglo- 
Burmese War, the British East India Company seized the 
lower portion of Burma. There followed a second Anglo- 
Burmese War in 1852, brought on by Burmese mistreat¬ 
ment of British sailors, in which the Burmese were sound¬ 
ly defeated. Finally, in 1886 in the third Anglo-Burmese 
, ar’ British, irate over French intrigue, annexed 
^orthern Burma. The pacification of Northern or Upper 
J urma was not simple, however. It required more than 
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five years and over 40,000 troops. As a result of these 
wars Burma was incorporated into India as a province 
and was governed by the viceroy. In 1937 Burma was 
separated from India and became a separate colony of 
the British Empire with its own governor general, its 
own government and its own army and navy. Such was 
the situation when World War II reached Burma early 

in 1942. 
Taken together, the Burmese people are carefree and 

winsome, they are capable at once of mischief and of 
more somber qualities. Their literature has a tendency 
towards quarrels between jealous lovers, their festivals 
are full of laughter and a pleasant touch of sensuality. 

They are ardent gamblers. 
The people of the hill tribes vary considerably in their 

degrees of civilization. Some of them are quite primitive 
and hardly out of the head-hunting stage. The most 
primitive are the Nagas, who still take an occasional 
head today and are located in the hill tract, known as 

the Naga Hills, between Burma and India. 
The Chins are somewhat more advanced, although in 

some regions full dress is little more than a G string. The 
Karens and Kachins are roughly comparable to one an¬ 
other in their development. In some sectors they are 
still quite uncivilized, but in other areas they are reason¬ 
ably well educated, some of them having attended col¬ 
leges or universities. In both instances they are creat¬ 
ing a culture which is a mixture of their own and that 
of the Burmese. The Shans, who are closely related to 
the Siamese, are perhaps the most highly developed of 
the hill groups. In cultural attainment they parallel the 

Burmese. 
The present-day Burmese and the Shans are not war¬ 

like people. Hence, the bulk of the Burma Army before 
World War II was composed of Karens, Kachins and 
Chins, in that order. The Karen Rifles and Kachin Rifles 
were naturally endowed fighting units, in every respect 
superb jungle fighters, but lacking the capacity, in train¬ 
ing and equipment, to battle Japanese mechanized mfan- 
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try and armor. As the Japanese overran Burma the 
Kachins and Karens warred on until they had no ammu¬ 
nition; in these circumstances, they hid in hills and 
mountain villages. They were to be the foundation on 
which we built our guerrilla force. 

Over two-thirds of the sophisticated population are 
Buddhists. The teachings of Buddha flashed through 
Burma from China although Buddhism had its origin 
in neighboring India. Nearly every Burmese village con¬ 
tains a Pongyi Chaung, or monastery, as well as pagodas 
and shrines. These are tended by monks called pongyies 
who serve without pay and gain their food by begging. 
Every male Buddhist must serve for a time as a pongyi 
and, in the larger communities, yellow-robed and shaven¬ 
headed pongyies may be seen everywhere. 

Other religions in Burma include the Moslems, the 
Hindus, the Animists and the Christians. The Asiatic 
Animists have a sprightly form of nature worship; the 
breeze in the trees, the ripple on the water, the phases 
of the moon are all omens and there are literally hun¬ 
dreds of them. Each omen is represented by a nat. There 
are good nats and there are bad ones. The good nats are 
not given much attention because they cannot do harm, 
but offerings and other homage are paid to the bad nats 
to. ward off their evil spirits. Animism was present in 
Burma before any of the other religions. Even though 
an individual may be a Buddhist, a Christian, even a 
Hindu, he will not entirely part from an awareness of 
instances when he can do himself harm by ignoring the 
nats. 

At the beginning of World War II there were approxi¬ 
mately half a million Christians in Burma. Of these 
about 65 per cent were Baptist, 25 per cent Roman 
Catholic and the remainder represented a variety of 
churches. The Catholic missionaries were the first to 
arrive, in about 1725. They confined their work primarily 
to Lower Burma until a few years before the war. 

The story of the beginning of the Baptist missionary 
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work in Burma is utterly fantastic; a storybook tale. 
It is beautifully described in a book, entitled The Silver 
Slipper, which covers the final days of Burmese royalty. 
In brief, in 1813 Dr. and Mrs. Adoniram Judson, both 
Baptist missionaries, arrived in Rangoon from the United 
States. The Burmese judged their work evil and cast them 
into a dungeon. However, by coincidence, the Karens of 
the hills to the east and of the Bassein area near Ran¬ 
goon had a legend which said that one day a white- 
haired man would come and bring a book. The book, of 
course, was the Bible, which was immediately outlawed 
by the Burmese. The myth had its power. The Book was 
translated, reproduced and smuggled into the Karen 

Hills, where it was widely read. 
As a result of the Bible incident Dr. and Mrs. Judson 

were taken to Mandalay to the court of the King Thie- 
baw, where they were strung up by their feet, lashed, 
and suffered all the cruel tortures the executioner could 
conjure up. He could not succeed in obtaining a denial of 
their faith. This so impressed the King that he al¬ 
lowed the Judsons to go into Upper Burma, near Bhamo, 
to establish a school. Other missionaries followed to es¬ 
tablish churches, schools and hospitals and to convert 
large numbers of Kachins and Karens to Christianity. 

The economy of the country is predominantly agrarian. 
Rice is the main staple. The rich soil of the valleys pro¬ 
duces over eight times that required for local consump¬ 
tion. Before the war Burma was exporting on the order 
of ten million dollars worth of rice to India each year, 
principally to the highly populated provinces of Bengal 
and Behar. Other exports included tin from the Tavoy 
area, tungsten from the Mawchi mines, which fulfilled 
approximately one-third of the prewar world demands, 
and teak lumber. The Namtu mines near Lashio were con¬ 
verted to modern methods by Herbert Hoover early in the 
century to produce a wide variety of metals; zinc, anti¬ 
mony, nickel, copper, gold, silver and lead. 

Burma also has a sizable oil field. In comparison to the 
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total world production it is quite small—representing 
less than one per cent—but its strategic location makes 
it of great importance. The Burmese had long been using 
the areas of Yenangyaung to extract oil through shal¬ 
low digging, but in the early part of the century, Ameri¬ 
can drillers sank deep wells, and since that time over 
four thousand wells had been drilled. The petroleum 
products made available by these wells fulfilled Burma’s 
needs and provided additional surplus for export to sev¬ 
eral countries of southeast Asia. 

The Japanese campaign to seize Burma in 1942 had 
been swift and efficient. They assembled two of their best 
divisions, the 33rd and 55th, which had swept through 
China, Malaya and Singapore with sensational effect. 
In mid-January 1942 these divisions struck the initial 
blow against Burma in the area of Moulmein, which fell 
with almost negligible resistance on 30 January. 

The Allied defense forces in Burma consisted of the 
1st Burma Division and the 17th Indian Division. Both 
of these units were understrength and had serious train¬ 
ing deficiencies. The total Allied combat strength in 
Burma was something less than 25,000. The bulk of the 

• forces were native Burmese formations of Karens, 
Kachins, Chins and others. British units in the Indian 
and Burmese divisions totaled about 4,000 and there were 
about 8,000 Indian troops. 

The British, Indian and Burmese forces had built their 
defenses with hopes of halting the Japanese at the Salween. 
River. The Japanese supply lines were over-extended; 
they were using every means at their disposal to trans¬ 
port the essential supplies for their forces from Bangkok 
in Thailand. Meanwhile, they were making extensive use 
of their Air Force against Rangoon, Pegu, Toungoo and 
other Burmese cities. Japanese naval forces were also 
active in the Bay of Bengal and had sunk several freight¬ 
ers and coastal steamers. The Japanese began probing the 
Salween River line in early February and on 9 February 
effected a crossing in the area of Martaban. They pushed 
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on and, in the latter part of February, succeeded in 
effecting a crossing of the Sittang River. In seizing this 
crossing the Japanese cut off several British and Indian 
units before they could be pulled back across the river. 

Some of the Indian units were composed of Ghurkas 
from Nepal. All Allied units gave good accounts of 
themselves in heavy, close, hand-to-hand fighting, per¬ 
haps the bloodiest of the entire campaign for both sides. 

Meanwhile, additional British forces, including some 
light tanks, arrived in Rangoon by ship. They assisted 
in bolstering the defenses of the Sittang and bitter fight¬ 
ing continued up and down the river line. 

Eventually, the Japanese were able to seize Pegu, cut 
the railroad leading north out of Rangoon, and generally 
open the way for the occupation of the city. Rangoon was 
evacuated by the order of the governor and, on 8 March 
1942, was occupied by the Imperial Japanese Forces. 

Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek, the President of 
China, had agreed early in the war to retain General 
Claire Chennault’s American Volunteer Group (AVG’s) 
in Southern Burma to assist in the air defense of Ran¬ 
goon, the entry port for the Burma Road, the last re¬ 
maining supply line to China. The British Royal Air 
Force (RAF) and AVG’s combined to inflict heavy 
losses on the Japanese Air Force. In January and Feb¬ 
ruary they shot down over two hundred and fifty known 
Japanese aircraft at a loss of approximately fifty of 
their own aircraft. The AVG’s, using outdated P-40’s, 
were pitted against the faster and more maneuverable 
Japanese Zeros; but with the superior air tactics de¬ 
veloped by Chennault the P-40’s, in fact, outflew the 
Japanese. Chennault and his airmen were the air-soldiers 
of fortune. On the ground they were happy-go-lucky, 
but in the air they became efficient, cool and calculating. 
As a unit they gained the utmost respect and admiration 
of the Burmese people. 

The Generalissimo had also agreed with General Wavell, 
the British commander-in-chief in India, to utilize Chi- 
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nese forces in the defense of Burma and the Burma Road. 
Of the initial three divisions of the Chinese Fifth Army 
which were made available in Burma in January and 
February 1942, only one, the 200th Division, was well- 
trained. It performed admirably in combat. The remain¬ 
ing units were ill-trained and poorly equipped. More¬ 
over, they had little combat experience. In early March, 
Major General Joseph W. Stilwell arrived in Chungking to 
become Chief of Staff of Allied Forces under the General¬ 
issimo. Shortly thereafter he arrived in Burma, where, for 
all practical purposes, he was to command the Chinese 
forces, although his orders were to be issued over the 
name of the Chinese commander-in-chief. 

British General Sir Harold Alexander arrived in 
early March to replace General Hutton as Commander- 
in-Chief in Burma. He attempted to consolidate the 1st 

Burma Division and the 17th Indian Division, but was 
prevented from doing so by the pressure being applied 

by the Japanese in the Pegu area. As a result, he was 

forced to withdraw north in two separate columns: the 
17th Indian Division along the road to Prome paralleling 

the Irrawaddy River, and the 1st Burma Division 

through Toungoo. General Alexander attempted to con¬ 
solidate the Allied defenses between Prome and Toun¬ 

goo, but again Japanese pressure prevented such action. 
After the fall of Rangoon, the Japanese reorganized and 

began a drive to the north; the 55th Division using the 
route to Toungoo and the 33rd Division pressing up the 
Irrawaddy Valley toward Prome. In early April the British 

and Indian forces in Prome were routed by the Japanese 
with strong assistance from the Burmese fifth columnists, 

members of the Burma Independence Army. The 200th 

Chinese Division in the Toungoo area gave a good ac¬ 
count of itself, but it was running short on supplies 

and ammunition and withdrew a short distance to the 
north. Meanwhile the Japanese were busy reinforcing their 

troops by landing two additional divisions in Ran¬ 
goon. The 18th Division reinforced the 55th Division in 
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the area of Toungoo and the 56th Division supported 
the 33rd above Prome. 

The Japanese Air Force also had been busy. It had 
lost heavily to the small RAF-AVG forces in Burma but 
concentrated in Thailand. In late March it conducted a 
heavy raid on Magwe Airfield and, for all practical pur¬ 
poses, put the RAF out of action. 

The AVG was also put under ’severe pressure and was 
forced to move from Toungoo to Lashio and later all the 
way to China. Now the Japanese Air Force was supreme 
in Burma, and there remained no effective air support for 
the Allied ground forces. 

In the Irrawaddy Valley the Japanese pushed rapidly 
beyond Prome toward the oil fields at Yenangyaung. On 
14 April the oil fields were set to the torch by the re¬ 
treating British and Indian forces to prevent their fall¬ 
ing into enemy hands. 

For a brief spell the Allied cause in Burma brightened 
at the word that the Chinese Sixth Army was starting 
its movement toward Burma. If its three divisions (49th, 
55th and 93rd) had been in position in Burma, the Japa¬ 
nese tide might have been stemmed. However, the Japa¬ 
nese advance was so rapid that the forces of the Sixth 
Army had no opportunity to affect the outcome of the 
battle. It was not a matter of being too little; rather, 
too late. Two divisions of the Chinese 66th Army also 
were to figure in the Burma campaign. These were the 
28th and 38th. Only the latter became engaged. In 
the aggregate of the eight Chinese divisions made 
available for Burma in 1942 (approximately 60,000 
men) only three-plus divisions or about 20,000 troops were 
ever engaged with the Japanese. 

After reaching Toungoo the eastern Japanese force 
divided itself into two columns, the 55th Division 
continuing northward in the direction of Mandalay 
and the 18th Division flanking to the east and north 
along the Mawchi-Loikaw-Lashio Road. The movement 
of the 18th Division was particularly effective. In mid- 
April they dislodged the Chinese from the area of Loikaw 
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and in less than two weeks their motorized column had 
reached Lashio, over two hundred miles to the north. 

With this action the entire left flank of the Allied 
Forces was completely uncovered. The remainder of 
the campaign in Burma was a rout. For the Allies the 
campaign from then on was simply a matter of trying 
to save the maximum number of troops and supplies 

from falling into the hands of the Japanese. 
In the center the combined British, Indian and 

Chinese forces put up a stout defense, but were eventual¬ 
ly forced to withdraw. Mandalay fell on 1 May 1942. 
The remnants of the British and Indian forces withdrew 
over the Kalewa-Imphal Road to India. The remaining 
Chinese forces moved northward with hopes of with¬ 
drawing to China by way of Bhamo. However, the rapid 
advance of the 18th Japanese Division to Bhamo and 
later to Myitkyina severed this route and they were 
forced to withdraw through the inhospitable Hukawng 

Valley to Ledo in northeast India. 
Generals Alexander and Stilwell met for the last time 

on Burmese soil near Mandalay in early May. By this 
time the rout was on. General Alexander withdrew with 
the forces through Kalewa while General Stilwell and his 
small staff walked out of Burma through Indaw and 
Imphal. Also in early May, the Governor of Burma, Sir 
Reginald Dorman Smith was flown out of Myitkyina. 

General Stilwell summarized the Allied defeat in Bur¬ 
ma when he said, “I claim we got a hell of a beating. 
We got run out of Burma and it is as humiliating as hell. 
I think we ought to find out what caused it, go back, and 

retake it.” 
A word must be said concerning the heroic efforts of 

the small group of American pilots working with the 
Chinese National Airways Corporation. With hundreds 
and thousands of refugees—-men, women and children— 
crowded on the small, rough and rocky airfields at 
Myitkyina, they continued to fly them to India in spite 
of Japanese air raids on the field and kept on until the 
Japanese ground forces reached the very outskirts of the 

BURMA SETTING—1942 71 

town itself. They also parachuted tons of food and 
medical supplies to the refugees walking out along the 
trails. Many of these pilots later joined the United States 
Air Corps and served the Air Transport Command with 
distinction in flights across the Hump to China. 

One of the principal causes of confusion for the Allied 
forces during the Japanese campaign was the activities 
of the Burma Independence Army. The actual size of this 
force has been variously estimated at anywhere between 
five and twenty-five thousand. The Japanese had been 
clever in their propaganda for a greater southeast Asia— 
“Asia for the Asiatics” and “down with the white men.” 
Japanese agents had been active and stirred up the peo¬ 
ple so that by the time their advanced military elements 
reached Moulmein and Rangoon, they had a well- 
organized fifth column. The Buddhist pongyies, “Yellow 
Robes,” appeared to be the most active. Their activities 
against the Allies were so outrageous that in some 
places they were shot on sight. Not many of these 
Burmese insurgents were armed with guns but many car¬ 
ried knives and other weapons. Neither soldiers nor ci¬ 
vilians could distinguish friend from foe and the result 
was confusion. To make matters worse, in the larger 
cities, large segments of the population joined in looting 
and pillaging. The civilian picture in Burma at that 
time was one of terror and panic. 

The attitude of the Burmese toward the British and the 
Japanese is difficult to describe. It can only be con¬ 
sidered in general terms, as there were so many excep¬ 
tions to the rule. Taken as a whole the Burmese people 
were not anti-British. The British had done much for 
Burma: roads and railroads had been developed; mines 
and oil fields were in operation; the economy was sound; 
there was an effective educational system, and social 
and industrial achievements for which the Burmese were 
grateful. However, the winds of nationalism were fanned 
by the Japanese, and many Burmese mistakenly accepted 
Japanese assurances about their own self-determination 
and independence. 
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Dr. Ba Maw became the Japanese-supported premier 
of Burma; he ruled in name only, as can be expected of 
any puppet ruler. Major General Aung San was made 
Chief of the Burma Independence Army, later modified 
as the Burma Defense Army. These two leaders and the 
Burmese people were completely disillusioned by the 
Japanese. They had welcomed the Japanese with open 
arms, and received increasing contempt. In practice, the 
Japanese came as conquerors. Whatever the slogans said 
about co-prosperity for Asians under the Japanese, 
Burma had been absorbed, not liberated. 

There was an undercurrent of strain and resentment 
in Burma against the Japanese; to our plans this gave 
beginning hope for success. British intelligence verified 
that a little flame of resistance flickered among the hill 
tribes. Soon we hoped to see it brandished as a torch. 

A guerrilla unit begins with a base camp. But where 
is the best place? Our own notions were unanimous on 
one point. It had to be as dose to North Burma as 
possible. We could anticipate having to supply and 
communicate with our guerrillas in the field, so we knew 
quite well that the base camp would have to be near 
by. A difference of one hundred miles would mean the 

s difference between success and failure. 
In our search for the base camp we bore in mind Gen¬ 

eral Stilwell’s advice that we make a special effort to get 
along with the British. There was no end to their experi¬ 
ence and their fighting in Burma, and they could do us 
much good, if we approached them with courtesy and 
with the idea that this was an Allied show. The British 
were understandably nervous about the impending Japa¬ 
nese thrust into India, nervous, too, that their lines and 
forces, on land and at sea, in southeast Asia, had received 
more than one shattering defeat from the Japanese. 

American and British minds and talents combined 
- to lead us in the direction of Assam in northeast India. 

I recall our arrival there—-the alien landscape of precise 
tea fields, and, almost lost among them, airfields for the 
Air Transport Command flying to China. Hourly, one 
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could hear the engines lifting the planes into the sky and, 
watching them, be aware of the vast distance, of the 
myriad mountains to recapture before there would be 
direct land communications between the ports of India 

and the Allied forces in China. 

Our role, as we arrived in Assam, was envisaged in 
realistic terms. Already we knew that any attempt on 
the part of the Americans to get into Burma as agents 
was out of the question. This cast a shadow over many 

hopes. 
The reasons stand out; a white American, even with 

the cleverest of make-up, would be sure to attract at¬ 
tention. We were all conspicuous by virtue of height and 
appearance. No one in that initial group of Americans 
had the lithe, the almost delicate frame of the peoples 

of Burma. The initial missions behind the lines would be 

doomed if Americans were to play the role of agent. 
So, from the first day of our arrival in India, a con¬ 

tinual search began for natives of Burma who would go 

back for us in a role that promised them more than one 
kind of trouble. In order to find these people, close con¬ 

tact was necessary with the British. Without their aid, 
their knowledge of individuals who could fit into our 

plans, we would have been in extreme difficulty. And it 

was British insight that took us to Nazira, Assam. 

At first glance, it was clear that Nazira was the right 
place. Among the vast acres of tea fields, an approach¬ 

ing man or vehicle could be sighted easily. The English 
people working the plantations were pleased to see us; 
they had been cut down to a small group overseeing the 

battalions of native laborers. Sometimes there were long 
periods when they did not see a white man, so they 
looked at us with interest and anticipation. They were 

eager to do everything possible for us. 
The English planters after all wanted to have a role in 

the war, and having an American unit, a secret one at 

that, in the midst of their tea plantations would be useful 
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to the Allied effort and relieve a great deal of their bore¬ 
dom and routine. 

The site we finally selected was ideal, a model for a 
base camp. It was far enough away from the main British 
and American Army installations in Assam so that we 
could minimize trouble, the probing of inquisitive eyes 
and embarrassing questions. It was close enough to 
jungles, rivers and mountains so that the last phases of 
training before actually parachuting, walking, or being 
flown in by plane to Burma could be done with a high de¬ 
gree of realism. There were large buildings which had 
once served the plantation as a tennis club, and overseer 
homes were available. And there was physical distance, 
enough stretching room so that agent groups could be 
kept separate from one another. This latter point was of 
great importance to us; if one group was to be aimed at 
one target, and a second at another, it was good to 
keep them separated and out of contact with each other. 
In that way, the complications of their knowing anything 
more than their own mission was avoided. We could not 
eliminate the chance that once in Burma these agents 
could be captured and tortured. Though they would 
not want to, they might hand over to the enemy valu¬ 
able information concerning far more than their own 
group. 

It was a gray monsoon day in October, 1942 when our 
reconnaissance party of Carl Eifler, John Coughlin, Bob 
Aitken and myself arrived at a plantation close to the 
Naga Hills in Upper Assam. We had tea with Allan 
Richardson, the general manager of the Assam Company, 
with whom we hit it off immediately. I knew at once 
that we had ended our search. Detachment 101 would 
put down its roots here amid the chatter of monkeys, the 
smell of elephant trails, the lazy rhythm of the passing 
Dikoo River. 

When, after two days of talk and inspections and some 
convivial hours late at night over whisky-and-sodas, we 
had taken in the breadth of the company plantations, 
seen all its advantages of privacy, almost of innocence, 
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and noted the proximity of the Naga Hills over which 
men might infiltrate into Burma, there was no question 
about it. Not only were Richardson and his company 
prepared to lease to us ample space for our needs, but 
they could build camps and roads to our specifications 
and could produce the domestic staff required for the 
dull routines of cooking and keeping the place shipshape. 

“You should really not look so abject,” said Rich¬ 
ardson, after he had described the score or so of bearers 
we would inherit. There seemed legions of servants for 
each specific task. The man who swept floors could not 
wash down the shower room. The man who cooked did 
not serve. “This is a tea plantation, and without the 
proper bearers,” he said, “the word would soon get out 
that there was something sticky about you all.” 

We were honestly amazed at the number of bearers 
needed. But there were no broken hearts among any of 
us that the dark horde of servants joining 101 would 
take our minds off the responsibility and drudgery of 
keeping the camp fed and maintaining neatness. And 
there was sense to it—for the days ahead we needed 
every man to put his mind and body to far more im¬ 

portant tasks than housekeeping. 
Established with, this as our camp, we gave it a 

name: the u.s. army experimental station. For 
months other military units wondered idly what it meant, 
and wrote it off as just another place where a bunch 
of goldbricks were serving out time pursuing a research 
project into some phase of malaria. If such were the 
illusion, we did nothing to spoil it. 

We had brought along secret texts and training man¬ 
uals, all based on espionage and guerrilla experiences 
in Europe; these were meant to serve as the basis for 
our teaching. The basic precept of the work was sound 
preparation before a team of agents was dropped behind 
enemy lines. In most cases, the techniques recommended 
to maintain communication with agents, to provide them 
with money and supplies, and finally to get them out 
safely, presupposed a more sophisticated situation than 

the light begins to burn 77 

ours. Now, as we went over the text, we saw how radical¬ 
ly different was our problem in Northern Burma. The 
terrain and the methods of the enemy involved were of a 
kind that allowed no conclusive preparation because we 
were so unfamiliar with what was going on in Japanese- 
occupied Burma. We saw at once that as much as we 
might render instruction to our first group—now known 
as “A” Group—they in the end must teach us as well. 
The range of their knowledge of Burma was needed by 
us before we could select what points in the text would 
be of value to their operation. 

In “A” Group were educated men. All had gone to 
English schools. None were backward intellectually; 
three were college graduates. We counted on their mental 
aptitude and we revealed the problem: if they were to 
derive profit from our teaching, they in return must 
tell us all they knew about Burma, in response to de¬ 
tailed questions on the history and customs, dress and 
habits of specific towns, villages, even of specific indi¬ 
viduals. Reason and memory were engaged in a vital 
learning process that was of value to both speakers 
and listeners. 

Away from the classroom, quite informally, but no less 
. intensely, it went on. What are the trinkets an itinerant 

peddler sells? How much daylight filters through a rain 
forest? What is the name of the headman’s son in the 
village of Wadat Ga? Is the root of the jacaranda tree 
used as medicine? 

We used to sit around bamboo tables, intensely col¬ 
lecting such particles of information so that one day in 
the near future this same group might sneak into Burma. 
And all the time there were practical exercises in¬ 
volving demolitions, weapons and the correct formulas 
for destroying bridges, locomotives, parked airplanes and 
motor vehicles. 

There was much intensity, but no argument. We had 
all realized what was happening, and no moment was 
misspent. At bottom, every particle of knowledge was to 
Put a foundation under 101 that would last for many 



78 RENDEZVOUS WITH URGENCY 

missions beyond this first one; knowledge that would be 
shared time and time again. The faculty of 101 had no 
precedent. It was shaping its own material, its own ways, 
and it was shaping a form of espionage and guerrilla 
warfare that would tax all its resources to a scope no 
one of us dared dream of. But now only one thing was of 
interest: to train the first element in as careful and 
orderly a manner as seemed possible. We were going on 
what few facts we could gather; what actually was true 
on the other side of the Naga Hills was not known.. It 
would not be known until we got “A” Group behind 
enemy lines; and we would not know how to grade the 
present procedure until they returned—if they returned. 
If they did not make it back, then all our procedure 
would have been wrong. The grades for this kind of teach¬ 
ing could be earned only by the operations themselves— 

this was an essential truth. 
The base in Nazira was about four hundred _ miles 

away from the proposed area of operation: the vicinity 
of Myitkyina in Northern Burma. At that time no radio 
equipment was available which was small, light and 
powerful enough to operate successfully over that dis¬ 
tance. We were seeking a radio which weighed no 
more than twenty-five pounds; we envisioned power by 
batteries or a hand generator weighing no more than 
twenty-five additional pounds. We deliberately wanted 
something one man could carry as a unit. The element of 
range was madly ambitious—1,000 miles, to allow for 
operations as far south as Rangoon. 

Since no such radio set was at hand, Captain Huston 
and his signal technicians in 101 set out to design and 
construct one. They were fortunate in one respect. In 
and about the Service of Supply (SOS) warehouses of 
Advance Section No. 2 there was a large number of 
V-100 radios waiting for air shipment to China under the 
Lend-Lease Program. A microscopic part in the V-100 
set was valuable, available nowhere else in India. 
Twenty-five were obtained, and the critical segment was 
taken out. Then began, with much patience and diligence, 
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a search beneath the surface irrelevancies of radio shops 
all over India. A slender wire here, a capable condenser 
there, finally produced enough of the structure and parts 
for an entirely new radio. 

The technical capabilities of Sergeants Allen Richter 
and Donald Eng were given full rein by Captain Huston. 
By the first of December 1942 they had put together 
a working model. It weighed only twenty-three pounds, 
and the battery pack and carrying case weighed another 
thirty pounds, or a total of just three pounds over the 
original specifications. Sergeant Eng tested the range of 
the set by moving about by rail to the various cities 
in eastern India and communicating with the Nazira 
base radio station. As a final test he took it to Madras, 
about 1,200 miles south of Nazira along the east coast 
of India. At that range the set proved highly capable, 
receiving and transmitting in category 5, allowing us to 
hear it loud and clear. The radio seemed a good omen. 
Anything but impressive, and looking like a discarded 
cigar box, it was, however, just what we had wanted. 
Furthermore, it was proof of 101 ’s affirmative answer to 
its own question—could we be self-dependent? 

During this period Carl and John were away from the 
Nazira base camp a great deal of the time establishing 
contacts with the British authorities, recruiting agents 
from the refugee camps, developing a supply base in 
Calcutta and a variety of other things. They pretty well 
left it to my judgment to build the base, establish the in¬ 
struction, and get the agents trained and ready for opera¬ 
tions. All told, we took over nine tea planters’ bungalows 
and were building twenty agent training camps. 

The Japanese Air Force began bombing raids, which 
for us had one result: they hit our supply warehouse at 
the Chabua airfield and destroyed the structure. The 
supplies and equipment we lost through that raid were 
a blow. Some could be reordered from SOS or purchased 
on the Indian market; but many were unobtainable in 
the CBI Theater and had to be ordered from the States, 
that, sadly, entailed a wait of twelve to eighteen 
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months. The supply lines were long, and our theater 
suffered the lowest priorities. 

By now, the preliminaries with “A” Group were over. 
One thing was left to conclude their training: they were 
divided into groups to carry out an operational test in 
the Naga Hills. We had the greatest regard for these 
hills, for they would reveal any weaknesses in “A” 
Group. The terrain was rough and the Nagas still prac¬ 
ticed head-hunting. 

Two lines divide the Naga Hills; crossing over the 
“outer line” one found pleasant, relatively safe villages, 
and might cross paths with an occasional British or In¬ 
dian Civil Affairs Officer. Should one trek on twenty 
miles into the hills, he crossed the so-called “inner line.” 
Here a party depended upon weapons for safety and was 
on the watch for Nagas; alert, hardy warriors, these 
Nagas were at times friendly, but could for one cause or 
another turn into enemies. 

In their foray, “A” Group got themselves into a kind 
of trouble that had not been anticipated. They were re- 
connoitering a coal mine with an eye to sabotage, when 
the Nagas became suspicious and alerted the civil magis¬ 
trate. The magistrate, with Indian troops and Nagas, 
surrounded “A” Group. They might have escaped by 
shooting their way out, but they gave up. Later, one of 
them said, “That would have been a foolhardy way to 
die; if I must die, I would prefer doing it in operations.” 
They were put in jail, suspected of being Japanese spies. 
They did not reveal their true allegiance until we ap¬ 
peared to release them from jail. All in all, it had been 
a hardening process, and though they were a little 
tired from lack of sleep and food, our men had experi¬ 
enced something of what they could expect in Burma. 
Now they were ready to embark on a true mission, one 
where they would have to depend entirely on their own 
resources. To what extent they would succeed in staying 
out of prison and avoiding the firing squad reserved for 
spies would depend on how well we had all done our job 
of preparation. 
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“A” Group was to begin our penetration behind the 
Japanese lines. We were all agreed that they were to be 
flown to Fort Hertz (Putao), the last remaining town 
in Burma where it was possible for reconnaissance forces 
such as ours to make a landing. The town was defended by 
a British-commanded force of Kachin Levies who formed 
a defense line south of Sumprabum, the nominal capital 
of the Kachin Hills. The Japanese were not interested in 
Fort Hertz at the time. Their forces were pointed west¬ 
ward toward the heart of India. As a place, Fort Hertz 
had only one importance—it had an airfield, and from 
there it was possible to move south into North Burma. 

Carl Eifler and John Coughlin accompanied the group 
to assist them in their initial passage through the Japa¬ 
nese lines. Once arrived in Fort Hertz in December of 
1942, “A” Group worked with the Kachin Levies, learning 
from them where the Japanese fortifications were heavi¬ 
est, where the Japanese line was thinnest. This required 
endless patrols, probing, not for a kill, but to locate the 
weak spot. Sometimes a fire fight ensued; they found 
getting through the Japanese lines a laborious assignment. 

Here the suspicion began to grow that if indeed we 
expected “A” Group to operate deep behind the Japanese 
lines, where their presence would be totally unexpected, 
and where they could attack bridges and cut railway lines, 
we could not afford to gamble away the secrecy we 
wanted. The probing south of Fort Hertz was a risky 
and nerve-racking job. The Japanese were dug in with 
collective depth. The notion grew that trying to infiltrate 
the Japanese lines from north to south into Burma should 
be done by small groups of two or three men who could 
sneak through—but certainly not by the eight members 
of “A” Group plus the myriad of porters needed to carry 
their radio, explosives, food and other equipment, who 
traveled as secretly as a circus arriving in town. 

The other thing that we found out was that every time 
a small hole was made in the Japanese lines through 
which our people could infiltrate for a short distance, 
the hole became a swarm of Japanese infantry; then our 
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patrol was forced to withdraw. What headway it had 
made was obliterated by the increase in enemy troops, 
and by the setting up of new roadblocks. The condition 
of security we had envisaged for “A” Group was gone. 
The Japanese had more than caught on; they were clever 
at infiltration and they could read the signs in our first 
awkward attempt. 

The group at Fort Hertz also began to realize that 
passage through the Japanese lines would only be the 
beginning. There remained over one hundred and fifty 
miles of mountainous jungle trail behind the lines just to 
reach the area where we hoped to carry out sabotage 
operations. There was also another feature. Carl and 
John were doing their best to carry out General Stilwell’s 
desire to cooperate with the British. However, the British 
Commander of the Kachin Levies felt that he should 
command any Allied forces in the area. This was totally 
unacceptable and considerable friction developed. For¬ 
tunately for 101, this commander became ill shortly 
thereafter and was replaced by Brigadier Bowerman, a 
fine soldier who remained a great friend of 101 through¬ 
out the war. 

The day came when we decided to give up Fort Hertz 
as a jumping-off place for significant guerrilla and espi¬ 
onage operations. The battalion of Kachin Levies were 
doing a good enough job maintaining the Allied presence 
in the no man’s land of extreme Northern Burma. And 
right there and then the cardinal rule of our operations 
came into being. Guerrillas essentially require surprise. 
As they travel to their target area they should not be 
seen, known, heard or identified. Any identification, 
even the most fleeting, by the enemy, of a guerrilla po¬ 
tential poised against him severely limits the guerrilla’s 
chances for realizing his full mission. 

Our first attempt had not been a success. “A” Group 
had made the mistake of aligning itself with regular 
troops. This had frustrated its own identity and, further, 
had brought to an end any possibility we had for sub¬ 
merging into enemy territory unseen. For being guerril- 
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las means just that: to submerge and wait through doz¬ 
ens of limited opportunities for the work you specifically 
want to do in an area before rising swiftly and submerg¬ 
ing again to appear in a totally different area. The guer¬ 
rilla gives no notice of his appearance. He commands the 
time of his attack. No matter what lures are placed in 
his way, the guerrilla helps himself only to those situa¬ 
tions where the' enemy is in a helpless position. The 
guerrilla resists temptations until he has studied them. 
When the enemy appears unexpectedly, the guerrilla is 
wary of a trap. He should know when and where the 
enemy hunts him, and he strikes back only after careful 
preparation and planning. Precarious as his existence can 
be, a guerrilla does not expose one inch of himself until 
the conditions are just what he wants them to be: all in 

his favor. 
“A” Group was our first experiment, and it had been 

not so much a failure as a limited reconnaissance. Again 
a lesson in reality had been learned: operations such 
as ours would need reconnaissance, reconnaissance and 
reconnaissance before a proper operation could take 
place. The trek into the mountains of North Burma and 
the probing of the Japanese lines south of Fort Hertz had 
taught us that a first operation such as ours into an 
enemy-occupied country must be a vertical penetration 
—that is, that we must reach our target area by para¬ 
chute. The discovery was an important one. Equal in 
importance was the knowledge we gained about the 

Kachins. 
We had observed the Kachin Levies closely and had 

seen that the armed troops with the Levies were equal to 
the Japanese. There was a rugged staunchness to the 
Kachins. They did not like their land occupied by an 
invader. Their talk was simple, but convincing. The war 
was not yet over, and when the last battle had been 
fought, the Kachins would be found victorious. Their 
eyes, like their tongues, were full of enthusiasm for a 
fight. For Asiatics, they were rugged physical types 
of short stature. In their look was the fierce pride of 
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mountain men, and years after the war, when I saw 
the first picture of Tenzing Norkay, the Sherpa of Mount 
Everest fame, I was to be reminded of a Kachin, for the 
high places of the Himalayas are their ancestral home¬ 

land. As guerrilla soldiers they were ideal. The difficulties 
of following invisible tracks through jungle or crossing 
towering peaks they looked upon as a natural contest! 
Weapons they understood as a fact of life; demolitions 
were not beyond their powers. Four Kachins from the 
Levies, all sons of headmen, were recruited and added to 
“A” Group to serve as its eyes and ears. 

The Fort Hertz reconnaissance had also given us a 
firsthand understanding of money and opium as other 
tools of guerrilla operations. Early as it was then in the 
Japanese occupation, we found that the paper money 
which the enemy had distributed was received with in¬ 
difference; forthwith we gave highest priority to gather¬ 
ing together large sums of British silver coins. It also was 
necessary to enter the opium business. We had all read 
that once the habit is formed, it takes extraordinary will 
power to break it. There were no clinics in North Burma 
for mastering the fastening bite of opium. Our decision to 
use opium was based on the fact that it would give our 
troops a certain amount of freedom, of buying power; we 
did not question it as just or unjust. The fact remained 
that opium, along with its multitude of sins, was also a 
palliative for the thousands of older people, who suffered 
from a complex of maladies for which there were no 
cures. Even so, it should be noted that opium was not 
used to recruit guerrilla troops. We went out of our way to 
make this clear. Simply stated, paper currency and even 
silver were often useless, as there was nothing to buy 
with money; opium, however, was the form of payment 
which everybody used. Not to use it as a means of barter 
would spell an end to our operations. Opium was availa¬ 
ble to agents who used it for any number of reasons, 
ranging from obtaining information to buying their own 
escape. Any indignation felt was removed by the difficulty 
01 t5:ie effort ahead. If opium could be useful in achieving 
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victory, the pattern was clear. We would use opium. 
Now that we were back at Nazira, with the year 1943 

just beginning, we sat down in earnest to figure out what 
should be done. We could see that parachuting “A” Group 
into Burma was the next step. But to get the para¬ 
chutes and the planes for the job was not easy. The 
subject of planes at that time was painful; for the char¬ 
acter of the theater was such that every aircraft was 
part of the most critical link with China, with America, 
with England, with Australia. We knew that there were 
not nearly enough to go around, and the importance of 
aircraft was not unknown to the Japanese. They had 
taken immense steps to shoot them down as they flew 
over the Hump, and they had not failed. As we sat hud¬ 
dled over our maps, we noted that the concentration 
point of these Japanese attacks came as the planes 
reached altitude on the Burma side. This meant that the 
planes shot down crashed into the mountains of the 
Kachin people. Rescue attempts had so far not been con¬ 
templated. We were in effect surrendering the crews of 
these planes to the forest or to the Japanese, because we 
saw no way of getting them out of a huge, primitive, 
multi-dangered area full of tigers, snakes, mountains and 
Japanese. Even on the map the area was forbidding, with 
contour lines so thick that the mountain peaks seemed 
to jut out of the flat heavy chart paper. Suddenly light 
struck us; the Air Transport Command surely would 
give us planes if we would make an effort to bring back 

their men 1 
At Air Transport Command Headquarters we sought 

an interview with General Alexander. When we talked 

about the lost crews, his voice became bitter: 
“I’d give anything,” he said, “to guarantee my people 

that they had a chance.” 
“That’s why we are here.” 
“But what can you do?” 
“We can promise that if your crews crash in North 

Burma, we will go in and lead them out.” 
“That’s the sort of thing they show in movies.” 
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“N o, sir. Those hills, those mountains are Kachin coun¬ 
try. They are on our side and if we could get in and 
show them that we mean to stay, we should be able to 
get your men out.” 

“It would help morale a great deal,” the General said 
“just to say to my flight crews, ‘Look here, men, don’t 
expect a miracle, but there are guerrillas down there in 
the mountains. They are on our side. We can contact 
them by radio and if you are shot down, or you crash, 
why there’s a good chance they will come in and help 
you get back here.’ ” 

And that was the way we left it: we would work 
closely with Air Transport Command; we would make it 
our job to help their men get out of North Burma. Our 
operation would act as an underground railroad for 
American and British aircrews. In exchange, Air Trans¬ 
port Command would provide planes and parachutes to 
us. 

Our parachute instruction was started by Master Ser¬ 
geant Wayne (Pop) Milligan, transferred to us by Gen¬ 
eral Alexander from the ATC at Chabua. He moved in 
and immediately accommodated himself to our needs. He 
was a short, stocky Oklahoman who had done a little 
b't of most everything—ranch hand, rodeo roper, oilwell 
wildcatter—and he had also made sixty-two parachute 
jumps barnstorming about the United States. Parachute 
training had to be near an airfield—and we found another 
tea planter’s bungalow near Dibrugarh, only a few miles 
away from the Chabua airfield. 

Pop stepped into his new role, working all twelve men 

f‘VG in the mornin" until wel1 after sunset when 
A. Group would head for their bunks, exhausted. Com¬ 

petition was strong to get Pop’s approval. Whenever he 
told one of the men that he was doing fine—the highest 
praise he allowed—that man’s day was made. 

. ^°°kmg over the intelligence reports of the Japanese 
air strength in Northern Burma, we decided that the air¬ 
craft for the jump should be armed. A C-87 was chosen 
to see our men on the way. The C-87’s were B-24’s con- 
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verted to flying cargo over the Hump. They carried 
heavy firepower with guns of .50 caliber in the turret, 
nose, waist and tail; should Japanese Zeros spill out of 
the skies over the drop area, the C-87 could put up a 
fight. Its maneuverability was slow, making larger circles 
to drop men than was customary. But we were after pro¬ 
tection, and what inadequacies the C-87 offered were 
hardly large enough to offset its striking power. The exit 
door was quite small with a little step alongside it 
which added complications. Also, the door was so located 
that it looked to the jumper as though he would be cut 
in two by the tail. 

Since the C-87 was not designed for parachute drops, it 
had no hook-up cables to fasten static lines. Pop arranged 
to have rings installed in the aircraft to serve as tie¬ 
downs for the static lines. Within a few days he was 
giving the group dry run training while the plane was 
undergoing maintenance after each of its trips over the 
Hump. 

Tension was at its peak, so close now was the second 
attempt to lodge “A” Group behind the lines. As the drop 
day drew near, all their supplies, from demolitions to 
food and medicines, were packed, with every man a wit¬ 
ness. Each man could see what each numbered container 
bore and in fact, memorized the look and contents of 
every container. The age-old question of the quantity of 
supply to give a soldier, whether conventional or uncon¬ 
ventional, was answered arbitrarily by how much we 
could air-drop as they jumped. 

The simple, inexpensive containers of woven bamboo 
measured about eighteen inches on each side. They were 
forty inches deep and covered with burlap. Rice husks 
swelled out the sides of the container, acting as a resili¬ 
ent buffer. The supply parachutes were broadcloth and 
quite inexpensive. 

A dozen or more aerial reconnaissance flights had pro¬ 
vided good photos of our drop area—the Koukkwee Val¬ 
ley, approximately one hundred miles south of Myitkyi- 
na. “A” Group was to establish a base camp there and 
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initiate operations against the railroad line about forty 
miles to the west. Our operational plan for getting the 
men in was cautiously planned in two steps. I mention 
this because in every way we wished to proceed with the 
strictest discipline and security. “A” Group would not 
have been much good to themselves or 101 if they were 
dead upon hitting the ground. 

The parachute drop was to be done in two parts on 
separate days. On the first day the group leader, Cap¬ 
tain Jack Barnard, and the radio operator, Saw Egbert 
Timothy (known as Saw Judson), were to be parachuted 
in and that night establish radio contact. If they did, that 
would be reason enough to send the main group in on 
the following day. 

In the meantime we were absorbed in searching the 
aerial photos for evidence of Japanese anywhere near the 
drop zone, an area that was isolated, entirely removed 
from villages and paddy fields. Then we made a dis¬ 
covery that was bewildering. 

The photos clearly showed large logs spaced somewhat 
evenly over parts of the area. The logs spoke like a 
language. They appeared to say that the enemy had 
gotten busy putting the logs there as a practical measure 
to prevent what we planned: parachute operations. We 
showed the photos to “A” Group to see what they would 
say, and much to our surprise, they were quick to say 
there was nothing to worry about. The logs must have 
been carried there by elephants working for a teak ex¬ 
traction company before the war. This again opened our 
eyes to the wisdom of having in “A” Group British and 
Burmese who knew the area as we never would. They 
had lived and worked in Burma, they shared this in com¬ 
mon. Having understood the meaning of the logs, we 
set the hour of departure for the first flight. 

Carl Eifler and John Coughlin were to supervise the 
jump of Captain Barnard and Saw Judson on the first 
day. They had briefed them in detail and everything was 
set. It was 26 January 1943. 

The C-87 stood ready, engines throbbing, the fighters 
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were also ready. I said a few noisy words of luck to Cap¬ 
tain Barnard and Saw. The engines beat louder, and Saw 
was shouting in my ear, “I’ve lost my watch.” 

“Watch?” I said, and he nodded his head up and down 
unhappily. There was no time to procure one anywhere, 
but correct time was essential in his business. The entire 
operation of the radio involved making contact with 
Nazira on exact time. I held out my watch to him. I 
had had it for years. It was made of fine gold, ac¬ 
quired in college as security against a small loan made 
to a fraternity brother. The original owner had never re¬ 
claimed it, and I had become fond of its accuracy. 

As he entered the plane, I asked Saw to take good care 
of the watch and return it to me when he came back. 
Then I watched the take-off, stood there on the airstrip 
well after the C-87 had disappeared in clouds, and hoped 
for the sake of all, that we had not overlooked some 

important detail. »„ 

Later, we heard about the flight, how Jack and Saw 
sat inside the plane, tight in their parachute harness. 
In the clouds, all was cold, rough turbulence, and they 
turned and climbed in every direction; the pilot, Captain 
Jake Sartz, could not get out of the mounting, swirling 
clouds elbowing fast against his aircraft. The four planes 
of the fighter escort tried to stay with the C-87 but the 
difference in the flying speed of the aircraft (about 175 
m.p.h. for the C-87 as compared to 350 m.p.h. for the 
fighters) and the dirty weather separated them from one 
another. Presently, the fighters returned to base, danger¬ 
ously short of gasoline. The C-87 was left to contend 
with Japanese Zeros—if they appeared—on its own. 

Upon reaching the area the pilot, Captain Jake Sartz, 
made a couple of anxious passes over the drop zone. 
Beneath him, on the ground, the land looked peaceful. 
He brought the plane lower. Captain Barnard and Saw 
Judson jumped on the third pass. There was no doubt, 
their chutes opened. They were seen to land, two figures 
pulling off their parachute harnesses. On the next pass 
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the two supply containers were dropped. One chute 
opened perfectly, but the other was a streamer and did 
not open fully until just before the container hit the 
ground. The moment of parting, of breaking visual con¬ 
tact with the two men was signaled by the C-87, almost 
as if shouting goodbye, diving down in a final pass over 
the drop zone. As it did, the two men waved and then 
were lost in the unknown of the jungle—they were on 
the ground. From then on, Captain Sartz flew the C-87 
at treetop level, choosing the low altitude to avoid de¬ 
tection on the way home. 

All the room in the radio shack at Nazira, a few hours 
later, was taken up. Hardly a man present did not find 
himself tense. They had left jobs and sleeping quarters— 
for now at 10 p.m. we were to hear the first message 
from the advance party of “A” Group. The air was op¬ 
pressive and hot. Danger washed over us as the base 
operator listened—listened and heard nothing. The bam¬ 
boo floor crackled with the impatience of men’s feet, with 
private movements, sometimes with a tap like the tick 
of seconds sliding by. An hour passed, and still no signal 
from Saw Judson. The silence was as firm as the night 
outside the lighted shack. 

Ambush was our first thought. It was written on our 
faces. But no one cared to say it. The next schedule for 
Saw was at 2 a.m. I thought of the gold watch. We sat 
up waiting for 2 a.m., counting on hearing Saw’s signal 

then. And that hour came and stood empty, smelling of 
no signal, of no good, and infesting our thoughts with a 
sense of tragedy. Two of our men were missing. Later, 
we were to discover that the container with the chute 
which had been delayed in opening held the radio, and it 
had been hopelessly smashed. 

We had guessed as much that night, but we had no 
proof. These facts we knew. Two of our group were in 
Burma; but in what circumstances? Threatened? Dead? 
We could not tell. Now we were surrounded by ques¬ 
tions: if the remainder of the group were dropped on 
the next day, would they be jumping into a trap? Then 
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there was the possibility of another photo-reconnaissance 
flight—but wouldn’t that pinpoint our intentions, and act 
as a betrayal of the two men if they were alive? And if 
captured, how long would Captain Barnard and Saw 
Judson be able to sit tight-mouthed through torture? 

Until daylight we talked, and everyone agreed that 
even if Jack Barnard and Saw were captured, the Japa¬ 
nese would not have had time to interrogate them, nor 
have enough information to arrange for Zeros to inter¬ 
cept our aircraft. And we told each other the main party 
of “A” Group would parachute in, as originally planned, 
with John Coughlin and myself operating the drop. 

We ran over the procedures. Captain Patrick (Red) 
Maddox, leader of the second part of “A” Group, con¬ 
ducted the briefing session with calm. It was Red’s de¬ 
cision as to whether the operation would go or not. All 
he had to say was he did not think it wise and nobody 
would have thought the less of him. However, Red, who 
during the initial Japanese operation had twice gone be¬ 
hind enemy lines to blow up tin mines, never wavered, 
nor did he display a single emotion. Without saying so, 
he gave the impression that he had confidence in the op¬ 
eration and that, if this is what we thought best, he 
was for it. In his certainty, there was more than courage; 
regardless of what happened, he felt that “A” Group’s 
assignment was to get in and find out. 

Parachutes and weapons were issued, the C-87 alerted, 
and we took off on the second part of the “A” Group 
mission. Looking them over, I saw all ten men calm in 
appearance. Going with them were eight supply contain¬ 
ers, including two with radios, and about a dozen bags of 
rice. The rice was to be free dropped: that is, without 
parachutes. To do this, each sack was filled about half 
full of rice, then sewn so the rice was loose inside, and 
finally encased in two additional sacks, also sewn loose¬ 
ly. Although we had never seen it attempted, Pop believed 
in the experiment—and it was worth the try. 

We had six P-40 fighters for an escort. They stayed 
with us until we passed over Hopin in the railway corri- 
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dor, whence they had to return to base while they still 
had gasoline. Our plan was to arrive over the drop zone at 
about 4 P.M. and allow about thirty minutes of daylight 
and early dusk to complete the drop. The plane would 
return to base under cover of darkness. 

When we arrived in the drop area, Jake flew directly 
over the drop site of the previous day. There stood Cap¬ 
tain Barnard and Saw Judson. They had ground panels 
displayed: they were well. No sign could have made us 
feel as buoyant as the sight of two minute human figures 
appearing miraculously amid the logs and the strips of 
parachute cloth. We had found them alive, and we had 
found our faith justified. 

In this revived atmosphere, the members of “A” Group 
sprang to the door, Pop Milligan telling them a jump 
was a moment of beauty. They were laughing now. All of 

Burma was there in the English faces, the Kachin faces, 

the Burmese coloring of the Anglo-Burmans, the pro¬ 
fessions of the past, whether student or foreman or min¬ 
ing engineer, making way for what they were now to 
do. They were going back home to fight. 

The drop was crude and primitive. In the first place, 
the men used seat chutes of the kind used by pilots and 

aircrew members in crash emergencies. We would have 

been better off with the United States paratrooper chute, 
but they were not then available. We had to be sure 

that the iron release handle on the chest strap would 
be pulled so as to eject the pilot chute and pull out the 

main chute. To do this we made static lines of one-half¬ 
inch Manila rope, about twenty feet long, which were 

fastened to the tie-down rings in the airplane. Then, to 
insure that the iron handle, which weighed about half a 
pound, did not hit the jumpers under their chins and in¬ 

jure them, John and I stationed ourselves on either side 
of the door to assist the jumpers out. As each man left 

the door of the plane, he was given a twist so that he 
actually jumped backwards out into space, allowing the 
handle to be pulled free in front of him. 
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It was a busy time getting them out, and it was re¬ 

warding to see them descend without mishap. 

They jumped from an elevation of six hundred feet and 

they landed perfectly. It was truly remarkable to see the 
calmness of the entire group. They knew of the difficulties 

ahead, as well as the inherent dangers. Not one man 
showed the slightest bit of trepidation or hesitancy. 

A few moments after the men were on the ground, we 
dropped six containers of supplies and, on the following 

pass, two additional containers, each packed with a ra¬ 
dio. On the final pass we free-dropped the twelve bags of 

rice. They were not dropped in the same drop zone but 

in another area about two hundred yards away, because 
if one of the rice bags, moving along at two hundred or 
more miles per hour, were to hit a man, it would kill him 

outright. 

The drop appeared to go off with professional skill. 
The entire aircrew were so elated they could hardly con¬ 
tain themselves, but the operation was not over until we 

had made the run home. 
Again, Jake Sartz put the plane down to treetop level 

and flew low enough to count branches. We crossed the 
Mogaung River and, proceeding to tfte north, Mogaung 
Town could be seen on the left and Myitkyina and its 

field on the right. There had been so much talk about 

Myitkyina that it was quite a thrill to see the Japanese 
airstrip, and alarming too, since we were in a cargo air¬ 

craft over a field full of Japanese fighters and bombers. 
It was just turning dark, which gave an element of pro¬ 

tection. After crossing the railroad, Jake headed east¬ 

ward into the valley of the Irrawaddy, which he followed 

northward to Fort Hertz. He then took a heading for 

the Chabua airfield and landed at about 8 p.m. that eve¬ 

ning. John and I immediately jumped into a jeep at the 

Chabua airfield and drove back to the base camp at Na¬ 

zira. It took a couple of hours. As we arrived, “A” 

Group’s radio had just come on the air. They were safely 
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in operation, they said, and signed off. It had been a long, 
hard day for all. This night we could sleep without ap¬ 
prehension. We had done it. Our first group was in 
Burma alive. 





VI 

The “A” Group spent a couple of days getting them¬ 
selves oriented and establishing their camp. Their plan of 

operation was to leave Captain Oscar Milton, Saw Jud- 
son, the radio operator, and the four Kachins behind to 

guard the camp. The remainder of the group, six in num¬ 

ber, were to proceed to the west, across the Hopin Hill 
Tract and into the railway corridor to carry out oper¬ 
ations against the rail line. 

The straight line distance from their camp to the rail 
corridor was only about fifty miles. However, the trail led 

through dense jungles and over some extremely rugged 
hills so that, taking into account the ups and downs and 

going around obstacles, the actual distance approximated 

one hundred miles. All members of the group were in 
excellent physical condition and were accustomed to the 

area and its climate. It was well they were in good shape 

because each of them carried a full load of explosives and 
Captain Barnard set a grueling pace. By the evening of 

the second day they had reached the last ridge overlook¬ 
ing the corridor. To avoid detection they did not 
build a fire that night but ate an uncooked supper. After 
another cold meal in the morning they again started on 
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their way, and by late afternoon were within a few hun¬ 
dred yards of the rail line. 

In the early hours of the night, parties were sent out to 
reconnoiter the rail line to the north and south. Aside 
from a couple of walking patrols they reported all clear. 
Alternating between sleeping and guarding, each of them 
got several hours’ rest. Shortly after midnight and under 
a bright moon they started on the first phase of their op¬ 
eration, which was to lay explosives rigged with delayed 
fuses along the track. The explosive to be used was com¬ 
position C, which was much more powerful than dyna¬ 
mite or TNT and was highly stable, meaning that it 
could stand rough treatment and wide variations in tem¬ 
perature without its being set off. A quarter-pound charge 
of composition C well placed and packed against a rail 
will easily blow it in two. 

The delayed fuses were what were known as chemical 
delays. They resembled small pencils. Through the center 
of each of them ran a taut wire under spring pressure. 
Also enclosed was a small glass vial of acid. To activate 
the delay mechanism, after it had been attached to the 
fuse and the explosive, the operator simply broke the 
vial of acid. The acid worked on the wire until it ate 
through it; this in turn released the spring which ignited 
the fuse and set off the explosive charge. These delays 
were made to go off in as little as one hour and as long 
as twenty-four days depending upon the thickness of 
the wire and the concentration of the acid. 

That night the group, working in three teams of two 
men each, planted a total of twenty-seven charges up 
and down a five-mile stretch of railway. Most of the 
delays were set for two to five days, although some 
longer ones were used. After placing each of the charges 
it was carefully covered over with rock, gravel and cin¬ 
der to avoid detection by the Japanese. The group finished 
its task at about 4 a.m. and all of them returned safely 
to the rendezvous point. The remainder of the day was 
spent in sleeping and resting for the next night’s activ¬ 
ities. 
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Their plan of action for this night was to divide the 
group into three working parties of two men each. The 
northernmost party, consisting of Captain Red Maddox 
and Lieutenant Dennis Francis, was to use explosives to 
drop one or two spans of a large railway bridge just 
north of the town of Namhkwin. A short distance away 
Lieutenants Quinn and Aganoor were to destroy a smaller 
railroad bridge. The other group, consisting of Captain 
Jack Barnard and Lieutenant John Beamish, was to destroy 
a one-span bridge about three miles or so to the south 
across the Dagwin Chaung (river). All went well for 
them until Red had just about completed laying the 
demolition charges on the large bridge. At that time, 
Lieutenants Quinn and Aganoor were surprised by a 
Japanese patrol and came under heavy rifle fire. When 
he heard this activity, Red set off his explosive charges, 
which tore one span from its abutment and dropped it 
into the river. Red and Dennis then disappeared in the 
jungle. A Jap patrol, augmented by the local Burmese 
militia and police, gave chase to Lieutenants Quinn and 
Aganoor. Lieutenant Aganoor was cut off while trying 
to serve as a rear guard and was killed by the Japanese. 
Lieutenant Quinn was very fortunate to get away with 

his life. 
When Captain Barnard’s party heard the rifle fire 

and explosions to the north, they suspected that some¬ 
thing had gone amiss. They abandoned their demolition 
efforts and returned to the rendezvous point. The Japa¬ 
nese continued to pursue Lieutenant Quinn and caused 
him to take a circuitous route to the rendezvous point, 
delaying him for a couple of days. Red and Dennis were 
also forced into the jungle and delayed in getting to the 
assembly point. Before any of the others had reached 
the rendezvous point, Captain Barnard and his party had 
given them up for lost. They buried the remaining demo¬ 
litions and, taking the last of the food with them, pro¬ 
ceeded across the Hill Tract to their base camp in the 
Koukkwee Valley. As they climbed up and over the Hopin 
Range they could hear the explosive charges which had 

been set with the chemical delays going off up and down 
the line. They at least had the satisfaction of knowing 
their work was doing damage to the Japanese war effort 
in Northern Burma. 

When Red and Dennis arrived at the rendezvous point, 
they were in an absolute dilemma. There was no sign of 
the other members of the group; no word had been left 
for them; they had no food; and, worst of all, there 
were numerous indications that the Japanese were mak¬ 
ing an intensive search. It was not a very comforting 
situation. They spent the rest of the day hiding out and 
observing the rendezvous point. That night they hit the 
trail to return to their base camp. 

While the operational part of the “A” Group had been 
mining the railway corridor, Captain Oscar Milton with 
Saw Judson, the radio operator, had maintained radio 
contact with the base camp in India. Oscar had no 
information to pass on and only came on the air long 
enough to exchange recognition signals so that we knew 
the group was still there. When Captain Barnard returned 
to the base he sent in a message which provided a fairly 
comprehensive picture of the operation, as he knew it. 
He expressed the opinion that the members of the other 
parties had been killed or apprehended. He also advised 
that the Kachins in the villages they had passed 
through had informed them of a most unusual amount of 
Japanese activity during the last four or five days. 

Captain Barnard and the other members of the group 
remained in the base camp area for a couple of days, 
resting and hoping for the arrival of Red’s group. Jack 
was very concerned about all of the reports of Japanese 
activity and surmised that they were trying to locate this 
group and their base camp. He took into account the 
possibility that the other party may have been cap¬ 
tured, which, in time, would provide the Japanese with a 
great deal of information concerning “A” Group’s ac¬ 
tivities. He prepared a detailed message in which he out¬ 
lined the entire situation and proposed a plan to break 
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camp immediately, to cross the Irrawaddy River, and to 
establish a new camp somewhere near the road between 
Bhamo and Myitkyina, along which “A” Group would 
gather information of Japanese movements and also carry 
out raids and ambushes. When the message reached In¬ 
dia, Carl and John and those of us concerned with opera¬ 
tions studied it at length. We concluded that Captain 
Barnard was on the ground and certainly knew the situa¬ 
tion better than any of us over three hundred miles away 
in India. Accordingly, we gave approval to his plan and 
requested that he advise us when and where he wanted 
their next airdrop. At the same time, however, none of 
us were convinced that the personnel of the other 
parties had been killed or apprehended. In the short 
time they had been with us in training these men had 
made a most favorable impression. It was obvious that 

they were without peers in the jungle and their courage 
and spirit were such that they would be killed before they 

were captured. Considering the spirit, faith and enthusi¬ 
asm they had shown, it behooved us to maintain our faith 

in them. 

Captain Barnard and the other members of the group 
broke camp the following morning and hit the trail to 

the northeast in hope of finding a place where they 

might cross the Irrawaddy. Between Myitkyina and 

Bhamo the river varies in width from a few hundred to a 
thousand or more feet. It traverses a low range of moun¬ 
tains and flows through an area known as the Gorges, 

where it is narrow, swift and extremely treacherous. The 

first places to the north where the group could possibly 
cross would be in the area of Sinbo and it was there that 

they were headed. The Japanese, however, had picked up 
their trail and were in hot pursuit. It was fortunate that 
the four Kachins were with the group. Even though 

they were youngsters, their knowledge of junglecraft 

paid off handsomely. They were able to use old aban¬ 
doned trails and employ various ruses and feints that 
completely misled the Japs. Also, in the hills the popula- 
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tion, meager as it was, was almost entirely composed of 
Kachins and they provided all possible assistance. 

From the local Kachins the group learned that the 
Japanese were trying to locate elements of a British 
combat force and thought that the “A” Group was a 
part of it. This information was relayed to us by radio 
and it was the first inkling we had that a British-Indian 
force had entered Burma. In accordance with General 
Stilwell’s directive we had advised the British authorities 
on the Imphal Front of our planned operation with 
the “A” Group. For some reason they had not considered 
it necessary to advise us of their own plans. When 
we checked with them and confronted them with the 
information coming from within Burma, they revealed 
that it was Major General Orde Wingate’s Chindit Force, 
composed of about 10,000 British, Indian and Burmese 
troops. They had crossed the Chindwin River near Im¬ 
phal and, by land routes, had reached the railway in the 
area of Wuntho. They had conducted several successful 
raids and ambushes against the enemy and their unortho¬ 
dox tactics initially stunned the Japanese. The Japs, 
however, recovered quickly and in a short while were 
effecting coordinated attacks against the various Chindit 
columns. The Chindits were eventually forced to withdraw 
from the railway. Moreover, the Japanese pressure on the 
columns which had crossed the Irrawaddy River became 
so intense that it was necessary for the Chindits to break 
up into small groups to try to work their way back to 
India. The Japs pursued these groups night and day. In 
some respects, the actions of the “A” Group were quite 
similar to those of the Chindit bands and the Japs 
thought them one and the same. 

By the end of the fourth day Captain Barnard and his 
group had progressed only about thirty-five miles, al¬ 
though in their evasive action, backtracking, circling and 
so on, they had covered well over one hundred miles. 
They were tense and tired from their pursuit but were in 
good health and eager to move on. That night as they 
made camp they were on the crest of the hills overlook- 
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ing the Irrawaddy River Valley. They were in the village 
of friendly Kachins whom they knew they could depend 
upon for protection while they caught a few hours’ sleep. 
They also sent us a radio message in which they request¬ 
ed an airdrop two days hence in a cleared rice paddy area 
about eight miles northwest of the town of Sinbo. 

Bright and early the following morning John and I drove 
to Chabua to see if we could again arrange for the C-87 
to carry out the drop. To our chagrin we found that it 
had carried a load across the Hump to China and had 
developed engine trouble. It would be at least three or 
four days before the plane could possibly become avail¬ 
able. This, of course, was too late for our purposes and 
would place the “A” Group in a most serious predica¬ 
ment. With this in mind we contacted General Egan of 
the 5307th Air Group. He was most sympathetic and 
called in Colonel Sanders who commanded the 56th 
Fighter Group which also had a few light bombers, 
B-25’s, attached to it. Colonel Sanders agreed to use a 
B-25 for the drop and we drove to the Dinjan airstrip 
to check the bomb bay to see how many containers it 
would hold, and to meet the crew. The pilot was Captain 
Thompson. He and his crew were ready for anything. 
We looked the plane over closely and estimated that we 
could suspend only six drop containers from the racks in 
the bomb bays. We also checked the strength of the bomb 
bay doors and estimated that they would hold six thirty- 
five-pound bags of rice, which would be free-dropped 
with the instantaneous opening of the doors. 

Since the drop would take us fairly close to the old base 
camp of the “A” Group it seemed wise to conduct an air 
search for the other members of the party at the same 
time in hope that they were still alive. If by chance 
we were fortunate enough to locate them, we should 
be prepared to give them an emergency drop to provide 
them food and supplies until we could return a few days 
later with another more complete drop including a radio 
and radio operator. There was no conceivable way of 
getting additional containers out of the bomb bay so 

we finally decided to try to use the rear escape hatch, 
which was just large enough for a small container to 
be pushed through. 

Captain Thompson said he wanted to get started as 
early as possible the next day so that we would not be 
arriving in the area the same time as the previous flights 
and have the Jap Zeros waiting for us. It was getting 
late and we had a long drive ahead of us to return to 
the base camp, pack the containers and get them to 
Dinjan and loaded in the plane. With this in mind, we 
set the departure time for the plane at noon the following 
day and told Captain Thompson we would be loaded 
and ready to go. 

Several of us worked through the night assembling 
the supplies and getting them packed into containers 
and the chutes attached. There was not much time to 
catch an hour’s sleep and get a bite to eat before we had 
to depart again to load the plane at Dinjan. However, 
at 11:30 a.m. the bomb bays were loaded and we were 
ready to go. Sergeant Milligan was to handle the emer¬ 
gency drop through the escape hatch and I was to fly 
in the nose with the navigator-bombardier to identify 
the panels and to effect the drop. We took off exactly as 
scheduled without any fighter escort and headed directly 
toward the old base camp to see if we could first locate 
Red and the rest of the group. In about an hour we were 
over Lake Indawgyi, a magnificent lake completely sur¬ 
rounded by tropical forests. From there we flew over the 
railway corridor and could plainly see where one span 
of the bridge over the Namyin outside of Namhkwin had 
been dropped in the river and another section had been 
severed. All of the work of the “A” Group had not been 
in vain—the traffic to Myitkyina would be cut off until 
the Japs could repair the bridge. 

About ten minutes later we were approaching the site 
of the original parachute drop. We had not given up 
hopes for Red and the others, and were greatly con¬ 
cerned about them, especially in light of Captain Barnard’s 
latest message concerning the Japanese activities. One can 
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well imagine the pleasant surprise when we made the 
first pass over the drop zone. There in the middle 
waving their arms were Red Maddox and Lieutenants 
Pat Quinn and Dennis Francis. They also had emergency 
panels displayed to indicate that they needed supplies 
and that it was safe to drop. We made another pass and 
Sergeant Milligan dropped a message on a streamer tell¬ 
ing them to sit tight and that we would return in a few 
minutes to give them an emergency drop of food. 

Seeing Red, Dennis and Pat together was most surpris¬ 
ing. It wasn’t until sometime later that we were able to 
piece together what had happened. Red and Dennis had 
reached the base camp and found nothing to eat. They 
heard a suspicious noise and hid out in the jungle to 
watch. To their amazement Pat Quinn emerged and 
they were reunited. After Lieutenant Aganoor had been 
killed, Pat was chased by the Japs for three days. He 
eventually reached the rendezvous point, which had 
been cleaned out. Then it was another couple of days 
before he reached a friendly village to get some food. 
After that he proceeded to the base camp, where he 
joined Red and Dennis. They were no better off than 
before, but it buoyed their morale to be together again. 

After dropping the note to Red’s party we flew north¬ 
east to the Irrawaddy and, from the village of Sinbo, 
took a heading for Captain Barnard’s drop site. We flew 
directly over it and identified the panels. As we were 
approaching it for the drop run at a speed of 140 m.p.h. 
and at an elevation of about three hundred feet, the 
navigator gave me the signal and I pushed the handle 
forward to open the bomb bay doors to free-drop the 
rice bags about one hundred and fifty yards from the 
drop zone. The handle stuck and as I jammed it for¬ 
ward again we felt the plane lift in the air from the sud¬ 
den loss of its load. As we were making the turn I looked 
back and the drop zone appeared snow-white. I had a 
sinking feeling, because all I could think of was the 
bags breaking and spreading the rice all over hell’s half 
acre. We lined up for our next pass to release the para¬ 
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chute containers from the bomb bay. As we approached 
the drop zone it became clear that what I had thought 
was rice, was, in fact, the entire load, parachutes and 
all- When I had pushed the handle forward my first 
touch had opened the bomb bays and released the rice. 
The next push had released the containers, so that they 
followed directly after the free-falling bags of rice. The 
rice bags were carried forward by the momentum of 
flight so that they landed almost at the same spot and 
simultaneously with the parachute containers. Every¬ 
thing was together in an area about fifty feet square. It 
could not have been more perfect. It was an act of pure 
providence, but I am sure that Jack’s group on the ground 
thought it had been planned just that way. 

Captain Thompson headed back toward the Koukkwee 
Valley and Red’s group. Captain Thompson and I talked 
over arrangements for the signals for dropping the two 
emergency containers; about two hundred yards before 
the drop zone he was to give us a horn so that Pop and I 
could get the containers out as quickly as possible. I 
then crawled over the top of the bomb bay and joined 
Pop. We prepared a hasty message to Red telling him 
that we would be back in two days to drop a radio and 
operator to them. The message was placed in an envelope 
and put in the top of one of the containers. In about 
ten minutes Captain Thompson gave us a preliminary 
signal that we were nearing the target. A minute or so 
later, he gave us the drop signal and the containers 
were dropped through the emergency hatch with hardly a 
second between them. We stuck our heads out the hatch 
and watched the containers and their parachutes float to 
the ground almost at Red’s feet. 

We had now been in Jap territory for over three hours 
and it was high time for us to get back to base. All in 
all, it had been a successful day. Pop and I were elated 
upon our return, despite the fact we had had only a 
couple of hours’ sleep during the past two days. 

Two days later we returned to Red’s drop area in a C-87 
with a radio and an operator who was to jump in. We 
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flew over the drop zone several times but there were no 
signs of either personnel or panels. We stayed in the area 
about half an hour with still no signs of our people; we 
were greatly disheartened when we returned to the air 
base in India. Two days later the search was repeated 
but still there were no signs of them. 

We tried to analyze what had happened, but the only 
logical conclusion we could arrive at was that the Japs 
had closed in on the area and driven them out or pos¬ 
sibly captured them. 

To make certain we arranged with General Egan of 
the Air Group to have a photo-reconnaissance mission 
flown over the drop zone a couple of times during the 
next week to see if they could locate any display of 
ground panels. The photos were beautifully done, but 
there were no panels. We had done all possible and re¬ 
luctantly decided to abandon the search. 

In the meantime, Jack Barnard’s group was faced with 
an immediate problem. The Japanese were on their trail. 
To their front was the beautiful but broad and treacher¬ 
ous Irrawaddy River. Their only salvation lay in their 
ability to get across the river and into the almost im¬ 
penetrable jungle on the far side. 

There was no time to get rubber boats to them, so in 
the drop we had included eight rubber air mattresses 
which they were willing to use as floats rather than be 
captured by the Japanese. However, from some of the 
nearby Kachins they learned of a spot on the river where 
the local Shan fishermen tied up their boats. They laid 
their plans, got a bit of sleep, and, at about 3 a.m., under 
a clear half moon, went to the spot where the boats were 
tied. They commandeered two boats and set off poling 
and paddling across the river. All went well until they 
reached the far bank. There, as luck would have it, they 
rowed directly into the center of a huge herd of wild 
elephants taking a bath. Fortunately, the elephants 
were frightened off by the boats. Splashing, thundering 
and trumpeting, the herd fled from the river and into the 
forest. After Jack and his party landed they pushed the 
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two boats out into the current of the river and set off 
on foot due east through the jungle. 

They were headed toward the area of Man Pang. Near¬ 
by there was a single extinct volcanic peak, Lampha Bum, 
rising about eight hundred feet above the nearby 
hills. This mountain was a sacred area to the Buddhists 
and it was reported to be infested with snakes. Since 
nearly all of the snakes in Burma are cobras, it was an 
area that people avoided. The group reached Man Pang’s 
safety at the end of the third day and set up their new 
camp in a nearby abandoned rice paddy area called a 
tong yaw. 

Tongyaws are numerous throughout the jungles of 
Northern Burma. The Kachins burn off a small area of 
jungle and plant their rice to obtain the rich vitamins in 
the fresh topsoil. Their rice is highly nutritious and has 
a fine, rich flavor. After two or three years the field is 
abandoned to return to the jungle. The nomadic Kachins 
move on to a new area to burn it off and repeat the 

cycle. 
After Jack and his group reached their new base camp 

site, the four Kachins in the party immediately started 
erecting a bamboo hut, called a basha. The Kachins are 
experts in such construction and can put up a three- or 
four-room house elevated three to four feet off the ground 
in a matter of a few days. 

Their radio contact with the base continued in nearly 
perfect order. Soon after their arrival they asked for an¬ 
other supply drop but, at the time, every possible air¬ 
craft was needed on an emergency Hump run to China. 

It was two weeks before we could get a drop aircraft, 
and the situation for Jack and his group was becoming 
desperate. They had consumed all their food and were liv¬ 
ing entirely off what they could forage in the jungle: 
wild game, bamboo shoots, berries and a few gains of 
wild rice. Several times in his radio messages Jack, a de¬ 
vout Christian, cited Biblical quotations about food and 
its scarcity. 

When we were at last able to obtain a drop aircraft 
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we were lucky enough to get the C-87 with Jake Sartz 
and his crew. It was a difficult drop. After each pass 
the plane had to bank sharply and turn away from the 
side of a sheer cliff. Because of the pitch inside the plane, 
stacking supplies and fastening static lines was difficult. 
The winds, however, were perfect for the drop, and we de¬ 
livered Jack the food he so desperately needed. Jack now 
set up observation posts along the road from Bhamo to 
Myitkyina manned mostly by young Kachins he had re¬ 
cruited in the field. He reconnoitered and made plans for 
the demolition of numerous small bridges along the route. 

Jack’s group stayed in place gathering information 
until the first week in May, at which time he sent in a 
message requesting permission to withdraw by land trails 
from Burma before the coming monsoon. The group’s 
route would lead them north into the Triangle area and 
thence to Fort Hertz from where they could be flown to 
India. He also asked for another supply drop to provide 
provisions essential for the trip. We approved of Jack’s 
plan and arrangements were made to give him a final 
airdrop. 

It was made under the worst possible conditions. There 
had been an unseasonal rain and the clouds were right 
down to treetop level. A strong wind was blowing diago¬ 
nally across the drop zone. The pilot had to fly the 
plane at an angle across the drop zone and then put 
it into a violent banking maneuver to avoid flying into 
the side of the mountain. Captain Sartz was fatigued, so 
Captain Grube was piloting that day. Flying the C-87 
on a drop mission requires two people at the controls, 
and Grube’s co-pilot was inexperienced in dropping. The 
sensation at the drop door was like a roller coaster run¬ 

ning amuk. 
We managed to get only SO per cent of the supplies in 

the cleared drop zone area. The remainder fell in the 
jungle and got hung up on trees. In the end, Jack and his 
group lost about one-fourth of that drop. 

Two days after the drop they were ready to move. 
They crossed the Bhamo-Myitkyina road and then 
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turned north along the mountain range between Burma 
and China. This region is fairly well populated with 
Kachin villages located about five to ten miles apart. 
These Kachins belonged to the Gauhri and Maru tribes. 
The Gauhries are noted for their colorful dress and a 
distinct culture of family life. The Marus, on the other 
hand, were nomadic, primitive, but had an unparalleled 
knowledge of the jungle. They assisted the movement of 
Jack and his group by providing guides and porters. In 
about two weeks the group had reached the Nmai Hka 
(river) and were ready to cross over into the Triangle. 

Japanese intelligence was not to be caught napping. 
They were able to keep track of the movements of the 
group through spies from the Shan and Burmese villages, 
along with a few from the Kachin villages. Up to the 
Nmai Hka, Jack and his group were in radio contact 
with the base camp on a schedule of alternate nights. 
When they crossed the Nmai, into the Triangle, radio 
contact was lost and, as days passed into weeks, we be¬ 
came greatly concerned for their safety. The next word 
we had of them was from a new group we had sent in 
under Captain Wilkinson, then located in the Triangle 
at a place named Ngumla. He advised us that some of his 
agents had contacted Jack’s group and they were on the 
way to his base fifty miles behind Japanese lines. 

When he finally reached base camp at Nazira, Jack 
filled us in: they had progressed about a day’s march 
beyond the Nmai Hka when the Japs closed in on them. 
They had to abandon the trail and strike off directly 
through the jungle. To reduce their loads to a bare mini¬ 
mum they destroyed the radio, food, ammunition, every¬ 
thing, so that each man was left with only his clothes, 
weapons and a few rounds of ammunition. Day after day, 
the Japs stayed on their trail and at the end of ten days 
had them cut off. The situation seemed hopeless. Out of 
nowhere there appeared an old Kachin headman who was 
a close relative of one of the Kachins in the group. He 
knew every inch of the ground and that night led Jack and 
his party through the Japanese encirclement so that by 
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dawn they were twenty miles away. Five days later, they 
were at Captain Wilkinson’s camp at Ngumla. 

They stayed at Ngumla for about a week resting and 
regaining their strength. Then, with guides and porters 
provided by Captain Wilkinson, they passed around the 
Jap lines in the area of Sumprabum and walked on to 
Fort Hertz, where Captain Aitken had them flown to 

India. 
We were in for still another surprise. Two days after 

Jack and his group had left Fort Hertz, Captain Aitken 
received a message from Kachin Levies Headquarters that 
Captain Maddox and Lieutenants Quinn and Francis 
had reported in to them. They had been intercepted by 
Subedar Zhing Htaw Naw who fed them and directed 
them to Captain DeSilva of the Kachin Levies. He gave 
them money, salt, rice and other necessities and had them 
guided to Levies Headquarters. 

After all this time, we had given them up for lost. In 
the three months since we had last contacted them with 
an emergency drop, they had covered a thousand miles 
by foot, circling and crisscrossing areas of jungle and 
mountain where there are no marked trails. They took 
the Kachins into their confidence and, of necessity, lived 
entirely off the land. They became so independent, so 
sure, that they stole into Jap camps to steal rice and other 

foodstuffs, yet were never seen. 
They even pretended to be natives. Captain Maddox 

was light-haired, yet he was able to hide this fact with a 
turban such as the Kachins wore. He darkened his face 
and, with an assurance that struck no false note, seemed 
nothing more than a native. They were never once de¬ 
tected by the Japanese even though their route passed 
within a mile of Myitkyina. They came out of the opera¬ 
tion with rags on their backs and not a single complaint 
—they had exercised a guerrilla’s talent to stay alive. 
Pop Milligan and I picked them up at the airfield. They 
trotted out of the airplane hollering, “Here wre are!” 

Red’s next remark was, “You Yanks certainly make 
good shoes. We have been wearing these shoes since we 
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dropped in almost five months ago and they are still in 
good shape.” 

I could see that he was right, and though they had all 
lost weight their eyes were clear, their handshakes strong, 
and I knew they had come through hardened. They had 
found the enemy’s weakness. They knew that they had 
done something good. 

On the plane ride back to India, Red told us of his 
encounter with a leech. These bloodsucking creatures 
were the bane of our men in the jungle. Varying in size 
from about an inch (common leech) to three inches 
(buffalo leech) and up to five inches (elephant leech), 
they attach themselves without being felt and swell to 
balloon-like proportions on the blood of their prey. In 
the jungle they seemed ever-present; personnel of 101 
made a practice of stopping once each hour to look over all 

parts of their bodies and remove any leeches before 
they could do much harm. 

One night while he was sleeping one of these leeches 
had gotten into the tube of Red’s penis. When he awak¬ 
ened it was swollen to the point where he could not 
urinate. It was becoming extremely painful and there 
seemed nothing they could do to remove the leech. When 
the pain became most excruciating, he was actually think¬ 
ing of gouging it out with a knife. Lieutenant Quinn fi¬ 
nally suggested making a forceps-shaped tool out of bam¬ 
boo. It worked fine and they were able to get hold of 
the leech and pull it out. 

Detachment 101 was now moving forward. New mis¬ 
sions were coming up. We would, in part, be better for 
the mistakes and the success of “A” Group. Once we had 
these men together at base, we went over their operation 
in detail, fitting together what we had learned. 

The first and most glaring shortcoming was our inade¬ 
quate parachute capability. We had been extremely 
lucky; the next time, however, we might not be so for¬ 
tunate. Twelve men had been jumped under the crudest 
of conditions. We had parachuted and free-dropped ap¬ 
proximately fourteen tons of supplies with comparative- 
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ly little loss. But we could not gamble that our luck 
would hold. This time we recognized the need of men to 
serve as jump instructors and dropmasters. It was almost 
a year before the first qualified parachutist would arrive 
from the States. Back-pack-type personnel chutes were 
also requested. These were provided immediately, some 
by air freight via. the ATC Red Ball Express direct from 
the States to Chabua, and the remainder by ship to Cal¬ 
cutta. All of the subsequent drops were made with this 
equipment and it greatly eased the problem. We also 
asked for United States Army-type cargo parachute con¬ 
tainers with chutes. This request was purposefully kept 
low because the bamboo, burlap-covered container with 
the broadcloth chute had worked so well and was so in¬ 
expensive that we decided to use this as our primary cargo 
container. We made the containers ourselves and the 
chutes were purchased on Lend-Lease from the British 
and Indian governments. 

It also became apparent that a twelve-man group was 
too large, too unwieldy, too likely to attract attention, 
and seriously limited in its mobility. We all owned up to 
the necessity of smaller teams held together by a strong¬ 
er link among themselves. The operational results of sev¬ 
eral small groups, as it worked out, were considerably 
greater than those of a single large group. From that 
point on, the size of our operational teams was kept to 
a maximum of six men, preferably three or four. 

We had not foreseen sufficiently how we would re¬ 
spond to “A” Group’s silence. We had been at a loss, and 
feared disaster the moment contact ceased. Not only 
must we now prepare more detailed plans required for 
keeping track of our field stations, but more specific al¬ 
ternate plans in case something went wrong. This had 
been particularly evident when the groups became sepa¬ 
rated. We were able to locate Red purely by chance, for 
we had not developed a procedure to maintain the con¬ 
tact. We could well have lost all of Red’s group. Such 
contact procedures were now incorporated into the train¬ 
ing and monitored by the operational staff. This had a 
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tremendous effect upon the quality of 101’s future oper¬ 
ations. 

Another weakness in “A” Group’s operation was the 
failure to utilize rally points. If things had been handled 
properly, the three groups should have been able to con¬ 
tact one another after the effort to blow the bridges in 
the Namhkwin area. It is true that both groups were 
under tremendous strain and pressure. But, had their 
training been more perceptive, they would have automati¬ 
cally done those things which must be done to re-estab¬ 
lish contact. Instead of running from danger near a rally 
point, it is necessary for the sake of the group that a 
few men remain behind. The only hope of retaining con¬ 
tact is the formula of risking a fight to carry out contact. 
This insight was incorporated into our training—and it 
worked. Never again were our men in the field unable to 
establish contact at a designated rally point. 

It also became evident that the power for our field ra¬ 
dios was inadequate and would have to be increased. The 
radio itself worked beautifully. Even over vast distances, 
across jungle and mountainous terrain, it was never seri¬ 
ously lacking a strong signal; what we now sought was 
still greater range and a lighter load. In order to keep 
the set going in field operation, it was necessary to drop 
hundreds of pounds of dry cell battery packs. At the 
maximum, the batteries had a life-span of only thirty 
hours and, on occasion, as little as ten hours. The jungle 
dampness took life from the batteries, and with the 
rain and dampness of the approaching monsoon, we ex¬ 
pected an even more dramatic sapping of energy. It was 
obvious that we would have to provide a form of power 
generator to future groups. 

To provide for the field station with a moderate-size 
traffic load, Captain Huston experimented with hand gen¬ 
erators. Every type of generator tested set up a whine 
which could be heard one hundred to four hundred yards 
away. This, it was thought, would be a dead giveaway, so 
they were encased in boxes with insulating material to 
lower the noise level. This increased the size somewhat, 
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but it was effective in reducing the sound. Shortly there¬ 
after, the insulating material was discarded because in the 
Burma jungle there is almost always a continual buzzing 
noise going on, from crickets, cicadas and similar crea¬ 
tures. These are so loud that they drowned out the noise 
of the hand generator, so that it could not be distin¬ 
guished at a distance of over twenty-five feet. For the 
larger field stations, small portable gasoline generators 
were ordered from the States. 

All but two of the original twelve members of “A” 
Group insisted upon future roles in operations. Their 
wishes were granted and through the ensuing months and 
years they were to go forth again and again behind the 

lines. 
When the debriefing for “A” Group came to its con¬ 

clusion I asked Saw Judson about my gold watch. He 
said it had worked fine and in a burst of praise cited 
its help in making radio contact exactly on time. He 
looked at his empty hands and even then I knew: he 
pointed to the place on the map where the old Kachin 
headman had led them out of the Japanese encirclement. 
The watch was there, I could sense it. Saw told me that 
when they had ended up safely he could not leave the old 

man without a reward. 
“He showed us the way,” Saw said. 
“So he got the watch,” I said. 
“He liked it,” Saw said. “He said it was bright as the 

sun.” 
“It’s much better with him,” I said. “He does need 

something to show around that we were there.” 
Saw agreed. The headman was a fine old man and he 

would be considered important owning an American 
watch. Besides, part of our business was to make friends. 

VII 

The Enemy Answers 

Our recruiting for new teams had flourished, largely be¬ 
cause of the retreat from Burma. The people who had 
fled their homes were in refugee camps in India, and it 
was there we found men willing to undertake the danger¬ 
ous activities we had in mind. We narrowed the initial 
list down to fifty people; some of these had been en¬ 
gaged in smuggling and illegal trading, work which 
seemed to fit naturally into what we expected them to 
do in war; others were college professors, merchants of 
various commodities, or managers of teak forests who had 
had their holdings taken over by the Japanese. For some, 
the reason was the money we were prepared to pay; for 
others it was what they felt about the war. We moved 
them from the refugee camps to Detachment 101’s train¬ 
ing base in the Nazira area. They learned quickly, and 
our concern now was to get them into new operations. 

Some of us wanted to concentrate in North Burma. 
Others suggested that we expand our activities to 
Southern Burma, to the Arakan coastline, and even as 
tar south as the fabled city of Rangoon. We were a 
group that did not relish an internal argument over pur¬ 
pose, and in the end we settled on a compromise. The 
operations in Northern Burma would continue as the pri- 
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mary objective, but at the same time, we would also 
begin operations further south on a minimal basis. Then, 
following up that decision, we requested from OSS in 
Washington a PT boat and skipper to aid us in sea opera¬ 
tions along the southern coast of Burma. 

Carl Eifler was more excited by the southern operations 
than either John Coughlin or myself. He shook his fists 
over the maps, snorting contemptuously at any sugges¬ 
tion that we were moving too fast. If there is one 
thing that a unit such as ours needed it was a dreamer, a 
dreamer strong enough by the force of his will and per¬ 
sonality to penetrate beyond dream into reality. Carl gave 

us this stimulus. 
It seemed to me we were moving perhaps a trifle too 

fast. In this business a man’s life depended upon not mak¬ 
ing a single mistake. I felt quite strongly that it was 
best for us to do a little and do it well rather than try 
to do many things and not do any one of them with the 
perfection that was necessary. I didn’t know why, but I 
felt apprehensive. We were getting into something we 

were not yet prepared to do. 
Our new target area was the Lawksawk Valley in Cen¬ 

tral Burma about seventy-five miles southeast of Manda¬ 
lay. This area was approximately two hundred miles fur¬ 
ther south than the “A” Group operational area; it would 
be a long flight by C-87, well beyond the range of fighter 
support from bases in India. Hence, in order to para¬ 
chute the group into operations it would be necessary to 

have it done from the China side. 
Accordingly, in March 1943, arrangements were made 

with ATC to use one of their long-range C-87’s piloted by 
the old hands, Captains Jake Sartz and Grube. The agents 
to be dropped were eager to get into operation. We com¬ 
pleted their parachute ground training and packed all 
of their equipment in parachute containers. Then the 
group, accompanied by Coughlin, now Lieutenant Colonel, 

Captain Frazee, Pop Milligan and myself, flew to Kun¬ 
ming, China, the Headquarters of General Chennault’s 

14th Air Force. 
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Some preliminary arrangements had been made for 
the drop with the 14th Air Force but, at the time of our 
arrival, they were not overly enthusiastic. The fighter 
escort was essential because we knew we would be flying 
directly into the central base area of the Japanese Air 
Force in Burma with bases in Namsang, Laihka, Heho 
and Meiktila. John and I finally ended up talking to 
General “Butch” Morgan, the A-3, and, subsequently, with 
the Chief of Staff, General Casey Vincent. Basically, they 
were not against the flight, provided we could convince 
them that the benefits to be derived from the operation 
were greater than the risks involved. John used every point 
of logic trying to convince them of the intelligence val¬ 
ues of the operation, and I put in a word or two con¬ 
cerning the capability of rescuing downed aircrews. Evi¬ 
dently, the dialectic must have been somewhat convinc¬ 
ing, or perhaps we wore them down; after two days 
Casey advised us he had talked it over with General 
Chennault and that the flight was approved. Then he 
added “except that,” and here came the hooker, “we 
must bomb Lashio on the return flight.” The 14th Air 
Force did not have any B-24’s at the time and their 
fighters and medium bombers could not carry the bombs 
and enough fuel to make the round trip. Our C-87, al¬ 
though it was a converted B-24, did not have a bomb 
bay. In order to get the bombs out of the aircraft, some¬ 
body was going to have to pull the arming pins on the 
bombs and throw them out of the door. John and I 
thought this over for quite a while, but we knew that if 
we were going to get the group into operation we would 
have to agree to their terms. 

Take-off time for the flight was set for 11 o’clock the 
following morning. They agreed to provide an escort of 
four P-40 fighter aircraft with Lieutenant Colonel John- 

nie Alison leading the flight. Colonel Coughlin and I 
spent the greater part of that night going over the de¬ 
tails of the flight w'ith Jake Sartz. 

The flight from Kunming to the target area was with¬ 
out incident except that Johnnie Alison put on quite an 
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exhibition of precision flying for our benefit. He flew his 
fighter directly into position between the wing and the 
tail of our aircraft. He stayed there for quite a while; so 
close that it seemed we could reach out and touch him. 
His fighter escort remained with us to a point about one 
hundred miles beyond Lashio, where it broke off to re¬ 
turn to home base. When we arrived in the target area, 
Colonel Coughlin and I scanned the land below, and 
saw villages no more than two to five miles distant from 
the proposed drop zone. Wasn’t that too close? I said, 
and John agreed. We talked it over with the group leader, 
who said there was no reason to be concerned. He knew 
the area and suggested we go ahead. 

The drop was completed in three passes, one for the 
men and two for equipment containers. We dropped from 
a low altitude of four hundred feet in order to screen the 
drop behind low hills and trees. 

As we made our last pass, we could see a discomforting 
sight: villagers streaming out from every direction, head¬ 
ing toward the drop zone. I had an aching feeling that 
their lines looked hostile. I couldn’t get it out of my 
head that they were out to kill. And because of this, I 
felt this had been a bad decision. As I sat in the plane, 
I felt miserable about the whole affair and wondered why 
I had ever got mixed up in this sort of business. 

I have yet to see an operation that was not without 
a sense of good or evil omen. The dismal sense of warn¬ 
ing, of disaster, is stronger with some than others. It may 
get you nowhere to listen too carefully, but when it 
pounds, then another place, another day is wise. 

Our mistake was in not calling the operation off when 
we became alarmed. In such a situation, an agent going 
into operation becomes so physically and emotionally 
keyed up that he cannot exercise prudent judgment. Then 
somebody with an objective viewpoint should make the 
decision. I know that I learned a tremendous lesson: 
when so much depends on secrecy, it is pitiably certain 
that observation also means treachery. Thereafter, I 
relied upon my own judgment, because we were dealing 
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with men’s lives; if I made a mistake, it would be my 
fault and there could be nobody else to blame. 

I can still see those lines of villagers. With so many 
people around, our group had no chance. They went no 
further. The mission was scuttled the moment we let 
them jump. 

John and I looked at each other and shook our heads. 
It was distasteful to say anything. Then -we saw the 
bombs—the whole thing suddenly was important as it 
had never been when we wanted the plane to drop our 
men. It suddenly seemed generous to have twenty thirty- 
pound bombs. Our hands moved, touching them, waiting. 

Over the highway between Hsipaw and Mandalay, Jake 
Sartz and Grube spotted a Japanese convoy of about 
thirty trucks. Were we interested? 

A truck convoy doesn’t show up every day. 
They dropped the C-87 down to treetop level and flew 

the length of the convoy spraying it with all available 
.50 caliber machine guns. It was like seeing a crazy 
dance, Jap trucks going off the road, afire, careening 
wildly. 

We could have cheered, but we didn’t. Our turn was 
next. 

Then Jake climbed back up to 6,000 feet to put us 
3,000 feet above ground elevation. John and I were going 
to drop the bombs by sitting sideways in the doorway, 
pulling the pins and chucking them out. Neither of us had 
any idea where they would fall, so we test-dropped a 
couple to get the feel of it. The first one was way off, 
but the second one came within a few feet of one of 
the buildings of the Namtu mines. 
_ ^Shortly thereafter Jake gave us the green light: Lashio. 
We saw the airport, the town. We started, scarcely aware 
of unloading bombs on the target, aware only of death. 
Brilliance as our bombs flashed, and the innocent puffs 
of ack-ack fire close to the wing-tips ... we might not 
have been there, so strange was the sense of detach- 
ment . . . and listening, as cannons and machine guns 
became a hellish nightmare somewhere else . . . and, 
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mouth wide open, like an Indian in a movie battle, shout¬ 
ing at us, one of the aircrew, his eyes ice, saying it as if 

he did not believe it—“I’m hit, I’m dying.” 
John and I disposed of the remainder of the bombs in 

a hurry. About this time the nose of the plane went 
down and it seemed that we would certainly crash. The 
pilot, trying to get out of the ground fire, was skimming 
over the crest of a mountain, using it as a shield. 

Jake kept the plane low in the valley until we came 
to the gorge area of the Salween River, a hundred or so 
miles north of Lashio. Meanwhile we checked the air¬ 
man. He had a small flesh wound in the leg but no 
bones were broken; he was more scared than hurt. Jake 
asked whether we should return to India as planned or 
go on to Kunming. India was four to five hours away 
and Kunming only one and a half or two. We were all 
tired and it was starting to get dark, so we decided to 
go to Kunming for the night. This was one of the luckiest 
decisions we were ever to make. When the plane landed, 
its motors stopped for lack of gasoline. The gauge 
showed plenty of fuel, but later it was found that some 
of the Japanese ack-ack had knocked out the gas transfer 
system so that the gas in the reserve tanks was not 
being transferred to the main tanks. After they had towed 
the plane off the runway we got a good look at it. It 
looked like a sieve. There were over two hundred and 
fifty holes in it, varying in size from a pinhead to two 

or three inches. 
Later I found out from General Stilwell that he had 

opposed the drop from the beginning, even assuming the 
operation was successful. It was too far away to have 
any direct effect on operations in Northern Burma and 
he felt this talent could have been used more profitably 
further north. He did not, however, want to counter¬ 

mand Carl’s orders, so he let it go. 
It required another day to patch up the airplane, and 

the following day w'e returned to India. We proceeded 
to our base camp that night to see if there had been any 
radio contact. I don’t think either John or I really expect- 
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ed any then—or ever. We monitored their radio frequency 
and not one signal came through; our pre-arranged efforts 
to locate them or their panels by photo-reconnaissance 
flights made no difference. We knew that the group was 
lost. For days upon days we hoped, and then the Japa¬ 
nese radio boasted—we got your men. The announcement 
was brief: the men were dead. 
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y i n 

The Prisoner 

Although tile loss of our second group was a blow, in 

no way did this defeat—and it was that—bring about 
doubts. We were dazed momentarily, but we were also 
preparing additional groups. 

By the spring of 1943, our training of volunteers had 
begun to take effect, and the members of our unit were, 
in their variety of backgrounds, in their human types 
and characteristics, almost a microcosm of all the nations 
fighting for the Allied cause. 

Among those on our roster were two priests: Father 
MacAllindon and Father Stuart. One was a Scotsman and 
the other Irish, both of the Dominican Order with its 
home office in Omaha. Although they were offered a 
good deal of money for their services, their real objective 
was to return to the people they considered their own; 
both converted every cent of pay into clothing, school 
materials and the like for the Kachins. 

These two had a thorny answer to Japanese occupa¬ 

tion forces. 
The Japs were going to arrest them as Englishmen, but 

they were adamant that they were Irish and that Ireland 
was neutral. The Japs released them north of Myitkyina, 
but they knew they were being followed. The same night 
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they turned in for sleep in a Kachin house where there 
was a box of hand grenades and a couple of shotguns. 
When the Japanese started looking through the village 
for the padres, the two threw grenades out of the win¬ 
dows and fired shotguns through the roof. It sounded 
impressive long enough for them to escape into the jun¬ 
gle. They reached an Allied outpost minutes ahead of 
the enemy. We found out about them, and naturally 
sought out their invaluable help. They were only too 
anxious to aid our cause and when one of our men in 
the field, Captain Wilkinson, asked for an interpreter, 
Father MacAllindon volunteered to go. Father Stuart 
later joined Lieutenant Curl of knothead. 

Usually, once our men were in the field, we had no 
way of reaching them save through radio or airdrop. 
There was an urgent need for a third way—landing an 
aircraft—for the loss of personal control of units in 
the field could be solved once and for all with light 
planes. 

We directed both forward and knothead to build air¬ 
strips. They managed it by putting hundreds of natives 
to work, and, leaving nothing to chance, they built nu¬ 
merous dummy bamboo houses which they set on the 
strips. From the air, the strips looked like native villages. 
When a light plane came, it was a matter of minutes 
to remove the houses and quickly make the strip ready 
for landing. Now we had to deliver. The strips were 
there but we had no light aircraft. 

The problem was given to Captain John Raiss, a Wall 
Street broker in civilian life, and he launched into the 
project as though he alone could corner the market in 
A.T. & T. stock. The United States Air Corps had no 
light aircraft in India at the time, so the obvious answer 
was either private Indian sources or the RAF. After a 
bit of preliminary checking Raiss decided the best ap¬ 
proach was to go directly to the RAF. Somehow, he ar¬ 
ranged a meeting with Air Marshal Peirse, head of the 
PAF in India. He took along as a modest token two car¬ 
tons of Camel cigarettes: these, along with John’s cos- 
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mopolitan charm, must have worn down resistance, if there 
was any: within a couple of days the RAF delivered a 
Gypsy Moth to Detachment 101. We were jubilant. She 
was a two-seat biplane of 1925 vintage, in excellent con¬ 
dition; she flew and handled well. There was no mistak¬ 
ing the fact that 101 was in the flying business. 

And in a matter of days we were glad to have the 

plane. 

In the radio shack, there was a shout, “A Jap! We’ve 
got a Jap.” 

A new operation, a few miles north of Myitkyina, had 
just radioed in an urgent message: a Jap fighter plane 
had crashed and they had moved in and captured the 
pilot. He was uninjured. This was an intelligence oppor¬ 
tunity that opened up enormous possibilities for un- 
thought-of-information. Understand that since the initial 
Burma campaign not a single Japanese had been taken 
prisoner in all of southeast Asia. None of what we knew 
of the enemy came from firsthand interrogation. The 
details the pilot could provide I The implications shook 
us all, not so much with surprise as with the challenge 
of getting the prisoner out of Burma. He was a prize 
worth a lot of trouble. 

The Air Corps, for instance, was in foul temper be¬ 
cause Burma seemed to have swallowed up every Japa¬ 
nese aircraft. Many aerial photos had been taken, often 
at great danger to pilots, and still the secret of where 
and how the Japanese were hiding their aircraft had not 
been revealed. They were there, we knew, because they 
attacked the transports flying the Hump in strikingly 
large numbers. The Air Corps had sent us word that they 
would appreciate anything our men in the field could find 
out about the location of the phantom Japanese air bases. 
The same mystery greeted our men. They could not find 
a trace of aircraft on the ground. Now the closely guard¬ 
ed secret of the Japanese air bases in Burma could per¬ 
haps be solved. We were consumed with the necessity 
of bringing the pilot out of Burma. 

THE PRISONER 

But how? The ordinary way would have been to walk 
him out, something that involved time and physical 
strain; and there was always the chance that the patrol 
escorting him would be ambushed. The recovery of the 
pilot was as important to us as it had been to the enemy 
to see that he did not fall in our hands. 

Then the answer opened up. The Gypsy Moth, of 
course. Why had we gotten it in the first place but to 
make speedy contact with field units? The point was 
raised, and correctly, that this first mission involved far 
more daring, far more distance than we had envisioned. 
The prisoner had been captured over three hundred miles 
away, beyond the range of the Gypsy Moth, and in the 
thick jungles and mountains it would take weeks or 
months to build an airfield. Our problem then was to 
move the prisoner to an airfield within the range of the 
airplane. The answer was knotiiead, but this involved a 
move of over a hundred miles behind the lines and 
through Jap-infested territory. But the risk had to be 
taken and instructions were sent to effect the move to 
knothead with the most reliable men and for knothead 

to notify us immediately upon his arrival. 
Carl, who embodied so much energy, and the courage 

that does not falsify danger at hand, made the decision. 
He himself would pilot the Gypsy Moth—along with his 
many talents, he could fly a light plane, a skill he had 
acquired on the Mexican border when he was a Treasury 
Department agent hunting down smugglers. Now we set 
about planning the flight in detail. 

The Gypsy Moth’s fuel tanks at capacity would just 
get the aircraft to knothead at Nawbum. That is: if 
Carl were lucky and did not have to deviate his flight, 
which was all over jungle, most of which was uncharted. 
This meant that for the flight back Carl would need 
fuel; therefore, a sufficient amount was parachuted into 
knothead where they had just completed construction of 
a strip long enough to take the Gypsy Moth. 

When Lieutenant Vince Curl at knothead signaled the 
arrival of the prisoner we learned that he was behaving 
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in the style of a samurai. The prisoner had let it be 
known that he understood why so much effort was going 
into the leveling out of a paddy field; obviously an air¬ 
craft was coming in to take him out. Vince was certain 
the Japanese had an escape attempt in mind. His look was 
restless, as if something were going to happen. He knew 
airplanes and we guessed that in some way he hoped to 
take over the controls, destroy the plane and Carl and 
himself. We absolutely had to figure on his making 
trouble after the plane was in the air. The suicidal tend¬ 
encies of the Japanese, especially a samurai disgraced by 
capture, we recognized with respect, if not awe. 

Our solution was simple; the Japanese would be given a 
strong enough injection to knock him out for the length 
of the trip. As an additional measure of safety, once he 
was asleep he was to be bound to his seat, so that even 
if he returned to consciousness early, he would find his 
arms, hands and legs properly secured. In addition, we 
rigged up a device with a slipknot around the prison¬ 
er’s neck so that if he started breaking loose, Carl could 
pull it tight and strangle him. This was not necessary, 
however, as the plan worked so well that afterward, 
when Carl returned to base, the prisoner was still under 
the slumbering power of the drug. 

When he did come to, he looked us over coolly. You 
could see that the man was no coward. Under the inter¬ 
rogation, he betrayed no sign of giving in; no amount of 
threat or cajoling did any good. The prisoner remained 
silent. After two days of interrogation, the whole thing 
had gotten nowhere; we were exhausted and the prisoner 
stared at us with the same impassive contempt. And still, 
we sensed that he knew many things about those bases. 

We studied his diary and it revealed him as the kind of 
man who only writes down what should go into a diary 
—a personal kind of monologue that is expressed in 
terms that are obscure to all but the author. There was 
also a photograph, showing him standing by his aircraft. 
The picture was clear, and then somebody pointed out 
that the grass in the rear of the plane was irregular and 
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appeared to have holes in it. We used a magnifying 
glass and Sergeant Moree, the photo technician, enlarged 
the picture to bring out the details—the answer to what 
the Japs were doing to hide their planes was no longer a 
mystery. Instead of building revetments around their 
airplanes they had dug holes and covered them with sod. 
The runways leading into these dugouts were also sodded 
so that in an air photo it all looked like a pasture, except 
for a few small shadows. 

We still did not know where the Japanese air base 
was located so we went back to work on the pilot. Fi¬ 
nally, he talked: he was based at the Meiktila air base a 
few miles south of Mandalay. With this information we 
went to the A-2 of the 10th Air Force, Captain Burman, 
and he produced the air photos of Meiktila. Sure 
enough, the odd-looking shadows were there, appearing 
around the edge of the airfield and in nearby cleared 
areas. All told there were about thirty of them. This was 
all the information that was needed. A few days later a 
large flight of B-25’s from Lower Assam bombed and 
strafed Meiktila. It did not take all of the pressure off 
the Hump because the Japs had many other fields: but 
our flyers were subsequently conscious of less pressure, 
fewer attacks. 

Shortly thereafter, operation forward also captured 
a Japanese and Carl flew him out by way of Fort Hertz. 
The prisoner was a private first class who did not have 
much information of immediate military value, but did 
provide a lot of data concerning designations of units in 
Burma and background data on Japan. 

During this period, the addition of new personnel did 
not keep pace with the expansion of operations. During 
one of his trips to the Headquarters of the New Chinese 
Army in India (Chih Hui Pu) Carl had met Captain 
David Hunter. They had much in common: Dave put in 
for a transfer to 101 and, much to his surprise, it was 
approved. Shortly thereafter Lieutenants Tilly, Larsen 
and Peterson and Sergeant Schreiner, a cryptographer, 
joined 101 from OSS in the States and they were greatly 



133 132 THE GUERRILLA POTENTIAL 

needed. Sergeant Hemming, our demolition expert, had 
been hurt when a jeep rolled over on him. Lieutenant 
Peterson was an engineer and wasted no time in taking 
over. Lieutenants Tilly and Larsen spent a short time as 
instructors in the training base and were then sent to the 
field; Tilly to knotiiead and Larsen to forward with 

Wilkinson, now a Major. 
We also received a shipment of seven NCO’s from the 

New York National Guard. Most of them were supply 
and administration specialists and were sorely needed. 
They arrived at Calcutta, and Carl happened to be in 
the area at the time. Captain Little, who was in charge 
of our Calcutta base, had them lined up so Carl could 
get acquainted with them. He went down the line from 
one to another asking, “What is your name, soldier?” 
etc., and got such answers as “Sergeant Banker, sir”; 
“Sergeant Richardson, sir”; etc. Finally he came to one 
sergeant and asked—“What is your name, soldier?” 

His reply was “ssss-ssss-ssss-sergeant ssss-ssss-ssss,” 

and then he nudged the fellow next to him and said, “you 
tell him.” This was Sergeant Straub, who proved to be 
one of the hardest-working and best-liked persons in the 
unit, and, above and beyond that, his occupation as a 
chef in one of the larger hotels in New York made him a 
welcome addition as our mess sergeant. 

During the course of an airdrop from the Dinjan air¬ 
field, John and Carl became acquainted with Major Bill 
Cummings. Bill belonged to the Seagrave Hospital Unit 
but at the time was assisting in a supply drop to the V 
Force (a combined British-American unit formed by 
General Stilwell to recruit and train native personnel to 
be used on reconnaissance patrols, flank patrols and 
scouts for the combat forces). Bill did not agree with 
some of Colonel Seagrave’s policies in handling members 
of the native staff of the hospital unit and felt it best if 
he were transferred elsewhere. He asked for a transfer to 
101 and it was approved immediately by General Stil- 
well’s Headquarters. Bill had been born and raised in 
Burma, educated in the States, and was a graduate of 
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Purdue. He was the kind of Burma expert we could use. 
Through the courtesy of Lieutenant General Strate- 

meyer, the United States commander of the newly formed 
Eastern Air Command, we were suddenly blessed with 
another light plane, an L-S. A few days after it arrived, 
Carl flew it to Fort Hertz where he stayed overnight, 
gassed up, then headed for the strip which Major Wil¬ 
kinson had built at Ngumla. On his approach for the land¬ 
ing, he overshot the strip. He gave it the throttle to make 
another pass but, in the high altitude, he lost flying speed 
and suddenly crashed into a bamboo jungle about half a 
mile beyond the field. He was shaken up, but not hurt, 
and after a couple of days he hit the trail and walked 
back to Fort Hertz. It took ten days, but it seemed 
longer because of the loss of the plane. 

For the Fourth of July, we put on a party for the bene¬ 
fit of our friends, the local British tea planters. They 
had devoted a great deal of time and effort in our be¬ 
half, always in the best of moods, building camps and 
roads, supplying food and labor, and responding with 

answers to any number of problems. 
Together wc spent that evening toasting the President, 

the King and each other’s good fortune in working and 

fighting side by side. 
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IX 

By the winter of 1943-1944 the Japs in the Hukawng 
Valley were becoming increasingly active with their pa¬ 
trols into the Naga Hills. Headquarters of the Northern 
Combat Area Command (NCAC) asked us to organize 
several forward outposts to report on their strength anc 
locations. Three teams of five men each were organized 
from the group of Anglo-Burmese trained at Nazira. 

L Group under Skittles, a Chinese from Rangoon, was 
established in the area of Tagap The group escorted 
Major General Raymond Wheeler, Chief of Service and 
Supply in the CBI Theater, on his initial reconnaissance 

of the forward trail of the Ledo Road, but they encoun¬ 
tered a strong Japanese patrol and were subsequently 
withdrawn. Robby’s M Group was to go into the area of 
Taro but their Naga porters, fearful of losing their heads 
or their lives to other Nagas, wanted to return home, 

so this group was also withdrawn. 
Further to the north in the valley of the Tarung Hka 

(river) there was an unprotected route into the Brah¬ 
maputra River Valley in India. Into this gap was sent J 
Group, named after its Anglo-Burmese leader, Jocko. I he 
group advanced about seventy-five miles into the I aiung 
Valley and located a base. They set up outposts that 
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stood off small enemy probes, and within a short time the 
Japanese pulled back, believing that they were confront¬ 
ed by a much larger force. 

J Group had an odd radio hookup. Their forward out¬ 
post was located at Miao about a hundred miles from 
Ledo, where they wanted the reports delivered. However, 
the communications systems of the 101 field units and 
the Army system were entirely different. Our Nazira base 
camp was about a hundred and fifty miles south of Ledo. 
So J Group communicated with the Nazira radio station, 
from whence the information was immediately relayed 
to Ledo. We did not realize it at the time, but this pro¬ 
cedure had the primary benefit of security for 101 com¬ 
munications and, equally as important, it gave 101 com¬ 
plete control of all of its field operations. 

J Group led a lonesome existence. There were only a 
handful of natives in the entire valley. After about three 
months its usefulness was over and it was withdrawn to 
base camp. 

The results attained by these three groups were in¬ 
significant; however the lessons learned from them 
were highly important. Our mission was to raise and 
organize guerrilla forces. These operations dramatically 
pointed out that this could not be done along the periph¬ 
ery or front lines. It could only be accomplished well be¬ 
hind the enemy lines and thereafter all of our effort was 
exerted in that direction. 

Captain Oscar Milton from the initial “A” Group was 
also put back into operation. Oscar was English through 
and through, an adventurous spirit ready for anything. 
He selected two of the four young Kachins who had 
accompanied him on the A operation and we provided 
him a radio operator. After being flown into Fort Hertz, 
his party proceeded due east and set up a field station. 
We had always wondered why the Japs did not put on a 
drive to take over Fort Hertz and its airfield, which they 
could have done with a little extra effort. Since we be¬ 
lieved that they would do this sooner or later, Oscar 
was directed to set up a station, a redoubt near the 
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headwaters of the Nmai Hka, in order that other field 
units could fall back to it in the event the Japs did take 
over Fort Hertz. He set up the field base, but after a 
while it became dubious that the Japs would try to take 
over Fort Hertz. Consequently, he was directed to cache 
the spare radio set and other camp equipment and pro¬ 
ceed south along the Nmai Hka and continue south 
through the hill tract toward Bhamo. 

Oscar had the ability to live with the natives and like 
it. With no Caucasian companionship, he stayed in the 
jungle for a solitary period of almost nine months and 
we heard no complaints from him. There were not many 
Japs in this remote region. Oscar’s agents fanned out to 
the south and there still were no Japs to be reported. 
Even this negative intelligence was valuable. 

In the same way, we sent numerous teams into areas 
where we could take nothing for granted until reports 
from Detachment 101 agents in the field confirmed or 
denied the presence of Japanese activity in a specific 
area. 

To augment our now far-flung operations, a boat fi¬ 
nally arrived for use along the southern coasts. Though 
not a PT, it was almost as good, sleek-looking, about 
forty feet in length and powered by a 250-horsepower 
engine. She carried out her first mission in November 
1943. What happened can perhaps best be described by 
the commendation sent to 101 by General Howard C. 
Davidson of the 10th Air Force: 

APO 465 
8th December, 1943 

SUBJECT: Commendation. 
TO *. Commanding General, Rear Echelon, U. S. 

Army Forces, CBI, APO 885. 

1. The Tenth Air Force wishes to express its apprecia¬ 
tion for the action performed by Col. Carl F. Eifler and 
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the members of his command in the rescue of a B-24 
crew shot down in the Bay of Bengal west of Rangoon. 

2. This B-24 was badly shot up and the aileron con¬ 
trols completely shot away. Two motors on one side were 
out, and when the pilot used sufficient power to keep the 
airplane in level flight, torque of the engines would push 
down the wing on their side to such an extent that the 
airplane could not continue on its course. It crash landed 
on the water, and the crew took to their rubber life rafts. 
An unsuccessful search was made by a USAF Catalina 
the next morning at daybreak. On the same day, an RAF 
Wellington, carrying an extra life raft, food and water 
to be dropped to the stranded crew, was successful in 
its mission, and a further report was made back to this 
Headquarters. 

3. Col. Eifler was in this Headquarters in connection 
with an attempted rescue mission being carried out for a 
fighter pilot forced down on a previous mission. Upon 
learning details of the stranded B-24 crew, he immedi¬ 
ately started making plans to launch his rescue boat 
which was still in a cradle and organize a search and 
rescue mission. After overcoming many obstacles, Col. 
Eifler and crew departed on the following morning at 
daybreak on a 450-mile trip deep into enemy waters and 
within sight of enemy shore line to attempt to rescue this 
crew. This USAF Catalina was dispatched the following 
night to search again for this crew, and after a short 
period, sighted Col. Eifler’s boat and the dinghy at 
about the same time members of the rescue launch sight¬ 
ed the airplane and the dinghy. 

4. The B-24 crew was immediately taken aboard the 
rescue launch, and medical aid was given to members 
of this crew on the return journey. The crew was suc¬ 
cessfully brought into Chittagong and later flown to 
Calcutta and hospitalized. They were in fairly good con¬ 
dition except for one man who had some fingers shot 
off by the attack of the Japanese fighters. 

5. I wish to commend Col. Eifler and the members of 
his command for this splendid action and the efficiency 
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and speed at which it was carried out, resulting in the 
rescue of this crew and raising the morale of all combat 
units under this command. 

HOWARD C. DAVIDSON 1 
Brig. Gen., U.S.A., 
Commanding 

The operation supported those who advocated expand¬ 
ing our work to Southern Burma. Carl conferred with 
Lieutenant General Irwin, the British Commander of the 
Eastern Army. The supply route to the Japanese force on 
the Akyab front was over a single road from Prome, 
through Taungup pass. The blocking of this road would 
restrict the Jap resupply to sea routes. 

General Irwin asked 101 to establish an operation in 
the area to gather information and cut the road. Carl 
sent word to get a group organized to land by boat on 
Ramree Island. Ramree is about sixty miles long and 
about twenty-five miles wide and sparsely habitated by 
Burmese and Arakanese. The team, which was termed 
W Group, was selected from the Anglo-Burmese group at 
Nazira. All were familiar with the island and ap¬ 
proached the mission like a returning army. They could 
swim, and they were graduates of our training program. 

A Royal Navy submarine was to get them to the island, 
and so urgent was the mission that only after they were 
aboard ship was there time to show them how to ma¬ 
neuver the rubber landing boats that would carry them 
from ship to beach. The cramped quarters aboard the 
submarine made a bedlam of the instruction period in 
how to handle the landing boats. 

When they arrived close to the island, it was night 
and foggy. Two rubber boats composed the landing 
armada—boats to be buried as soon as they landed. 
The submarine resurfaced, the captain was reluctant to 
move in close to the shore for fear of the fog, and the 
scene as the men got into the rubber boats was un¬ 
fortunately comic. Carl was sure the boats could not 

be buried. There was a solution: bring them back. He 
decided to take one boat carrying two agents and equip¬ 
ment; after that Carl was to return the two boats 
through the surf to the submarine. The sea had turned 
rough as they cast off. They somehow landed the second 
boat without incident, but Carl’s craft hit a trough in 
the labyrinth of fog, then poised on breakers. They were 
pounded through the surf. Carl’s boat took a lethal pitch, 
he was thrown out, hitting his head against a submerged 
rock. Each man somehow in this desperate moment 
held on, Carl was pulled back in, groggy from the blow, 
and in some obscure and miraculous way they waded to 
shore, saving a good part of the equipment. Their faces 
revealed the weariness of the moment, their clothes were 
drenched, their hands cut and bleeding. They were never¬ 
theless confident. Carl took the two rubber boats back 
through the surf to the submarine six hundred yards 
out. The fog grew thicker, but he made it. In a clear 
voice, as he got on the submarine, he said, “Ruddy 
good boys we put on that island.” 

For the boys, danger stretched out across the beach 
and on into the jungle, suffused with an unearthly light. 
They made it though, reaching a sanctuary of dense 
undergrowth where they spent the night. 

They did not look back. They should have. On the 
beach, a wave washed in and deposited a lone hand 
battery cell on the beach. It lay there, glistening—as it 
was found by a fisherman walking the beach early the 
following morning. Inevitably he was suspicious and 
turned it over to the Japanese. The forgetfulness sprang 
a manhunt, the boys were followed, routes blocked, until 
there was no way out. They never came on the air. Later, 
we learned they were shot standing close together, faces 
covered with mud. Even then, they were extraordinarily 
together and shouting defiance to the enemy. 

Carl’s head injury did not clear up. He complained of 
headaches. He would hold his head and admit agony. 
He emptied bottles of aspirin and sipped tumblers of 
bourbon, but the prescriptions failed. He finally con- 
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ceded that he should check into the hospital, where he 
was able to get at least temporary relief. 

The tragic silence of the radio from the island left us 
face to face with another loss, with the biting fact 
that we had made mistakes. Now we made another 
survey to direct us in correct ways. 

We led ourselves, step by step, through what we would 
have to do—find men and equipment for safer, surer 
landings by sea. 

When he got out of the hospital, Carl still remained 
hopeful of getting operations established in Southern 
Burma. He and John planned another operation with its 
target the tin mines along the Tenasserim strip of the 
Malay Peninsula, about two hundred miles south along 
the coast from Rangoon and about halfway between 
Tavoy and Moulmein. Still another team was selected out 
of the Anglo-Burmese group. It consisted of five men 
with a highly competent individual as its leader. 

They were outfitted in the base camp at Nazira and 
Pop Milligan gave them a short but intensive period of 
training on parachute operations. Meanwhile, John Cough¬ 
lin had made arrangements with the Air Corps to have 
the drop made by B-24’s stationed at Ranigungh about 
one hundred miles north of Calcutta. When all was set, 
the team with its equipment was moved from the base 
camp to Ranigungh and turned over to John. 

The operation had been planned for the first full 
moon in September. A section of beach over two hundred 
yards wide and nearly a mile long was selected as the 
drop site. It appeared to be ideal. The drop went off 
on schedule and John indicated that it was executed 
exactly as planned and he had every reason to hope 
for success. However, that was not to be. We had 
every one of the base radio stations, plus an extra we had 
set up in Chittagong, listening for them to come on the 
air with the radio, but they never did. 

We had arranged emergency panels and smoke signals 
with them in the event their radio did not function, 
so John asked me to see if I could locate them at 
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the alternate control point. John must have known that 
I was about worn out. Those of us back at the base 
camp had been working day and night for almost a 
year, building camps, receiving groups, revising the 
training program, organizing, equipping, supplying team 
in the field, and after every mistake, going over every 
action that could have been done better and could have 
saved lives. 

I knew very little about the lay of the land in the 
Tenasserim area so I asked Captain Red Maddox who 
had been raised in the area and had been with the 
initial “A” Group to accompany me. We would be 
operating in and out of the American air base at Rani¬ 
gungh, so Red donned the uniform of an American 
enlisted man to avoid attracting attention. The flight 
from the air base to the alternate point was a long 
one, about twelve hundred miles each way, and over 
the waters of the Bay of Bengal. We tried it four times 
on alternate days and each day we ran into huge fronts 
of monsoon clouds. On all four occasions we were within 
fifty to sixty miles of shore when we encountered a 
wall of clouds. The pilots did not want to fly into 
this on instruments for fear of flying into the mountain 
range which paralleled the shoreline. Each time we 
had to turn back. On each of these trips we took off 
from the air base at about four or five o’clock in 
the morning and returned after dark, so it was any¬ 
thing but a joy ride. 

The second day I felt miserable. I started going 
through alternate spells of chills and fever, one minute 
under ten blankets and the next in the bomb bay to 
cool off. I had malaria. Red was an old hand at this 
sort of thing and kept giving me large quantities of 
quinine. I survived and we made three more search 
operations. We found no sign of our men. Now I found 
myself sick in a different, dark, lonely way. 

After four failures, the air base commander told me 
that he needed the airplane for other missions. He finally 
consented to run one more mission using three airplanes 
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and combining the search with a bombing raid on the 
Kanbauk tin mines. On this one everything went off 
perfectly. We broke out of the clouds about fifty miles 
from the shoreline and proceeded inland to the 
designated point. It was easy to locate, and all three 
aircraft stayed in the area almost an hour, but we 
were never able to pick up any form of emergency 
signals. In all the interrogations of later periods we 
hoped anxiously that someone would reveal what had 
happened to the group. We never learned a thing, even 
to this day. 

After the search the flight set a course on the Kanbauk 
tin mines, which were located on an inlet at the base 
of a steep mountain. The bombing was done at low level 
by coming in through a pass and almost immediately 
dropping the load. As the bombs from the lead plane 
hit, a most unusual sight was created. Huge geysers of 
water 200 to 400 feet high started spurting into the 
air, some of them quite near the second and third planes. 
What had happened was that bombs had hit the aque¬ 
duct bringing water off the mountain to the electric 
plant near the mine. The bombs had cracked the line 
and the water pressure was forcing fountains of water 
straight into the air. The other bombers had to dodge 
around these fountains but managed to make perfect hits 
on the main buildings. This part of the mission was 
successful. 

After the bombing run the flight leader took his head¬ 
ing across the Bay of Bengal toward home base. The 
course led across the southern tip of Burma, and as we 
passed the delta area of the Irrawaddy, in the distance 
we could see the sun slanting off the Shwe Dagon, Ran¬ 
goon’s fantastic gilt-covered pagoda. I felt a silent confi¬ 
dence that one day we would get there, that in the sum¬ 
ming up of 101 the forlorn facts of missions destroyed 
would be more than compensated for by the accomplished 
missions that did not die away. 

The next day Red and I started driving toward Cal¬ 
cutta, a distance of 85 or 90 miles, which we had ex- 
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pected to make in three to four hours. It turned out to 
be one of the most horrible experiences that either of us 
had ever gone through. The area of Ranigungh-Assinsol 
has a high incidence of elephantiasis, a disease carried 
by a species of mosquitoes. For some reason it seems 
most prevalent among men. This day, however, it was 
beyond belief. Nearly every male we passed had a thick 
trunklike arm or leg and some of them had testicles 
swollen like pumpkins. Seeing this ravaged humanity was, 
in itself, almost enough to make one sick. 

This however, was mild in comparison to the effects 
of the famine which we soon encountered, concentrated 
with such deadliness that it was like seeing skeletons 
striding the earth. It became increasingly worse as we 
neared Calcutta. 

India, and especially the provinces of Bengal and 
Behar, did not raise enough rice to meet the needs of the 
huge population. In peacetime this shortage of rice was 
alleviated by imports from Burma, but with the war this 
source was cut off and Indian stocks had been depleted. 
The monsoon rains of 1943 had been inordinately 
heavy; crops were flooded out and villages were isolated. 
The peasants were starving. And as we went on, we saw 
a cruel paradox. In some places there was food, kept 
sealed by calculation. 

Many of the shopkeepers capitalized on the famine and 
the plight of the people. In some cases we saw whole 
warehouses full of rice, but the merchants had raised 
their prices from a normal rate of about twenty rupees 
for a mound (eighty-four pounds) bag of rice to eighty 
and one hundred rupees, which few, if any, of these 
starving people could afford. 

We went on into the prolonged lane of death, roads 
often lined with corpses like a thicket of disaster on both 
sides. Red and I must have seen nearly twenty thousand 
bodies on our trip, and when our auto lumbered into 
Calcutta, the wind reeked with the evil smell. 

Conservative estimates showed that two to three mil¬ 
lion people died in this famine; other estimates ranged 
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from four to six million; while one estimate put it at ten I 
to twelve million. Nobody will ever know which figures | 
were the most valid, but even the lowest was bad enough. 
A landscape such as that, steeped in death, a land desic- J 
cated by war and its effects, comes back to me now and | 
again these days, a choking reminder of what might ! 
happen in the aftermath of an all-out atomic war. ; "The Yellow Rose of Burma" 

The year 1943 was drawing to a close and we had rea¬ 
son to be grateful. In Northern Burma nearly every oper¬ 
ation was successful and was developing according to 
plan. All told, we had four operations in existence and 
two more on the drawing board ready to be put into 
effect. However, the situation in Central and Southern 
Burma was not so bright. We had tried four group opera¬ 
tions and had failed in all four. 

At the same time, the Air Transport Command was 
undergoing its severest test in the CBI Theater. As a 
result of Madame Chiang Kai-shek’s appearance before 
the assembled United States Senate and House of Repre¬ 
sentatives, every effort was made to increase the volume 
of war materials being provided for the Chinese. The 
principal result was that the new C-46 was being pressed - 
into service across the Hump before it had been thorough¬ 
ly flight-tested. Unfortunately, the aircraft had numer- > 
ous bugs: lack of defrosters on the carburetors, gas trans¬ 
fer system failures, and undependable engines. 

One could hardly blame the crews for being on edge.. 
Some openly revolted at flying the Hump. In their fligh^j 
if an engine missed once, they bailed out immediately.^ 
It was better to parachute into hostile Burma than 
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take a chance on riding the plane into the jungle. During 
this period, units of Detachment 101 rescued over one 
hundred and twenty-five crew members. They were 
heartily glad to find our agents in the remote regions 
of North Burma. So many were being picked up that 
our station at Fort Hertz was crowded with rescued air¬ 
crews, and we jokingly accused Major Aitken of running 
a hotel there. As the rescues became more frequent, we 
sent in a lieutenant and some medical personnel to help 
him out. The lieutenant, Ted Barnes, was a marvelous 
addition. He personally had a hand in the rescue of 
about twenty-five airmen. 

Here, it should be added that once the bugs were 
worked out of the C-46 it became a highly reliable air¬ 
plane and did yeoman service on the Hump. Because of 
its ruggedness, most pilots preferred it to the other 
planes. 

Of these who bailed out, Detachment 101 rescued per¬ 
haps 25 to 35 per cent. Some were killed in landing, 
others were captured by the Japs and an unhappily large 
percentage roamed about, became lost and died of starv¬ 
ation. The following brief of one of the rescue operations 
is somewhat representative. 

When C-46 #634 enroute from Kunming to Chabua 
rapidly lost altitude and failed to respond to emergency 
measures the pilot ordered the crew to bail out. Lieu¬ 
tenant Starling and Corporal Wyatt bailed out seconds 
before the transport plane crashed into a mountain side 
and exploded with the other two members still on board 
the aircraft. Corporal Wyatt was badly burned when the 
plane exploded against the mountain just after he bailed 
out. Though both men encountered different natives, 
in each case the natives were very friendly. They under¬ 
stood the word American. Kachins hid Wyatt in a cave 
and treated his wounds with native poultices. The enemy 
was in the immediate vicinity. At one time Corporal 
Wyatt looked out of the cave and watched a party of 
five Japanese soldiers search the home of his benefactor, 
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which was located barely fifty feet away. At this time 
the natives with knives drawn stood by to protect him 
should the Japanese discover the cave. Runners carried 
his messages to the nearest Allied outpost and returned 
with medical supplies and an air mattress. Risking their 
own lives the natives smuggled Wyatt out of the cave 
and carried him to the nearest Allied outpost, Ngumla, 
where he remained for three weeks recuperating. Lieuten¬ 
ant Starling, who landed on a mountain north of Nan- 
chang Hka (river), about ten miles northwest of Hpimaw, 
was also fed and given shelter by the natives and taken 
to Ngumla. 

One fate that befell some of these crew members was 
unbelievably gruesome. As they parachuted into the tall 
trees, often 100 to 150 feet high and with huge trunks, 
their bodies traveled beyond the upper foliage, but the 
parachute was stopped in its descent, caught upon the 
branches. A man caught in this position, and hurt as 
most were, would stay suspended in jump harness more 
than one hundred feet off the ground, like a puppet. The 
man could neither drop down nor climb up. The result 
was a slow, agonizing death. In several cases, by the 
time 101 people located the hopelessly hung-up pilot, 
ants had eaten away so much flesh that all they found 
was a skeleton hanging in a tree. 

Suddenly, to add to disaster, the weather began play¬ 
ing havoc in late 1943. To increase the amount of sup¬ 
plies delivered to China, night flights had begun; but 
just after this ground fogs began to make their appear¬ 
ance on some of the Assam air bases. These fogs, some¬ 
times stationary, sometimes shifting, fifteen feet in depth, 
spread over the ground with amazing speed. From the 
air, they looked like the flow of an ocean tide. The 
danger was great. Numerous airplanes crashed in the 
process of landing; and this, of course, did not enhance 
morale. 

One night the Chabua airport was encircled by thirty 
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airplanes trying to land. Their roar was ominous, their 
signals for clearance desperate. Captain Hugh Wild, one 
of the old-time pilots, took over as operations control 
officer and from the tower started talking them in. Under 
the circumstances he did very well; eighteen were brought 
in safely, seven crashed on landing with varying degrees 
of damage and five of them ran out of gas and the crews 
bailed out. A few days later Hugh flew a load of supplies 
into Fort Hertz for us and took off, gaily waving good¬ 
bye. He had to make a routine flight around a mountain 
and through a pass. The winds were always fierce and, 
with the mystery of such things, that day blew him to 
doom, a downdraft forcing him into the side .of a moun¬ 
tain. He had been close to 101 and having him killed 
was another sort of failure. It hit us deep in the stomach. 

We performed two other services for the ATC, in order 
to take some of the pressure off the aircrews. The first 
thing was a course in jungle survival training. The crew 
members had little knowledge, strange as it may seem, 
of woods. Many of them could not read a hand compass, 
though familiar of course with the compass in their air¬ 
craft. They lived a military life removed from jungle 
warfare, and they had to be taught from the start. For 
example, one of the first rules for a person who is lost 
is to follow a stream downhill. In Northern Burma, how¬ 
ever, going downhill meant entering the lowlands occu¬ 
pied by Shans and Burmans who, in most instances, 
would turn them over to the Japs. So they had to be 
taught to do the reverse, that is, walk upstream into the 
hills, the habitat of the Kachins, where they were most 
likely to get assistance. We set up several such courses. 
They lived in the jungle for a period of two weeks with 
nothing but rations, survival tools and a blanket. This 
gave them a tremendous amount of confidence and un¬ 
doubtedly saved hundreds of lives. We trained the leaders 
first and they in turn set up their own survival courses 
within their units, so that in a relatively short time this 
training was extended to aircrews flying the Hump. 

Another service we extended to the Air Corps was a 
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by-product of 101 radio communications. Some of our 
radio operators were old hands at the business and in 
their spare time monitored the traffic between the air 
bases and the aircraft. The ATC had lost several planes 
setting down through the weather and crashing into 
mountains for no explainable reason. As a result of moni¬ 
toring, our operators were able to pinpoint two stations 
which were operating on the right frequency but seemed 
to be located in the wrong places. They were giving the 
signals for DF or homing stations, and the pilots, com¬ 
bating all kinds of weather, were glad to pick up their 
homing signal to guide them into their base. A thorough 
check proved that these stations were very cleverly oper¬ 
ated Japanese deception stations and were so located 
that when the planes homed on them they crashed into 
the nearby mountains. Captain Huston and his radio 
operators were able to warn the ATC of the presence 
of these two stations so that they could instruct their 
crews and change frequencies. Shortly thereafter the Jap 
stations went off the air and the crashes ceased. 

The fellow who gave the survival course for 101 was 
an Anglo-Burmese of better than average size, six feet 
one and about a hundred and eighty pounds, whom we 
called Rocky. His ability with guns, rifle or shotgun, was 
uncanny. I have considered myself a reasonably good 
shot, particularly with the shotgun, but I always enjoyed 
hunting with Rocky just to see him shoot. I was with him 
on several jungle drives for green pigeons, jungle fowl, 
pheasants and wild boar and I don’t recall ever seeing 
him miss a shot. 

Rocky was well known throughout Burma for his 
knowledge of the jungle and his use of firearms. All of 
his life had been spent in the jungle, and he looked upon 
it as home. He had killed so many tigers, leopards and 
other wild game that his ability was legendary. On one 
unfortunate occasion, however, when he was out shooting 
with an old, dear friend, for no apparent reason Rocky’s 
mind went blank. He looked at the friend and saw some 
horrible, frightening apparition—a sort of werewolf—■ 
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Rocky opened up with his gun and shot his friend be¬ 
tween the eyes. He was arrested, and it seemed best that 
he be committed to a mental institution in Rangoon. 
During the Second World War, he was still in the insti¬ 
tution at the time extensive rioting and pillaging spread 
in Rangoon, prior to Japanese entry into the city. It 
was easy for the inmates to break down the doors of the 
institution. Rocky went with them. He headed north and 
joined the retreating, panic-stricken population. He min¬ 
gled with the British units and eventually, when he 
reached Myitkyina and the Triangle area, he posed as a 
Burma Army captain and did a commendable job of 
organizing parts of the Kachin Levies. 

When the Indian Army Headquarters in New Delhi 
and the governor of Burma made available to 101 the 
military personnel for the initial “A” Group they also 
sent us Rocky. However, before he reached us the British 
had discovered who he was and withdrew his commission. 
But since he was already at Nazira and seemed a decent 
sort of chap, we decided to keep him for what he was 
worth. Captain Maddox had known him before the war 
and told us his entire story, including his good points 
as well as his weaknesses. For obvious reasons, they did 
not want him on the “A” Group operation, but suggested 
that if we ever wanted to teach people about the jungle, 
Rocky was without a peer. At the time he had only one 
weakness, and that was his fear of the Japs. He must 
have picked this up during his flight from them in Burma, 
because it was a form of manic phobia. At the slightest 
mention of Japs he would become nervous and almost 
frantic. I tried everything I knew to reassure him and at 
times he seemed to lose his fears. He did an outstanding 
job of organizing and running our survival course, per¬ 
haps a better job than anyone else could have done, and 
he was the subject of numerous letters of appreciation 
and commendation. He was an expert on the tiger and 
could spot its spoor with uncanny sense. My own hope 
was some day to bag a tiger, so I listened avidly to all 
of Rocky’s tales. Such luck I was never granted. 
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But there wasn’t too much time for thoughts of tigers, 
especially the day three prominent people were to be 
gotten out of the Naga Hills. They were Eric Sevareid, 
then a war correspondent, Jack Service of the State De¬ 
partment and Duncan Lee of OSS. The engine of the 
airplane returning to India from China started to cut 
out, and the pilot ordered the passengers to bail out. 
They landed in the jungle and, with the aid of some of 
the local Nagas, were able to assemble. The pilot mean¬ 
while was able to get the engine smoothed out. He flew 
on to his base. An air search followed and the three men 
were located by their panel display. The ATC borrowed 
Sergeant Milligan from 101, and he dropped supplies to 
them along with maps and directions to trails leading 
out to base camp. Two days later the colonel who headed 
the ATC Air Medical Evacuation Section parachuted into 
the group to give them any medical attention needed and, 
so prepared, they trekked out to Mokachung where they 
were picked up by jeep and brought to our camp, ar¬ 
riving in good physical condition, not too much the worse 
for wear. The ATC did a fine job on this rescue opera¬ 
tion. 

About 50 per cent of all of the agent personnel lost 
by 101 during the entire Burma campaign were Anglo- 
Burmese. Some knew insecurity and lacked self-confidence 
because of their mixed parentage; other shortcomings 
may have been in the training, and possibly some errors 
were made in operational planning. Yet, despite all this, 
none of these fellows once refused to take a mission. On 
the contrary, every one of them went into operations at 
least once and some of them went behind the lines three, 
four and five times. In the aggregate they served their 
country and the Allied cause in a most admirable manner, 
and we are indebted to them. 

Sometimes in the evenings and on Sunday a few of 
us would drive over to their camp to have a meal with 
them and pass the time of day. They loved to sit around 
a campfire in the evening singing songs, putting on 
little skits and other acts. They all seemed to have a 
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natural flair for entertainment. One of the songs they 
sang as a group was “The Yellow Rose of Burma” with 

the following words: 

YELLOW ROSE OF BURMA 
I’m a fellow that was born in Burma and I’ll sing to 

you a song . 
Of a Burmese girl in Mandalay on good old Burma 

ground. 
She’s a young and charming little maid, her age is 

ten and eight 
And she smiles at everyone that passes through her 

little gate. 

Chorus: She’s my Yellow Rose of Burma that the Bur¬ 
mese never knew 

Her eyes they shine like diamonds that sparkle 
in the dew. 

You can talk to me of Calcutta girls or the 
girls from Bangalore, 

But the Yellow Rose of Burma beats the whole 
darn lot and more. 

Very soon I’m going back to Burma on a bright and 

sunny day, 
Without any leave and any pay I’ll get there any way. 
And the Calcutta girl can go to hell for I have a 

story to tell 
To my Yellow Rose of Burma and to Burma I belong. 

None of us had ever heard the tune so we assumed it 
was original. It was not until “The Yellow Rose of Texas” 
was revived in the 1950’s that we realized it had not been 
their own composition. In any event the music, and the 
lyrics fitted well with 101 and everybody in the outfit 

knew it and sang it. 

Before 1943 ended, we proceeded with plans to ex¬ 
pand 101 operations in Northern Burma. These plans 
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included four things: first, to establish a new field base 
camp in the Pidaung Forest Preserve located at the apex 
of a triangle with Myitkyina and Mogaung as a base- 
second, to start another group in the Chindwin River 
Valley between the Hukawng Valley and the Imphal 
Front; third, to get an operation started in the Lashio- 
Mandalay area; and fourth, to strengthen the other 
groups already in the field. 

For the Pidaung operation two Anglo-Burmese, Lieu¬ 
tenants Patrick Quinn and Dennis Francis, from the initial 
“A” Group, were selected as leaders. These two officers 
had been raised together in a small village on the Ir¬ 
rawaddy River named Shwegu gale’ about midway be¬ 
tween Bhamo and Katha. They were an unusual pair. 
In many respects they differed greatly, for one was quiet 
and reserved while the other was gregarious and aggres¬ 
sive, but they were the closest of friends and almost in¬ 
separable. Pat was the older by a few months and mili¬ 
tarily was the senior, so we considered him the group 
leader, although they both looked upon it as a form of 
dual command. At the time the operation started in 
November 1943, Dennis was in Calcutta on a recruiting 
job for us so the initial job fell upon Pat. He selected 
one of the native radio operators who had been trained 
in the base camp and two other Kachins to accompany 
him. 

Pat and his three companions were flown into Fort 
Hertz, where Captain Aitken and Lieutenant Barnes 
arranged porters for them. Then they slipped through the 
Japanese lines and after a ten-day march arrived in the 
Pidaung Forest Preserve. Pat made a hasty survey of the 
area and decided to establish their field base in a small 
village by the name of Arang. In this location he was 
surrounded by Japanese bases. It was about thirty miles 
from Myitkyina and Mogaung, which had relatively large 
Japanese garrisons, about twenty miles west of Nsopzup, 
a large supply base and hospital area, and about twenty 
miles south of Ritpong where the Japs had an outpost 
of 300 to 500 men. We assigned the operation the code 
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name pat, obviously after the name of its nominal leader. 
Lieutenant Francis arrived back at Nazira at about 
Christmastime. A few days later he was on his way to 
join pat. 

It was necessary to delay setting up the second new 
base, in the Chindwin River Valley area, because we 
lacked a competent leader. Captain Red Maddox, a vet¬ 
eran of the “A” Group who had also participated in the 
search flights to the Malay Peninsula, was finally se¬ 
lected to head the operation. The personnel chosen by 
Red to form his group consisted of one Anglo-Burmese, 
a Burmese radio operator and three Kachins. We allowed 
him six weeks to complete the field training of the group. 
The land route to the proposed operational area was one 
hundred and fifty miles long; the answer was to infil¬ 
trate them by parachute. This operation was known as 
tramp. 

A group of five Anglo-Burmese had been recruited and 
trained as a unit to set up a base in the Lashio-Mandalay 
area. They were known as the hate group. It was de¬ 
cided that the best way to infiltrate them was to use 
a land route from the China side. We flew them to Kun¬ 
ming and started them down the Salween River Valley. 
Communications with them were excellent even though 
they were seven hundred miles away. But it was neither 
the Japanese nor natural barriers that sabotaged this 
group. We soon discovered that bands of Chinese war 
lords were placing every possible barrier in the way of 
the hate group. In the final analysis they wanted to be 
paid to guarantee safe passage through their territory. 
Control by the Nationalist Government over the local 
leaders was nominal at best, and the war lords practiced 
war or bribery as they pleased. The first demands on 
hate were small, but the shakedowns became increasingly 
large and the situation became unbearable. The Chinese 
Headquarters could do nothing to stop it, so, after about 
three weeks, the group was ordered out of the field. They 
returned to Nazira for additional training and possible 

infiltration by air at a later date. 

155 “the yellow rose op Burma” 

The final action, that of building up the groups al¬ 
ready in the field, was carried on continuously as re¬ 
sources would permit. However, our resources were quite 
limited. We were halfway around the world from our 
basic source of supplies, the OSS home office in Wash¬ 
ington. They were responsive to our requests, but the 
delay from the time we requested an item until its receipt 
was anywhere from three to six months. The SOS Ad¬ 
vance Section at Chabua assisted us in every way possible, 
and we supplemented this through purchases by our own 
supply office which had recently been established in Cal¬ 
cutta. Even so, the supply situation in those early days 
was such that we had to scrounge and live off the land. 
The majority of our meals were native dishes, curries and 
the like. 

Our personnel situation was making slow progress. We 
had started off with twenty American personnel arriving 
in India in July 1942. A year and a half later, in late 
1943, our gains had been offset by losses, and our per¬ 
sonnel strength stood at only twenty-five Americans. Con¬ 
sidering the extent and scope of our operations, we were 
stretched to the absolute limit and simply could not ex¬ 
pand operations until we received some trained, qualified 
personnel. Our policy, however, was to give the maximum 
to the field in terms of personnel, supplies, etc., which 
meant that those remaining in the base camp would have 
to work just that much harder. 

In this period, however, much was done to improve 
operations in the field. The flow of intelligence became 
so heavy that it severely overloaded the radio circuits 
and priorities had to be established to insure the trans¬ 
mission of important information. 

By October 1943, we had in the field a total of thirty- 
five men, American, English, Anglo-Burmese, and others. 
Twenty of these people had parachuted into operations. 
Captain Sherman (Pete) Joost joined 101 in October and 
he and Pop Milligan made successful supply drops to 
the units in the field. 

In November we were helped by the arrival of several 
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new volunteers from the States: Lieutenant Gorin and 
Sergeant Pendergast took over 101 Finance, Lieutenant 
Mykland usn set up a 101 Finance Office in Calcutta; 
Ensign Shepard established a 101 Maritime Base in 
Chittagong, and Pharmacist’s Mate Cloyd was sent to 
Fort Hertz to provide medical aid to the ever-increasing 
number of Air Corps personnel being rescued. Cloyd’s 
arrival permitted the release of Captain Aitken to return 
to Nazira to take over direction of intelligence operations, 
and Lieutenant Barnes took over our station in Fort 
Hertz. Commander Luce (a Navy medical officer), Lieu¬ 
tenant Damen (a signal officer), and sixteen Anglo-Bur- 
mese were dispatched by land routes to join Major Wil¬ 
kinson at FORWARD. 

In early November, 1943, we were advised that General 
Donovan would visit the theater during the latter part 
of the month and would spend a few days at 101. He 
arrived at Nazira on schedule and spent the first day 
or so looking over the base camp and observing some of 
the agent and operational training. He stated he was 
impressed with how much was being done with so little. 
He had seen the critical messages which had been ad¬ 
dressed directly to him requesting men, equipment and 
funds, but he had not seen all of the messages; thus it was 
not until he saw 101 firsthand that he realized the true 
situation. He responded in two ways: first, he sent off a 
few blistering cables to Washington which left no doubt 
that 101 needed some assistance; and, second, he arranged 
for some of the Stateside chiefs of section to visit Nazira 
and gain personal knowledge. 

The afternoon of the second day of his visit Colonel 
Eifler suggested that he fly General Donovan into 
knothead to visit Lieutenant Curl and his field group. 
General Donovan could hardly say no, and so it was 
arranged. Curl’s camp was located about one hundred 
and fifty miles behind the Japanese lines and about 
two hundred and seventy-five miles from our base, well 
beyond the round-trip capabilities of 101’s only air- 
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plane, the Gypsy Moth. Wre would have to parachute 
a supply of aviation gasoline into knothead to refuel. 
We arranged a flight with the ATC and dropped the 
gasoline into them, along with other needed food, supplies 
and ammunition. 

Carl and General Donovan took off the following 
day from the improvised strip at our base camp; we 
saw the Gypsy Moth out of sight across the Naga 
Hills. A series of radio signals had been arranged with 
knothead, and about three hours later we received 
the flash that they had arrived safely. The flight was 
a highly skilled job of navigation. The route was across 
an endless tract of jungle with few recognizable land¬ 
marks, and even though Carl had been into the strip 
twice before, the approach was from a different direction. 
After landing, General Donovan spent the remainder 
of the day talking to Lieutenant Curl and other members 
of the operation. Father Stuart was interpreter, and 
General Donovan conferred at great length with Zhing 
Htaw Naw and some of the Kachin headmen. What 
doubts General Donovan might have had about the 
Kachins were swept away that day. 

Fortunately, the return flight was without incident 
and they returned safely to Nazira the following day. 
I shudder to think what would have happened to the 
Allied cause if General Donovan with his knowledge of 
world-wide military operations had fallen into the 
Japanese hands. General Donovan stayed with us a 
day or so longer and then departed for a short trip 
to China with a promise to return. 

During this period Carl Eifler’s health and mental 
attitude were deteriorating noticeably. He couldn’t 
sleep, was nervous as a cat, would not submit to medi¬ 
cation as recommended by the 20th General Hospital 
at Ledo, and completely disregarded all advice. As a 
result, when General Donovan returned to 101 in mid- 
December, Carl was in a terribly run-down condition. 
OSS and General Donovan had much at stake in the 
success of 101 and in the development of strategic 
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operations in the CBI Theater. Carl had done a 
magnificent job, but simply could do no more. Gen¬ 
eral Donovan had to face the issue and make a decision, 
which he did by relieving Carl for physical and medical 
reasons. Colonel Coughlin was placed in charge of ail 
strategic operations in the CBI Theater, with instructions 
to pay particular attention to China. Colonel Coughlin 
asked me to take over 101, so on 17 December 1943, 
I assumed command of the unit. John Coughlin was 
a most unselfish, unassuming person. He could have 
insisted that I report through him to Washington and 
CBI Headquarters, but he did not do so. He gave me 
absolute free rein but told me to let him know if we 

needed assistance. 
The departure of Carl Eifier was like the end of an 

era. His peculiar quality was imagination. He seemed to 
call forward the condition necessary to guerrillas— 
restlessness to fight the enemy. The stress of getting 101 
on its feet had taken its toll, nevertheless. He went 
home with the pain in his head relentlessly sapping his 
funds of almost superhuman energy and endurance. 

Now I found myself in command of 101. I had seen 
the impossible happen under Carl, seen America rep¬ 
resented in the Burma campaign with a whole new 
set of rules, with a combination of Allied talents, black 
men, yellow men, white men, brown men, a little army 
that had an organizational structure of its own. The 
command came easily because there were so many faith¬ 
ful, brave men ready to serve. I was not there to betray 

them. 

PART FOUR 



XI 

The Guerrilla Influence 

Now, IN February, 1944, General Stilwell gave 
Detachment 101 a new, more ambitious mission. On 
that rainy day in his tent which I have described in 
Chapter I, he demanded a major breakthrough before 
June—the liberation of North Burma. 

He had enough confidence and belief in 101 to have 
taken the pains to outline his plans; and he had asked 
my opinion on whether we could do the job. It would 
have been unfaithful to all of the men, to Carl now 
back in Washington, to have considered Stilwell’s plan 
aimed at recapturing Myitkyina and control of North 
Burma in any light but that of a challenge. Our mission 
would be to make Stilwell’s belief a reality. There had 
indeed already been moments during my command of 
101 that I had sought the counsel of Stilwell. I had 
found him always gracious, always ready to put aside 
enough time to answer my problems. Now he wanted 
to produce an allied victory. However determined and 
bold was his plan, it would not work without the sus¬ 
taining intensity of 101 guerrillas behind it. 

Our brothers in arms, the conventional warfare 
warriors, with all the support they would get from the 
Air Corps, from the supply forces, would still, in the 
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end. depend upon guerrillas; with our help, they might 
stay together, withstand heat and humidity, march 
where they knew there was no enemy, and come upon 
the enemy out of the tangle of jungle. War can be 
distorted into disaster more quickly in the jungle than 
anywhere else. The jungle on your side can spread 

this disaster to the enemy; with the jungle against you, 

death explodes in your face. 
What would follow now could be managed possibly 

without' guerrillas; but we were there, ready to serve 
as guides, as a screen and to immobilize as best we 
could the rear echelons of the Japanese Army m North 
Burma. How well we did this might mean the difference 
between advantage or disadvantage for Stilwell. 101 
had been saying they owned the jungle; now 101 must 

prove it. , . .. 
After we had a little time to digest fully the impli¬ 

cations of General Stilwell’s new directive, it was ap¬ 
parent that changes were necessary in 101’s operational 

procedures. , 
The most likely change was in the system of command 

and control of operations. There were six major bases 
in the field. Radiating out from them were about a 
dozen other radio-equipped agent operations. The radios 

of the field base stations were small sets, powered by 
batteries or hand generators, which were incapable of 
carrying on radio communications with their agent 
stations. For this reason, all of these agent operations, 
as well as the field base stations, worked directly into 
the base radio station at Nazira. This imposed a 
tremendous load on the small group at the base radio 
station, and much of it was relaying messages back 
and forth between agent stations and the field bases. 
This centralized system of control could have continued, 
provided the operations did not expand beyond the 
existing load. However, Stilwell’s new directive called 
for an increase in the size, scope and area of operations 

as well as a stepping up of the tempo. 
We found the solution to our expansion in what we 
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called “Area Control.” Northern Burma was divided 
into four operational areas. In each area one man was 
to be designated that area’s commander. He was to be 
responsible for all operations in his area, from guer¬ 
rilla operations, espionage and sabotage through 
psychological warfare and escape and evasion. 

The four areas of Northern Burma were Area I—east 
of the Irrawaddy River, commanded by Commander 
Luce; Area II—between the Irrawaddy River and the 
Rumon Range, commanded by Lieutenant Pat Quinn 
of the Burma Army; Area III—between the Kumon 
Range and the Hukawng Valley Road, commanded 
by Lieutenant Curl; and Area IV—to the west of the 
Hukawng Road, commanded by Captain Red Maddox 

of the Burma Army. 
Since the area commanders would be communicating 

directly with their agent stations, the means had to be 
found for setting up a more elaborate network of radios. 
We promptly sent to Washington a request for more 
powerful radio sets, capable of twenty-four-hour opera¬ 
tions, and powered by a small gasoline generator. These 
arrived by air, were assembled, checked out and air¬ 

dropped to the four field bases. 
The theory of placing operational control with the 

four area commanders was perhaps the biggest single 
step taken by 101 toward the improvement and expansion 
of operations during the entire Burma campaign. It 
meant that I, as 101’s commander, no longer had to 
deal directly with eighteen or more field stations; I 
now directed the activities of the four area commanders 
and they in turn were my means of communication 
with the rest of the men in the field. The rewards were 
initiative and flexibility such as we had never known. 
Moreover, our enlarged radio net provided far more 
rapid and efficient radio schedules, at the same time 
greatly reducing the excessive load on the Nazira base 
station. Nazira continued to handle the traffic of long- 
range agents as well as the traffic to Washington, the 
logistics net and the vital communications with a large 
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number of military headquarters in the CBI Theater. 
How good our new system would be was dependent, 

too, on our airdrop capability. The detachment average 
of one to two planeloads of supplies each day would, 
with our expanded activities, have to increase to a 
daily average of nine to ten planeloads. This would mean 
packing twenty-five tons of supplies for airdrop each 
day; and we would require a further increase if we 
were to push our guerrilla numbers up to 10,000 men. 
Luck was with us in getting at this time qualified 
paratroopers with a spirited tradition of getting difficult 
jobs done fast. Under their control the airdrop expansion 
went ahead and achieved in little time the bold 
and precise standards required. 

We started to increase our guerrilla force from about 
nine hundred to three thousand, as directed by Gen¬ 
eral Stilwell, by charging the four areas with orders 

as follows: 
forward (Area I)—expand to a force of approximately 

1,500 guerrillas; harass the Japanese along the water¬ 

shed of the Irrawaddy; extend guerrilla operations to 

the south in order to oppose Japanese reinforcement 

of Myitkyina, and expand espionage operations south¬ 

ward into the Bhamo area. 
pat (Area II)—raise a force of about 400 guerrillas; 

harass the Japs along the road and railroad from 
Myitkyina to Mogaung; and expand intelligence 

activities south in the Koukkwee Valley. 
knothead (Area III)—raise a force of 1,000 guer¬ 

rillas to operate behind the Jap lines in the Hukawng 

Valley; and extend espionage operations into the rail¬ 
way corridor and into the Lonkin Jade Mines area. 

tramp (Area IV)—move the base camp out of the 
Naga Hills into the Chindwin River Valley; raise a 

force of about 300 guerrillas; and extend intelligence 

operations southeastward toward the rail corridor and 
southward in the rear of the Japanese forces on the 
Imphal Front. 
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Orders by radio are one thing for the men behind 
the lines; execution may not be as easy. My intent 
was to give the commanders maximum latitude, and 
not handicap them with a hopeless listing of minutiae. 
They were seasoned and experienced. Nevertheless, to 
supplement the words they received by radio, I felt it 
necessary to go in by light plane and talk to each man, 
thus allowing time for questions and to learn firsthand 

what needs they had. 
Again the ancient Gypsy Moth was rolled out of her 

hangar. She seemed to gaze around, looking for Carl; 
but after her new pilot, borrowed from ATC, reached 
for her controls, she settled down and we were off. 

We stopped first at knothead. The guerrillas seemed 
poised, even though their most recent contact with the 
enemy had almost led to the death of two top agents, 
Skittles and Hefty, when Japanese unexpectedly came 
to their village. The two agents escaped by flinging 
themselves through an open door into the jungle; the 

Japanese were no wiser. 
This first conference convinced me that there was 

reason to be hopeful that 101 would match Stilwell’s 
expectations. On my day of departure, I went to the 
Gypsy Moth happy that all was running smoothly. 

In the plane, the pilot signaled take-off, we gained 
speed down the rough runway, the plane bucked like 
some charging animal, careening wildly as if she did 
not wish to leave the ground. Then with a twist, less 
resistant, she swayed up into the air, hung there 
momentarily, and came back down. The crash exploded 
us into a thatched hut. I was well strapped in; I gave 
frantic thanks that I could see, feel; I was unhurt. 
In the sunshine, I saw the wings of the Gypsy Moth 
unexpectedly shorn of dignity, spread about in bits and 
pieces. I thought of Carl and what he would say to 
see her body so naked. Now a cluster of guerrillas 
helped us out, the pilot looked numb. '‘My head,” he 
said, leaning on a guerrilla, “my head hurts.” 

To which I could only add my own sense of bewilder¬ 

the guerrilla influence 167 

ment. I was two hundred miles behind the enemy lines, 
a twenty-day march from base. Before the day was 
over, I found, as if I needed it, more reason than ever 
for light planes to be part of 101. The use of such 
aircraft is lifeblood to guerrillas: with all their weap¬ 
ons and men, with all their courage, guerrillas still can¬ 
not live their dangerous life without the flexibility, the 
freedom that a light plane—or in this day, a helicopter 
—permits. The next morning two L-4’s from NCAC 
came in and took out the pilot and myself. During the 
night, the guerrillas had dismantled what remained of 
the Gypsy Moth. She might easily have led the Jap¬ 
anese there had she not been removed. 

The Eastern Air Command, under Lieutenant General 
Stratemeyer, grateful for the airmen we had rescued, 
gave us a light plane to replace the Gypsy Moth. She 
was an L-l, large for a light aircraft, weighing about 
5,000 pounds,'with a 285-horsepower radial engine, and 
equipped with both slots and flaps on the wings. Her 
cruising speed was only 65 m.p.h., but she could land 
and take off at about 30 m.p.h. and could carry over 
1,000 pounds payload. She could operate from short, 
rough and muddy runways. She might be thought 
obsolete, but we did not argue the point. For us, then, 
she was an angel. With her, I continued my tour of 
the areas. 

A week or so following our meeting General Stilwell 
suggested that the American personnel in the V Force 
be transferred to 101. The V Force was a combined 
United States and British organization charged with 
screening to the immediate front of the combat forces. 
The five officers and thirty enlisted men would be of 
considerable assistance to 101 and I told General 
Stilwell we could certainly use them. I then arranged 
a meeting at Taro to introduce myself and 101 to the 
new Americans. Captain Red Maddox (in charge of 
Area IV) was there too. I explained the organization 
aims of 101 and assigned two of the new officers, Cap¬ 
tains Dow Grones and Pete Lutkin, to organize small 
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teams of American and native guerrillas. They would 
infiltrate into Japanese territory and establish field bases 
to attack the Myitkyina railway line and the rear of the. 
Japs on the Imphal Front. I liked the coolness with 
which they responded; getting to their target area 
would demand an unusually difficult trek through an 
area that was unexplored; indeed, the land was so wild, 
with so many stretches of swamp and dangerous 
river crossings, that the Kachins themselves described 
it with awe. Red Maddox helped to train and brief 
them for the rugged days ahead. 

In early February, 1944, Merrill’s Marauders arrived 
by train in Ledo from their jungle training base in 
Central India. 

I talked with General Merrill and his second-in- 
command, Colonel Hunter, shortly after their discussion 
with General Stilwell and, in broad terms, they told 
me what they were to do. Their job was to act as an 
envelopment force; first to swing around the Japanese 
flank, then to set up roadblocks in the enemy rear 
and force the Japs to fight their way past them while 
the Chinese maintained pressure on the front. Their 
first job was to get the unit assembled at or near 
Shingbwiyang. General Merrill said that in order to 
condition the troops, shake them down, he was going 
to move the unit from Ledo to Shingbwiyang by foot 
over the Naga Hills portion of the Ledo road which 
was then under construction. I advised him against it 
and suggested he fly or truck them over. An individual 
has only so much stamina in the jungle and after periods 
of exertion must rest to recoup his strength. We had 
run into it many times in our behind-the-lines operations, 
not only with Americans but with natives as well. 
Consequently, we believed in going full out when we 
had to, but our people were taught to conserve their 
strength, rest, and eat whenever they could. I pointed 
out all this to General Merrill, but he was convinced that 
his troops and animals needed the march of approxi¬ 
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mately one hundred and twenty-five miles prior to 
engaging the enemy in combat. In my position I could 
hardly argue with General Merrill’s decision. I remain 
convinced that this act had much to do with the later 
tragic events that overtook Merrill’s Marauders. 

The first operation of the Marauders was a military 
classic. The two Chinese Divisions, the 22nd and the 
38th, abreast of one another, were applying heavy 
pressure on the Japs along the road northwest of 
Maingkwan. With the Japs so engaged, General Stil¬ 
well ordered the Marauders and a composite American- 
Chinese Tank Group around the north flank. The 
Marauders were to continue around the flank, pressing 
on the Japs’ rear and setting up a roadblock in the area 
of Walawbum. They set up the block in perfect style 
and thought they had the Japs cut off. However, un¬ 
known to them, there was a trail which permitted the 
Japs to avoid the block and hit the road several miles 
below it. The Japs worked feverishly repairing and 
widening the trail so their motor transport could be 
moved over it. In order for the Japs to protect this trail 
they had to engage the Marauders’ roadblock. They 
attacked, crossing a small stream, and were exposed 
to the murderous Marauder fire. In this fantastic and 
stupid attempt, the Japanese were defeated. The final 
count of the comparatively brief action of Walawbum 
was eight hundred and fifty Japanese dead to seven 
Americans wounded. 

Meanwhile the two Chinese Divisions had been throw¬ 
ing everything they had at the Japs. The Japanese 
began withdrawing their troops and transport over back 
trails, the Chinese lashed in, overran the enemy rear 
guards, swept through Maingkwan and linked up with 
the Marauders. In the battle for Maingkwan the Chinese 
and Japanese probably each suffered 2,000 to 3,000 
killed. At the same time, the 101 guerrilla units were 
attending to small Japanese columns of no more than 
company strength which were trying to make their 
way to the battle. Largely because our men were capa- 
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ble of using jungle trails unknown to the enemy, they 
repeatedly managed to catch the Japanese attempts at 
re-enforcement by complete surprise. Agents were close 
at hand to Japanese motor pools and supply dumps.- 
They observed sudden movements of troops early enough 
so that the guerrillas could prepare ambushes. 

An excellent illustration of what can be done in such 
a situation is the experience of Lieutenant Tilly about 
thirty miles behind the Japanese lines in the area of 
Walawbum. He was part of knothead and had been 
sent into the area to ambush, raid dumps and attack 
weak defenses from the rear. In four days of operation, 
he and his fifty guerrillas killed over one hundred and 
fifty Japs. Their casualties: one guerrilla wounded. 

All guerrilla tactics, whether the operation be in Burma, 
Algeria, Laos, Russia or elsewhere, are based upon the 
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same operational principles. Guerrillas are not organized, 
trained or equipped to fight as orthodox military forces. 
Accordingly, their tactics are harassing tactics, to hit 
the enemy where he least expects it, and where it will 
hurt the most. This involves the application of secrecy 
and stealth to effect maximum surprise upon the enemy; 
to hit him with a short period of violent shock action; 
and, while he is still confused and before he can take 
effective counteraction, to break off the engagement and 
disappear into the surrounding terrain. 

Thus, as the Marauders and the Chinese fought the 
Japanese in conventional warfare, the guerrillas of 101 
applied unconventional tactics upon the enemy: basic 
was a primitive type of ambush which was used success¬ 
fully against the Japs time and time again. On several 
occasions, this ambush resulted in score upon score 
of Japanese casualties without a single member of the 
guerrilla force even so much as getting scratched. The 
first requisite was a proper ambush site along a well- 
used Japanese trail. A site overgrown with heavy jungle 
foliage was the most desirable and the Kachins would 
take particular pains to insure that it appeared natural; 
no footprints, no broken branches, no disturbances of 
any kind. There were numerous plants along the jungle 
trails which could forecast the ambush: if touched, 
they wilted immediately. The guerrillas knew everything 
there was to know not only about the enemy’s move¬ 
ments, but about rocks, plants, trees, weather. Their 
efficiency was based on their knowledge of all things. 
They undertook an ambush with the same preoccupation 
one finds in an architect planning a building. 

When the site was selected the Kachins took strips 
of bamboo about two feet in length and cut them into 
knife-like spears about three-fourths of an inch wide. 
These they hardened over a fire until they were as 
strong as steel, sharp as daggers. They called them 
pungyis. The pungyis were then set in the ground in the 
undergrowth alongside the trail with the heads pointing 
in toward the trail. In effect, this was an ingenious kind 
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of natural trap, deadly as a land mine. Then automatic 
weapons—British Bren guns approached the ideal 
automatic weapon for jungle warfare—were sited to 
fire up and down along the long axis of the ambush area. 
This done, the ambush was complete and ready to go. 

Through their own intelligence nets our guerrillas 
learned when a Japanese column was moving and about 
when to expect it. When the Japanese column came 
into the ambush area, the scouts and advance guards 
were allowed to pass through. As the main enemy body 
reached the ambush area, the guerrillas with automatic 
weapons opened fire on the column. This, in itself, 
generally took quite a heavy toll, but the principal 
reaction it caused was for the enemy to run and dive for 
cover into the underbrush. Rather than cover, they 
found the planted pungyis: men flinging themselves 
down were impaled before they hit the ground. No 
clothing was protection. The pungyis passed through 
leather easily. The low pungyis tripped a man over, 
so the longer ones caught him full in the chest. Rarely 
could a human being survive the physical and psycho¬ 
logical shock. The bamboo caused a ragged wound that 
festered readily, was painful and slow in healing. It 
was a cruel death, and would have been more so if 
some of the guerrillas could have had their way. They 
proposed treating the pungyis with poison. This was 
in violation of the rules of land warfare and, remember* 
ing General Stilwell’s strong views, I said no. To the 
best of my knowledge, poison pungyis were not used. 
Even so, the ambush was charged with death. 

Another type of ambush that came nearer to modern 
techniques but still employed the elements of surprise, 
shock action and disengagement, was the grenade am¬ 
bush. Twenty-five to fifty grenades were planted one 
by one at intervals of about five yards along a trail. 
These were then connected with electric wire so they 
could be set off simultaneously by an electrical device. 
The ambush area was covered by automatic weapons. 
The timing with respect to the Jap column was similar to 
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the pungyi ambush. Here, however, when the main body 
of the Japanese column was in the ambush area, the 
grenades were set off. They always took a heavy toll, 
and inevitably those uninjured were caught by the 
automatic weapons and the whole column suffered heavy 
casualties. During the ensuing pandemonium the Kachins 
melted away into the nearby jungle, receiving few, if 
any, casualties. 

There were other variations, but all were based on 
the crushing element of surprise. The Kachins had ex¬ 
perienced guerrilla fighting for several centuries. They 
saw no cowardice in breaking off an engagement with 
an enemy once you had scored an ambush. Their 
philosophy was that it was far better to run; that way, 
a guerrilla lives to fight another day, eventually to kill 
enough of the enemy so that he can stand and fight 
a full-scale battle, on terms and grounds of the guer¬ 
rilla’s choosing. 

The main problem was the trouble caused by the 
American personnel. They, at first, preferred to stay 
and fight. They thought it shameful to run, but after 
they had been left behind a couple of times by the 
Kachins it did not take them long to learn that a guer¬ 
rilla’s business is to inflict maximum casualties upon 
the enemy while receiving minimum casualties in your 
own force. 

Indeed, the fact that a relatively small total popu¬ 
lation of about 300,000 Kachins could oppose groups 
totaling several million attested to the tenacity and 
security of guerrilla tactics. No one had yet conquered 
the Kachins. We learned the principles of ambushes 
from them. The casualty ratio worked out at about 
one Kachin Ranger killed for every twenty-five Japanese. 

Our guerrillas took full advantage of civilian sources 
of information. Friendly villages were an underground 
intelligence network for revealing enemy locations. Every 
one of these reports was confirmed by our own guer¬ 
rilla patrols. Wherever our people camped, they set 
np guerrilla outposts for local security and, in addition, 
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made extensive use of trip wires and various other 
alarms to warn of enemy approach. Nor did they 
neglect setting an assortment of both primitive and 
modern booby traps. Very, very rarely did the Japanese 
or the Burmese quislings ever catch our men off guard. 
If they did, the Kachin’s superior knowledge of the 
jungle usually permitted escape. Only once during the 
entire Burma campaign were the Japs able to penetrate 
to the inner portions of a 101 guerrilla encampment, 
and even then, during the bloody engagement that fol¬ 
lowed, the Japanese casualties were over three times 
as great as those of the Kachins. 

The guerrillas of 101 turned the Japanese rear areas 
into chaos. The Japanese had to maintain continuous 
guards; they could never relax; could only move troops 
in combat formation. It became a war of nerves. The 
threat of guerrilla ambush made the Japanese taut and 
tense, slow, cautious and finally paranoic. Several Jap¬ 
anese prisoners volunteered the opinion that in the 
jungle the Jap forces so feared the guerrillas that they 
rated one Kachin equal to ten Japanese. 

It was not only the ambushes that were effective 
in supporting the conventional forces. Frequently the 
guerrillas made quick raids upon Japanese camps and 
depots. They would infiltrate such an installation at 
night, shoot it up, set demolition and incendiary 
charges, and get away before the Japanese could react. 
The raids followed the guerrilla principle of ambush: 
surprise, shock action, rapid withdrawal and as rapid 

breaking off of engagement. 
In all of these operations, however, there were two 

critical elements: intelligence and planning. The guer¬ 
rilla had his own intelligence and this was supplemented 
by information made available from other 101 sources. 
Plans were carefully prepared to the finest detail. The 
operation was then reviewed and rehearsed several times 
to insure that every man knew his job. In unconventional 
warfare a single error of judgment can spoil an entire 

operation. 
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The Japanese were not without cunning. We could not 
count on the same tactics working every time. To 
give us variety, OSS in Washington provided a diabolic 
anti-personnel device—a hollow spike, about six inches 
long, with a .30 caliber cartridge in the top. Our guer¬ 
rillas planted them on trails used by the enemy; when 
stepped on, the cartridge was fired through the foot, 
possibly up into the body. We always stationed a few 
guerrillas near these deadly places to keep away innocent 
people and prevent their being uselessly injured. The 
device was successful, and caused untold apprehension 
among the Japanese. Even when we dropped the use 
of the device because the enemy was too alert for it, 
the threat of finding the mine slowed down the 
enemy’s advance. 

During the initial weeks of the campaign to retake 
Myitkyina, the quantity and the quality of our intel¬ 
ligence operations came up against new challenges. 

About ten miles northwest of Myitkyina there was 
a lone mountain peak which overlooked the town and 
its airfield. The Air Corps was anxious to know what 
activity existed on the airfield. To get them the infor¬ 
mation they needed, we selected a highly intelligent 
Burmese, named Maung, who had gone through agent 
training with flying colors and was also a qualified radio 
operator. He was a loner, the breed ideal for such a 
job. He was given additional training in the use of 
a long-range telescope and binoculars, was briefed on 
the operation of an airport and drilled in the details 
of his job. He was then parachuted into Area II at 
Arang along with his specialized equipment. Lieutenant 
Pat Quinn had already selected a spot on the side 
of the mountain where the activities of the Myitkyina 
airfield could be kept under continuous surveillance. 
He took Maung to the selected site to help get him 
established, and also arranged a weekly courier to supply 
him with the necessary food, water and other materials. 

This operation paid off immediately: at once we 
could maintain a minute-to-minute log and count of 
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the air traffic of the field. However, between Maung, 
Area II, our base camp and Headquarters 10th Air 
Force, we were having communication difficulties. Area 
II was so busy with their other radio traffic that they 
were unable to provide a continuous monitor on 
Maung’s channel. This was seriously delaying the relay 
of vital information, so we cut them out of the system 
and allowed Maung to pass his operational traffic 
directly to the base station. By this means, the elapsed 
time from the moment Maung saw a Jap airplane land 
or take off until his message was flashed to the 10th 
Air Force was reduced to a matter of a few minutes. 
This intelligence greatly assisted the security of the 
Hump route. In addition, Maung was able to locate 
a secondary field which partially explained the occasional 
heavy Japanese air traffic in the area even though there 
might be only a small amount of activity on the 
Myitkyina airfield. 

Skittles, who had joined Captain Curl with knothead, 

was put on his highest mettle in ferreting out intel¬ 
ligence that would aid the attack. His activity reached 
into the lower reaches of the Hukawng Valley, and 
there he developed some simple but ingenious ways to 
pinpoint and report Japanese supply installations con¬ 
cealed by dense jungle foliage. One method was to 
select a landmark such as a trail junction, bridge or 
prominent tree which could be identified readily on an 
air photo and by the pilots of the fighter bomber air¬ 
craft. From the landmark the location of the target 
was given by polar coordinates (distance along a given 
azimuth). Another method was to lead the pilot from 
such a landmark, to another landmark, and another, 

and so on, to the target. 
Numerous Japanese installations located by these 

means were bombed or strafed without the pilot’s being 
able to see his target; huge explosions or fires erupting 
through the trees would signal a successful attack. The 
Japanese knew that something was amiss. Since the 
targets were completely hidden from the air, they de¬ 
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duced the repeated attacks were being directed from 
the ground and correctly surmised a 101 agent. They 
went out to get Skittles, and he was kept on the run, 
yet he was not caught. He traveled light, with a 
minimum of equipment, and he was able to find and 
report new targets. There were apprehensive times when 
his radio was silent for days upon days; then he would 
come on, crackling out a location of a new enemy target 
for our bombers. 

The guerrilla units now sensed the battle near. Small 
parties of British commandos who had been sent in 
on reconnaissance missions made their way to the safety 
of 101 camps. Sometimes they were badly wounded. 
The guerrillas provided a hot cup of tea, food and 
friendship, and were able to evacuate them by light 
plane. The talks around campfires were of the grim 
fight ahead. We at the base thought of the fight, too, 
and how it must produce giants—a doctor, or a rifle¬ 
man, or a pilot. Everything seemed to point toward 
our kind of giant, General Joseph Stilwell. His was 
not the happiest of positions. 
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Three were thousands of stories about General Stil- 
wcll, but two in particular stand out in my mind, and 

they are directly related to one another. . 
At one time in the spring of 1944 it looked as though 

a Japanese drive from Central Burma into India might 
succeed. If it had, it would have severed the road and 
railroad between Calcutta, northeast India and the 
Chinese forces in Northern Burma For all practical 
purposes the Chinese forces would be isolated, except 
by air Under these circumstances General Stilwell saw 

nothing to be gained by inactivity; he wanted to matntan 
the forward momentum of his attack. Ihe Chinese, 
however, would not budge, they just sat No amount 
of threatening, cajoling or humoring could move therm 

It was obvious that they were under orders from 

somewhere. Some said it was from the Ge“era is^°i 
others, the Chief of Staff, Ho Ymg Ching; but the fact 
remained that they would not move. 

After going to the division commanders Sun ana 
Liao, General Stilwell went to the regimental commanders, 
but still no results. Then he went to the battalion 
commanders, down to the company commanders t 
platoon leaders, the squad leaders and finally, be, 
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then a three-star lieutenant general, was out in front 
of the combat forces motioning them forward. The 
Chinese could not lose face to this extent. Soon one 
soldier, then a squad, a platoon, a company, joined in 
the attack until eventually both divisions were again 
on the offensive. Few people have the determination 
and sheer guts to do a thing like this. 

The other story is one Stilwell liked to tell on himself. 
He was returning through the jungle after visiting one 
of these Chinese units. He stopped to rest, sitting alone 
on a log by the side of the road. He had barely paused, 
when a typical monsoon downpour erupted from the skies. 
He went on sitting there, his old campaign hat drenched, 
his cigarette glowing angrily in its holder. He had no 
insignia showing. A sergeant from one of the colored 
engineer battalions came over and sat down next to him. 
After they had talked for a while the sergeant said: 
“Soldier, you look too old for this sort of thing. Why 
don’t you ask them to send you on home?” 

During Stilwell’s period of command he had many 
troubles, and I don’t believe his position was ever fully 
understood and appreciated, especially in Washington. 
Most generals have one job; General Stilwell had several. 
He was the commanding general of CBI, and also of the 
NCAC. He commanded the Chinese Army in India. He 
was deputy commander to Lord Louis Mountbatten in 
SEAC. He was in charge of all Lend-Lease. He had two 
principal difficulties, with the British and with the Chinese. 
The British caused him many anxieties, and, to be sure, 
there were innumerable misunderstandings. Upon occa¬ 
sion, Stilwell had been at fault in ignoring tact and 
favoring sarcasm. His worst side emerged when he thought 
of the defensive holding tactics being employed on the 
Imphal and Arakan fronts. An army, he felt, thrives on 
attack and withers on the defense, especially when there 
had been so many allied defensive actions that degener¬ 
ated into defeat. Success for the Burma campaign, Stil- 
well felt, required aggressive commanders. In August, 
1943, when General Slim took command of the British 
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Fourteenth Army, Stilwell was relieved at the birth of 
an offensive spirit. He recognized General Slim as one of 
the great commanders in the Allied camp. Under Slim’s 
leadership, he correctely anticipated a campaign that would 

destroy Japanese forces in Burma. 
Stilwell’s more immediate problem was the Chinese. 

This situation was much more complex than the British 
because American interests were directly involved. To 
make it even more difficult, Stilwell was at odds with 
both General Chennault and Generalissimo Chiang Kai- 
shek. To state his position simply, General Chennault felt 
that China’s salvation rested on air power. Stilwell be¬ 
lieved that without the foot soldier Chennault’s air bases 
would be lost, and that to achieve final victory, the vast 
areas under Japanese domination in China and southeast 
Asia would have to be won back on the ground. Air sup¬ 
port and air bombardment, Stilwell recognized, were not 

sufficient by themselves to defeat the enemy in Burma 

or in China. 
Chennault disagreed. He asked that the bulk of equip¬ 

ment and supplies coming into China over the Hump 
go to the 14th Air Force and the Chinese Air Force 
(CAF). There were bitter exchanges over this issue. Stil¬ 

well’s troops in Burma were fighting to protect the air 
bases in Assam. They were fighting to build a new land 
route into China. Stilwell wanted twenty-six Chinese 
combat divisions for operations in China and the arms and 
equipment to go with them. Every time there was a 
high-level meeting to discuss the allocation of the Hump 
tonnage, the argument between Stilwell and Chennault 
broke out afresh. Neither general would give in. 

Although Stilwell was Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek’s 
chief of staff, Chennault had been with the Nationalist 
Government much longer, since 1934, and he had the ear 
of both the Generalissimo and Madame Chiang. The 
Generalissimo liked to think of China as a first-rate mili¬ 
tary power; the development of air power fitted nicely 

into this scheme of thinking. 
In this session of the eternal debate between air power 

and ground forces, air power won out. The thin trickle 
of supplies reaching China could not support both Stil¬ 
well and Chennault; and in deciding for Chennault, 
Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek felt he was doing the 
right thing for China. His decision aborted Stilwell’s hope 
of creating a great Chinese Army. 

I myself firmly believe that had Stilwell’s plan for 
equipping, organizing and training the Chinese ground 
forces been carried through to completion, Japanese in¬ 
fantry would not have been able to overrun the air bases 
in Southern China in late 1944; they would never have 
been able to mount an offensive in early 1945; nor 
would the Chinese Communist ground troops have 
achieved their ends after the war against the Japanese 
was over. 

These were by no means all of Stilwell’s difficulties. 
Some of his worst problems stemmed from the smallest 
incidents; to illustrate: the Chinese forces in Burma 
were at one time having a very difficult time trying to 
penetrate Japanese defenses in the huge clumps of bam¬ 
boo. A group of newspaper reporters came into Northern 
Burma without authority and, as luck would have it, 
one of them visited a Chinese unit trying to crack these 
bamboo defenses. The reporter suggested a flame thrower 
for the job. 

It did not take long for the word to get around, and 
the Chinese sat and waited for flame throwers. The dif¬ 
ficulty, however, was that, at the time, there simply 
were no flame throwers in Burma, India or in the entire 
CBI Theater of Operations. General Stilwell returned 
from China and found the Chinese demanding flame 
throwers; he hit the ceiling, and ordered the whole plane¬ 
load of reporters back to India. After a week of pains¬ 
taking negotiations with the Chinese commanders, Stil¬ 
well got them to move again. 

One day I was with the General and his son-in-law, 
Colonel Easterbrook, in the General’s tent when a tele¬ 
phone call came through from an American liaison officer 
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in the front lines with one of the Chinese units. He, too, 
had been trying to get the Chinese to move, without too 
much success. The American, as he spoke, got more in¬ 
censed, described the Chinese in the most vivid of bar¬ 
racks-room epithets. The only tactful solution was to get 
the man away from the Chinese, and Stilwell said: “I 
agree, and I want you to come back here and give me 
a full report.” To return to StilwelPs headquarters, the 
officer had to walk for four days—enough time to think 

it over and quiet down. 
One day, I described a guerrilla success in the Lake 

Indawgyi area; General Stilwell said he would like to 
see the American running the show and also one of the 
Kachin leaders. Little did I realize what I was letting 
101 in for. A liaison plane was sent behind the lines to 
pick up the two men and bring them to the airstrip out¬ 
side General StilwelPs headquarters. They reported to the 
General and made a favorable impression, especially the 

Kachin. 
Stilwell then asked them how many Japs they had 

killed in a particular engagement. This was always a 
difficult problem, because, after all, when you are two 
hundred miles behind enemy lines you don’t spend much 
time standing around counting enemy dead and wounded. 

They replied, and General Stilwell asked, “Well, but 
how can you know so exactly? How can you be sure?” 
With this, the Kachin unhooked a bamboo tube tied to 
his belt and dumped its contents on the table. The con¬ 
tents looked like dried prunes and the General said, 
“What are these?” The suberect major replied, “Japanese 
ears. Divide by two and you will know how many Japs 

were killed.” 
This left no question in the General’s mind, but later, 

after they had returned to the field, Stilwell called me in 
to ask if I had heard of this means of counting the 
enemy dead. I confessed that I had heard of it but had 
never seen the actual ears. He then quoted chapter and 
verse of a pertinent paragraph from the Rules of Land 
Warfare and directed that I take action to stop ear¬ 
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collecting immediately. This was easier said than done. 
Among Kachins, it was a mark of a warrior’s courage 
to show the ears he had taken in combat. They were not 
easily discouraged, and it took six months of constant 
lecturing before the Kachins were converted to simply 
counting the dead. 

During the winter and spring of 1944, with the rigors 
of the tropical jungle sapping his strength, Stilwell kept 
himself going by sheer will power. He was a sick man. 
Whenever he felt well he was out with the troops, both 
day and night. However, there were times when all the 
color left his face; it turned an ashen gray and he stayed 

pretty well within the confines of his tent. As soon as 
his strength and color returned he was out again with the 
troops. A couple of years after the war, he died from in¬ 
testinal cancer and, as I look back upon it, there is little 
doubt in my mind that he was going through indescrib¬ 
able pain at the very time he was leading the most 
important military campaign of his career—the attack 
on Myitkyina, which, when it fell, would at long last 
allow us to open a new land route to China. 



XIII 

The Attack Mounts 

Following the Maingkwan-Walawbum operation, the 
First Battalion of the American Marauders moved south 
through the jungle and hills east of the Kamaing Road, 
then changed direction to the southwest to hit the road 
in the area of Shadazup northwest of Myitkyina. They 
were to be followed by the 113th Chinese Regiment. 
The Marauder troops, despite continual Japanese patrols, 
gained ground. Far more resistant than the enemy was 
the jungle; often they had to hack their way through, i 
and they were several days late in attacking their objec- j 

tive near Shadazup. 
It would have taken more time and men had not 

Lieutenant Tilly’s guerrilla unit been situated in the area. | 
Preparing to meet and oppose the Marauders, the Japa- 
nese had no knowledge of the guerrillas to their rear and 
paid no heed to the possibility of attack from that j 

direction. 
Lieutenant Tilly and his Kachins had a field day. They 

ambushed the Japanese in the area of Jaiwa Ga and 
Makay Bum, inflicting significant casualties upon the 
enemy. They broke up his counterattack patterns and 
repeatedly permitted the Marauder column to exercise 
fuller freedom in its advance. Moreover, the presence of s 
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guerrillas aiding the conventional troops gave the Ma¬ 
rauders confidence that the jungle was on their side. 
Tilly and his group remained with the first Marauder 
battalion, sometimes delivering information on enemy 
numbers and locations, sometimes ambushing the enemy 
in his own backyard. 

Colonel Osborne of the 1st Battalion of Marauders 
directed one platoon to make a feint toward Shadazup. 
He planned to use the remainder of his battalion to ford 
the Mogaung River and put a block on the road leading 
toward Kamaing and Myitkyina. The 113 th Chinese 
Regiment was to be kept in reserve. 

The attack went off as planned, achieving complete 
surprise. The Marauders enveloped the Japanese camp 
and pursued their advantage to set up a perimeter de¬ 
fense around the roadblock. The Japanese counterattacked 
fiercely but could not force the Marauders, now strength¬ 
ened by the arrival of the 113th Chinese Regiment, to 
yield. The Chinese 22nd Division carried forward a steady 
pressure and, on 28 and 29 March, it broke through the 
Japanese defenses in the Jamba Bum area and estab¬ 
lished contact with the Marauder roadblock. The Japa¬ 
nese withdrew. The road to Myitkyina was now open 
all the way up to Shadazup; the Allies had moved, as 
planned, a considerable distance back into Burma. 

To the east, the bulk of the Marauder force, the 2nd 
and 3rd Battalions, had as its object a wider envelop¬ 
ment, following the headwaters of the Chindwin River 
(Tanai Hka) to the area of Warong and thence west 
to hit the road at Inkangahtawng. They too were aided 
by 101’s guerrillas. At Nawbum, the headquarters of 
Area III, they established contact with Captain Curl. He 
assigned a force of nearly two hundred Kachin guerrillas 
as reconnaissance patrols to screen the front and flanks 
of the 2nd and 3rd Marauder Battalions. 

The plan was for Colonel Hunter with the 2nd Batta¬ 
lion and one combat team of the 3rd Battalion to estab¬ 

lish a roadblock in the vicinity of Inkangahtawng, with 
the rest of the 3rd Battalion to remain behind to block 



186 THE ROAD TO CHINA 

any possible Japanese movement through the head¬ 
waters of the Tanai Hka. As the force neared Inkangah- 
tawng, the Kachin guerrillas encountered strong Japanese 

patrols; so the Marauders were warned that the Japanese 

were holding the area in considerable force. 
The 2nd Battalion crossed the Mogaung River and 

probed Inkangahtawng; they ran into gathering resist¬ 
ance. Colonel McGee's orders had been to hold the block 
for a day but not to stay longer if there was danger of 
being cut off. The Japanese had gathered greatly superior 
forces against him, and therefore McGee gave the order 
to withdraw the 2nd Battalion back across the Mogaung 
River. The Americans, with losses of fifteen men, left 
two hundred dead Japanese on the battlefield. 

Japanese pressure continued to build up; accordingly, 
the Marauders withdrew toward the north. The Japanese 
strength now totaled approximately 2,500. They were 
energetic in their advance, maneuvering their troops and 
artillery into dominant positions threatening the fate of 

the entire 2nd Battalion. 
Colonel McGee’s men at this point were tired. They 

had engaged the enemy for better than thirty-six hours 
almost without interruption. McGee decided to break 

contact and move northward to the high ground in the 
area of Nphum Ga, where he knew he could find a good 
defense position and guerrilla support. A withdrawal from 
contact is dangerous under any circumstances, but the 
withdrawal of the 2nd Battalion along an exposed trail 
was highly perilous, particularly in a tropical monsoon 
rainstorm. The men were exhausted, but somehow the 
2nd Battalion reached Nphum Ga, and immediately 
started digging a perimeter defense. The Japanese probed 
the position with patrols, then began a three-day artillery 

barrage. 
By the end of the third day, the Japanese had brought 

up sufficient. forces to surround the 2nd Battalion. In 
continuous assaults, by day and by night, the Japanese 
attacked. The fighting was fearful, primitive, steady, much 
of it savage hand-to-hand combat. Waves of Japanese 
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often broke through outer defenses, screaming “Die, Joe; 
die, Joe,” but still the 2nd Battalion held, although out¬ 

numbered four to one. 
An advantage for the 2nd Battalion was that ammu¬ 

nition, food and medical supplies could reach it by para¬ 
chute. When its water source was captured by the Japa¬ 
nese, even water came by airdrop. Parachutes brought in 
new radios, mortars, food for the mules. Artillery pieces 
were dropped to the 3rd Battalion, who from their posi¬ 
tion in Hsamshingyang were able to aid the 2nd Battal¬ 
ion’s struggle for survival by providing artillery fire sup¬ 

port. 
In the midst of battle, General Merrill was stricken 

with a second heart attack. He swore bitterly as he was 
flown out by liaison aircraft to the 20th General Hospital 
in Ledo. Colonel Hunter assumed command of the Ma¬ 

rauders. 
The Japanese lacked an airdrop capacity. Nor could 

they call, with assurance, for air support, or count on 
the aid of the native population. They pressed the at¬ 
tack with courage, but when their ammunition ran low, 
they had to wait days for resupply to reach them over¬ 
land. The guerrillas of 101 were given the job of am¬ 
bushing their supply columns, cutting telephone lines, 
seizing radio stations and damaging the morale and fight¬ 
ing capacity of Japanese front-line troops. The Japanese 
troops waited for food and ammunition that would not 

arrive. 
It was a battle for survival—a battle between two 

properly trained, highly disciplined, and capable oppo¬ 
nents, neither side willing to give an inch. The 2nd Bat¬ 
talion was now compressed within a perimeter of a few 
hundred yards; nearly all of their mules were dead, a 
bloated grim spectacle within the defenses; and very 

near, their unburied comrades. 
On the seventh day of the encirclement the 1st Bat¬ 

talion came to join the battle. With the 3rd Battalion, 
they began a double envelopment of the Japanese posi¬ 
tions. Before the Marauders could perfect the counter- 
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attacking movement the Japanese, recognizing danger, 
broke contact and withdrew along the trail toward Ka- 
maing. 

When the pressure on the 2nd Battalion eased, General 
Stilwell ordered the entire Marauder unit into bivouac 
for a brief rest period. The 1st and 3rd Battalions were 
withdrawn to Nawbum, the headquarters of Captain 
Curl and Area III. The 2nd Battalion of the Marauders 
was bivouacked about twenty-five miles to the south in 
the area of Senjo Ga to guard against any possible 

Japanese movement into the upper Tanai Hka. It was 
during this period that dissension between the Marau¬ 
ders and General Stilwell began. From their association 
with Wingate’s Chindit Division, the Marauders felt they 
had been promised that after ninety days in combat, 
they would be relieved. And shortly, the ninety days 
would be over. The troops were soon to find out that 
Stilwell had other ideas. Myitkyina was the key to the 
conquest of Northern Burma. Enemy control of North 
Burma had to be broken. Stilwell was going to do it 
whether it took ninety days or one hundred and ninety 
days. In this determined decision, he was to deprive him¬ 
self of that which was nearly a necessity to him, a bond 
with the man who stood out in his mind in the front 
rank of soldiers anywhere—the infantryman of a rifle 
company. 
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The Drive Toward Myitkyina 

The next step was Myitkyina. 
'’General Stilwell’s plan was concise. At Nawbum be 

assembled two battalions of the Marauders, one regiment 
of the Chinese 30th Division recently arrived from the 
Ramgarh Training Camp and a patrolling assignment in 
India during the Japanese Imphal offensive, and one regi¬ 
ment of the Chinese 50th Division just recently flown 
in from China. The 3rd Battalion of the Marauders and 
the 88th Regiment of the 30th Division were to form K 
Force under the command of Colonel Kinnison, and the 
1st Battalion of the Marauders and the 150th Regiment 
of the 50th Chinese Division were to comprise H Force 
under Colonel Hunter* The plan further included M Force 
under Colonel McGee, to consist of the 2nd Battalion 
of the Marauders augmented by a small force of guerrillas 

from 101. The entire task force was to use the code 
name Galahad, and would be commanded by General 
Merrill, who had made good progress in his recovery 

from his heart attack. I 
To take the pressure off Myitkyina, General Stilwell 

ordered the Chinese 22nd and 38th Divisions to capture 
Kamaing and clear the Hukawng Valley of Japanese. The 
3rd Indian Division, the Chindits now under British 
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General Lentaigne, were to throw a block on the railway 
corridor and prevent any major Japanese movement to¬ 
ward Myitkyina. The British-Kachin Levies were to cap¬ 
ture Sumprabum and to continue their movement south¬ 
ward toward Myitkyina. Detachment 101 was to provide 
the maximum possible support to the operations of the 
combat forces, particularly to Galahad. 

By mid-April, I presented the disposition and plans of 
101 to General Stilwell. 

area iii. This area was to provide the principal sup¬ 
port to Galahad. Of their roughly 1,000 Kachin Rangers, 
two companies, (350 to 400 men) were to support H 
and K Forces by patrolling and screening their front and 
flanks. Another 200 to 250 men were to join M Force, 
and the remaining four hundred or so were to stand by 
for the protection of the Nawbum area and to assist the 
Chinese 38th Division where possible. Espionage activities 
were to be pushed to the south along the railway corridor 
toward Katha and west toward the Lonkin Jade Mines. 

area ii. They were to provide guides and a small 
force of Kachin Rangers to Galahad when it passed 
through Arang. They were also to make their airstrip 
available for medical evacuation and airdrop. Until the 
passage of the Galahad force they were to arrest any 
Japanese movements from Nsopzup and the Irrawaddy 
River toward Arang and to keep the trails clear to the 
south. Subsequently, Area II was to operate along the 
road from Sumprabum toward Myitkyina to restrict any 
Japanese movement from the north to reinforce Myit¬ 
kyina. Moreover, they were to extend their espionage 

operations southward and be prepared to move their oper¬ 
ational base in that direction. 

area i. This area had the greatest number of guerrillas, 
by now about 1,500 well-armed and well-trained Kachin 
Rangers. Even though its location on the east side of 
the Irrawaddy River was such that it was unable to 
provide direct support to any of the orthodox military 
forces involved in the Myitkyina campaign, it was to 
^ke the main effort of Detachment 101. Area I was to 
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move the bulk of its force south out of the Triangle to 

conduct raids on Japanese installations and to gain con¬ 
trol of the road and trails leading into Myitkyina from 
the east and south, principally Bhamo. Additionally, the 
men of Area I were to set up fire-points or ambushes 
along the Irrawaddy River and its feeders, the Mali and 
Nmai Hkas, where they would prevent the Japanese 
from using these waterways to reinforce their Myitkyina 
garrison. They were also to extend their intelligence nets 
southward toward Bhamo to obtain advance knowledge 
of any Japanese movement toward Myitkyina. And, very 
importantly, their prime mission was to obtain a clear 
picture of the Japanese situation in Myitkyina prior to 

the movement of Galahad. 
area rv. This headquarters was located at some dis¬ 

tance from the regular combat forces participating in the 
operation. Consequently, it was felt that Area IV’s 
greatest contribution would be in expanding guerrilla, 

sabotage and espionage operations to be ready for action 

upon conclusion of the Myitkyina campaign. 
Colonel Kinnison’s K Force led off on 28 April from 

Nawbum, followed by Colonel Hunter’s H Force. They 
were preceded on the trail by a group of Kachin Rangers 

led by Lieutenant Bill Martin accompanied by the Ma¬ 

rauder S-2, Captain Laffin, and a few other people from 
the Intelligence section. The Marauders had with them 

two officers from the Burma Army. They were Jack Ger- 
sham and Captain Darlington, and they knew the area. 

The Kumon Range over which the K and H Forces 

had to proceed attains heights of 8,000 to 9,000 feet. 
Even the low pass through which the main body of 
Galahad was to move exceeds 6,500 feet. The pre-mon¬ 

soon rains arrived early, the trail was slippery and grease¬ 
like. Progress was one step forward, two slips back. 

Startled mules fell off the trail to their death. Hours of 
hard marching wore down many American and Chinese 

soldiers, and they found it easier to leave all but the 
barest necessities alongside the trail. (So drastic was this 
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lightening of packs that, later, a Kachin unit following 
the same trail collected more than 2,000 blankets.) 

Meanwhile, the Kachin guerrillas were securing trails: 
all the advantages of having a guerrilla force completely 
in control of the back trails was evident as the conven¬ 
tional forces moved unmolested on toward their objectives. 

On the east side of the Kumon Range the Galahad 
force had a brush with Japanese infantry in the area of 
Ritpong. Even though, in the end, K Force quickly wiped 
out the enemy, the engagement delayed Galahad by about 
three days; it created an air of uncertainty as to whether 
the movement toward Myitkyina had been discovered. 
Most unsettling, the place was infected with mite typhus 
against which the troops had not been inoculated. A 
piague was upon them; within a few days, Colonel Kinni- 
son and many others were dead; large numbers of men 
were evacuated to hospitals where, if they recovered at 
all, the recoveries would be long and slow. 

After Ritpong, K Force made a feint eastward toward 
Nsopzup and the enemy garrison there. At Tingkrukawng 
they overwhelmed a Japanese force of reduced battalion 
strength and screened the area from any possible west¬ 
ward movement. Meanwhile H Force had bypassed K 
and proceeded southward toward Arang, which was the 
headquarters of our Area II under Lieutenant Pat Quinn. 
Here Galahad had a liaison airfield available to evacuate 
sick and wounded. They also received a final airdrop and 
picked up a group of Kachin guerrillas under Lieutenant 
Hazelwood who were familiar with every trail in the area 
and were able to guide Galahad to its objective. 

After leaving Arang, H Force pressed their march to 
reach Myitkyina as quickly as possible. The Kachin 
guerrillas led them over abandoned and hidden trails. 
Other guerrillas screened the flanks. Nau, a young Kachin 

guide, was bitten by a poisonous snake and, although 
seriously weakened, continued on, riding a local moun¬ 
tain pony. He led the way to the Myitkyina airstrip. 
After safely crossing the Myitkyina-Mogaung Road and 
railroad, H Force spent the night in the village of Nam- 
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kwi, a Shan village. They placed cordons of troops around 
the town to prevent any native from slipping out to in¬ 
form the Japanese. The following morning, 17 May, H 
Force attacked the airstrip, an attack so unexpected that 
before the day was over the great Myitkyina airstrip had 
been won. The advance carried to the bend in the Ir¬ 
rawaddy River to the south. 

There was jubilant, almost hysterical celebration. The 
campaign seemed almost over. General Merrill flew in 
from Arang and assumed local command. K and M Forces, 
two to three days’ march away, were notified and told 
to expedite their movement. On the 17th some British 
light anti-aircraft units were flown in by glider, and 
action was initiated to fly in one battalion of the Chi¬ 
nese 89th Regiment. General Merrill sent a message to 
Detachment 101 saying, “Thanks for your assistance, we 
could not have succeeded without the help of 101.” 

So far, the operation had the classic features of a 
stunning victory. All in the Northern Battle Area visu¬ 
alized the immediate fall of Myitkyina. The honor of 
actually capturing the city, Stilwell decided, was to be 
given to the Chinese. 

With bugles sounding the advance, two battalions of 
Chinese entered the town in a supposedly coordinated 
attack, one battalion from the south, the other from the 
west. There were hardly any Japanese to stop them; the 
Chinese advanced with hardly a shot fired against them. 
At dusk, the two battalions were nearing the railway 

station in the center of town. Here a handful of do-or-die 
Japanese snipers started picking off men from both units. 
Then there ensued a horrible response. Possibly panic- 
stricken, possibly enraged, the Chinese started shooting 
one another. To this day, it is uncertain why. The losses 
were unbelievable: two Chinese battalions methodically, 
madly destroying each other to the point where they had 
to be withdrawn. 

The Japanese reacted very quickly and started pouring 
reinforcements into Myitkyina from every direction. 
They came in from garrisons on the China border, from 
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patrols and outposts east of Myitkyina, from the base 
and hospital at Nsopzup to the north, and from Mogaung 
to the west. In a week their strength approached three 
thousand and in a fortnight or so it was on the order 
of five thousand. In addition, the terrain itself aided the 
Japanese. Myitkyina is surrounded by paddy fields, dense 
jungles and fields of elephant grass; and now the mon¬ 
soon rains were beginning to fall. The defenders were 
better off than the Allied attackers. At one point, in fact, 
the Japanese outnumbered the attackers, and there was 
a real possibility that the enemy would seize the offen¬ 

sive again. 
The Allies, with the airfield still in their hands, brought 

in reinforcements from every part of the CBI Theater 
until there were twelve thousand men ready for the 
effort to break the Japanese grip. They were supported 
by fighters and bombers of the 10th Air Force; but it 
was impossible to take Myitkyina without infantry bat¬ 

tling for every square foot of ground. 
The Japanese were battle-wise and if they had kept 

Myitkyina, they would have had a handsome success to 

crow over. On the Allied side, the Marauders were spent, 
yet Stilwell could not spare them. Their ranks had been 

depleted by battle casualties; diseases and fatigue had 
taken a malicious toll; morale was sagging. It was at 
this time that acrimony between the Marauders and 
General Stilwell reached its highest pitch. The Chinese 
units, newly arrived from China and with little previous 
combat experience, lacked enterprising troops and leader¬ 

ship. 
For the Japanese now there was no retreat. The odds 

were about even that they could hold the city and delay 
an Allied victory in North Burma. They meant to im¬ 
prove the odds. Myitkyina was foredoomed to a long, 
costly campaign which neither side could win with any 
form of distinction beyond the heroism and valor of 

individuals. 
General Merrill suffered a third heart attack early in 

the siege and had to be relieved. After a number of rapid 
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changes of command, General Wessels from the Infantry 
School at Fort Benning, Georgia, was appointed the new 
commander, and he remained in this position untl the 
end of the campaign. 

The dog-eat-dog fight for Myitkyina continued day 
after day: through June, through July, and into August. 
The monsoon heat and rain punished both sides. The 
Allies were able to sustain their force, but the Japanese 
could not replace their losses. Even so, the Japanese 
continued to hold; not a man among them surrendered 
In late July came the first break in the battle. The 
Japanese began to evacuate their wounded by tying them 
to rafts and floating them down the Irrawaddy River> 
General Mizukami, the Japanese commander committed 
hara-kiri. On the night of 2 August, Colonel Maruyama 
led the last two hundred Japanese out of Myitkyina and 
across the Trrawaddy River, south toward Bham0. The 
battle for Myitkyina was over. 

During the siege of Myitkyina the guerrillas in Area 

I were particularly active. They seized Seniku, Washang', 
Sadon and several other Japanese-occupied towns; raided 

numerous Jap installations; destroyed many Japanese ve¬ 
hicles; ambushed several large bodies of troops trying 

to enter Myitkyina from the east and south; and, by the 

end of the campaign, controlled nearly all of the area 
east of the town as far as the China border. They had 

killed in excess of five hundred Japanese all told. They 

also seized and occupied a Japanese airfield at Kwitu. It 
was a small strip but capable of handling Japanese Zero 

aircraft. When Colonel Maruyama led the last Japanese 

force out of Myitkyina, Lieutenant Lazarski’s guerrillas 
pursued and repeatedly ambushed them. Only a small 
portion of that force was to reach Bhamo. 

Near the climax of the battle for Myitkyina, Lieuten¬ 
ant Martin and about four hundred of the Kachins who 
had accompanied Galahad moved south about thirty mj]es 

along the Irrawaddy. There they set up ambushes along 
the river and trails. When the Japanese attempted to 
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escape by this route they intercepted them, killing over 
three hundred and taking fifty-six prisoners. 

While the battle for Myitkyina Town was underway, 
Colonels Thrailkill and Lattin were placed in command 
of a small, hand-picked group of Americans from Myit¬ 
kyina garrison. Their orders were to contact the Chinese 
Nationalist Army forces in the Salween River Valley. 
Lieutenant Esterline and his 101 Detachment escorted 
the American group to Fort Harrison (Sadon), which 
the Kachins had captured after a frightful battle with 
the Japanese. From there they led the Americans to the 
China border and a meeting with the Chinese Army. For 
the first time since the fall of Burma in early 1942, a 
land route to China was almost open. The cost had been 
bitter, but a gigantic feat in the Allied war effort had 
been achieved. Stilwell’s dream—a land route to China 
—was now in sight. 

PART FIVE 

i 

Forcing the Kill 



XV 

With the fall of Myitkyina, 101’s task underwent a 
subtle change. General Stilwcll had never formally stated 
that he was satisfied with 101’s effort to organize a 
three-thousand-man guerrilla force, nor did he now of¬ 
ficially give his approval to expand the size of the force 
to ten thousand. It was one of those things that went 
without saying. 

While the Myitkyina campaign was still underway we 
had busily engaged in extending our espionage and guer¬ 
rilla operations further to the south. Two operations in¬ 
volving the British forces in Central Burma had a promi¬ 
nent part in this development. 

In early 1944, the Japanese had assembled a three- 
division force of over 100,000 strong. In March they 
struck a resounding blow at the British Fourteenth Army 
in an attempt to drive through to India. Their maneuver 
was a double envelopment at Imphal and Dimapur. It 
was executed energetically, and only the gallant stand 
of the Indian and British forces at Imphal and Kohima 
halted the breakthrough. Shortly, the Fourteenth Army 
took the offensive, and was never stopped thereafter. To 
concentrate their troops for the drive on India, the Japa¬ 
nese had developed numerous small supply installations. 
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These targets were built to order for our sabotage and 
guerrilla forces. Accordingly, our operations in the west¬ 
ern area were pushed further south to deal with them. 

Separate from the Fourteenth Army was General Orde 
Wingate’s 3rd Indian Division, better known as the 

“Chindits.” The division aboard gliders was flown into 
Burma, south of Myitkyina, by the 1st American Air¬ 
borne Commandos under Colonels Cochran and Alison. 
The principal airhead was “Broadway,” located at al¬ 
most the same site in the Koukkwee Valley where we had 
parachuted our original “A” Group. 

We saw an opportunity both to be of assistance to 
Wingate’s men and to lay the groundwork for our ex¬ 
pansion to the south. With the Chindits we sent twelve 

of our best trained Kachin agents under Saw Judson, 
who had first visited the area with “A” Group. Judson 
set up listening posts along the trails and in the villages 
around the Chindits. When the Chindits moved out, these 

agents set up screens for their movements and then re¬ 
mained behind to continue their espionage and to serve 

as a nucleus for the development of guerrilla forces. To 

accompany the Chindits we sent along a couple of our 
American lieutenants, each with a radio operator and an 

agent or two. Their mission was to establish contact with 

the Kachins and start raising guerrilla forces. One of the 

lieutenants moved north of Katha, the other went into 
the Irrawaddy River Valley. Both were successful. 

The Chindits had a force of their own to work with 
the Kachins along the China border in the area of Bhamo. 

The group totaled about fifty and was known as the Dah 
(or knife) Force. Captain Joost and four of our Kachins 

accompanied the Dah group across the Irrawaddy River, 

across the road near Bhamo, and into the mountains. 
Along the way they managed to put a few Jap trucks 

out of action. They found the Kachins friendly and de¬ 
sirous of working against the Japs. Oscar just happened 

to be there and Captain Joost used his radio to keep us 
advised. We wanted to get operations started near Bhamo, 
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so we arranged with the British to have their personnel 
in the Dah Force transferred to 101. 

There was a gap between the railway corridor and the 
British Fourteenth Army on the Imphal Front. Detach¬ 
ment 101 was given the mission of mobilizing its forces 
for fighting in this area, 200 miles wide with several 
north-south terrain corridors traversing it. These corridors 
provided ready access from the south to the Hukawng 
Valley and the Ledo Road (now flourishing in its con¬ 
stant progress) directly to the rear of the new combat 
troop advances. Through our Intelligence, we knew the 
Japanese strength in the area was not very great. How¬ 
ever, if the Japanese decided to counterattack, it would 
be through the gap, for it presented a clear route to the 
Ledo Road. A sufficient enemy force could set up road¬ 
blocks, which would require our troops to come back and 
clear them out. Detachment 101 had to raise troops to 
stop this gap—a quasi-conventional mission. Major Red 
Maddox, the commander of Area III, increased the guer¬ 

rilla forces to approximately 2,000. 
In the first corridor to the west of the railway, Lieu¬ 

tenant Danielewicz raised a force of about four hundred 
guerrillas. Defection of armed and uniformed Shans and 
Burmese working with local Japanese garrisons began to 
grow. Many of them joined Kachin guerrilla units. In the 
next two corridors to the west, Major Dow Grones and 
Captain Butch Thorlin, with several fine NCO’s, organ¬ 
ized two guerrilla units of 400 to 500 men each, with 

Mansi as their main base. Their camp spoke of confi¬ 
dence, protected as it was by row after row of pungyis, 
so numerous and planted so thickly that they served as 
barbed wire and would have withstood artillery fire. 

From this fortress, Major Grones carried on raids and 
sabotage operations. On one occasion his espionage agents 
located a Japanese motor pool and weapons park. Dow 
had the target thoroughly reconnoitered by his native 
intelligence net. Then he planned and rehearsed the de¬ 
tails of the operation with a small chosen group of Ka¬ 
chin guerrillas. They knew they would not have much 
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time to plant demolition charges before the local Japa¬ 
nese force would react. Therefore, they approached the 
target in silence, ignoring any other enemy installations. 
They reached the motor park undetected, quickly set 
fire to vehicles, shot up the gas tanks of those they could 
not ignite, and shoved the artillery pieces over a bluff 
into a river. Protection for the saboteurs was provided 

by guerrillas engaging the enemy garrison. Not only the 
artillery pieces, but between thirty and forty sedans 
and trucks, were destroyed in this short action. 

Further to the west Lieutenant Coussoule (“the 
Greek”), with a guerrilla force of about three hundred, 
conducted a similar operation. One evening he and a few 
of his guerrillas left their camp and moved south through 
the jungle. They marched all night and all the next day, 
and by midnight were fifty miles away and on the out¬ 
skirts of a large Japanese supply dump. They got a couple 
of hours of rest and just before daybreak raided the 
Japanese dump, catching the enemy completely by sur¬ 
prise. Coussoule’s men burned eleven large warehouses 
and destroyed over one thousand tons of critically needed 
supplies. Twenty-four hours later they were back in their 
own camp. 

The enemy, with two battalions, reacted to the guer¬ 
rilla activity. One battalion moved to the north in what 
appeared to be a feint toward the Hukawng Valley. Ma¬ 
jor Grones’s and Captain Thorlin’s guerrillas opposed 
this move by a series of delaying actions combined with 
numerous patrols to the Japanese rear to harass their 
communication lines and cut off their supplies. The Japa¬ 
nese lost heavily in these engagements against guerrillas 
whom they could not see. They eventually gave up their 
effort. 

Another Japanese reaction was to flood the area 
with agents to try to find out what our people were up 
to. These agents were without much training and could 

be uncovered easily. After they were captured, some were 
properly trained and worked as reliable agents for our 
guerrillas; others were dispatched to remote villages for 
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confinement. The occasional well-trained enemy agent 
captured behind the lines presented a problem. What do 
you do with enemy prisoners two hundred miles or more 
behind the enemy lines? Whenever possible, we flew liai¬ 
son aircraft to pick them up and fly them to within 
Allied lines for delivery to the British authorities. When 
this was not possible, they were turned over to Kachin 
guards for delivery overland to Allied hands. In many 
instances, the Kachins after a day’s march would return 
saying, “The prisoners tried to escape. We had to shoot 
them.” 

In the central area south of Myitkyina we expanded 
our operations. 

Lieutenant Conley and Sergeant Aubry were among 
the first in the area. They were met by Saw Judson’s 
agents and escorted to his hideout in the Hopin Hill 
1 ract. Saw assisted them in raising a guerrilla unit 
which, after a short period of hard training, moved south 
through the hills toward Katha. 

Later Lieutenant Dean Brelis joined forces with Saw. 
Their activities, both operationally and intelligencewise, 
were a model of efficiency. They seemed to know the 
location of every Jap in the railway corridor. When the 
Air Corps hit a target designated by Dean and Saw 
they knew everything about the target and got excellent 
results. Their raids and ambushes were carried out with 
comparable efficiency. 

Captain Grimm was in charge of operations in the 
central area. He had six guerrilla units varying in size 
from one hundred to four hundred men, under Lieutenants 

Conley, Adams, Barnes, Archer, Swift and Welch. These 
converged on the Japanese center at Katha. In a short 
period they cleared the Japs out of the surrounding vil- 
lages, put blocks on the river, roads and trails, and had 
effectively isolated the city. The fire fights were generally 
short and bitter. Japanese resistance was worn thin; when 
the British 36th Division arrived they entered the city 
of Katha almost without opposition. 
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In the Sinlum Hills east of Bhamo, Major Pete Joost 
and Major Lazum Tang of the Burma Army teamed up 
to develop the largest guerrilla formations ever raised 
by 101. Both of these men in their own way were gen¬ 
iuses in organization and logistics. Many ex Burma Army 
soldiers resided in the Sinlumkaba (big Sinlum mountain) 
area, and Lazum recruited them by the hundreds. He 
also organized ail of the nearby villages, handled dis¬ 
tribution of food, set up an intelligence net and did 
many things to bolster the morale of the civilian popu¬ 

lace. 
Joost had been captain of the Yale boxing team in 

his college days and maintained himself in keen trim 
to live the life of a guerrilla head. He understood the 
Kachins and their psychology and they almost idolized 
him. 101 was extremely fortunate; a better working com¬ 
bination than Lazum Tang and Pete Joost could not be 
found. Within three months they raised, equipped and 
trained two battalions, of 1,000 men each, and had three 
more in training. Lieutenant Mudrinich took command 
of the 1st Battalion and moved it south, adjacent to the 
Burma Road. The 2nd Battalion with Lieutenants Cha- 
males and Freudenberg moved east along the China bor¬ 

der. 
Part of the training for the guerrillas was to man the 

defenses, the ambushes on the trails leading into Sin¬ 
lum. Although Sinlum was located less than twenty miles 
from the major Japanese base at Bhamo, the Japanese 
made no serious attempt to evict them. They made some 
halfhearted tries, but it would have cost them dearly, so 
they preferred to ignore these defenses. 

Lieutenants Quinn and Francis, who had now been 
with 101 for over two years, also joined with Pete Joost. 
They set up listening posts along the Burma Road north 
of Lashio and produced highly reliable information until 
they and their agents were overtaken by the advances of 

the Allied forces. 
The 2nd Battalion of Joost’s men near the China bor¬ 

der had an unfortunate encounter with some local Chin- 
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ese in the area of Lweji. For several years the local war 
lords had been conducting forays into Burma, looting 
and pillaging as they went. On this occasion they razed 
nine Kachin villages. The Kachins, with American officers 
present, retaliated, eye for an eye, destroying nine Chi¬ 
nese villages. It was a situation charged with all forms 
of international implications. 

We received word of it immediately and I took it up 
with NCAC Headquarters. A team composed of a United 
States Army Colonel and a Colonel of the First Chinese 
Army was appointed to investigate. Their report, in brief, 
was to the effect that the Chinese had been wrong in their 
initial action, and that our 2nd Battalion was equally as 
wrong in their reaction. It was tit for tat. 

Much has been written about this situation in some of 
the more sensational periodicals. Some claimed that they 
had papers to prove the Chinese were under orders 
signed by the Generalissimo, that the agents involved 
were from the Chinese Intelligence Service, and the like. 
This to my mind is pure fantasy. I was present during the 
entire situation, talked with all participants, including 
the investigation team, yet the first I ever heard of these 
claims was ten years later in an American magazine. 

1 he situation did have its bizarre aspects. A few months 
later I received a personal memorandum from the Gen¬ 
eralissimo requesting payment of five hundred million 
CN for the damages inflicted upon the Chinese villages. 
This would amount to twenty-five million United States 
dollars, hardly payable out of the wages of a Colonel. 

The memorandum was turned over to CBI Theater Head¬ 
quarters, where a copy of the investigation was for¬ 
warded to the Generalissimo. This closed the matter, and 
nothing further was heard of the incident. 

It was important to our mission that elaborate liaison 

aiiangements be made between 101 and the combat com¬ 
mands involved with us. These included, besides NCAC, 
the British Fourteenth Army, 10th Air Force, Mars Task 
Force (which had replaced the Marauders), Allied Land 

orces Southeast Asia, the Chinese 1st and 6th Armies, 
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the Chindits, the British 36th Division and the Chinese 
50th Division. The liaison officers were some of our best 
officers and represented 101 in all matters—guerrilla op¬ 
erations, sabotage, espionage, administration, communi¬ 

cations, escape and deception plans. 
The relief of General Stilwell as Commander of the 

China-Burma-India Theater took place in October, 1944. 
It was the end of another era. Many books have been 
written on this subject, so there is little to be gained in 
belaboring it. I can only say that I thought then, and I 
still believe, it was a grave error in United States mili¬ 
tary and diplomatic judgment. It greatly weakened the 
United States position and was one of the first steps 
toward the ultimate victory of the Chinese Commu¬ 

nists. 
When the CBI Theater was divided into the India- 

Burma and China theaters, Lieutenant General Daniel 
I. Sultan became India-Burma Theater Commander, and 

Major General Albert C. Wedemeyer took over the China 

Theater. We felt great concern over the future of 101. 
General Sultan had been Stilwell’s deputy in New Delhi 
and had no firsthand knowledge of the battle in North¬ 
ern Burma. Our fears were put to rest, however, when he 
visited 101. He liked what he saw, especially the Kachin 
guerrillas, said so, and told us to get on with the job. 

Under the impetus of 101’s enlarged role in the cam¬ 
paign, operations had expanded considerably. We were 
air-dropping nearly a million and a half pounds of sup¬ 
plies each month to the units behind Japanese lines. 
Radio traffic had increased, and we were handling about 
10,000 messages a month. This was in excess of three 
hundred messages per day. All of the encoding and de¬ 
coding of messages was done by hand, and as late as 
November, 1944 there were three cryptographic systems 
being used. We had been successful, at long last, with 

long-range intelligence activities; ten agent operations 

were established in locations south of Mandalay, in the 

Southern Shan States. 
Our guerrillas no longer had to face the possibility of 
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being wounded and left behind to die or be captured. 
Each guerrilla unit now had medical personnel assigned, 
and liaison aircraft flew the wounded to United States 
hospitals. The hospital food was bland to the Kachins’ 
taste for fiery foods; they could not talk with the doctors 
or nurses and were not responding properly. Commander 
Luce supervised the construction of our own hospital at 
Nazira and staffed it with Burmese nurses and cooks. 
It worked miracles and did much to build up the morale 
of the guerrilla forces. 

We no longer relied on a whisper of a light aircraft 
to keep us going. Seventeen different aircraft by now 
were assigned to 101, and we had a total of twenty pilots. 
They performed a yeoman task in evacuating the 
wounded; delivering radios, maps, funds and critical sup¬ 

plies; and moving the commanders from place to place 
to coordinate their operations. 

There were now about two hunded and fifty United 
States officers and seven hundred and fifty enlisted men 
in 101. Included were eight officers who had requested 
transfer from the Marauders when that unit was inacti¬ 
vated. They were some of our finest. Sergeant Brough, 
a British subject in the United States Army serving with 

Seagrave Hospital Unit, and a conscientious objector, 
also transferred to 101. He proved a tower of strength. 

Considered together, the over-all activities of 101 had 
become most complex. Aside from the guerrilla and es¬ 
pionage activities, there was a wide variety of other 
activities underway. To coordinate them with one another 
and with the operations of the combat forces kept the 
operations officer, Major Moore and his staff, and the 
communicators at their jobs around the clock seven days 
a week. One mock airdrop had already been carried out 
to assist the British Fourteenth Army in their drive on 
Mandalay; another was being planned. Several weather 
stations had been set up behind the lines to collect meteor¬ 
ological data for the Air Corps Weather Service. Detach¬ 

ment 101’s X-2 (counter-intelligence personnel) were 
working with NCAC Headquarters to ferret out Burmese 
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traitors and war criminals, and there were more than a 
few. The black propaganda operations under Lieutenant 
Colonel George Boldt started paying dividends: several 
Japanese soldiers had already surrendered, carrying leaf¬ 
lets supposedly printed by the Japanese high command, 
but which actually had been printed and distributed be¬ 
hind the lines by 101. And above and beyond all of this, 
in Southern Burma our detachment had a unit of over 
one hundred officers and men working with the British 

V Corps carrying out espionage and maritime operations 
—underwater swimmers and the like. There was very 
little going on within the combat units in Burma in which, 
directly or indirectly, 101 was not involved. 

The role of our guerrillas had also undergone a subtle 
change. More and more 101 troops were battering away 
at the enemy with a combination of conventional as 
well as unconventional tactics. Nor were we bothered 
by the change. We were proving ourselves; and with 
the end of the campaign in sight, we were anxious 
to be present for the final kill. 

XVI 

With the capture of Bhamo by the Chinese 1st Army, 
the forward Headquarters of 101 at Myitkyina was 
a long way from the front lines and still further from 
the guerrilla units. NCAC had already started moving 
into Bhamo proper. The 101 forward Headquarters 
was getting to be fairly large with several sections. If 
we moved into Bhamo itself, we would be spread all 
over the city. So we sent out a reconnaissance and 
quartering party and instructed them to look for a 
nearby village. They were most fortunate. About five 
miles south of the town, they located a Shan village large 
enough to house the entire group. It had sufficient 
housing for our needs and nearby a cattle-grazing area 
which could be converted into a two-thousand-foot land¬ 
ing strip. We moved into the village in late January, 
at the same time as the NCAC and the 10th Air Force 

Headquarters completed their move into Bhamo. 
Not knowing how long the operations against Lashio 

and Mandalay would last or what the orders to 101 
would be beyond those points, we had to plan as if 
the campaign would continue on toward the south. We 
stepped up the tempo of our espionage operations. In 
the next four months nineteen additional agent groups 
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were infiltrated into Burma, an average of about five 
each month. They were put into operations by just 
about every means possible: some parachuted, others 
were flown into one of the guerrilla units and made 
overland penetrations. In one case, a helicopter was 
used to land the agent, the first time, to my knowledge, 
that a helicopter was used in clandestine operations. 

“Betty” was the agent put in by helicopter. From 
Myitkyina, he was flown to an area north of Hsipaw, 
landed, and from there worked his way overland to 
the area of the Bawdwin mines at Namtu, near Lashio. 
Landing an agent by helicopter in those days was not 
as easy as it may sound today. The machine was an Air 

Rescue helicopter of the 10th Air Force, and it had 
definite limitations. It could not fly higher than 7,000 
feet and it could not get off the ground with a passenger 
at elevations of over 3,000 feet. The operational area 
was mountainous and the plateau of the Shan States 
was about 4,000 feet high. Extreme care had to be 
taken to pick out a landing site that would be clear 
of obstructions, near where Betty wanted to go, and 
that would permit the helicopter to get back in the 
air. The operation went off exactly as planned and by 
mid-December, Betty was operating. He reported that 
the people were ripe for development of a guerrilla 
force, so we suggested to Major Joost that he move 
Major Lutkin into the area. Betty helped Major Lutkin 
recruit his guerrilla force and then was given a new 
mission. He went on foot through the hills to the area 
of Laihka and there set up operations. This area was 
critical. To the south lay the major road into Thailand, 
to the east was the route from Loilem to Lashio and 

in addition there were major airfield complexes at 
Taunggyi (Heho), Laihka and Namsang. Betty trained 
a group of local Shan operators, and his intelligence 
reports were accurate, extensive and timely. He also 
captured three Japanese civil administrators. One was 
the local governor and the other two economists. They 
were flown out and provided a wealth of information 
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concerning the political, economic and military organ¬ 
ization in Burma and in Japan. 

Agent groups were successfully put into operation 
near Yamethin, Taunggyi, Lawksawk and Kentung. Not 
all agent groups were so successful. Three groups, one 
after the other, failed to come on the air. They were 
later recovered and it was found that in all cases they 
had been unable to locate their radio. Had we dropped 
a pigeon with each operator, as we later learned to 
do, we would have discovered the difficulty and could 
have dropped another radio set. 

Several of the agent operations were initiated at the 
request of other commands. The 10th Air Force requested 
that agents be put into six specified areas to check 
on bombing and strafing targets. We had personnel 
capable of working in five out of the six locations. 
They were parachuted into operation, and four of them 
came on the air with their radios. One lost his communi¬ 

cation equipment but was located later and another 

radio was dropped to him. The British Fourteenth Army 
asked that we put in some agents to check the roads 
in their sector. Five were requested; four were put in, 
and all were successful. Additionally, Z Force (which 
conducted clandestine operations in support of the 
Fourteenth Army) did not have the capability for 
night-drop operation, so we obliged and dropped them 
at their targets. They too were successful. 

With the advance of the Allied Forces south of 
Bhamo, Major Joost moved his Area I field headquarters 
northwest of Lashio and began concentrating his guer¬ 
rilla battalions around that city. There were now seven 
battalions, each at a strength of about one thousand, a 
formidable force. 

The 3rd Battalion, under Lieutenant Joe Lazarsky, 

was the first to move. They crisscrossed the Burma 
Road north of Lashio several times, each time shooting 

yp Japanese foot and motor columns and raising hell 
ln general. Lazarsky was hurting the Japs, and they 
reacted with pressure, infantry, artillery and tanks. 
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Joe withdrew under pressure, ambushing the enemy at 
every turn, until he reached his airfield. There a three- 
day pitched battle was fought. It was during this 
engagement that Sergeant Brough ceased being a 
conscientious objector. As a medical aid man he had jj 
three wounded guerrillas killed on his back as he at¬ 
tempted to carry them to safety from the far side of 
the strip. He said, “If that is the way they are going 
to fight, I am no longer an objector.” He took charge 
of one of the companies and served with outstanding 
distinction. He was later given a battlefield commission . 
in the United States Army and after the war became 
a medical doctor in England under the G.I. Bill of 

Rights. 
Major Delaney’s Sth Battalion, northwest of Lashio, 

stung the Japs on several occasions. The Japanese, in 
reacting to this will-of-the-wisp threat, foolishly attempted 
to mount a frontal assault on some of the guerrrilla 
outposts. The guerrillas inflicted heavy casualties on ■ 
them. 

One problem which faced us was in the assessing ; 
and reporting of casualties. In many of our reports 
to Washington and NCAC Headquarters there would 
be forty to sixty Japs killed and perhaps only one or 
two guerrillas listed as wounded. This sometimes be- j 
came difficult for a commander of conventional troops ; 
to understand. In one instance Major Delaney had 
reported seventy-three Japs killed in an engagement on 
a certain hilltop with no guerrilla casualties. General j 
Cannon at NCAC Headquarters said: 

“Ray, what are you reporting stuff like that for? You ■ 
know that cannot be accurate.” j 

“Obviously I don’t have firsthand knowledge,, but if 
Bob Delaney said he killed seventy-three that is good | 

enough for me,” I replied. 
General Cannon was a gentleman. I saw him a 

couple of days later and he said, 
“Ray, I will have to apologize.” and showed me a < 

copy of a message from tie Chinese 113th Regiment. I ; 
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When they reached the hilltop reported by Major 
Delaney they found not seventy-three but seventy-seven 
dead Japanese. 

Meanwhile, the other battalions moved in to tighten 
the ring around the city. Lazum Tang moved the last 
battalion, the 6th, southwest of Lashio and Major Grones 
joined Captain Barnes in forming a seventh battalion 
of Kachins and Shans east of Lashio. The seven bat¬ 
talions eventually gained control of all the roads and 
trails leading into the city and were sitting on the 
ridges surrounding it. To avoid any conflict between 
the guerrillas and the regular troops, when the Chinese 
advanced on Lashio from the north, all of the guer¬ 
rilla battalions were withdrawn about IS miles to the 
west. The Chinese occupied the city with practically 
no resistance. 

Further to the west in Area II under Major Maddox, 
the veteran but badly depleted Japanese 18th Division 
and some separate battalion-size units were putting 
up a stiff resistance to the British 36th Division and 
the Chinese 50th Division. The Chinese 50th Division, 
which, had relieved the 22nd in the area of Tonkwa, 
was given the mission of seizing the Bawdwin mines 
at Namtu and then occupying Hsipaw in hopes of 
cutting off the Japanese remaining in the Lashio area. 
One of its regiments decimated a Japanese company 
at the Shweli River after which the division crossed 
and proceeded on to take Namtu against light opposition 
in mid-February. By mid-March they had occupied 
Hsipaw. For no apparent reason the Japanese gave up 
Hsipaw without a fight, but then they severely rocked 
the 50th Division for a day or two with strong, sharp 
counterattacks. The Chinese, however, were there and 
they meant to stay. They were on the main road and 
a few days later linked up with other Chinese forces 
in the area of Lashio. 

General Festings split the 36th British Division into 
two columns. One column, consisting of one brigade, 
was to parallel the Irrawaddy River and then turn 
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east in the area of Twinge to attack Mongmit from the 
west. The other column, composed of two brigades, 
was to cross the Irrawaddy at Katha and advance down 
the trail, cross the Shweli River and attack Mongmit 
from the north. The western brigade advanced against 
almost negligible opposition. This was not so with the 
other two brigades; in trying to cross the Shweli in the 
area of Myitson, they encountered stiff resistance. 
Three times the Japs threw them back across the river, 
and they finally had to effect an envelopment to out¬ 
flank and get across. In one encounter alone nearly 
four hundred Japs were killed. 

Still further west the offensive of General Slim’s 
Fourteenth Army was well under way. By mid-January 
1945, the 19th Indian Division had reached the Irra¬ 
waddy and had joined up with the westernmost brigade 
of the 36th Division. Detachment 101 had provided a 
liaison team to work with the 19th Division. By mid- 
March the Fourteenth Army was knocking on the door 
of Mandalay. The Japanese 18th Division was sorely 
needed for the defense of Mandalay, so they were 
withdrawn from the Mongmit area except for one badly 
understrength regiment. Thereafter, the 36th Division 
had little difficulty in seizing Mongmit and, subsequently, 
Mogok, world-famed ruby center. By the end of March 
the 36th Division was also on the road, and the Allies 
now controlled it all the way from Mandalay to 
Kunming. 

The activities in Area II were somewhat different 
from any we had ever conducted. The Japanese, with 
pressure on them, were retreating helter-skelter in every 
direction. 

There were about twenty guerrilla units operating 
in Area II, each with one hundred to three hundred 
guerrillas. Some of the leaders included Lieutenants 
Scott, Weld, Archer, Coussoule, Conley, Martin, West, 
Pamplin, Hartman, Hansen, Larum, Truex, Meade, 
Pangborn, Powers, Poole, Romanski, Stein, Wright, Bro- 
phy, Milton and Major Saw Dhee Htu (“Burma Sam”), 
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and Captain Brunstad. There were about thirty-five 
United States enlisted men with them. 

Lieutenants Scott and Weld, both of whom had 
transferred to 101 from the Marauders, and Lieutenant 
Archer conducted several ambushes against the 18th 
Division north of Mongmit and severely stung the Japs. 
The Japs reacted strongly and attacked a defensive 
position these guerrillas had set up. The Japs had a 
strength of about seven hundred, and were resolved 
to wipe out the guerrillas, a hope they did not realize. 
The guerrillas finally withdrew, but not until they had 
inflicted heavy casualties upon the Japs. Lieutenant 
Scott was wounded in this action and had to be 
evacuated from the field. 

West of Mongmit on the Thabeikkyin Road, Lieu¬ 
tenant Conley’s guerrillas ambushed retreating Japs. 
In one instance they killed about sixty out of a 
hundred and in another they set a block on a trail and 

annihilated a group of forty. A few miles east of Con¬ 
ley’s force Lieutenant “Hamp” Knight located a road¬ 

block the Japs had set up. He attacked it with a force 

of about fifteen Kachins, killed two Japs and dispersed 

the remainder with grenades. Hamp had revenge on 
his mind. His younger brother, a master sergeant with 

the Mars Task Force, had been killed in the Nam- 
hpakka action. Posthumously he had been awarded the 

Congressional Medal of Honor, the only one in the 
CBI Theater. 

From time to time Major Maddox consolidated the 

guerrilla forces into larger units. For example: Lieu¬ 
tenants Weld, West and Pamplin and Major Burma 
Sam all joined forces to cover the road from Mongmit 

to Maymyo. Lieutenant Coussoule was operating only 
a few miles north of Mandalay with a mixed force 

of Kachins and Gurkhas. He joined forces with Bill 
Martin’s group and they began operating along the 
main road between Mandalay and Maymyo, blowing 

up a couple of large ammunition dumps, which deprived 
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the Japs of ammunition for the defense of Mandalay 
at a time when they needed it most. 

There was one group of Kachins in the training base 
which had been specially organized and was being held 
until the right opportunity presented itself. The unit 
was only about thirty strong, but every man had been 
selected because of his previous performance as a guer¬ 
rilla; they were rough, rugged and primed for combat; 
they were led by Lieutenant Billy Milton, assisted by 
Anglo-Burmese from the O Group and a radio operator. 

The proper situation finally developed along the roads 
leading to Mongmit and Mogok from the west. On 
a night drop, Billy’s entire group was parachuted 
between the two roads so that they could operate 
against both arteries. The Japs in retreat before the 
Fourteenth Army were streaming through this area in 
a disorganized manner. One day Billy’s unit ambushed 
a group of almost a hundred Japs on the Mongmit 
road, leaving only a few survivors. A few days later 
they hit the southern road and killed nearly fifty. In 
a two-week period this thirty-man group alone killed 
nearly three hundred Japs. 

Further to the south beyond the Mandalay-Lashio 
Road Captain Larum and Lieutenant Truex each had 
groups of approximately three hundred guerrillas. These 
units conducted some effective raids, but their greatest 
value was the irritant effect and the threat they posed 
for the Japs. They also had agents and provided some 
excellent intelligence on Japanese activity between 
Maymyo and Kyaukme. 

While all of these operations were underway, Area 
II agents were covering all the roads, railroads and trails 
in the Mandalay-Maymyo-Lashio area. They were keep¬ 
ing a close check on Japanese activity along the 
Irrawaddy River and its nearby roads. Their work in 
pinpointing targets for the 10th Air Force and the 
RAF was close to miraculous. We had a system of 
agents reporting targets from air photos, and Allied 
air strikes became devastatingly precise. 
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The Japanese had an internment camp in Maymyo. 

Agents of 101 were in contact with some of the prisoners, 
and sent messages by radio to be relayed to relatives. 
The internees were ill and suffering from malnutrition, 
so arrangements were made to drop medicine and certain 
concentrated foods to the agents to provide these 
people. We would have done it under any circum¬ 
stances, but these packets gave our agents a good 
reputation with the local populace and greatly increased 

their capabilities. 
A comparable arrangement was made in Mandalay. 

The letter from Monsignor Usher perhaps explains it 

more clearly. 

Dear Colonel Peers: 9 May 1945 
It is my pleasant duty to write on behalf of 22 

missionary priests acknowledging a great debt we owe 
to you and your organization. During the Japanese 
occupation we were interned at the St. John’s Leper 
Hospital, Mandalay. Your planes kept away most care¬ 
fully from that area, so that not a single bomb fell 

within our enclosure. 
I have been informed by Father Stuart that this was 

due to the special orders issued to the Air-Corps. We 
have the best reasons for appreciating very much your 

kindly action. 
Will you please be so good as to convey our special 

thanks to Major Brown of your organization who took 
great pains to inform all sections of the Air Force of 
our whereabouts? He left nothing to chance and has 
thereby earned our deep gratitude. 

Included among us were two American citizens, three 
Australasians, the rest Irishmen. In the same enclosure 
were a French Bishop, a few French priests, and nursing 
Sisters and other internal Sisters, in all about a hundred. 

All of us shall ever remember in our prayers the 

success of your organization. 
I am, dear Colonel Peers, 

Yours very Sincerely, 

P. Usher 
Monsignor Patrick Usher 
Catholic Bishop of Bhamo and North Burma 

Not all of the intelligence operations in the Man¬ 
dalay area were so successful. The hate group was the 
one notable failure. The reason for their failure was 
never determined. But from time to time the memory 
of this operation returns: we lost an entire group of 
five top-level agents. The leader and radio operator 
went in first. They collected some very valuable infor¬ 
mation and asked to have the other three members 
of the group parachuted in to them, which was done. 

The group set up a base near Kyaukme and from 
there each man established cover for himself in towns 
and villages along the road. Things went well for a 
time, and we received some excellent intelligence reports. 
All of a sudden the entire net closed down. We waited 

and placed a special radio monitor on their frequency 
to pick up any signal, but could not find a trace of 
them. About a month later we learned they had been 
apprehended and assembled in Kyaukme by the Jap¬ 
anese. Exactly how or why they were picked up we 
were never able to know. Obviously, however, one must 
have been apprehended, broken down under interrogation, 
revealed the identity and location of another member 
and so on until the entire operation was uncovered. 
From Hsipaw the Japs moved them to the Lashio jail 
and, according to reports from other agents in the area, 
the prisoners were being subjected to extreme torture. 
One afternoon at about dusk a flight of three fighter 
bombers, as if by an act of providence, placed bomb- 
loads on the jail. The entire structure was levelled and 
the men no longer had to face prolonged torture. 

General Sultan had advised 101 that, when the com¬ 
bat troops reached the Lashio-Mandalay line, we should 
take action to disband our guerrilla force. Some of 
the Kachins lived only a hundred miles away, but many 
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more had come from well north of Myitkyina and had 
traveled nearly three hundred miles from home. They 
had been serving as guerrillas for over two years and 
were tired of fighting. They had satisfied their 
adventuresome, nomadic spirit and now wanted to see 
their families. The Area commanders prepared to in¬ 
activate their units. This involved many things such as 
pay, collection of weapons and equipment, awards, 
settlements for casualties, property damage and trans¬ 
portation home. Those Kachins whose homes were nearby 
we planned to send home on foot, while those who lived 
a considerable distance away, we planned to fly back 

to the airfield nearest their homes. 
Besides the Citation for Military Assistance (CMA) 

which was awarded for feats of outstanding gallantry, 
101 also initiated a Campaign Badge to be awarded 
all Kachin Rangers who had served with distinction 

against the enemy. It was a bar about three inches 
long, made of silver with burma campaign engraved 
on its face and a lightning-slashed 101 in the center. 
They cost about $2.00 each to manufacture and were 
prized by the Kachins. We also had a shoulder patch 
made which was presented to them on discharge. It 
was red, white and blue along the lines of the CBI 
patch with kachin rangers embroidered across the 
top. The effect was tremendous. They were being 
treated as equals, not as mercenaries. They could hardly - 

restrain their tears. 
Everything was going well, but 101 had hardly more 

than begun inactivation of its guerrilla units before 
the situation in China became suddenly clouded with 
crisis. A couple of Japanese divisions started a drive 
which appeared headed for Chekiang and possibly 
Kunming. A decision was made to move the remaining 
Chinese divisions and the American infantry battalions 
to China earlier than had been planned. General Sultan 
called me in and informed me of the plan. He was 
deeply concerned because this would deprive him of 
his last combat soldier. He feared lest the newly opened 
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Stilwell Road to China would be exposed to possible 
Japanese action north of Lashio. His main concern 
was the area south of Hsipaw-Maymyo where there 
were an estimated five to six thousand Japanese, mostly 
of the 56th Division. He was also concerned about 
the road from Taunggyi to Kentung which the Japa¬ 
nese were using as an escape route to Thailand. 

In the early spring of 1945 the British Fourteenth 
Army occupied Meiktila after a bloody battle. Part 
of the British thrust was then directed toward Man¬ 
dalay, but even before that city was captured, General 
Slim turned the major portion of his Army south toward 
Pegu, Prome and Rangoon, the last of which was 
reoccupied in May. This operation cut off all Japanese 
forces to the west. They were sick and starved. They 
had to break up into small groups to try to filter through 
the lines and make their way to the safety of Thailand. 
Only a few of them succeeded. 

General Sultan asked if I thought 101’s ten thousand 
guerrillas could clear the Japs out of this area and 
seize the Taunggyi-Kentung Road. Evidently, he had 
forgotten he had told us to disband and that it was 
already well in process. In addition, we had already 
sent a large number of our American personnel to join 
the OSS unit in China. I explained to him why I 
thought we should go on with the inactivation, one 
of the main reasons being that we had told the Kachins, 
and they were returning home. Never once had we 
gone back on our word. Naturally, however, we wanted 
to do everything possible to achieve General Sultan’s 
objective. With this in mind we queried each of the 
units and the following day I outlined what I thought 
we could do. Major Grones’s battalion east of Lashio, 
and Major Lutkin’s unit in the area of Hsipaw had 
been organized only a comparatively short time and 
both had done well in combat. We could retain a large 
percentage of these guerrillas. By obtaining volunteers 
from the other units we hoped to organize two additional 
battalions. Also, by recruiting from the local popu- 
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lation we could obtain a sufficient number of guerrillas 
with previous military training to fill out all of the 
four battalions. We planned on deploying these bat¬ 
talions as independent units along a road or axis to 
the south to intercept the escape route to Thailand. 
General Sultan agreed to the plan and guaranteed all 
of the drop aircraft and tactical air support required 

to do the job. 
Major Delaney took over Major Lutkin’s battalion 

and immediately headed south through the hills. It was 
known as the 10th Battalion. The other three battal¬ 
ions were given approximately a month to reorganize, 
fill up, re-equip and train, prior to movement south. 
Major Grones retained his battalion, now known as 
the 1st Battalion. Lieutenant Colonel Newell Brown, 
who had served as the Area I intelligence officer, took 
command of one of the new battalions, the 2nd. Major 
Maddox, who had been with 101 from the first 
operation, took over the other battalion, the 3rd. It 
was both fitting and fortunate that Red took this bat¬ 
talion; it encountered the heaviest fighting and per¬ 

formed well under pressure. 

XVII 

We were to move out as infantry, take ground, hold 
ground. Our credentials were guerrilla. We knew we 
could whip the Japanese with guerrilla tactics, because 
we had done it time and time before. However, we 
also knew that the Kachins and other guerrillas in the 
unit could not stand up to the Japanese with formalized 
military tactics: they had not been trained for it, their 
equipment was not appropriate, they had seldom 
encountered artillery fire. With this in mind we assembled 
some of the more experienced guerrilla leaders to obtain 
their views, as well as those of the four commanders 
of the new battalions, to determine what type of tactics 
should be used. Some of the more useful principles that 
developed were these. 

Our general tactics would have to combine the con¬ 
ventional and the unconventional. Straight infantry 
tactics would be essential at certain times, because 
the enemy would have to be physically ejected from 
his defensive positions, and because part of our mis¬ 
sion was to comb the area so that no pockets of resistance 
would remain behind the guerrilla battalions. To the 
maximum extent, however, the guerrilla units were to 
remain light and mobile so that, with the heavy fire- 
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power from their light automatic weapons, they could 
move around the Japanese flanks to attack his defenses 
from the rear. 

There could be no prescribed pattern of tactics for 
the battalions; each unit had to develop tactics to fit 
its own requirements and scheme of maneuver. The 
10th Battalion, for example, had a purely guerrilla 
mission: proceed through the hills, avoid contact with 
the Japs until they reached the area of Loilem, and 
there set up a base from which to conduct harassing, 
hit-and-run operations. The 3rd Battalion represented 
the opposite extreme. They were opposed by a vastly 
superior Japanese force which they were supposed to 
drive back to the Taunggyi area; to do so they had 
to use conventional tactics to a great extent. The 
situations of the 1st and 2nd Battalions lay somewhere 
between these two extremes. The fact was that their 
situations were all different, and 101 had to be flexible 
enough in its planning and logistics to meet the 

individual needs of these units. 
From this, of course, stemmed a third important 

guerrilla principle. We had to place the utmost faith 
in the competence of the battalion commanders and in 
their ability to adjust the tactics to fit their own 
immediate situations. We gave them what are known 
as mission-type orders, i.e., we told them what was 
wanted and left it up to them to determine how to 
do it. Each of these commanders was experienced in 
combat, guerrilla style. Lieutenant Colonel Brown had 
the least experience behind the lines (about nine 
months), while Red Maddox had the most, with nearly 
three years. Collectively, there was probably not a better 
group of guerrilla combat commanders any place in 
the world. They also had an excellent group of trained, 
experienced junior officers and non-commissioned officers. 
Likewise, the Kachin and other native guerrilla leaders 
were highly competent and had become accustomed to 
working with Americans. In the aggregate, they made 
a fairly awesome collection of guerrilla leaders, and 
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anybody would have been highly pleased to have 
commanded them. 

The final point concerned air supply. The airdrop 
procedures for supplying food, ammunition and sundries 
were satisfactory and would need no change. However, 
against certain Japanese strong points the guerrillas 
would probably need artillery support, but we did not 
want to encumber them with artillery and heavy loads 
of ammunition. In the area of Lashio, some of the 
battalions had encountered situations requiring artillery 
in which 4.2-inch mortars and ammunition had been 
dropped to them. This was a fine weapon, with nearly 
a four-mile range and the wallop of a 105mm howitzer. 
However, the battalions could not afford to weigh down 
the troops and lose mobility, so when they were 
through with the fire mission they blew up the weapon, 
its gunsight and the spare ammunition. This technique 
was adopted for each of the battalions; qualified mortar 
teams were shifted about as the situation demanded 
the 4.2 weapon. 

The Japanese forces consisted of elements of the 
18th and 56th Divisions estimated at 5,000 men scat¬ 
tered throughout the northern sector and a like number 
in the Loilem-Taunggyi-Kalaw area. These troops had 
artillery, tankettes and motor transport as well as the 
standard infantry armament. They were seasoned vet¬ 
erans and had adequate supplies. The paramount 
advantage of Detachment 101 was its intelligence net¬ 
work. Through this medium much was known about the 
Japanese strength and dispositions. The enemy, on the 
other hand, knew little of the activities or strength of 
Detachment 101. 

Major Delaney’s 10th Battalion started off the final 
mission in early April, 1945. His unit skirted Hsipaw and 
proceeded through the hills paralleling the road to the 
vicinity of Loilem. En route they encountered only one 
sizeable Japanese force of about sixty strong; they killed 
fourteen. By mid-April the battalion had established a 
redoubt in the hills overlooking the target—the Taung- 
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gyi-Kentung Road—and was ready for action. During 
the next two months guerrilla patrols from the 10th Bat¬ 
talion roamed the areas far and wide and played havoc 
with the Japanese units. Hardly a day passed that a unit 

of the battalion wasn’t engaged. 
Toward the end of April a Japanese force of about 

company strength attempted to capture the guerilla’s 
field base camp and its light aircraft strip. The absence 
of many of the guerrillas, away on ambush work along 
the road between Loilem and Taunggyi, weakened the 
defenses of the field base camp. The battle for the base 
lasted over two days. In the end the guerrillas retained 
the camp with a loss of two men, while killing almost 

forty Japanese. 
A small guerrilla force made a surprise attack on a 

Jap post north of Laihka. The guerrillas stole silently 
into the position and struck, killing seventeen, wound¬ 
ing many more. One truck was demolished and a ware¬ 
house burned. The enemy, thinking it was an attack in 
force, burned still another warehouse. The attacking 

guerrillas suffered no casualties. 
By May, units of the battalion were striking repeated¬ 

ly at the enemy lines of communication between Loilem 
and Taunggyi. In early May a convoy of ten trucks, 
loaded with about one hundred Japanese, was ambushed 
and attacked killing approximately fifteen Japs. Actions 
of this type upset the Japs so badly that they organized 
a force of five hundred, equipped it with artillery, and 
sent it north to seize the guerrilla base camp. The first 
encounter, on 8 May, resulted in thirty-five Japanese 
killed; there were no guerrilla casualties. Three days 
later the Japs continued the action and pushed the guer¬ 
rillas back several miles, but they lost nearly thirty men 
while the guerrillas had only two wounded. After five 
costly days in which the Japs lost heavily, they learned 
they could not pin down the guerrillas and finally gave 

up their offensive. 
To retaliate against the Japanese attack on his base 

camp, Major Delaney sent two companies of guerrillas 
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to the Mongpawn area, where they ambushed road traf¬ 
fic and turned mortars on the Japanese Headquarters in 
the town itself. Over sixty-five Japs were reported killed 
m the three-day battle. A third guerrilla unit of about 
fifty .men raided a Japanese camp west of Loilem. Of the 
one hundred-odd Japanese in the camp, seventy-six were 
killed, three trucks destroyed, and a gasoline dump 
burned, along with a warehouse and the entire set of 
barracks. A few days later near Mongpawn a Jap con¬ 
voy of six trucks was caught in a double ambush, fore 
and aft, in which four trucks were burned and fifty-four 
enemy killed. 

. 10th Battalion had become experts in the execu¬ 
tion of pure guerrilla tactics. They refused to fight the 
enemy on his terms—the raiding of Jap camps and am¬ 
bushing of motor columns were their primary tactics, 
t hese techniques proved highly successful. By mid-June 
the Japanese had given up completely the use of the road 
between Taunggyi and Mongpawn. The 10th Battalion 
was in complete control of this stretch of the road. 

In the two and one-half months the 10th Battalion was 
m operation they killed three hundred and four Japs. 
Twenty-two vehicles were destroyed, along with numer¬ 
ous depots and storage areas. This battalion was nearly 
all Kachin. Their casualties were less than ten killed. 

Ihe 1st Battalion, under Major Dow Grones, was the 
first. Detachment 101 unit to seize and hold a sizeable 
portion of the Taunggyi-Kentung Road. This was quite 
an accomplishment. The battalion had only a few Kach- 
ms to serve as the nucleus, with the remainder of the 
unit, about seven hundred, consisting of Shans and Pid- 
aungs, neither noted for their warlike nature. Dow 
worked with the smaller units, patiently and skillfully 
molding them into fighting formation. He had with him 
highly competent junior officers and NCO’s such as Lieu¬ 
tenants Fitzhugh, Freudenberg, Hartman, Barnes and 
Warper. Within a period of five to six weeks they had 
the unit ready to move. 

The battalion’s mission was to move south, generally 
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along the west bank of the Salween River, clearing out 
all pockets of Japanese resistance, until they reached the 
Taunggyi-Kentung Road. Then they were to establish 
a roadblock to deny the Japanese the use of the road 
as an escape route to Thailand. Their first objective 
was Kehsi-Mansam, a state capital and a center of Shan 
culture. Light patrols probed the town, and a few days 
later the 1st Battalion struck with force to occupy it. 
One of the interesting highlights of this attack was that 
one of lOTs most competent Shan agents was in the 
town. Before, and even during, the attack he was send¬ 
ing out information about the Japanese dispositions. 

Patrolling by the 1st Battalion continued southward, 
and a few days later the road was reached. Here the bat¬ 
talion encountered a Japanese force of one hundred and 
fifty or more and drove them from a suspension bridge 
to the high, fortified ground to the south. Subsequent 
Japanese counterattacks drove the guerrillas from the 
bridge, but not until a considerable number of casual¬ 
ties had been inflicted on the enemy. A coordination of 
guerrilla attacks and aerial bombardment by the 10th 
Air Force rendered the bridge inoperable and beyond 
repair. Thus, the road was effectively closed. The guer¬ 
rillas continued to harass the Japanese defenses on the 
high ground by sending patrols well south to attack 
them from the rear. The mobility and firepower of the 
guerrillas was such that there was little the Japs could 
do about them. In one instance a guerrilla unit opened 
fire at point-blank range and killed over fifteen and 

wounded many more. '> 
By the end of May the 1st Battalion had accomplished 

its mission and was systematically patrolling _ the road 
between the river and Namsang. In all of their engage¬ 
ments the 1st Battalion killed forty-eight Japanese with¬ 
out any of its forces being killed. The battalion had sev¬ 
eral wounded but Captain Woolington, the battalion med¬ 

ical officer, was always on hand, and only a few re¬ 
quired evacuation to the Detachment hospital. . 

Lieutenant Colonel Newell Brown’s 2nd Battalion had 

a 
JAPANESE ESCAPE 
ROUTE TO TWUUWO 
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a rough job, one that provided little opportunity for any 
free maneuvering. Their mission was to advance due 
south along the first-class, paved road between Hsipaw 
and Loilem and to clear all Jap pockets of resistance 
as they advanced. They were also to establish some 1 
form of effective contact with the 1st Battalion on their 
left and the 10th on their right to insure that no Jap 
pockets were left behind in these adjacent areas. \ 

Initially the 2nd Battalion encountered only scattered 
enemy resistance. They occupied Mongkung in early May 
and passed on toward Laihka. North of Laihka they cap- j 
tured two large dumps, one medical and the other ammu- 1 
nition. Both dumps were extremely well dug in and 1 
camouflaged, almost defying detection to anything but 1 
close-in ground reconnaissance. Considering the scale of J 
the Japanese operations in Burma, these were huge de- j 
pots, each spread out over a square mile or more, and J 
they were by far the largest we had encountered in the en¬ 
tire Burma campaign. The hasty advance of the Battal¬ 
ion did not permit the Japanese to demolish the dumps, 
and they were seized intact. The medical supplies were 
surprisingly good and were an answer to 101’s medi¬ 
cal needs during the remainder of the campaign. 

The town of Laihka contained three all-weather air¬ 
strips which had been constructed by the Japanese. The 
2nd Battalion had expected a hot fire-fight for the town, 
but the Japs withdrew from it under the protection of a 
light covering force after setting off demolition charges i 
on the runways. As the battalion moved south, how¬ 
ever, they were met by increasingly stiff Japanese resist¬ 
ance. The guerrillas encountered several Japanese de¬ 
fensive positions and an ambush which stung more than» 
hurt them. Both sides seemed willing to settle for a 
draw and pulled back a few miles to reorganize. The 
Japanese plan for the defense of the area was now be¬ 
coming apparent. They had given up Laihka, which was* 
located on an open, plain area and had withdrawn all of ■ 
their troops to the tree-covered hill tracts to the south. ■ 
This area offered them concealment, and they could dig 
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in near the road leading south into Loilem and cover it 
with rifle and artillery fire. Loilem was the key to the 
Jap defenses. It was the main road junction with the 
Taunggyi-Kentung Road, and there was no doubt that 
the Japanese intended to hold it at all costs. Major 
Brown’s battalion contained a large percentage of ex¬ 
perienced Kachin guerrillas. Brown’s officers, Lieutenants 
Wright and Hansen and Captain Conklin and others, 
were also experienced guerrilla fighters. Some of the guer¬ 
rillas were placed on extensive patrolling and they 
ranged far and wide, often many miles south of Loilem. 
Colonel Brown accompanied one of his guerrilla patrols 
on the reconnaissance of a bridge. They ran into some 
unexpected trouble with the result that he was shot in 
the butt; however the wound was not serious, and he 
remained in the field. As one of his companions jokingly 
put it, “You can sure see which direction he was going.” 

1 These patrols verified the extent of the Jap defenses 
and in doing so also accounted for thirty-one dead Japs. 
Lieutenant Wright was wounded on one of the patrols 
and had to be flown out to the hospital. 

The situation around Loilem created a knotty paradox. 
On the one hand we knew we had to occupy the town 
but, on the other, we knew that if the guerrillas attacked 
the dug-in Japanese defenses our defeat was likely. Cer¬ 
tainly casualties would be high. The area contained num¬ 
erous volcanic peaks and the Japanese had dug their de¬ 
fenses into the sides of the high slopes. The guerrillas 
tried to attack a couple of times and had several wound¬ 
ed. One United States sergeant was cut off from his patrol 
and killed on the slopes. By the time the guerrillas were 
able to recover his body the Japs had mutilated his arms 
and legs, almost dismembered him. It would have been 
futile to continue the attacks; obviously a better solution 
had to be found. 

After considerable thought, a procedure evolved which 
was simple and effective. One of the Laihka airstrips 
would be put in shape so that several fighter aircraft 
of the 10th Air Force could be stationed there along 
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with a few 101 liaison aircraft. These aircraft would j 
work closely with the guerrillas to pinpoint anti destroy ; 
the Japs. General Gilkerson, commanding North Burma i 
Air Task Force, which had taken over in Northern Burma j 
from the 10th Air Force, was enthusiastic about the plan ] 
and readily agreed to make available a flight of six P-38 
aircraft with some of his best pilots. 

The only problem we were then faced with was getting j 
an airfield in condition. Major John Raiss was given the 
job and told to get it done in three days. The Japanese 
had been thorough in their demolition, so it presented a < 
large assignment, especially with only one large roller 
the Japs had failed to destroy and no means of power, j 
John employed large numbers of Shans to move rock ! 
and dirt and he had them working night and day to get 
the job done. At the end of the third day he sent in a 
message, “I am getting awfully tired of pulling that damn 
roller. Please send me a jeep.” His request was fulfilled, 
and two days later the airfield was ready, and the air¬ 
craft and their logistical support were en route to the 

field. 
To obtain air action on a defensive position the guer¬ 

rillas would locate the Japs and contain them in their 
defensive positions. A message would be sent by radio 
to the airstrip, and one of the liaison aircraft would be 
dispatched. By using walkie-talkie radios the guerrillas 
were able to give the pilot specific instructions as to the 
location of the Jap force. The guerrillas would then with¬ 
draw under cover while the pilot dropped smoke grenades 
on the position. The operation was timed so that as the 
smoke grenade was dropped, a P-38 loaded with napalm 
bombs would arrive on the scene. Using the smoke as a 
marker, the pilot dropped his bombs. After the flames 
had died out the guerrillas were able to occupy the posi¬ 
tions against light resistance. This operation was repeated 
on several occasions and it was estimated that the attack 
aircraft killed some four hundred Japanese. 

The operation against Loilem lasted over ten days. 
The general picture was of an outer ring of guerrillas 
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probing an inner ring of Japanese defenses while the town 
of Loilem itself remained almost unoccupied. During the 
first four days the guerrillas cleared the Japs east of the 
town and opened the road to Namsang, another, larger 
airfield, which they took over and began using for supply 
operations. A company of guerrillas were able to pene¬ 
trate the Japanese defenses but lacked the power to over¬ 
run a Japanese force two to three times their size. They 
had to withdraw. The guerrillas did not as yet control 
all their objectives, but their constant pressure, combined 
with the Air Corps attacks, was wearing down the Japs. 

General Sultan was greatly intrigued by the operation 
around Loilem and wanted to see it firsthand. I accom¬ 
panied him in his C-47 to Laihka where he was met by 
Colonel Brown and Major Raiss who reviewed the 
combat operations in their sector. That afternoon the 
other battalion commanders, Majors Delaney, Maddox 
and Grones, were picked up in L-l’s and flown to Laihka 
to brief General Sultan on their operations. It was evi¬ 
dent to all that he was greatly pleased and then Major 
Raiss presented him with a ten-thousand-mission Air 
Corps cap. It was a dirty, mangled, bedraggled thing, 
but the General even wore it boarding the aircraft. In 
returning he wanted to see Loilem, but on the edge of 
the town we started picking up ground fire and, since 
it was better to have a live theater commander than a 
dead hero, the pilot was directed to turn around and 
execute a maneuver known as getting the hell out of 
there. 

General Sultan’s trip was only the third time that a 
senior officer had visited the guerrillas behind the lines. 
The others, of course, were Donovan and Stilwell. There 
were strict orders against senior officers flying over or 
behind the lines even for reconnaissance. The obvious 
reason was that they were familiar with operational plans 
and, if the individual was captured by the Japanese, the 
°ss of this key information would render serious damage 

to the Allied war effort. For the same reason those of 
us in 101 who were flying behind the lines every other 
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day or so purposely learned only enough about the war 
plans to do our job. Additionally, when dying, a 101 
officer also took along his map to assist in navigation. 
In the event that anything went wrong and the plane 
was forced down, he would know where he was and how 
to reach the nearest unit or bow to walk out of the 
jungle. Moreover, to absolutely insure that the informa¬ 
tion the officer possessed did not fall into Japanese hands, 
such officers were drilled in what personal action they 
would have to take. They each carried a pistol and some 
also carried suicide pills to be used if necessary. 

The break in the battle for Loilem came on the eighth 
day. The guerrillas, who had previously failed in their 
attack to capture a hill commanding the town, com¬ 
bined their assault with an extensive air attack. Although 
the Jap losses were comparatively small because their 
system of deep bunkers provided them with a high degree 
of protection from the napalm bombs, the pressure on 
them became so great that they were forced to with¬ 
draw; and the guerrillas gained control of the dominant 
terrain in the area. With their defenses thus penetrated, 
the Japanese began a general withdrawal, and within two 
days the guerrillas controlled the city and the surround¬ 
ing area. Colonel Brown sent patrols eastward to estab¬ 
lish contact with Major Grones’s battalion and westward 
to contact Major Delaney. These battalions now con¬ 
trolled the road from Mongpawn to the Salween River, 
and for all practical purposes their mission was com¬ 
plete. In this tough dog-eat-dog fight for control of the 
Hsipaw-Loilem Road, the 2nd Battalion reported only 
127 Japanese killed, but the total number would have 
been much greater if those killed by close support air 
action had been taken into account. 

Although each of the battalions performed most ad¬ 
mirably, a great portion of the credit for their success 
must be given to the espionage agents who preceded them 
and provided them with a wealth of information con¬ 
cerning the Japanese and their activities. One of the most 
successful of these was Betty, who had infiltrated into 

THE FINAL MISSION 239 

the area eight or nine months previously from the area 
of Hsipaw. 

The heaviest prolonged fighting Detachment 101 was 
ever engaged in and, for that matter, some of the heaviest 
fighting in all of Burma, took place in the 3rd Battalion 
area, with its hodgepodge of ethnic groups and nation¬ 
alities. Kachins were the nucleus, there were also some 
Shans, Burmese, a platoon or more of Karens and even 
a few Pilaungs from the Inle Lake area, whose wives 
practice the art of stretching their necks by adding brass 
rings. There were also some Chinese, some Indians and, 
of course, British and Americans. This heterogeneous 
unit would have made an excellent United Nations force. 
Their initial strength was about seven hundred, but Red 
recruited as he moved south so that at times the battal¬ 
ion had a strength exceeding a thousand. 

Red knew it was going to be a touch-and-go situation 
because all the agent reports had indicated strong Japa¬ 
nese forces in the Taunggyi region; but more were in 
the adjacent Heho area which had been the center of 
Japanese air operations in Burma; and still more had 
retreated into the area from Mandalay and Maymyo. 
To accomplish its mission, Red’s unit had to head directly 
into the center of the Japanese strength. When the bat¬ 
talion had been assembled, given a rapid training course 
and organized into units, Red moved them south from 
the Burma Road and across the dangerous Namtu River. 
The river runs through rocky gorges and was swollen by 
early monsoon rains. They had a most perilous crossing. 
The men could only cross by use of a rope stretched taut 
across the river. The guerrillas knew this was the point 
of no return. With the increasing rains they could not 
expect to recross this river if forced back by the Japs. 
As the battalion moved south it engaged in a few local 
skirmishes and ambushed a few small Japanese units still 
retreating south from Mandalay. In these operations they 
killed about eighty-five Japs. 

Red had a good group of junior officers, every one 
outstanding and experienced. A few that come to mind 
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■were Coussoule the Greek, Roger Hilsman, Hamp Knight, 
Ralph Truex, Bill Brough, Jim Ward, Norm Larum and 
a few others. Lieutenant Bill Martin was also in the area. 
He and eleven Kachins had parachuted in to an agent 
located outside Lawksawk. They later joined Red’s bat¬ 
talion. The NCO’s in Red’s battalion were also a very fine 

group. 
By the end of April the battalion had reached Lawk¬ 

sawk, which at the time had only about two hundred 
Japs in it. Red’s plan was for two companies to block 
the road to the southwest leading to Pangtara, and two 
companies to block another road leading to the south¬ 
east. The remaining four companies were to assault the 
city from the north. The Japanese, however, had other 
ideas. They reinforced the city with seven hundred ad¬ 
ditional troops, and, early in the morning of 7 May, pre¬ 
ceded by a heavy artillery barrage, moved north against 
the guerrilla force which numbered about four hundred. 

These Japs were still in a fighting mood and in all prob¬ 

ability wanted to teach the guerrillas a lesson. The guer¬ 

rillas stood up well against repeated banzai charges as 
the battle went on from 2 a.m. to 2 p.m. Finally, with 

their ammunition running low, the guerrillas withdrew in 
good order to the north. Nine guerrillas were killed and 

fifteen wounded. A conservative estimate of Japanese 

casualties was set at two hundred and eighty. Also, the 
natives reported that over eighty bullock-drawn cart¬ 

loads of wounded were seen moving to the rear. 
In the action around Lawksawk there were a few large, 

critical battles, but in addition there were numerous small 
engagements going on almost continuously. In one in¬ 

stance Lieutenant Ward’s guerrilla company was in con¬ 
stant engagement with the Japs for eight days. Rem¬ 

nants of the Japanese 15th and 18th Divisions were still 
filtering through the area in hopes of reaching Taunggyi 

and an escape route. To save the maximum number of 
these troops and to prevent the guerrillas from seizing 
control of the entire area, the Taunggyi garrison was 
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trying desperately to hold a few key points to the north, 
principally Lawksawk and Pangtara. 

While the battle for Lawksawk was going on, Lieu¬ 
tenants Martin and Coussoule with their two companies 
attacked and occupied Pangtara, a sizeable village about 
twenty-five miles southwest. Pangtara was a critical point 
which the Japs could not afford to lose, so they assembled 
a force of about six hundred to re-occupy the town. The 
Japanese deployed their forces skillfully to the west and 
attacked the defensive positions set up by the guerrillas. 
They were stopped abruptly with numerous casualties, 
but sent out flanking units north and south to envelop 

the two-hundred-odd guerrillas. The guerrillas withdrew 
from the town and established a defensive position out¬ 
side the town. The defensive position was so set up that 
it amounted to a large-scale ambush. When the Japs at¬ 
tacked, they were caught in a deadly cross fire from the 
units which had been hidden out on either flank. In 
this engagement, the Japs lost heavily, over one hundred. 
The losses of 101 were our heaviest for any engagement 
of the war: thirty dead, several wounded and about 
twenty missing. 

Red’s units had performed well under fire in the battles 
for Lawksawk and Pangtara, but they had been hurt 
and their supplies were all but exhausted. Consequently 
he withdrew the forces to hills a few miles north of 
Lawksawk to re-equip, reorganize and lick their wounds. 
A medical officer, Lieutenant Hutter, with the necessary 
medical supplies, was parachuted into the unit. He did 
an excellent job and saved numerous lives. Red built an 
airstrip so that light planes could pick up the wounded, 
and within two days the fifteen seriously wounded men 
had been returned to the hospital. 

One key operation was conducted by a mixed com¬ 
pany of Kachins, Burmese and Karens under Lieutenant 
Roger Hilsman. Red had them operating independently 
of the remainder of his battalion in the area between 
Lawksawk and Taunggyi, where they carried out several 
highly successful raids and ambushes against the Japa- 
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nese. They were becoming most bothersome to the Japs, 
and an enemy unit of two hundred strong with pack 
animals was put on their trail. They seemed to have the 
guerrillas on the run and in a bad way. At this stage the 
guerrillas staged an ambush. It consisted of two cases of 
grenades, about fifty of them, connected electrically so 
they could be detonated simultaneously in an ambush 
area which was covered by Bren guns and other auto¬ 
matic weapons. The advance enemy guard, approximately 
a platoon, was allowed to pass through the ambush area, 
but when the main body entered, the grenades were set 
off and the area thoroughly sprayed with automatic fire. 
The guerrillas suffered no casualties, but the Japanese lost 
one hundred and four soldiers and eleven horses. Subse¬ 
quently, Roger requested permission to move' his unit 
south of Taunggyi into the Inle Lake area. We would 
have liked to have permitted this, but the orders from 
General Sultan were to seize and hold the road, so his 
request for deeper deployment to the south had to be 

disapproved. ,| 
As soon as the reorganization was completed, Red had 

the units again on the move. Many small ambushes were 
conducted, several bridges destroyed, and some motor 
transport was shot up. These and other activities severely 
restricted the enemy, and he chose to withdraw all of 
his forces into Taunggyi rather than face annihilation. 
Lawksawk was re-occupied 1 June, Pangtara on 8 June 
and by IS June, the unit was only five miles from Heho 
with patrols and demolition crews already in operation 
on the road. When elements of Red’s battalion estab¬ 
lished contact with the British 64th Brigade pushing to¬ 
ward Taunggyi from the west, we ordered him to move 
his forces north to the area of Pangtara, for eventual 

disbandment. , , _ . , 
The 3rd Battalion had done a truly remarkable jot). 

Within a period of less than ninety days they had killed 
over six hundred Japs, captured five and wounded many 
more. They had their hard times, but they won the battle. 
This action completed the mission of Detachment 101 to 

THE FINAL MISSION 243 

seize the Taunggyi-Kentung Road. On 1 July orders were 
issued to inactivate the unit as soon as possible. 

General Sultan was greatly pleased. For its action dur¬ 
ing the period 8 May to 15 June 1945, he recommended 
Detachment 101 for a Presidential Distinguished Unit 
Citation. The award reads as follows: 

GENERAL ORDERS WAR DEPARTMENT 
WASHINGTON 25, D.C., 17 JANUARY 1946 

Service Unit Detachment No. 101, Office of Stra¬ 
tegic Services, is cited for outstanding performance of 
duty from 8 May to 15 June 1945 in capturing the 
strategic enemy strong points of Lawksawk, Pangtara, 
and Loilem in the Central Shan States, Burma. This unit, 
composed of approximately 300 American officers and 
men, volunteered to clear the enemy from an area of 
10,000 square miles. Its subsequent activities deprived 
the Japanese 15th Army of the only East escape route and 
secured the Stilwell Road against enemy counterattack. 
Although detachment 101 had been engaged primarily 
in intelligence and guerrilla activities, it set about the 
infantry mission of ousting a determined enemy from 
a sector long fortified and strategically prepared. These 
American officers and men recruited, organized, and 
trained 3,200 Burmese natives entirely within enemy ter¬ 
ritory. They then undertook and concluded successfully a 
coordinated 4-battalion offensive against important stra¬ 
tegic objectives through an area containing approximately 
10,000 battle-seasoned Japanese troops. Locally known 
as “Kachin Rangers,” detachment no. 101 and its Ka- 
chin troops became a ruthless striking force, continually 
on the offensive against the veterans of the Japanese 
18th and 56th Divisions. Throughout the campaign, the 
Kachin Rangers were equipped with nothing heavier than 
mortars and had to rely entirely upon air-dropped sup¬ 
plies. Besides a numerical superiority of three to one, 
the enemy had the advantage of adequate supplies, ar¬ 
tillery tankettes, carefully prepared positions, and motor 
transportation. Alternating frontal attacks with guerrilla 
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tactics, the Kachin Rangers remained in constant contact 
with the enemy during the entire period and persistently 
cut him down and demoralized him. During the vicious 
struggle for Lawksawk, 400 Rangers met 700 Japanese 
veterans supported by artillery and, in a 12-hour battle, 
killed 281 of the enemy while suffering only 7 casualties. 
They took Loilem, central junction of vital roads, de¬ 
spite its protecting system of bunkers and pillboxes, after 
10 days of unremitting assaults. Under the most hazard¬ 
ous jungle conditions, Americans of detachment no. 101 
displayed extraordinary heroism in leading their coordi¬ 
nated battalions of 3,200 natives to complete victory 
against an overwhelmingly superior force. They met and 
routed 10,000 Japanese throughout an area of 10,000 
square miles, killed 1,247 while sustaining losses of 37, 
demolished or captured 4 large dumps, destroyed the 
enemy motor transport, and inflicted extensive damage 
on communications and installations. The courage and 
fighting spirit displayed by the officers and men of serv¬ 

ice UNIT DETACHMENT NO. 101, OFFICE OF STRATEGIC 

services, in this successful offensive action against over¬ 
whelming enemy strength, reflect the highest traditions 
of the armed forces of the United States. (General Orders 
278, Headquarters United States Army Forces, 16 No¬ 
vember 1945, as approved by the Commanding General, 

India-Burma Theater.) 

official: r 

EDWARD F. WITSELL • 

Major General 
Acting the Adjutant General 

DWIGHT D. EISENHOWER 

Chief of Staff 

(81073) 

EPILOGUE 

Setting a Seal 

On 12 July 1945 an order was published inactivating 
OSS Detachment 101. We had had a life-span of ap¬ 
proximately three and a half years, of which nearly 
three years involved actual guerrilla combat. Our start 
had been delayed because, before you can go about the 
business of organizing guerrillas, you need espionage 
agents to tell you where to begin. You never get any¬ 
where in the guerrilla business without what might be 
called the “proper introductions.” It’s very well to say 
that you are going to arm so many guerrillas; but who 
are they to be? Espionage might not shake up an army 
the way a guerrilla band can, but espionage plays an 
important role; it leads you to the guerrillas, makes 
the introductions. And espionage continues as a presence 
after the guerrillas are formed. The espionage effort 
shows the guerrilla where the enemy is; and how desir¬ 
able it is to strike. Any good guerrilla band must adopt 
the habit of good espionage. 

We profited from our early mistakes. When we con¬ 
fined our guerrilla recruiting to the Kachins, we began 
to have an influence on the Myitkyina campaign. 

As our guerrillas became more involved in fire-fights, 
raids and ambushes, the supply problem became over- 

245 
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whelming. The size of the 101 force was expanding rapid¬ 
ly and the tempo of operations was likewise increasing; 
hence it became essential that our aerial supply organ¬ 
ization be further augmented and the procedures im¬ 
proved. Up to this point, with but few exceptions, we 
tried to supply the field units on an item-for-item basis, 
just as one would try to fill out a shopping list for a 
grocery or department store. This, however, was tedious, 
time consuming and impractical for large-scale opera¬ 
tions. Consequently, we developed what we termed 
“standard drops.” Such drops were pre-packaged, .as it 
were, and included various proportions of ammunition, 
food and equipment. Information lists concerning the 
contents of these drops were supplied to the field. The 
field leader simply sent the number of the standard drop 
he required and gave the. details of time and place for de¬ 
livery. He used the standard list to the maximum, but 
was also permitted to ask for any special items he needed 
for operations. We made it a policy to include a bottle of 
bourbon now and then, books, magazines and an oc¬ 
casional treat such as a tin of cookies. These small 
luxuries tended to break up the monotony of jungle life. 

In addition, the drop section also prepared what was 
termed “emergency drops.” These were composite drops 
made up mostly of food and ammunition. They were all 
packed in aerial delivery containers with the chutes tied 
on and ready to go. Several of these emergency drops 
were assembled and retained in close proximity to a 
forward airfield. Then, if a guerrilla unit got into a fight 
and exhausted its supplies, it could send in a pre-ar¬ 
ranged message giving the place and time for the drop. 
In as little as thirty minutes the emergency drop could 
be loaded aboard an airplane and sent on its way. Later, 
when our units were heavily engaged, we had to make 
a daily average of one to two emergency drops. In almost 
every drop, there was a quantity of shoes, for the Kachin 
guerrilla was curiously fond of a pair of shoes, for¬ 
mally, the Kachins rarely wore shoes, but as a guerrilla, 
he was anxious to own them. Shoes meant prestige. Along 

the trail, the guerrillas walked barefooted, but upon ap¬ 
proaching a village, they stopped, put on their shoes and 
marched through the village. On the other side, they 
took the shoes off, hung them around their necks, and 
went on their way. 

For each aerial resupply drop we needed about fifteen 
parachutes, sometimes many more. The small broadcloth 
chutes we procured from the British via Lend-Lease cost 
about $12.00 while the larger United States rayon chute 
cost about $75.00, When we got up to dropping over 
twelve planeloads of supplies a day we were using well 
over, two hundred chutes daily and they were difficult to 
obtain. Initially, we tried to have them collected in the 
field to be returned to the 101 airdrop station at Dinjan. 
This, however, proved impractical. There was no way to 
care for them adequately in the field; they rotted away, 
and there was a great deal of difficulty in getting them 
to places where they could be picked up by airplanes. 
Perhaps more important, the Kachins had been without 
any form of cloth for years and the material in these 
chutes made ideal gifts. For these reasons, we decided 
to let the field commander dispose of the chutes as he 
saw fit. By the end of the war a large percentage of the 
Kachin population had the mark of 101 on them: they 
were dressed in longies or Shan bombies made of colored 
parachute material. 

In collecting and reporting intelligence we also refined 
our procedures. We found, for example, that information 
reported by the Kachins was generally highly accu¬ 
rate, but that their reports of enemy strength were al¬ 
most invariably about three times the actual figures. 
Strength reporting was then stressed in the training pro¬ 
gram to the extent that the pendulum swung the other 
way, and later on the strengths given in Kachin agent 
reports had to be increased by a factor of three. It was 
not until the middle of 1944 that it was possible to ob¬ 
tain reliable strength figures from Kachin agents. Other 
ethnic groups were found to have comparable traits 
more or less uniform within each group. The Chinese had 
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the greatest inclination toward exaggeration. Their 
strength figures had to be reduced approximately ten 
times, and this practice remained constant to the end of 

the campaign. 
Experience taught us that agents recruited from the 

Indian refugee camps could seldom operate safely in 
Burma. They had been away from their country and 
area for so long that they were no longer familiar with 
the day-to-day life. Consequently, it was difficult to es¬ 
tablish plausible cover stories for them. This, in turn, 
caused them to be tense and to overplay their part, which 
too often resulted in detection by the Japanese or native 
informants. For this reason, we changed the entire pro¬ 
cedure for obtaining our agents. Soon after ^ye started | 
operations, we began recruiting agents from inside occu¬ 
pied Burma, where we had sufficient guerrilla units in ' 
contact with local populations. These agents were natur- | 
ally selected with an eye toward intelligence and courage. 
They were top people and, once chosen, were infiltrated 
back through the Japanese lines, either individually or 

as a part of a group, depending upon how they were 
to be used in future operations. Our underground rail¬ 
road for getting these people out of Burma was never 

discovered by the enemy. 
Safely in Nazira, the agents were put through rigorous 

training courses. If they were to operate alone or as part 
of a larger group, their training normally required three 
months. The training of a radio operator required about 
four months, at the end of which time he would be 
sending and receiving an average of fifteen to twenty- 
five words per minute; he was also capable of operating 
and maintaining his set. If an agent was to operate alone 
and as his own radio operator, his training took five 
months. When an agent’s training was completed, he was 
put into operations as quickly as possible. Delays invari¬ 
ably produced lethargy, even tears. So as soon as his 
training was done, the agent either parachuted, walked 
or was air-landed behind the lines. In some cases, he 
operated under the Area commander, but more often, he 
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was on his own. He, too, recruited new agents so that 
the cycle started all over again. 

The Detachment’s counterintelligence operations were 
purely defensive, designed to protect 101 and its field 
operations from infiltration by enemy agents, and were 
eminently successful in maintaining our security. 

Somewhat more sophisticated, if not Machiavellian, 
was our morale operation, known as MO. Its object was 
black propaganda. This meant that we would make up a 
fake order that appeared to come from the Japanese 
high command, urging Jap soldiers to lay down their 
arms. The document was authentic enough in tone and 
appearance to fool a number of Japanese. Following its 
instructions, they surrendered. This was a subtle kind of 
propaganda, which, if employed properly, could cause 
the enemy to lose faith in his leaders and fellow sol¬ 
diers. Another devilish trick which MO used on several 
occasions concerned quislings. A simple letter forged in 
a Japanese soldier’s handwriting might find its way into 
the hands of the Kempi Tai, the occupation secret police. 
The forged letter purported to be an offer by the quis¬ 
ling to work for the Allies. It was convincing enough to 
make the Japanese put the unfortunate fellow out of 
the way. 

How do you get an operation started? There are two 
basic methods. One is to select an area, preferably iso¬ 
lated, and parachute people in without benefit of a 
friendly group on the ground to receive them. This type 
of infiltration can also be accomplished by submarine or 
other maritime means, or by use of land routes. It is 
called a “blind drop” or “blind landing” and is difficult 
and dangerous. We tried a total of four such operations 
and only one was successful. In the process about fifteen 
well-trained agents were lost. One thing wrong with our 
initial blind drops was the groups: they were too large. 
We decided to reduce the size to two men, a chief 
agent and a radio operator, and to experiment with three 
more operations. 

One group was landed by submarine north of Tavoy. 
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They were to be picked up fifteen days later upon proper 
identification signals to a submarine. When the subma¬ 
rine returned they received improper light signals from 
land. The submarine waited a short while, and then re¬ 
ceived word from an accompanying destroyer that a Jap 
cruiser was approaching. The submarine submerged and 
got out of the area as quickly as possible. Our group 1 
had obviously been captured. Another group of. two Bur- | 
mese was dropped in the area of Bassein, outside Ran- J 
goon. They made a successful landing, buried their para- 1 
chutes and a couple of days later came on the air with j 
their radio. However, shortly thereafter they were picked 
up by the Japanese and made to talk. Fortunately, they $ 
knew little about 101 operations because they had .been '] 
isolated in training. They were put in the Rangoon jail, 1 

where they remained for the duration. 
The third group was composed of two Kachins, Tu and j 

La. We referred to the operation as tula. We dropped j 
them in a remote area south of Bhamo and about thirty 
miles from where they were to operate. Everything went ffl 
perfectly with this group. They worked slowly and, , 
on the tenth day, came on the air as scheduled. In 
time they established a few sub-agents and were able 
to obtain reliable and timely information about Japanese j- 

activity as far away as Mandalay and Lashio. _ 1 
In view of our low batting average with these blind 

drops, we employed them only when we absolutely had ' 
to, and we kept them limited to two men. . I 

The other type of introduction into operations is the 
reception. A group already in operation selects a drop 
site, makes all the arrangements on the ground, is on 
hand to signal the drop aircraft and receive the new 
group when it lands. This arrangement makes possible 
a fast and professional job of burying the chutes, clear-, 
ing the drop zone of any telltale signs, then leading the 
new group well away to a safe hideout until they caaffl 
get started in operations. This process worked successful¬ 
ly innumerable times and became 101’s standing operat- 

ing procedure. 
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Hardly a Japanese force moved in Burma without 101’s 
guerrillas or agents knowing about it. When the Japanese 
began to move at night to avoid detection, our guerrillas, 
too, took up the challenge and acted at night. 

Some of our best work was done during the battle 
for Myitkyina. When our guerrillas suddenly appeared to 
strike at Japanese columns rushing to reinforce their be¬ 
leaguered garrisons, our value was clear. Also there were 
critical moments in the final phases of the campaign 
when guerrillas were called upon to serve as line in¬ 
fantry. Detached though the guerrillas were from the con¬ 
ventional forces, we took few steps indeed that were not 
meant to aid directly the conventional forces. 

Our Detachment 101 guerrillas were greatly assisted 
in their job because they got the best of weapons. We 
insisted that their firepower be infinitely superior to the 
enemy’s. Since a guerrilla is to strike fast, it followed 
that he must also strike with a firepower the enemy could 
not match. 

In jungle warfare, where the Japanese were rated high, 

101’s guerrillas performed even better. Our camouflage, 
our routes through the jungle, our vigor were superior 

to the Japanese, and so highly developed that Japanese 
prisoners willingly conceded that their confidence in 

themselves underwent serious strain. 
The jaunty, devil-may-care attitude of some of our 

junior officers and NCO’s, arriving fresh from the States 
with a gung-ho spirit, was turned, through intensive 

training, into effective and dependable leadership. Any 

man who lost this spirit in training and decided not to 
go into the field (every man was a volunteer) could 

have had numerous useful, alternative jobs at base. Yet 
in three years of operation only one man ever indicated 

he did not want to go to the field. 

In trying to analyze the effects of 101 operations there 
are tangible results which are comparatively easy to re¬ 

view and comprehend. There are others, however, which 
are not so tangible, such as estimates concerning the 
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volume of useful intelligence provided, the action taken 
on air targets which had been designated, and so on. 

On the tangible side the following are some statistics 
taken from the Northern Combat Area Command his¬ 
torical account for the entire Northern and Central , 
Burma campaigns and which can be reasonably well 
substantiated: 

Japanese killed (known) 5,428 
Japanese killed or seriously wounded 

(estimated) 10,000 
Japanese captured 75 
Bridges destroyed 51 
Railroad trains derailed . 9 
Military vehicles destroyed 277 
Supplies destroyed (estimated) 3,000 tons 
Supplies captured (estimated) 700 tons 
U. S. Air Force personnel rescued 232 
Other Allies rescued or flown out 342 

The figures above may require a brief explanation. In 
using the term “known” Japanese killed, it should be 
recognized that it represents only an educated estimate. 
It would be foolhardy for a group of guerrillas to remain 
in an ambush or raid area trying to figure out how many 
of the enemy were killed. This would be inviting disas¬ 
ter and could only lead to additional losses for the guer¬ 
rillas. An enemy was classified as “killed” only if he was 
hit and knocked down and if the casualty was substan¬ 
tiated by two or more observers. Later, when checks had 
been made by agents, the account might be modified, 
if necessary. In many instances these reports corroborat¬ 
ed the previous count; sometimes the results had to be 
reduced; but in a great number of cases the agent’s re¬ 
port far exceeded the guerrilla account. Thus, the term 
“known” is meant to be only as accurate as was possible 

under the circumstances. 
The question is asked, “Were all of those killed Jap¬ 

anese?” 
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A very great percentage were, but not all. In the 
early days particularly, a few members of the Burma 
Liberation Army often were mixed in with Japanese 
units. The guerrillas did not try to ascertain the nation¬ 
ality of those they killed. If the individual was in uni¬ 
form and carried a weapon, that was enough proof for 
the guerrillas to classify him as an enemy. 

With respect to the number estimated killed or 
wounded, many small actions took place in isolated areas 
and involved only one or two guerrillas. There was no 
way to corroborate the results, and as a consequence, 
they were not included in the over-all total. Also, in 
nearly every one of the larger guerrilla actions there 
were numerous borderline cases. A guerrilla might turn 
loose with a fully automatic submachine gun at a group 
of Japs at a point-blank range of ten feet, but not stay 
long enough even to see the results. The guerrilla’s first 
function is his own survival and he cannot take any 
unnecessary risks. These actions took place in the jungle, 
often so thick one could only see a few feet ahead. This 
too obscured viewing the results, and prevented estab¬ 
lishing any form of definite count. In almost all actions 
the estimation of results tended toward the conservative 
side. For example, in the operation along the Irrawaddy 
when the Japanese were trying to evacuate Myitkyina, 
the guerrillas accounted for many enemy dead. For 
nearly seven days and nights their outposts along the 
river were shooting the enemy off boats and rafts. They 
estimated only about three hundred killed, but after¬ 
ward all of the backwaters were literally covered with 
floating dead. Their estimate easily could have been 
doubled and possibly trebled. 

Some of the key people in 101 and of NCAC, keeping 
these facts in mind, were queried as to how many they 
would estimate were killed by 101. The consensus of 
opinion was about ten thousand. There is no way of 
either proving or disproving this figure. 

Some of the other results were far more conclusive. 
They could be determined positively without a shadow 
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of doubt. Of these there were the 75 Japanese captured, 
interrogated and turned over to the military for impris¬ 
onment. In this same category were the United States 
airmen who were rescued from behind enemy lines, 
brought by one means or another to within friendly lines, 
and returned to their own units. The other 342 Allied 
military people recovered from behind enemy lines repre¬ 
sented a wide variety of nationalities: many of them 
were British, Burmese and Indian soldiers from the 
two Wingate expeditions. Others were Chinese from the 
first Burma campaign. Still others were Americans who 
had been wounded or otherwise incapacitated and had 
to be flown out. Not included in the total were large 
numbers of Burmese, Shans, Karens and other native 
personnel who were flown out from behind the Japanese 
lines to prevent reprisal upon them or their families. 
There was an almost constant flow of this type of person 
and no effort was made to maintain a statistical check 

upon them. 
Some other unshakable statistics include the bridges, 

trains and vehicles destroyed or derailed and the ton¬ 
nage of supplies and equipment destroyed or captured. 

On the intelligence side, estimates were made by the 
agencies who used the results. The two large users were 
NCAC Headquarters and the 10th Air Force. The G-2 
of NCAC estimated that Detachment 101 provided 
NCAC with between 85 and 95 per cent of all usable 
intelligence. Considering all of the numerous sources 
available to that command, including Chinese, British and 
American troops, prisoner of war interrogations, aerial 
photography and a wide variety of other sources, the 
magnitude of the 101 intelligence collection effort can 
be readily appreciated. According to the 10th Air Force, 
up to 85 per cent of the targets attacked by them were 
initially designated by 101. As they improved their own 
target detection capabilities, principally through aerial 
photography, the number of targets designated by 101 
tapered off to about 60 to 65 per cent—still a very re¬ 
spectable figure. After a target had been attacked by the 
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Air Corps, 101 agents surveyed it to estimate the 

amount of destruction. Detachment 101 would submit 

damage assessment reports to the 10th Air Force to assist 
them in determining whether or not additional air attacks 
would be required. Based upon the damage assessment 

reports, 10th Air Force estimated that they killed on 
the order of 11,000 Japanese. This figure is probably 
very conservative. 

Other Statistics on Detachment 101 

Americans killed 22 
Native personnel killed 184 
Native personnel captured or missing 86 
Total agents lost 38 
Greatest number native troops (Feb. 

1945) 10,200 
Agent groups with radio, parachuted 

or overland 122 
Total 101 personnel in Northern 

Burma operation (does not include 
Calcutta or Southern Burma) 131 officers 

558 enlisted 
Total Americans parachuted into operations 187 
Total native personnel parachuted 

into operations 247 

Total casualties from parachute jumps 0 

All things taken ihto account, the United States, Allied 
and native troops of Detachment 101 suffered compara¬ 
tively light losses. Only three Americans were killed in 

behind-the-lines combat; most of the remainder were 
killed as a result of aerial combat action or air crashes. 

On the other hand, all of the natives killed or missing 
were the result of enemy ground action. A large per¬ 

centage of the 101 casualties were sustained during the 
final phase when the detachment had to combine its 
guerrilla tactics with conventional tactics. There are un- 
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doubtedly many explanations why Detachment 101 cas¬ 
ualties were so light, but perhaps the outstanding rea¬ 
sons were our mobility and hit-and-run tactics; the Ka- 
chins' intimate knowledge of the area and of the jungles; 
the simple, light, rapid-fire weapons; and, of course, air 
supply, which gave the guerrillas a maximum of mo¬ 
bility and flexibility. 

The important thing in guerrilla operations is not al¬ 
together how many of the enemy were killed or wounded, 
but what influence did guerrilla operations have upon our 
own friendly forces and upon those of the enemy? The 
United States and other Allied ground forces in Northern 
Burma looked upon Detachment 101 as their eyes and 
ears. The 101 guerrilla forces formed advance and flank 
patrols, set up reconnaissance screens, scouted the enemy 
and prevented our forces from being surprised or am¬ 
bushed. This was a tremendous boost to the Allied forces. 
They could feel secure in the knowledge that the guer¬ 

rillas were far ahead of them, on their flanks, and all 
about them, to prevent their being taken by surprise. 

Within the Air Corps there were somewhat varied 
appreciations. Our intelligence reports and damage as¬ 

sessments were vitally important to the accomplishment 
of the mission of the 10th Air Force; however, from 
the viewpoint of the individual crewman, 101’s wide¬ 

spread activities behind the Japanese lines provided him 

a hope of coming out alive in the event he was shot or 
forced down behind the lines. In the early days these 
men were frightened and they had a right to be. The 

dense jungles and jagged mountains of Northern Burma 
were in themselves frightening. The thought of being 
forced down in them did not make their task any easier; 

nor did the presence of the Japanese air and ground 
forces. 

After the first few groups were rescued from behind 
the lines, there was a noticeable improvement in the 
morale of the Air Corps. It continued to improve with 
additional rescues until, finally, the crewmen took it 

SETTING A GOAL 257 

almost as a matter of course that they would be brought 
out safely. 

The operations of Detachment 101 and the other Brit¬ 
ish and American clandestine organizations had a con¬ 
siderable impact upon the thinking and actions of the 
Burmese people. 

British Force 136 operating in Central and Southern 
Burma, another British Intelligence Agency covering 
areas south of Mandalay, and Detachment 101 AFU 
(Arakan Field Unit) operating along the Burma west 
coast, must all be considered as a unit. It was the aggre¬ 
gate effects of all of these operations which gradually 
converted the Burmese people from hostility to the Allied 
cause to eventual armed rebellion against the Japanese. 

The attitude of the Burmese did not change overnight; 
it was a slow process. Each guerrilla and espionage oper¬ 
ation was proof that the Allies were coming back to 
Burma. Our propaganda was strong enough to counter¬ 
act the Japanese propaganda. The longer the Japanese 
stayed the more evident it became that Burma was occu¬ 
pied territory and that individual liberties were far more 
restricted than they had been under the British govern¬ 
ment. 

It was not only the presence of the clandestine or¬ 
ganizations that caused the Burmese to make the final 
break with the Japanese. It was a combination of many 
things. One of the most important factors was that the 
Japanese were losing the war. 

What the clandestine agencies did was to provide a 
rally point, a cause, a meaning for national aspirations. 
By the end of the war, the indigenous Burmese forces 
of Aung San numbered thousands, and, when Britain 
granted Burma its independence in 1948, the Burmese 
were ready for us to take over and maintain the internal 
security of the country. When Burma became independ¬ 
ent as a nation, the Kachins were the backbone of the 
Burma Army in its fight against Communism and other 
dissident movements within Burma. Always steady, the 
Kachins were the vital force of 101 in its guerrilla opera- 
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tions. They were the fighters who raised the flag of 
freedom in the jungles of Burma. As guerrillas, they 
never lost a battle. It was the Kachins who wrote the 
splendid accomplishments of 101. 

Appendix 

The following is a list of American, British and Bur¬ 
mese military personnel associated with the 101 opera¬ 
tions in Northern Burma. Every effort has been made to 
insure that the list is correct and any error in listing is 
purely one of oversight. Detachment 101 personnel who 
served so commendably in the Calcutta Field Office and 
the Arakan Field Unit in Southern Burma are not listed 
herein, since complete rosters of such personnel were 
not maintained. Also not listed are the personnel of 
the 71st Liaison Squadron who were not members of 101 
but attached to it. To a man, they served with distinc¬ 
tion. We could not have accomplished our mission with¬ 
out their help. 

Detachment 101 did not have any women in its ranks; 
however, one of the girls (Ann Palko) from the Calcutta 
Office was attached to 101 for a period of about six 
weeks under field conditions. She worked around the 
clock completing the personnel records of 101’s eleven 
thousand or so guerrillas. For her heroic and untiring 
efforts, she was made an honorary member of 101 and 
is so listed. 
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Roster of detachment 101 

Aalbu, Sigurd J. 
Abbot, Delbert H. 
Achelis, John 
Adam, Ben 
Adams, Allen G. 
Adams, Robert E. 
Aitken, Robert T. 
Albers, George E. 
Albert, Daniel L. 
Alderdice, Joseph E. 
Anderegg, Donald E. 
Anderson, Clayton E. 
Andros, Anthony M. 
Archer, Elton W. 
Ardinger, Joe E. 
Arida, Edward 
Armstrong, Howard H. 
Armstrong, Jay 
Asher, William B. 
Aubry, Arthur S. 
Aubry, Jules W. 
Auerbach, Herbert 

Baba, Tom T. 
Babb, John E. 
Bacon, Charles A. 
Bailey, Thomas 
Baker, James A. 
Baldwin, Thomas 
Baldy, Robert N. 
Balfour, Francis A. 
Banbury, Wesley G. 
Banker, Harold J. 
Barcia, Thomas 
Barlet, William M. 
Barnard, Jack 

Barnes, Ed 
Barnes, Ted U. 
Barnwell, Dan 
Barrett, Neil H. 
Barrett, Norman W. 
Barrows, Dayton S. 
Barry, Mario J. 
Barry, Wesley E. 
Barry, William S. 
Bassford, James A. 
Beamish, John 
Beaver, Muriel M. 
Beebe, Robert 

Bell, Fred 
Benedict, Bruce 
Berge, Walter A., Jr. 
Berry, Clifford J. 
Betsui, Richard K. 
Bezverkov, John T. 
Black, Melvin H. 
Blackshear, Ferry L. 

Blonski, John F. 
Bodgen, Wesley S. 
Bodner, David 
Bohny, Charles R. 

Boldt, George 
Bolte, Guy 
Bopp, George A. 
Bostwick, William F. 
Bouchea, Ernest J. 
Boyack, Robert T. 

Boyd, Don C. 
Bradley, John C. 
Branch, Ross B. 
Brannon, Bennie 
Breen, John P. 
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Brelis, Constantine Dean 
Brewer, Dicky T. 
Brewer, Ray J. 

Brickelmayer, George 
Brinton, Dilworth C. 
Brock, Alexander B. 
Broderick, Lawrence 
Brophy, Bernard 
Brotman, Stanley 
Brough, William 
Brown, John D. 
Brown, Keith J. 
Brown, Newell 

Bruce, Charles 
Brunstad, Art 
Buchanan, Jack C. 
Buck, Edgar I. 
Budz, Walter A. 
Burchill, John J. 
Burgan, John K. 
Burtch, Lyman D. 
Bush, Howart T. 
Buto, Junichi 
Byrne, John J. 

Cameron, Elton 
Camp, Earl C. 
Camp, Roger C. 
Campbell, Roger C. 
Canfield, Ward L. 
Cardacino, Michael 
Carlson, Gus R. 
Carrico, Ben F. 
Carroll, William J. 
Carrozzo, Vincent 
Cassidy, David S. 
Cate, Robert B. 
Cathala, Charles 
Cavanaugh, Dennis 

Chadsey, Carl T. 
Chamales, Theodore T. 
Chambreau, William J. 
Champion, Tom W. 
Chang, Sukyoon 
Charleston, Morton L. 
Chartier, Louis Y. 
Chartrand, Chester R. 
Chayes, Aaron H. 
Christian, Waldimar 
Chun Ming, Archie 
Ciezadlo, Joe V. 
Clark, Vernon 
Cloyd, James C. 
Cocoris, Nick J. 
Cody, Chester 
Coffey, L. M. 
Cogerian, Trayone J. 
Colling, John G. 

Conaughty, Charles L. 

Cone, Charles W. 
Conklin, Hugh R. 

Conley, Ed. 

Connell, Orwald G. 
Conrad, Louis W. 

Constable, Claude K. 
Cooper, Rollo W. 
Cotten, Charles 

Coughlin, John G. 

Council, Harry G. 
Coussoule, Charles 

Cox, Charles W. 

Crafts, Cecil 
Crowley, Robert E. 
Culverson, Lester E. 

Cummings, William H. 
Curl, Vincent 
Curtis, Earle J. 
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Dalton, Robert A. 
Dalverty, Thomas H. 
Damen, Edward M. 
Danielewicz, Ed. G. 
Daugherty, Thomas 
Davenport, John H. 
Davis, Howell A. 
Davis, John R. 
Davis, Thomas J. 
Day, Linard F. 
Delaney, Robert J. 
Dempsey, John D. 
Denham, Archie L. 
Dennhardt, Don J. 
Derocker, Francis J. 
Devins, Gordon D. 
Devlin, Frank 
DeWeese, Ralph A. 
DeWeese, Robert C. 
Dhee Htu, Saw 
Dietz, Glenwood A. 
Dinner, Richard S. 
Diomandes, Damon S. 
Dobberstein, Albert 
Donoan, Henry P. 
Donovan, John P. 
Dorman, Charles J. 
Downard, Robert E. 
Draper, John W. 
Draves, Dean S. 
Drown, George 
Dudley, John J. 
Dumond, Eugene C. 
Duncan, Joe B. 
Dunlop, Richard 
Dunning, Victor R. 

Ebaugh, Zacharia C. 
Eckhardt, Eric 
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Edwards, James W. 
Ehrlich, Murray 
Eichenberger, Clifford 
Eifler, Carl F. 
Eiseman, William E. 
Eley, Randolph D. 
Ellinger, Richard E. 
Ellis, Alger C. 
Ellis, Pierce S. 
Elrod, Weldon 
Emch, Harold E. 
Emke, Fred A. 
Eng, Donald Y. 
Enos, Quentin M. 
Epperson, Alex H. 
Estelle, Lyle 
Esterline, Jacob D. 
Ettinger, Robert V. 
Evans, Albert C. 

Fairbairn, Don C. 
Faraguna, Joe 
Fate, Robert C. 
Fenn, Charles H. 
Fergerson, John M. 
Ferrell, Thad A. 
Ferry, Ed. G. 
Finn, Art N. 
Finnegan, John B. 
Fitts, Clark D. 
Fitzgerald, John T. 
Fitzhugh, Robert W. 
Fitzsimmons, Richard J. 
Flaherty, Robert J. 
Flynn, James H. 
Ford, Frank J. 
Fore, Clay J. 
Fornes, George J. 

Frake, Herbert W. 
Francis, Dennis 
Franklin, Robert 
Frazee, Floyd R. 
Fredrickson, Harold K. 
Freudenberg, Alvin G. 
Frye, Harold 
Frye, Virgil 

Furnari, Garry G. 
Fussell, Bueford E. 

Gabriel, Charles R. 
Gabrielson, Dan A. 
Gahen, George L. 
Gale, Laurence 
Gamble, Ralph 
Gang, Julius 
Garonski, Francis 
Garrett, James M. 
Gaston, Vestle C. 
Gatto, Anthony 
Gegenheimer, Eldred 
Genaw, Gerald L. 
Gentry, Claud D. 

Geolas, Constantine 
Georges, Michael P. 
Georgia, Christos 
Gersbeck, Gus 
Geschwind, William L. 
Ghizoni, George 
Gibbons, Don C. 
Gibbons, Hoyt B. , 
Gildee, John J. 
Gill, William G. 
Gilmore, Jack 
Gilmore, Martin J. 
Glass, George W. 
Gleason, Frank 
Goarin, Tom A. 
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Goodnight, Warren E„ 
Gordon, Allen R. 
Gore, Russell R. 
Gorin, George D. 
Gorman, Robert T. 
Gosselin, Maurice 
Grace, Ivan C. 
Graham, Alex 
Grakavac, Alex P. 
Grangaard, Don R. 
Grant, Robert L. 
Green, William R. 
Greenlee, Richard S. 
Gremel, Norman A. 
Grenci, Joe L. 
Griffen, John R. 
Grigg, Monroe Y. 

Grimm, Laurence 
Grimwood, Phillip 
Grones, Dow S. 
Grosso, Louis J. 
Gulley, John 

Gulliford, Rich D. 
Gullixon, Harold R. 
Guzzi, John 

Haertel, Leroy W. 
Haimson, Fima 

Halterman, Thomas D. 
Hamada, Dick S. 
Hamm, Ed. B. 
Hanger, Ted 
Hansen, Palmer 
Hanson, Frank A. 
Harper, Douglas P. 
Harris, Claude 
Hartman, Ed. M. 
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Hasper, John H. 
Hauge, Olaf M. 
Hawkins, Roy W. 
Haydu, Ed. C. 
Hazelwood, William F. 
Head, George 
Headrick, Blaine O. 
Helfrich, Baird V. 
Heller, Francis 
Hemming, George T. 
Henderson, Charles P. 
Henning, Robert A. 
Hess, William V. 
Hibner, John H. 
Higgenbottom, David G. 
Hihilock, John L. 
Hill, Gene 
Hill, William B. 
Hilsman, Roger 
Hine, Milton J. 
Hines, Harry C. 
Hoagland, Paul V. 
Hoborrow, Robert G. 
Hofacker, William A. 
Hoffman, John W. 
Hoffman, William R. 
Hollinger, Sherard F. 
Honda, Robert T. 
Hong, Chan 
Hook, Carl 
Hopiak, George A. 
Hopper, Jay M. 
Horner, Douglas H. 
Horton, Jack E. 
Houts, Marshall W. 
Howell, Charles A. 
Howell, John 
Hubbard, Ralph H. 
Huber, Carl 

Hue, Harry J. 
Hudgens, Robert L. 
Hudson, Sam H. 
Huffman, James E. 
Huggins, James H. 
Hughes, Dudley 
Hughes, Jesse L. 
Hughes, John W. 
Hughes, Ken E. 
Hull, Fred 
Hultin, Emerick 
Hungerland, Robert L. 
Hunter, David A. 
Hunter, David G. 
Husslein, Warren 
Huston, Phillip S. 
Hutter, Charles C. 

Ice, Ken W. 
Imai, Hideo 
Imbrey, Howard 
Immonen, Leo 
Irmiter, James F. 

Jabson,Victor 
Jackson, Joe 
Jackson, Junior C. 
Jacobs, Frank M. 
Jacot, Nester E. 
Jefferies, I. M. 
Jendrzejzak, John C. 
Jerome, John R. 
Johanson, Erick O. 
Johns, Harry E. 
Johnson, Carlton W. 
Johnson, Harry F. 
Johnson, Larrabee M. 
Johnson, Oliver R. 
Johnson, Robert D. 

Johnson, Robert G. 
Johnson, Robert J. 
Johnson, Trois E. 
Johnston, Graham 
Jolliffe, George C. 
Jones, Joe P. 
Jones, Leander P. 
Jones, Marion C. 
Jones, Newton I. 
Jones, Richard A. 
Jones, Robert W. 
Joost, Sherman B. 
Jordan, Rudolph 
Josling, Jackson R. 
Judson, Saw 
Julian, Luther E. 
Jung, Harry G. 

Kahn, Myron 
Kalantzis, Anthony 
Kaliff, Mendel 
Karson, John C. 
Katmick, Walter J. 
Katwyck, Cornelius 
Kazhaya, Susumue 
Keber, Alex F. 
Keller, T. C. 
Kennedy, Howard R. 
Kennedy, Ken 
Kennedy, Temple 
Kesler, John T. 
Kevetos, James 
Kidd, William A. 
Kiddon, Dan F. 
Kido, Fumio 
Kilby, Jacks 
King, Doug 
King, James 
King, William J. 

Kirk, Elmer 
Kirsch, David 
Kishinami, Wilbert 
Klaproth, Carl L. 
Kleibert, Maurice 
Klein, Jefferson 
Klein, Oscar 
Kloss, Frank S. 
Kneal, Robert 
Knight, Hale H. 
Knoll, Jack 
Koning, Henry I. 
Kostrevic, Edward 
Kramer, Charles 
Kranstover, R. F. 
Kreis, Bertram 
Kretser, Cliff 
Krey, Charles H. 
Krueger, Alfred C. 
Kubin, Frank S. 
Kurahashi, Shoicki 
Kusak, Frank 
Kuzmack, Jerome 
Kwock, John F. 

Lacomis, Ed. L. 
Laidlaw, Alan F. 
Laj'cak, Stephen W. 
Lambert, Ross W. 
Lang, Robert E. 
Lanier, Elmer 
Larsen, Gerald 
Larson, Charles M. 
Larue, Melvin L. 
Larum, Norman R. 
Lasher, Frank E. 
Lawrence, Cliff 
Lazarsky, Joe 
Lederman, Morris Y. 
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Lee, Edmund 
Leonard, Tom B. 
Lepage, Clarence C. 
Levin, Noah B. 
Lewis, Kembele S. 
Lewis, Robert V. 
Lightstone, Harry A. 
Lim, Soo W. 
Lindley, Jesse O. 
Litman, Sidney 
Little, Harry W. 
Littlefield, Joe M. 
Lochner, R. P. 
Loeffler, Milton 
Loetterle, Francis 
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Longenecker, Dave R. 
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Loraski, Ray C. 
Lowe, Ed. A. 
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Lucy, Sam G. 
Ludwick, Philip 
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Lussier, Ed B. 
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MacCawley, Tom G. 
MacDonald, Everett 
MacFarland, Wayne H. 
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Magill, Orrin F. 
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Marlow, Eldon 
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Martin, Ed. F. 
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Martin, Harry R. 
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Mathis, Harold L. 
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SOth Div., 190; liaison with, 

210; and Jap 18th Div., 2lb- 
219 ; Japs counterattack, 217 

55th Div., 69 
93rd Div., 69 
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Conklin, Capt. Hugh R., guerrilla 
fighter, 235 

Conley, Lt. Ed, south of Myitky- 
ina, 207; and guerrilla action, 
219-220 

Convoys, bombing of, 123-124 
Coordinator of Information, 39; 

school, 41 
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perienced officer, 239-240 

Cryptography 210 
Cummings, Major William H.f 
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tics, 228-229; mission to 
Hsipaw-Loilem, 234; captures 
Jap dumps, 234-235; Jap 
casualties, 234 

2nd Bn., crosses Burma Road, 
215- 216; action of, 225-226; 
conventional tactics, 228 ; 
prolonged fighting, 239; at 
Pantara, 240-242; reorgan¬ 
ized, 242 

5th Bn., northwest of Lashio, 
216- 217 

6th Bn., southwest of Lashio, 
217 
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7th Bn., formation of, 217 
10th Bn., action, 226; guerrilla 

mission, 228; at Hsipaw-Loi- 
lem, 229; at Mongpawn, 231 

Detachment 101 Arakan Field 
Unit, 257 

DeSilva, Captain, of Kachin Le¬ 
vies, 114 

Devlin, Capt. Frank, 38; and sup¬ 
ply problem, 44-45 

Dialects, Burmese, 60- 
Dibrugarh, parachute training at, 

87 
Dikoo River, 75 
Dimapur, action at, 201 
Dinjan airstrip, 106 
Dockery, Miss, 40 
Donovan, Gen. William (“Wild 

Bill”), Det. 101 his plan, 35; 
and Eifler, 35-37; visits Det. 
101, 156-157; visits behind 
enemy lines, 237 

Dope, use of, 85-86 
Drown, Capt. George, 25 

Easterbrook, Col., Ernest F„ 
181-182 

Eastern Air Command, 133; and 
air rescue, 166-167 

Egan, General, 106; orders photo¬ 
reconnaissance mission, 110 

Eifler, Mai. Carl F„ 36, 39, 41; 
and guerrilla warfare, 37; 
promoted, 45; contact with 
Indian and Burmese armies, 
54; at Nazira, 75; contact 
with British, 79; and “A” 
Group, 82; cooperation with 
British, 83; and “A” Group’s 
second try, 89; and “A” 
Group’s alternate plans, 104; 
on Southern Burma opera¬ 
tions, 120; and Lashio drop, 
124; and Jap prisoner, 130, 
131; meets Major Cummings, 
132; commended by Gen. 
Davidson, 136-138; and Lt. 
Gen. Irwin, on Southern Bur¬ 
ma operations, 138; and W 
Group mission, 138-139; hos¬ 
pitalized, 140; and Southern 
Burma operations, 140; Gen. 
Donovan visits, 156-157; 
health and return to U.S. 157- 
158; in Washington, 161 

Elephants, labor by, 59 
Elephantiasis, 143 
Eng. Sgt. Donald Y., 79 
Espionage, 23, 26; expansion of, 

31; by Capt. Barnard’s group, 
111-112; and Galahad mis¬ 
sion, 191; increased tempo, 

213; contribution to success¬ 
ful operations, 239; impor¬ 
tance, 245 

Esterline, Lt. Jacob D., escort 
duty, 198 

Ethnic groups, in Burma, 60 
Explosives, 102; training in, 41 

Fairbairn, Major Don C., 42, 
47 

Famine, 143-144 
Festings, Gen. Frank W., 217 
Fifth Column, 35, 68 
Fighting 69th, 40 
Firepower, 28 
Fitzhugh, Lt. Robert W., 231 
Flame throwers, 181 
Fog, 147 
Fort Hertz, 82; jumping-off place, 

83; and air rescue, 146 
Fort Leonard Wood, 39 
forward, 23, 165; Lt. Larsen 

joins, 23; airstrip at, 127; 
and Jap prisoners, 131; per¬ 
sonnel increased, 155; size, 
213 

France, diplomatic relations with 
Burma, 61 

Francis, Lt. Dennis, and Myitky- 
ina, 26; sabotage by, 102- 
103; mission, 108; Kachin 
aid to, 114; and Pidaung op¬ 
eration, 153 

Frazee, Capt. Floyd R., flies to 
Kunming, 120 

Freetown, West Africa, Det. 101 
at, 48 

Freudenberg, Lt. Alvin G., and 
2nd Bn., 208, 231 

Galahad, 190; Det. 101 supports, 
191; and espionage, 191; Ka- 
cliin guerrillas with, 194; 
brush with Japs, 194; British 
with, 195; casualties, 194; 
Jap reaction to, 195 

Gandhi, Mahatma, 51 
Gauhri tribe, 113 
Generators, hand, 117 
Gcrsham, Jack, attached to Ma¬ 

rauders, 192 
Ghurkas, 67, 220 
Gilkerson, General, 236 
Gleason, Lt. Frank, 41 
Goodfellow, Col. Millard P., 40 
Gorin, Lt. George D., 156 
Grenades, use of, in ambushes, 

172-173 
Grimm, Capt. Laurence, opera¬ 

tions in central area, 207 
Grones, Dow S., organizing guer¬ 

rillas, 167-168, 204; guerrilla 

activity, 205; forms 7th Bn., 
217; action east of Lashio, 
225 ; and Taunggyi-Kentung 
Road, 231; Gen. Sultan 
briefs, 237; and action at Loi- 
lem, 238 

Ground forces, depend on guerril¬ 
las, 161-162 

Grube, Captain, 120; bombs truck 
convoy, 123 

Guerrillas, areas of operation, 21- 
23; recruiting of, 23, 74, 119, 
165; and firepower, 28; Brit¬ 
ish and, 28; activities, expan¬ 
sion of, 31, 207; way of life, 
60; surprise element, 83; 
training, 126, 208; ground 
forces depend on, 161-162; 
tactics, 170-171; and Japs, 
174, 219-220; raids, 174; 
success at Lake Indawgyi, 
182; assigned to M Force, 
190; and Galahad, 192-194; 
and siege of Myitkyina, 196; 
operations, expansion of, 201, 
203; Shan and Burmese de¬ 
fectors become, 204; medical 
attention, 210-211; role, 
changed, 212; in Area II, 
219; consolidation of, 220; 
disbanding, 223; Gen. Sul¬ 
tan’s plan for using, 224; and 
formal military tactics, 22 7; 
importance of commanders, 
228; bombing assistance by 
10th Air Force, 232; joint 
operations with Air Force, 
236-237; importance of, 245; 
weapons for, 251 

Gypsy Moth, 128; crash of, 166- 
167 

H Force, 190; attack commences, 
192; and Galahad operation, 
194; advances on Myitkyila, 
194 

Haimson, Sgt. Fima, 26, 48 
Hand generators, 117 
Hand-to-hand combat, 41-42 
Hansen, Lt. Palmer, and guerrilla 

activity, 219; a guerrilla 
fighter, 235 

Harper, Lt. Douglas P., 231 
Hartman, Lt. Edward M., 231 
hate group, 154; loss of, 223 
Hazelwood, Lt. William F., 194 
Head hunting, 62 
Hemming, Sgt. George T., 44, 

131-132 
Hefty (operative), 26, 166 
Heho, airbase at, 121 

Hilsman, Lt. Roger, experienced 
officer, 240; guerrilla com¬ 
pany, 241 

Himalayas, 58 
Hindus, 63; and Moslems, 50 
Ho Ying Ching, 178 
Hopin, 92-93 
Ilsipaw, occupation of, 217 
IIsipaw-Loilem, 2nd Bn. at, 234 
Htu, Major Saw Dhee, and guer¬ 

rilla activity, 219 
Hukawng Valley, 14-15; and Ledo 

Road, 18; Chinese troops in, 
19; attack through, 29; Jap 
activity in, 134 

Hump, 145-146; airlift, 17-18; 
and air rescue, 23-24; air¬ 
lifting supplies, 213-214 

Hunter, Capt. David, 131 
Hunter, Col. Charles, 168; at In- 

kangahtawng, 185; assumes 
command of Marauders, 188; 
commands H Force, 190, 192 

Hurs, 49 
Huston, Capt. Thilip S., 44; and 

radio design, 78; and hand 
generators, 117 

Hutter, Lt. Charles C., with 3rd 
Bn., 141 

Hutton, Lt. Gen. Sir Thomas, re¬ 
placed by Gen. Alexander, 68 

Hyderabad, Det. 101 at, 50 

Imphal, withdrawal through, 70; 
action at, 201-202 

Imphal Front, “A” Group at, 105; 
Stillwell on, 179 

Indaw, withdrawal through, 70 
India, Det. 101 in, 49; Japan 

threatens invasion of, 51; 
British rule, 52-53; economic 
life, 53 

India-Burma Theater, Lt. Gen. 
Sultan commands, 210 

Indian Army, Eifler contacts, 54; 
reinforces Burma, 67; with¬ 
drawal of, 70 

3rd Div. See Chindits 
17th Div., 65; ordered to 

Prome, 68 
19th Div., reaches Irrawaddy. 

219 
Indus River, 49 
Infantry, importance of, in Gala- 

had, 195 
Infantry tactics, and guerrillas, 227 
Infiltration, 249 
Inkangahtawng, action at, 186 
Inle Lake, 58 
Intelligence, 229; flow of, 155; 

natives supply, 173; need for, 
174; supplied to Air Corps, 
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175; long ranee, 210; opera¬ 
tions, in Mandalay, 223; col¬ 
lecting and reporting, 247; 
use of, 254 

Irrawaddy River, 23, 58 
Irrawaddy Valley, Japs push in, 

69 
Irwin, Lt. Gen. N. M. S., 138 

J Group, 134-135 
Jaiwa Ga, 184 
Japanese Air Force, and defense of 

Burma, 67; supremacy of, 68; 
raids Magwe Airfield, 69; 
bomb supply bases, 79; 
strength, 87; bases in Central 
Burma, 120; Meiktila base 
bombed, 131; camouflage, 
128, 131 

Japanese Army, takes Malaya, 
16; and invasion of India, 
51; occupies Burma, 57, 65 
(map), 66; overruns Bur¬ 
mese Army, 63; Burma cam¬ 
paign, 65; overextend supply 
lines, 65; reorganization of, 
after Rangoon, 67; “A” 
Group, and sabotage of, 103; 
and Chindit force, 105; “A” 
Group, second try, 106, 110; 
intelligence, 113; supply 
route to Akyab front, 138; 
and Catholic missionaries, 
126; native cooperation with, 
148; and radio interference, 
149; fear of guerrillas, 173- 
174; cunning of, 175; be¬ 
tween Marauders and guerril¬ 
las, 184-185; and Marauders, 
186-188; lacks airdrops, 188; 
ambush of supply line, 188; 
withdrawal at Kamaing, 189; 
counterattacks Galahad, 195- 
196; retreat from Myilkyina, 
196-197; supply installations 
sabotaged, 202; attacks Brit¬ 
ish 14th Army, 201; Chindit 
offensive (map), 203; defec¬ 
tion of natives, 204; and 
guerrilla activity, 205, 230; 
surrender of, as individuals, 
212; gives up Hsipaw, 217; 
counterattacks Chinese 50th 
Div., 209; routed in Area II, 
220; threatens Chekiang and 
Kunming, 224; at Mongpawn, 
231; counterattack near Sal¬ 
ween river, 232; at Pangtara, 
235 

15th Div., escape route, 240 
18th Div., 16; panics Chinese, 

17; Chinese oppose, 29; re¬ 

inforces 55th Div., 68; Maw- 
chi-Loikaw-Lashio, 69; at 
Bhamo, 70; resistance by, 
217; and defense of Manda¬ 
lay, 219; ambushed, 220; in 
Loilem area, 230; escape 
route, 240 

33rd Div., 65; at Prome, 68 
55th Div., 65; and Toungoo, 

68; moves to Mandalay, 69; 
in Loilem area, 229 

56th Div., reinforces 33rd Div., 
69; threat of, 225 

Japanese internment camp, 222 
Japanese secret police, 249 
Jocko (operative) leads J Group, 

134 
Joost, Sherman (Fete), 155; and 

Dah Force, 202; operations 
east of Bhamo, 208; and lis¬ 
tening posts, 208-209; and 
2nd Bn., 208-209; and “Bet¬ 
ty,” 214; commands Area I, 
215 

Judson, Dr. and Mrs. Adoniram 
(missionaries), 64 

Judson, Saw, and “A” Group base 
camp, 99; on “A” Group’s 
second try, 89-90; parachute 
jump, 90; loss of contact 
with, 92; contact regained, 
93; and radio contact, 103; 
and Peers’s watch, 118; and 
“Broadway” operation, 202; 
south of Myitkyina, 207 

Jungle, Burmese, 59-60 
Jungle survival training, 147-149 
Jungle warfare, 162, 172; Japs 

and, 251 

K Force, 190; brush with Japs, 
192-194; attack commences, 
192; and Galahad operation, 
194 

Kachin Levies, 25; Brig. Bower- 
man commands, 30; and “A” 
Group, 82, 105; British com¬ 
mander gives trouble, 83; 
Peers on, 85; and Sumprabum 
mission, 191 

Kachin Rangers, casualties, 173; 
and Galahad operations, 194; 
Det. 101 campaign badge 
awarded to, 224 

Kachin Rifles, 62 
Kachins, 60, 62; in Burmese 

Army, 62; conversion to 
Christianity, 63-64; ideal 
guerrillas, 84; warned of Jap 
activities, 103; opposition to 
Japs, 106; aid to “A” Group, 
110-111; man observation 

posts, 111; aid by, 113-114; 
and Catholic missionaries, 
126; and air rescue, 148; co¬ 
operation with, 157; impress 
Stilwell, 182-183; ear collec¬ 
tions, 182; ambush Japs, 184- 
185; capture Sadon, 198; and 
sabotage, 204-205; destroy 
Chinese villages, 209; Gen. 
Sultan on, 210; discharging, 
223-224; Chindits work with, 
202; Det. 101 indebtedness 
to, 257-258 

Kalewa, withdrawal through, 70 
Kamaing, Jap withdrawal toward, 

188-189; capture of, 190 
Kanbauk tin mines, bombing of, 

142 
Karachi, Det. 101 at, 48 
Karcnni Range, 58 
Karen Rifles, 62 
Karens, 60, 62; in Burmese Army, 

62; conversion to Christian¬ 
ity, 64 

Knrwaski, Lieutenant, 41 
Katha, 30; Jap center at, 207 
Kcmpi Tai, 249 
Kentung, espionage at, 215 
Kinnison, Col. Henry L., com¬ 

mands K Force, 190; and K 
Force, 192; dies of typhus, 
194 

Knife Force. Sea Dah Force. 
Knight, Lt. Hale (Hamp), experi¬ 

enced officer, 240 
knotiieao, 26, 27. 165; airstrip 

at, 127; Catholic missionaries 
join, 127; and Jap prisoners, 
128-129; Gen. Donovan visits, 
156-157; Lt. Tilly joins, 
132; Peers at, 166 

Koukkwee Valley, “A” Group base 
came at, 88-89 > 

Kublai Khan, 61 
Kumon Range, action on, 194 
Kumming, 124; 14th Air Force at, 

120; Japs threaten, 225 
Kwitu Airfield, seized by guerril¬ 

las, 197 

L Group, 134 
Labor supply, 76. See also Natives 
Laffin, Capt. William A., and 

Galahad, 192 
Lahore, Det. 101 at, 50 
Laihka, airbase at, 121, 214, 234; 

attack on Japs at, 230 
Lake Indawgyi, 58; guerrilla suc¬ 

cesses at, 182 
Lakes, 58 
Lampha Bum, 111 
Language, Burmese, 60 

Larsen, Lt. Gerald, 23, 131 
Larum, Capt. Norman R., and 

guerrilla activities, 219; raid 
by, 221; experienced officer, 
240 

Lashio, Japs at, 70; bombing of, 
122-125; mistake in bomb¬ 
ing, 122; operations against, 
213-226; Chinese advance on, 
216-217; operations (map), 
218 

Lashio-Mandalay area, operations 
in, 154 

Lattin, Colonel, 198 
Lawksawk, espionage at, 215; 

action at, 240-241 
Lawksawk Valley, operations in, 

120 
Lazarsky, Lt. Joe, 41; ambushes 

Japs, 197; commands 3rd 
Bn., 215 

Leadership, 251 
Ledo, Chinese at, 15 
Ledo Rond, 18, 19; route to, 204 
Lee, Duncan, 151 
Leeches, 115 
Lend-Lease, Stilwell in charge of, 

151 
Lcntaigne, Gen. W. D. A., com¬ 

mands Chindits, 191 
Liao, General, IS, 178; flanking 

movement at Taro, 19; lead¬ 
ership ability of, 19 

Little, Capt. Harry W., 38, 132; 
and supply problems, 44 

Loikaw, Chinese dislodged at, 69 
Loilem, 10th Bn. at, 228; action at, 

231, 236-237; key to Jap de¬ 
fenses, 235; situation at, a 
paradox, 235; Gen. Sultan at, 
237; battle for, break in, 238 

Loilem-Taunggyi-Kalaw area, Japs 
in, 229 

Luce, Comdr. James C., 23, 156; 
and Area I, 163 

Lutkin, Capt. Peter K., 167-168; 
and “Betty,” 214; replaced by 
Delaney, 226; action in 
Hsipaw area, 225 

Lweji, 209 

M Force, 190 
MacAllindon, Father, 126, 127 
McGee, Col. George A., 186; at 

Nphum Ga, 186; commands 
M Force, 190 

Maddox, Patrick (Red), 28, ISO, 
128; and second part of “A” 
Group, 92; sabotage by, 102, 
103; missing, 107-108; 
Kachin aid to, 114; and 
Tenasserim airdrop, 141; at 
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Calcutta, 142; and Chindwin 
Valley operations, 154; com¬ 
mands Area IV. 163; trans¬ 
ferred to V Force, 167; in¬ 
creasing guerrilla forces, 204; 
commands Area II, 217; con¬ 
solidates guerrillas, 220; Gen. 
Sultan briefs, 237; recruiting 
for 3rd Bn., 239; and 3rd Bn., 
239-244; reorganizes 3rd Bn., 
242 

Madras, proposed Jap landing at, 
51-52 

Magwe Airfield, raid on, 69 
Maingkwan, Jap defeat at, 169 
Maingkwan-Walabum operations, 

aftermath, 184 
Makay Bum, 184 
Malaria, 141 
Malaya, Japs take, 16-17 
Man Pang, 111 
Mandalay, 58, 120; a goal, 24; 

fall of, 70; British drive for, 
211; operations against, 213- 
226 (map), 218 

Mars Task Force, liaison with, 
209 

Martaban, Japs at, 65 
Martin, Lt. William J., leads 

Kachins in Galahad, 192; am¬ 
bushes Japs, 194; guerrilla 
activities, 219; and sabotag¬ 
ing ammunition dumps, 220; 
experienced officer, 240; at 
Pangtara, 241 

Maru tribe, 113 
Maruyama, Colonel, retreat from 

Myitkyina, 197; forces am¬ 
bushed, 198 

Maung (operative), 175 
Maw, Dr. Ba, Jap puppet, 72 
Mawchi mines, 64 
Maymyo internment camp, Det. 

101 supplies prisoners, 221 
Meade, Lt. Pierre, and guerrilla 

activities, 219 
Medical supplies, captured, 234 
Meiktila, airbase at, 121; bomb¬ 

ing of, 131; British 14th 
Army occupies, 225 

Merrill, Gen. Frank, mission of, 
168; heart attacks, 188; com¬ 
mands Galahad operation, 
190; thanks Det. 195; as¬ 
sumes command of K Force 
and M Force, 195; versus 
Stilwell, 196; third heart at¬ 
tack, 196; replaced by Gen. 
Wessels, 196-197 

Merrill’s Marauders, 29, 30, 168- 
169; attacks Walabum (map), 

170; Jap pressure on, 180; 
Japs and, 184-185: and 113th 
Chinese Reg., 184; and mis¬ 
sion, 186-188; (map), 187; 
Stilwell orders into bivouac, 
189; dissension with Stilwell, 
189; Col. Hunter commands, 
188; British officers attached 
to. 192; exhausted by battle, 
196; personnel transferred to 
Det. 101, 211 

1st Bn., and Shadazup, 185; en¬ 
velops Japs, 188-189; part of 
H Force, 190 

2nd Bn., crosses Mogaung River, 
185; at Warong, 185; at In- 
kangahtawng, 185; at Nphum 
Ga, 186; tight spot, 188-189; 
assigned to M Force, 190 

3rd Bn., at Warong, 185; at 
Inkangahtawng, 185; at 
Nphum Ga, 186; envelops 
Japs, 188-189; part of K 
Force, 190 

Miao, J Group operations, 135 
Milligan, M/Sgt. Wayne (Pop), 

parachute instruction by, 87; 
jumpmaster, 93, 108, 109; 
and emergency drop, 107; 
picks up “A” Group, 114; 
flies to Kunming, 120; and 
training, 140; on loan to ATC, 
151; supply drops, 155 

Milton, Capt. Oliver (Oscar), 135; 
maintains radio contact, 103; 
and “A” Group base camp, 
106; returns to duty, 135- 
136; and Dah Force, 202 

Milton, Lt. William, and guerrilla 
activities, 214; and night 
drop, 221 

Mines, 174-175 
Ming, Capt. Chun, 37, 44 
Mining, 64-65 
Missionaries, in Burma, 63-64; 

debt of, to Det. 101, 222-223 
Mite typhus, 194 
Mizukami, Gen., commits hari-kiri, 

197 
Mogaung, 31 
Mogaung River, 94; Marauders 

cross, 186 
Mogok, British 14th Army at, 219 
Mongmit, British Army takes, 

217-218 
Mongols, Burmese settlers, 60-61 
Mongpawn, attack at, 231 
Monsoons, 141, 143; effect of, on 

operations, 30 
Moore, Maj. Robert, operations 

officer, 211 
Morale operations, 249 
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Moree, Sgt. Irby E„ 44, and cam¬ 
ouflage, 131 

Morgan, Gen. “Butch,” 121 
Mortars, use of, 229-231 
Moslems, 49, 63; and Hindus, 50 
Moulmein, fall of, 65 
Mountains, 58 
Mountbatten, Lord Louis, 179 
Mudrinich, Lt. Daniel, commands 

_ 1st Bn., 208 
Myitkyina airstrip, capture of, 194 
Myitkyina, base camp at, 23-24; 

a goal, 29-30; airport at, im¬ 
portance of, 55; Jap 18th 
Div. at, 70; first visual con¬ 
tact, 94; under observation, 
112; recaptured, plans for, 
161; retaking of, 175; key to 
Northern Burma, 189; battle 
for, 190-198; Jap retreat 
from, 197; operations south 
of (map), 206. Sec also Gala- 
had 

Mykland, Lt. Gunnar G„ 156 

Naga Hrr.r.s, 15, 58; and Ledo 
Road, 18; Jap activity in, 
134 

Nagas, 80; cooperation with, 151 
Namhkwin, sabotage at, 102 
Namsang, airbase at, 121; 1st Bn. 

at, 232; road opened to, 237 
Namsang Airfield, 214 
Namtu mines, 64 
Namtu River, 58 
Napalm bombs, 236 
Nat, 63 
Native labor, and building air¬ 

strips, 12 7 
Native tribes, 60-61 
Natives, recruiting of, 7\ 79, 119; 

training of, 126 
Nau (guide), 194 
Naw, Zhing Htaw, Kachin leader, 

27; aid given to “A” Group, 
114; and Gen. Donovan, 157 

Nawbum, Area III HQ, 185; as¬ 
sembly point, 190 

Nazira base camp, 73-76; labor 
for, 75-76; training in, 76, 
119; parachute training, 140; 
base radio station, 162, 163; 
hospital at, 211 

NCAC (Northern Combat Area 
Command), 14; requests aid 
from Det. 121-122, 134; 
evacuates Peers, 166; liaison 
with, 209-210 

Negro soldier, morale of, 18 
New Delhi, Det. 101 at, 48-49, 50, 

54; Nationalist riots in, 52 

New Malir Replacement Depot. 
31-32 

New York National Guard, re¬ 
placements from, 132 

Ngumla, camp at, 114; airstrip at, 
133, 147 

Nmai Hka, 113, 136 
Norkay, Tenzing, 85 
North Burma Air Task Force, 236 
Northern Burma, Stilwell orders 

advance, 15; situation map 
(1944), 22; base camp in 
73; operations in, 119; Det. 
101 operations successful, 
145; Det. 101 expands in, 
152-153; liberation of, 161; 
Det. 101 operational areas in, 
163 ; areas of operational con¬ 
trol (map), 164; Myitkyina 
the key to, 189 

Northern Combat Area Command. 
See NCAC. 

Nphum Ga, action at, 186 

O Group, 221 
Observation posts, 112 
Office of Strategic Services. See 

Coordinator of Information; 
Det. 101; OSS. 

Oil fields, set on fire, 69 
Oil industry, 64-65 
101 Campaign Badge, awarded 

Kachin Rangers, 224 
101 Detachment. See Det. 101. 
Opium, use of, 85-86 
Osborne, Col. William Lloyd, 185 
Oscar. See Milton, Capt. Oliver 
OSS (Office of Strategic Services), 

35, 36; difficulty in supplying 
Det. 101, 155; China unit, 
Det. 101 personnel trans¬ 
ferred to, 225. See also Co¬ 
ordinator of Information; 
Det. 101; Donovan, Gen. 
William. 

Pagan, 61 
I’alaung tribe, 60 
Palko, Ann, 259 
Pamplin, Lt. Jack, 26, 46; and 

guerrilla activity, 219 
Pangborn, Lt. John C., and guer¬ 

rilla activity, 219 
Pangtara, action at, 240, 241 
Parachute training, 87, 140 
Parachutes, difficulties with early 

models, 93; inadequate, 115- 
116; need for quantity of, 
246-247 

Paratroopers, use of, 163, 165 
Parkin, Gapt. Charles, 41 
pat, 26, 165 
Pearl Harbor, 38 
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Peers, William R., and forming 
Det. 101, 14; Stilwell wants 
briefing from, on Det. 101, 
20-32; ordered to expand 
guerrillas, 31; and need for 
personnel and equipment, 31- 
32; on Det. 101 mission, 35- 
36; at Fort Benning, 38; as¬ 
signed to C.O.I., 39; meets 
Eiller, 39; meets Gen. Dono¬ 
van, 40; supply problem, 44- 
45; on base camp, 73-74; on 
Kachin Levies, 84; and “A” 
Group operations, 88-89; 
keepsake watch, 90, 118; op¬ 
erates with “A” Group drop, 
92; assists jumpmaster, 93; 
and airdrop to “A” Group, 
106; and emergency airdrop, 
107; apprehension on airdrop, 
108-109; picks up “A” Group, 
114; flies to Kunming, 120; 
on Southern Burma opera¬ 
tions, 120; and 14th Air 
Force airdrop, 121; and Gen. 
Morgan, 121-122; and Lashio 
bombing mistake, 122-123; 
bombs Jap convoy, 123; and 
lost group, 126; and Jap 
prisoner, 130-131; ill with 
malaria, 141; and Tcnasserim 
airdrop, 141; in Calcutta, 
142; as marksman, 149; com¬ 
mands Det. 101, 163; ex¬ 
tends latitude to area com¬ 
manders, 166; field inspec¬ 
tion, 166-167; and crash of 
Gypsy Moth, 166; and Stil¬ 
well, 167, 181-182; on poi¬ 
soned pungyis, 172; on Stil- 
well’s plan for equipping 
Chinese Army, 180-181; and 
Kachin ear-collecting custom, 
182; on Kachins’ destroying 
Chinese villages, 209; on Stil- 
well’s being relieved, 210; de¬ 
fends casualty reporting, 216; 
commended by Monsignor 
Usher, 222-223; Gen Sultan 
consults, on Jap threat, 224; 
on inactivating Det. 101, 225; 
accompanies Gen. Sultan at 
Loilem, 236-237 

Pegu, Jap airbase at, 65; Japs 
seize, 64; pressure on Japs at, 
68 

Peirse, Air Marshal Sir Richard, 
127 

Pendergast, Sgt. Ed S., 156 
Personnel, qualified, nood for, 116 
Peterson, Lt. Roy C., 132 
Photography, aerial, 88-87 

Pick, General, 18 
I’idaung, operations at, 153; 1st 

Bn. at, 231 
Pidaung Forest Preserve, base 

camp at, 153 
Pigeons, carrier, use of, 215 
Plant life, 59-60 
Poison, and pungyis, 172 
Poole, Lt. Edward, and guerrilla 

activity, 219 
Pongyi Chaung, 63 
Pongyies, 63; and fifth column, 71 
Powers, Lt. George R„ and guer¬ 

rilla activity, 219 
Presidential Distinguished Citation 

Unit, award given Det. 101, 
243-244 

Prisoners, Japanese, 23, 128, 252; 
“escaping,” 207 

Prome, action at, 68 
Propaganda, 212, 249; Japanese 

and American compared, 256- 
257 

PT boat, 120 
Pungyis, 171-172, 204 
Putao, 82 

Quinn, Lt. Patrick, at Myitky- 
ina, 26; sabotage by, 102; 
missing, 108; Kachin aid to, 
144; and Tidaung operation, 
153; commands Area II, 163; 
and intelligence, 175; and 
Galahad, 194; and listening 
posts, 208 

Quislings, 249 

Radio equipment, 78-79; diffi¬ 
culty with, 215 

Radio interference, Jap, 149 
Radio traffic, 210; overloaded, 

155; requiring elaborate net¬ 
work, 163 

RAF, and air defense of Burma, 
67; and Jap Air Force, 69; 
supplies plane, 128 

Railroads, sabotage of, 92 
Rainfall, 58 
Rain forest, tropic, 59 
Raiss, Maj. John, 127; gets air¬ 

strips in condition, 236; Gen. 
Sultan visits, 237 

Rally points, need for, 117 
Ramgarh, Indian camp at, 15; 

Chinese 30th Div. at, 29-30 
Ramree Island, 138 
Rangoon, 17; Jap airfield at, 65; 

evacuation of, 67; fall of, 68; 
plans for retaking, 119; first 
sight of, 142 

Recruitment, of guerrillas, 21-23, 
26-27, 74, 119, 165 

Religion, in Burma, 62-63 
Rice, 59, 64, 143 
Richardson, Allan, 75-76 
Richter, Sgt. Allen, 79 
Ritpong, Jap outpost at, 153, 194 
Rivers, 58 
Robby (operative), leads M 

Group, 134 
Rocky (operative), as jungle sur¬ 

vival instructor, 149-150 
Romanski, Lt. John, and guerrilla 

activity, 219 
Royal Air Force. Sea RAF. 
Royal Navy, cooperation with, 

138-139 

Sabotage, 204-207; training in, 
41, 42, 43-44; of CBI sup¬ 
plies, 55; “A” Group, 92; 
effect of, by “A” Group, 107; 
and Jap army supplies, 201 

Sadon, seized by guerrillas, 197- 
198 

Salween River, 58; as defense line, 
65 

Samurai philosophy, 130 
San, Maj. Gen. Aung, Jap puppet, 

72 
Sanders, Colonel, 106 
Sartz, Capt. Jake, 90, 94, 112, 

113, 120; and 14th Air Force 
airdrop, 121; bombs Jap con¬ 
voy, 123 

Schreiner, Sgt. Sam, 131 
Scott, Lt. Charles R., and guerrilla 

activity, 219 
Seagrave, Col. Gordon S., 132 
Seagrave Hospital Unit, 132, 211 
Security precautions, 237-238 
Seniku, seized by guerrillas,'197 
Service, John S., 151 
Sevareid, Eric, 151 
Shadazup, action at, 185 
Shan Plateau, 59 
Shan States, 59 
Shans, 60, 62; cooperation with 

Japs, 148; defections of, 204; 
cooperation with Allies, 214 

Shepard, Ens. William B., 156 
Shwe Dagon, 142 
Shweli River, 58 
Siam. See Thailand 
Silver Slipper, The, 64 
Simla, Eider visits, 54 
Sinbo, 104 
Sind Desert, 49 
Sittang River, 58; Japs cross, 65 
Skittles (operative), 26, 166; and 

L Group, 134; and knot- 
iiead, 176-177 

Slim, Gen. Sir William, 30; com¬ 
mands British 14th Army, 

179- 180; and Mandalay of¬ 
fensive, 219; at Meiktila, 225 

Smith, Nicol, 42-43 
Smith, Sir Reginald Dorman, 54- 

55; leaves Burma, 70 
Snipers, 18 
Southern Burma, expansion of op¬ 

erations in, 138; operations 
in, 119-120, 140, 143 

Starling, Lieutenant, 147 
Stein, Lt. Ken, and guerrilla ac¬ 

tivity, 219 
Stilwell, Col. Joseph, Jr., 14 
Stilwell, Gen. Joseph, 13-14, 178- 

183; and Det. 14; on Bur¬ 
mese campaign, 14-15; on re¬ 
treat (1942), 16-17; urges 
Chinese to fight, 17-18; di¬ 
rects Chinese 22nd Div., 19; 
on Chinese Army, 20; briefed 
on Det. 101, 21-32; Myitky- 
ina a goal, 29-30; on mon¬ 
soons, 30; orders guerrilla 
expansion, 31; Det. 101 plan 
of, 35-36; meets with Det. 
101, 55; on Det. 101’s impa¬ 
tience, 55; as Chief of Staff 
for Allied Forces, 67-68; on 
Allied defeat, 70; on cooper¬ 
ation with British, 73; op¬ 
posed Lashio drop, 124; 
forms V Force, 132; and lib¬ 
eration of Northern Burma, 
161; and Merrill’s Maraud¬ 
ers. 168; transfers V Force 
to Det. 101, 167; on poisoned 
pungyis, 172; unenviable po¬ 
sition of, 177; and Chinese 
Army, 178; not appreciated, 
179; commands held, 179; 
difficulties with British and 
Chinese, 179; and Chinese 
problem, 180-181, 182; as 
Chief of Staff to Chiang Kai- 
shek, 180; and Chennault, 
180- 181; plan for equipping 
Chinese Army, 181; and 
Kachins, 182-183; and ear¬ 
collecting custom, 182; health 
of, 183; dissension with Ma¬ 
rauders, 189; orders Maraud¬ 
ers into bivouac, 189; orders 
capture of Kamaing, 190; 
and taking Myitkyina, 190- 
198; Myitkyina plan (map), 
193; versus Merrill, 196-197; 
tacit approval of Det. 101’s 
expansion, 201; relieved as 
Theater Commander, 210; ex¬ 
posed to Japs, 224-225; visits 
behind enemy lines, 237-238 
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Stratemeyer, Lt, Gen. George E., 
133; and air rescue, 167 

Straub, Sgt. Joe M., 132 
Strong, Colonel, 40 
Stuart, Father James, 126; and 

Gen. Donovan, 157 
Submarine, use of, 137, 249-250 
Sultan, Lt. Gen. Daniel I., com¬ 

mands India-Burma Theater, 
.210; on Kachin guerrillas, 

210; alerts Det. 101 to inacti¬ 
vate, 223; on Jap threat to 
Kunming, 224; and Det. 
101’s guerrillas, 224; visits 
Det. 101’s lines, 237; behind 
enemy lines, 237; recom¬ 
mends Presidential Distin¬ 
guished Unit Citation for 
Det. 101, 243 

Sun Li Jen, Gen. IS, 178; and 
bamboo fortifications, 16; 
Stilwell urges fight with Japs, 
17; maneuverability of, 20 

Supply, lines, 79-80; drops, 88, 
155; problems, 18-19, 31, 44- 
45, 46-47, 147-148, 155, 245- 
246 

Supayalet, Queen, 61 
Sumprabum, 82; Japs at, 30; ac¬ 

tion at, 191 
Surprise element, 83, 139 
Swift, Lt. John L., 207 

Tacap, L Group at, 134 
Tang, Major Lazum; operations 

cast of Bhamo, 208; com¬ 
mands 6th Bn., 217 

Taro, Chinese 22nd Div. at, 19 
Tarung Hka, 134 
Tarung Valley, J Group in, 134 
Taunggyi, espionage at, 214; Japs 

driven back to, 228; action 
at, 230 

Taunggyi Airfield, 214, 215 
Taunggyi-Kentung Road, seizure 

of, 225 
Taungup pass, blocking of, 138 
Tavoy, 64 
Teakwood, 59, 64 
Temperature, 59 
Tenasserim, 58; airdrop at, 140- 

141 
Thailand, Jap Air Force in, 69; 

Jap escape route, 225 
Thiebaw, King, 61; and Baptist 

missionaries, 64 
Thompson, Capt. Allen O., 106- 

107, 109 
Thorlin, Capt. Butch, guerrilla ac¬ 

tivity, 204, 205 
Thrailkill, Col. Martin C„ 198 
Tillquist, Lt. Dave, 54 

Tilly, Lt. James L„ 131-13; at 
Walabum, 170; ambushes 
Japs, 184 

Tin, 64, 140 
Tongyaws, 111 
Tonkwa, Chinese divisions at, 217 
Township, Col. C. S., 44 
Toungoo, Jap airbase at, 65 
tramp, 28, 154, 165 
Triangle, the, 23, 112, 113 
Truck convoys, bombing of, 230- 

231 
Truex, Lt. Ralph, and guerrilla ac¬ 

tivity, 220; raids by, 221; 
experienced officer, 240 

TUX.A, 250 
Typhus, 194 

Unarmed combat, training in, 43 
United States Army, Negro mor¬ 

ale, 18; guerrilla fighting un¬ 
known to, 36, 173 

1st American Airborne Com¬ 
mandos, 204 

10th Air Force, 131, 176; com¬ 
mends Det. 101, 136-138;_ re¬ 
inforces Galahad, 196; liaison 
with, 209; moves to Bhamo, 
213; requests espionage 
agents, 215; assists guerrillas 
by bombing, 232; and intelli¬ 
gence, 254 

12th Infantry, 38 
14th Air Force, 32; at Kun¬ 

ming, 121; cooperation with 
Det. 101, 121; bombs Lashio, 
121; air-drop, 121-122; at 
Hump, 180 

20th General Hospital, 188 
35th Infantry Reg., 36 
56th Fighter Group, 106 
69th Infantry Reg., 40 
71st Liaison Squadron, 259 
101st Dot. OSS. See. Det. 101. 
101st Maritime Base, 156 
5307 Composite Group. See 

Merrill’s Marauders. 
Air Transport Command, 73; 

and air rescue, 86; Det. 101 
cooperates with, 86-87, 147- 
148; borrows M/Sgt. Milli¬ 
gan, 151 

Air Transport Command (ATC) 
Medical Evacuation Section, 
151 

Army Engineers, and Ledo 
Road, 18 

OSS. See under O. 
SOS Advance Section, 155 
V Force, 132 

United States Army Experimental 
Station, 76 

INDEX 

Usher, Monsignor Patrick, com¬ 
mends Peers, 222-223 

V Force, 132 
Vincent, Gen. Casey, 121 

W Group, 138 
Walabum, Jap defeat at, 169 
Ward, James, experienced officer, 

240 
War lords, 209 
Warong, action at, 185 
Washang, seized by guerrillas, 197 
Wavell, Gen., Sir Archibald I’., 

and defeat of Burma, 67-68 
Weather stations, 211 
Wedemeyer, Maj. Gen. Albert C., 

commands China Theater, 
210 

Welch, Lt. John F., 207 
Weld, I.t, Philip S., and guerrilla 

activity, 220 
Wessels, General, relieves Gen. 

Merrill, 197 
West, Lt. Lee, and guerrilla ac¬ 

tivity, 219 
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Wheeler, Maj. Gen. Raymond, es¬ 
corted, 134 

White, George, 41 
Wild, Capt. Hugh, 148 
W'ilkinson, Maj. William C., 24, 

38, 114, 127* 132 
W'illiams, Col. Garland, 39, 40 
Wingate, Gen. Orde, 24, 105, 189, 

202 
Wingate’s Raiders, 30 
WTight, Lt. Leroy, and guerrilla 

activity, 219, 235 
Wyatt, Corporal, 146 

Yametiiin, espionage at, 215 
“Yellow Robes,” and fifth column, 

71 
“Yellow Rose of Burma,” 152 
Ycnangyaung oil field, Jap push 

to, 69 
Yupbang Ga, battle of, 17, 18, 19 

7. Force, 215 
Zinc, 64 



They beat the hell out of us, 
and now it’s our turn!” 

General ‘‘Vinegar Joe" Stilwell said it. 

This is the story of the most success¬ 
ful guerilla operation ever carried out 
by U.S. forces. Operating in twos and 
threes, never more than 848 strong, 
Detachment 101 killed or wounded 
over 15,000 crack Japanese jungle 
troops, destroyed outposts, trains 
and bridges, and opened the way for 
Stilwell’s Chinese forces, Wingate’s 
Raiders, Merrill’s Marauders, and 
the great counter-attack against the 
Japanese Imperial life-line. 

‘MAGNIFICENT” Chicago Tribune 
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